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PROSPECTUS

                    Shares

Common Stock

        This is our initial public offering of shares of our common stock. We are offering                        shares. We expect the initial public offering price to be
between $            and $            per share.

        Currently, no public market exists for the shares. After pricing of the offering, we expect that the shares will be quoted on the Nasdaq National Market under
the symbol "DRAD."

        Investing in the common stock involves risks that are described in the "Risk Factors" section beginning on page 7 of
this prospectus.

  

Per share

 

Total

Public offering price  $  $
Underwriting discounts and commissions  $  $
Proceeds, before expenses, to us  $  $

        The underwriters may also purchase up to an additional                        shares of common stock from us at the public offering price, less the underwriting
discounts and commissions, within 30 days from the date of this prospectus to cover over-allotments.

        Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this
prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

        The shares will be ready for delivery on or about                        , 2004.

Merrill Lynch & Co.  JPMorgan

Banc of America Securities LLC  William Blair & Company

The date of this prospectus is                        , 2004.
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        You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus. We have not, and the underwriters have not, authorized any other person to
provide you with different information. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. We are not, and the
underwriters are not, making an offer to sell these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted. You should assume that the
information appearing in this prospectus is accurate only as of the date on the front cover of this prospectus. Our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects may have changed since that date.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY 

        This summary does not contain all of the information you should consider before buying shares of our common stock. You should read the entire prospectus
carefully, especially the "Risk Factors" section and our consolidated financial statements and the related notes appearing at the end of this prospectus, before
deciding to invest in shares of our common stock. References in this prospectus to our certificate of incorporation and bylaws refer to the certificate of
incorporation and bylaws that will be in effect upon completion of this offering.

Digirad Corporation 

        We are a leader in the development, manufacture and distribution of solid-state medical imaging products and services for the detection of cardiovascular
disease and other medical conditions. We designed and commercialized the first solid-state gamma camera. Our initial focus is on nuclear cardiology imaging
procedures performed with gamma cameras, which we believe generate revenue of approximately $10.0 billion annually in the United States. Our target markets
are primarily physician practices and outpatient clinics, which we believe constitute approximately 25% of the total market, or $2.5 billion.

        Our gamma cameras use small semiconductors to replace the bulky vacuum tubes used historically in gamma cameras. By utilizing solid-state technology,
we believe that our imaging systems maintain image quality while offering significant advantages over vacuum tube-based systems, including mobility through
reduced size and weight, enhanced operability and reliability and improved patient comfort and utilization. Our imaging systems, consisting of a gamma camera
and accessories, easily fit into spaces as small as seven feet by eight feet. Due to the size and other limitations of vacuum tube cameras, nuclear imaging has
traditionally been confined to dedicated and customized space within a hospital or imaging center. The mobility of our imaging systems enables us to deliver
nuclear imaging procedures in a wide range of clinical settings—physician offices, outpatient clinics or within multiple departments in a hospital.

        We sell our imaging systems to physicians, outpatient clinics and hospitals. In addition, through our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Digirad Imaging
Solutions, Inc. and Digirad Imaging Systems, Inc., which we refer to collectively as DIS, we also offer a comprehensive and mobile imaging leasing service,
called FlexImaging®, for physicians who wish to perform nuclear cardiology imaging procedures in their offices but do not have the patient volume, capital or
resources to justify purchasing a gamma camera. DIS provides our physician customers with an imaging system, certified personnel, required licensure and other
support for the performance of nuclear imaging procedures under the supervision of our physician customers. Physicians enter into annual contracts for imaging
services delivered on a per-day basis ranging from one day per month to several days per week. DIS currently operates 21 regional hubs and eight fixed sites in 15
states.

        Our unique dual sales and leasing distribution model offers physicians, clinics and hospitals versatile delivery options that appeal to medical establishments
of all sizes, capabilities and imaging expertise. The mobility of our imaging systems and the flexibility of our DIS service allow cardiologists to provide nuclear
imaging procedures in their offices to patients that they historically had to refer to hospitals or imaging centers. As a result, we provide physicians with more
control over the diagnosis and treatment of their patients and enable physicians to capture revenue from procedures that would otherwise be referred to these
hospitals and imaging centers.

        Nuclear imaging is a clinical diagnostic tool, with established reimbursement codes, that has been in use for over 40 years. According to industry sources,
approximately 18.4 million nuclear imaging procedures were performed in the United States in 2002, of which approximately 9.9 million were cardiac
procedures, a volume that is expected to grow by approximately 25% annually over the next three years. We believe the growth in nuclear cardiology imaging
will be driven by an increase in coronary heart disease resulting from the aging of baby boomers and the record rate of obesity and diabetes in all age groups. We
estimate that the growth rate in 2002 for nuclear imaging procedures performed in physician offices was approximately 44% and in hospitals was approximately
6%. We expect the mobility of our imaging systems
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to continue to allow us to capitalize on this shift in the delivery of nuclear cardiology imaging services from hospitals to physician offices.

        The target market for our products is the approximately 30,000 cardiologists in the United States that perform or could perform nuclear cardiology
procedures. To date, we have sold or provided imaging services through DIS to approximately 500 physicians. In 2003, DIS performed over 66,000 patient
procedures.

        We sold our first gamma camera in March 2000, and we established DIS in September 2000. We had consolidated revenues and net losses of $41.5 million
and $12.8 million, respectively, in fiscal 2002 and $56.2 million and $1.7 million, respectively, in fiscal 2003. Revenues from DIS and from our camera sales
constituted 62% and 38%, respectively, of our 2003 consolidated revenues. We believe DIS will continue to provide us with recurring annual contractual revenue
and comprise the largest component of our consolidated revenues.

Our Competitive Strengths

        We believe that our position as a market leader in the nuclear cardiac imaging market is a product of the following competitive strengths:

• Leading Solid-State Technology. We were the first company to develop and commercialize solid-state technology for nuclear imaging applications.

• Mobile Applications Through Reduced Size and Weight. Our solid-state technology has allowed us to reduce the size and weight of gamma
cameras, resulting in the only in-office mobile cardiac gamma camera on the market. 

• Image Quality. We believe our imaging systems maintain a high-quality image despite the rigors of a mobile environment. 

• Enhanced Operability and Reliability. We believe our imaging systems provide more convenient operation, better power efficiency and increased
durability as compared to vacuum tube cameras. 

• Improved Patient Comfort and Utilization. We believe the upright and open architecture of our patient chair can reduce patient claustrophobia and
increase patient comfort when compared to traditional vacuum tube-based systems and may increase patient utilization. 

• Unique Dual Distribution. We have implemented a unique dual distribution model by offering our physician and hospital customers the ability to
either purchase or lease our imaging systems through DIS. 

• Intellectual Property Portfolio. We have developed an intellectual property portfolio that includes product, component and process patents
covering various aspects of our imaging systems. Currently, we have 21 patents issued and 10 pending patent applications in the United States, and
we have two patents issued and 21 pending patent applications internationally.

Our Business Strategy

        We intend to continue to expand our business, improve our market position and increase our revenue and profits by pursuing the following business
strategies:

• Continued Innovation in Solid-State Imaging Technology. We intend to maintain our leadership position in solid-state imaging technology by
continuing to invest resources in research and development. 

• Expand Our DIS Business. We plan to expand our DIS business into several new states, add new hub locations in states in which we currently
operate and increase hub utilization by adding physician
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customers and routes. We also intend to pursue cardiology opportunities for DIS in hospitals and new clinical applications for DIS in neurology,
oncology and surgery.

• Increase Market Share in Camera Sales. We believe that we can grow our market share by capitalizing on the recent trend of nuclear cardiology
procedures shifting from the hospital to the physician office. 

• Expand International Sales and Marketing Presence. We intend to increase our presence internationally by entering into relationships with
distributors that have the experience, expertise and service network to sell and support our products internationally. 

• Drive Margin Improvements and Growth. We plan to enhance our product margins by achieving operating efficiencies, reducing manufacturing
costs and increasing product reliability.

Corporate Information

        Our business was originally incorporated in California in November 1985 and we reincorporated in Delaware in January 1997. Our principal executive
offices are located at 13950 Stowe Drive, Poway, California 92064 and our telephone number is (858) 726-1600. We maintain a website on the Internet at
www.digirad.com. The information contained in, or that can be accessed through, our website is not a part of this prospectus. Unless the context requires
otherwise, as used in this prospectus the terms "Digirad," "we," "us" and "our" refer to Digirad Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries.

        We have trademark registrations in the United States for 2020tc Imager®, CardiusSST®, Digirad®, Digirad Logo®, Digirad Imaging Solutions®,
FlexImaging® and SPECTour®. We have trademark applications pending in the United States for the following marks: Cardius™, DigiServSM, DigiSpectSM,
DigiTechSM and SolidiumSM. We have obtained and sought trademark protection for some of the above listed marks in the European Community and Japan.
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THE OFFERING 

Common stock we are offering                    shares

Common stock to be outstanding after this offering                    shares

Use of proceeds  We expect to use a majority of the net proceeds of this
offering to manufacture and market our gamma cameras,
build our sales and marketing capabilities, expand our DIS
business and repay outstanding lines of credit of
approximately $9.2 million. To a lesser extent, we
anticipate using the remaining net proceeds of this offering
for further research and development relating to our
existing products and new product opportunities, to
finance regulatory approval activities and for general
corporate purposes. We may also use a portion of the net
proceeds of this offering to acquire products, technologies
or businesses that are complementary to our own.

Proposed Nasdaq National Market symbol  DRAD

        The number of shares of common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based on the shares of common stock outstanding as of March 31, 2004. This
number excludes as of March 31, 2004:

• 5,535,384 shares of our common stock subject to outstanding options under our 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, our 1997 Stock
Option/Stock Issuance Plan and our 1998 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, having a weighted average exercise price of $0.69 per share; 

• 206,061 shares of our common stock available for future issuance under our 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, our 1997 Stock Option/Stock
Issuance Plan and our 1998 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan; and 

• 223,896 shares of our common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding warrants (including warrants to purchase preferred stock that are
convertible into common stock), having a weighted average exercise price of $9.55 per share.

In addition, except where we state otherwise, the information we present in this prospectus reflects:

• the automatic conversion of all our outstanding preferred stock into 43,555,367 shares of common stock upon the completion of this offering; 

• the adoption of our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws to be effective upon the completion of this offering; 

• no exercise of the underwriters' over-allotment option; 

• a 1-for-200 reverse stock split effected in October 2002; and 

• a 1-for-    reverse stock split to be effected prior to completion of this offering.
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SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

        The following table summarizes our consolidated financial information for the periods presented. You should read this information together with our
consolidated financial statements and the related notes appearing elsewhere in this prospectus and the "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations" section of this prospectus. The summary financial data at March 31, 2004 and for the three months ended March 31, 2003
and 2004 are derived from our unaudited financial statements which are included elsewhere in this prospectus.

  

Years ended December 31,

 

Three months ended
March 31,

 
Statement of Operations Data:

 

2001

 

2002

 

2003

 

2003

 

2004

 

        

(unaudited)

 

(unaudited)

 

  

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

 
Revenues:                 
 DIS  $ 10,239 $ 23,005 $ 34,848 $ 7,503 $ 10,407 
 Product   18,065  18,527  21,388  5,476  5,461 
       
Total revenues   28,304  41,532  56,236  12,979  15,868 

Cost of revenues:                 
 DIS   8,344  16,599  24,463  5,642  7,265 
 Product   13,192  13,633  15,091  3,841  3,639 
 Stock-based compensation(1)   298  124  114  1  116 
       
Total cost of revenues   21,834  30,356  39,668  9,484  11,019 
       

Gross profit   6,470  11,176  16,568  3,495  4,848 

Operating expenses:                 
 Research and development   3,009  2,967  2,191  579  640 
 Sales and marketing   9,974  8,065  6,008  1,547  1,780 
 General and administrative   8,161  9,497  8,097  1,851  2,145 
 Amortization and impairment of intangible assets   991  1,011  444  119  16 
 Stock-based compensation(1)   1,281  483  112  1  188 
       
Total operating expenses   23,416  22,023  16,852  4,097  4,769 
       
Income (loss) from operations   (16,946)  (10,847)  (284)  (602)  79 
Other income (expense), net   (2,965)  (1,925)  (1,396)  (325)  (345)
       
Net loss  $ (19,911) $ (12,772) $ (1,680) $ (927) $ (266)
       
Net loss applicable to common stockholders  $ (20,041) $ (13,037) $ (2,006) $ (1,012) $ (354)
       
Basic and diluted net loss per share(2):                 
 Historical  $ (898.86) $ (409.23) $ (36.46) $ (21.32) $ (3.11)
       

 Pro forma (unaudited)        $ (0.04)    $ (0.01)
             

Shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per
share(2):                 
 Historical   22  32  55  47  114 
       

 Pro forma (unaudited)         43,610     43,669 
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As of March 31, 2004

  

Actual

 

As
adjusted(3)

  

(In thousands)
(unaudited)

Balance sheet data:      
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 8,902  
Working capital   829  
Total assets   38,012  
Total debt   15,841  
Redeemable convertible preferred stock   84,367  
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)   (75,709)  

(1) Please see our consolidated statement of operations on page F-4 and Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements for additional information on stock-
based compensation. 

(2) Please see Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements for an explanation of the method used to calculate the historical and pro forma net loss per share
and the number of shares used in the computation of per share amounts. 

(3) The as adjusted column in the balance sheet data reflects the automatic conversion of all of our preferred stock outstanding as of March 31, 2004 into
43,555,367 shares of our common stock in connection with this offering, the sale of                        shares of our common stock at an assumed initial
public offering price of $            per share, the mid-point of the range on the cover of this prospectus, after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts
and commission and the estimated expenses payable by us in connection with this offering, and the repayment of $9.2 million due under our short-term
lines of credit.
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RISK FACTORS 

        An investment in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with
all of the other information included in this prospectus, including the consolidated financial statements and the related notes appearing elsewhere in this
prospectus, before making an investment decision. If any of the following risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition, results of operations and future
prospects would likely be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the market price of our common stock could decline and you could lose all or part of
your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

        If our imaging systems and DIS services are not accepted by physicians or hospitals, we may be unable to develop a sustainable, profitable business.

        We expect that substantially all of our revenue in the foreseeable future will be derived from sales of our products in the nuclear imaging market and our
leasing services offered through our wholly owned subsidiaries, Digirad Imaging Solutions, Inc. and Digirad Imaging Systems, Inc., which we refer to
collectively as DIS. Our solid-state gamma cameras and DIS services represent a new approach in the nuclear imaging market, and we have sold our products
only in limited quantities and leased our services for only a limited time. We began full commercial release of our imaging systems in March 2000 and established
DIS in September 2000. Because of the recent commercial introduction of our nuclear imaging systems, we have limited product and brand recognition and our
imaging systems have been used by a limited number of physicians and hospitals. Physicians and hospitals may generally be slow to adopt our products and
leasing services for a number of reasons, including:

• perceived liability risks generally associated with the use of new technologies for nuclear imaging; 

• availability of reimbursement from health care payors for procedures using our system; 

• lack of experience with our products and services; 

• costs associated with the purchase or lease of our products and services; 

• the presence of competing products sold by companies with longer operating histories, more recognizable names and more established distribution
networks; 

• the introduction or existence of competing products and services or technologies that may be more effective, easier to use or that produce better
images; and 

• physician and hospital perceptions of our imaging systems as compared to those of competitors.

        Our success in the nuclear imaging market depends on whether physicians and hospitals view our imaging systems and DIS services as effective and
economically beneficial. We believe that physicians and hospitals will not adopt our imaging systems or lease our DIS services unless they determine, based on
experience and other factors, that our imaging systems and DIS services are an attractive alternative to vacuum tube imaging systems. We also believe that
recommendations and support of our products and services by influential physicians and other health care providers are essential for market acceptance and
adoption. We cannot assure you that physicians or hospitals will adopt or accept our imaging systems or DIS services. If physicians and hospitals do not adopt our
imaging systems or DIS services, our operating results and business will be harmed.

        We sell our imaging systems and provide our services in a highly competitive industry, and we often compete against large, well-established competitors
that have significantly greater financial resources than we have.

        The medical device industry, including the market for imaging systems and services, is highly competitive, subject to rapid change and significantly affected
by new product introductions and market activities of other industry participants. Our primary competitors with respect to imaging systems include several large
medical device manufacturers, including Philips Medical Systems, General Electric Healthcare, Siemens Medical Systems and Toshiba Medical Systems. All of
these competitors offer a full
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line of imaging cameras for each diagnostic imaging technology, including x-ray, magnetic resonance imaging, computerized tomography, ultrasound and nuclear
medicine. The existing imaging systems sold by our competitors have been in use for a longer time than our products and are more widely recognized and used by
physicians and hospitals for nuclear imaging. Many of our competitors and potential competitors enjoy significant competitive advantages over us, including:

• significantly greater name recognition and financial, technical and marketing resources; 

• established relationships with healthcare professionals, customers and third-party payors; 

• established distribution networks; 

• additional lines of products and the ability to offer rebates or bundle products to offer discounts or incentives; and 

• greater resources for product development, sales and marketing.

        The competitive nature of the nuclear imaging industry has had an impact on the price of our dual-head gamma cameras. For example, for the three months
ended March 31, 2004 we experienced a moderate decline in the selling price for our dual-head gamma cameras when compared to the three months period ended
March 31, 2003. While we anticipate demand for our dual-head gamma cameras to continue to increase, we believe these pricing pressures will continue to
impact our gamma camera product revenue and gross profit.

        In providing comprehensive mobile nuclear imaging solutions, we generally compete against small businesses employing traditional vacuum tube cameras
that must be transported in large vehicles and cannot be moved in and out of physician offices.

        We are aware of certain major medical device companies that are attempting to develop solid-state cameras and we believe these efforts will continue. In
addition, we are aware of a privately-held company, Gamma Medica, which is currently marketing a solid-state gamma camera for breast imaging. We do not
believe that this camera can be used in a cardiac application. However, we cannot assure you that Gamma Medica will not attempt to modify its existing camera
for use in the cardiac segment in the future, or develop another gamma camera for cardiac applications. Because of the size of the potential market, we anticipate
that companies will dedicate significant resources to developing competing products and services. Current or future competitors may develop technologies and
products that demonstrate better image quality, ease of use or mobility than our imaging systems. Our ability to compete successfully will depend on our ability to
develop proprietary products that reach the market in a timely manner, receive adequate reimbursement and are less expensive than alternatives available for the
same purpose. If we are unable to compete effectively against our existing and future competitors our sales will decline and our business will be harmed.

        Changes in domestic and international legislation, regulation, or coverage and reimbursement policies of third-party payors may adversely impact our
ability to market and sell our products and services.

        Physicians and hospitals purchasing and using our products rely on adequate third-party payor coverage and reimbursement to maintain their operations.
Changes in domestic and international legislation, regulation or coverage and reimbursement policies of third-party payors may adversely affect the demand for
our existing and future products and services and may limit our ability to market and sell our products and services on a profitable basis. For example, on
December 8, 2003, President Bush signed into law the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003, or the Medicare Modernization
Act, which contains a wide variety of changes that impact Medicare reimbursement to physicians and hospitals. We cannot predict what additional changes will
be made to such legislation, regulation, or coverage and reimbursement policies, but we believe that future coverage and reimbursement may be subject to
increased restrictions both in the United States and in international markets. Additionally, we cannot be certain that under prospective payment systems, or
established fee schedule payment formulas, under which healthcare providers may be reimbursed a fixed amount based on
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the patient's condition or the type of procedure performed, the costs of our products and services will be justified and incorporated into the overall payment for the
procedure. Third-party payors continue to act to contain or reduce healthcare costs through various means, including the movement to managed care systems
where healthcare providers contract to provide comprehensive healthcare for a fixed fee per patient. These continued efforts to reduce healthcare costs may result
in third-party payors refusing to reimburse patients or healthcare providers for our imaging services or allowing only specific providers to provide imaging
services. As a result, sales of our gamma cameras would suffer and we may receive pressure from our customers to terminate or otherwise modify the lease
arrangements for our DIS services. Under such circumstances, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

        Because our imaging systems and DIS services are not widely diversified, a decrease in sales of our products and leasing services could seriously harm
our business.

        Our current product and leasing service offerings consist primarily of our line of gamma cameras, including our Cardius-1, Cardius-2, 2020tc Imager and
SPECTpak PLUS camera systems, each of which is used in the nuclear imaging market segment and all of which utilize the same solid-state technology. In
addition, we offer a mobile imaging leasing service through DIS, which includes an imaging system, certified personnel, required licensure and other support for
nuclear imaging procedures. As such, our line of products and services is not as diversified as those of some of our competitors. Consequently, if sales of our
products or leasing services decline precipitously, our business would be seriously harmed, and it would likely be difficult for us to recover because we do not
have the breadth of products or services that would enable us to sustain our business while seeking to develop new types of products or services or other markets
for our existing products and services. In addition, because our technical know-how and intellectual property have limited applications, we may be unable to
leverage our technical know-how and intellectual property to diversify our products and services or to develop other products or sources of revenue outside of the
nuclear imaging market.

        Our imaging systems and DIS services may become obsolete, and we may not be able to timely develop new products, product enhancements or services
that will be accepted by the market.

        Our nuclear imaging system and DIS services may become obsolete or unmarketable if other products or services utilizing new technologies are introduced
by our competitors or new industry standards emerge. We cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully develop or market new products and services, or
enhancements to our existing products, or that our future products and enhancements will be accepted by our current or potential customers or the third-party
payors who financially support many of the procedures performed with our products. Any of these circumstances may cause us to lose customers, disrupt our
business operations and harm our product sales and services. To be successful, we will need to enhance our products or services and to design, develop and
market new products that successfully respond to competitive developments, all of which may be expensive and time consuming.

        The success of any new product offering or enhancement to an existing product will depend on several factors, including our ability to:

• properly identify and anticipate physician and patient needs; 

• develop new products or enhancements in a timely manner; 

• obtain the necessary regulatory approvals or clearances for new products or product enhancements in a timely manner; 

• provide adequate training to users of our products; 

• price our products competitively; 

• obtain appropriate coverage and receive adequate reimbursement notifications and respond to them in a commercially viable way;
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• comply with changing or new regulatory requirements; and 

• develop an effective marketing, sales and distribution network.

        If we do not develop and obtain regulatory approvals or clearances for new products, services or product enhancements in time to meet market demand, or if
there is insufficient demand for these products, services or enhancements, our business, financial condition and results of operations will likely suffer. In addition,
even if our customers acquire new products, services or product enhancements we may offer, the revenues from any such products, services or enhancements may
not be sufficient to offset the significant costs associated with offering such products, services or enhancements to customers. In addition, any announcements of
new products, services or enhancements may cause customers to decline or cancel their purchasing decisions in anticipation of such products, services or
enhancements.

        If we experience problems with the technologies used in our imaging systems or if delivery of our DIS services are delayed, public perception of us could
be harmed and cause us to lose customers and revenue.

        Our gamma cameras have only recently been introduced into the marketplace. Most of our cameras currently in use are less than three years old. We have
experienced some reliability issues with a prior version of our detector heads. In July 2003, we began selling most of our gamma cameras with a new version of
our detector heads that we believe offers increased reliability. In addition, as the period of use of our cameras increases, other significant defects may occur. If
significant defects do arise with our gamma cameras, our reputation among physicians and hospitals could be damaged.

        Additionally, physicians rely on our DIS services to provide nuclear imaging procedures to their patients on the dates and at the times they have requested.
Many factors could prevent us from delivering our DIS services on a timely basis, including weather and the availability of staffing, transportation and necessary
supplies. If we are unable to provide physicians or hospitals our DIS services in a timely and effective manner, our reputation among physicians and hospitals
could be damaged.

        The performance and reliability of our products and services are critical to our reputation and to our ability to achieve market acceptance of those products
and services. Widespread or other failures of our cameras and other products to consistently meet the expectations of purchasers or customers that use our DIS
services could adversely affect our reputation, our ability to provide our DIS services, our relations with current customers and our business operations. Such
failures could also reduce the attractiveness of our products and services to potential customers. Equipment failures could result from any number of causes,
including equipment aging, ordinary wear and tear due to regular transportation and relocation, failure to perform routine maintenance and latent hardware or
software defects of which we are unaware. Such failures, whether actual or perceived, could adversely affect our business even if we correct the underlying
problems.

        Our manufacturing operations are highly dependent upon third-party suppliers, making us vulnerable to supply problems and price fluctuations, which
could harm our business.

        We rely on a limited number of third parties to manufacture and supply certain of the key components of our products. While many of the components used
in our products are available from multiple sources, we obtain some components from single sources. For example, key components of the detector heads and the
acquisition and control software utilized in our gamma cameras are manufactured or supplied by a single source. To be successful, our contract manufacturers and
suppliers must provide us with the components of our systems in requisite quantities, in compliance with regulatory requirements, in accordance with agreed-
upon specifications, at acceptable cost and on a timely basis. Segami Corporation, or Segami, has developed image acquisition and processing software for our
camera under a non-exclusive license agreement. In the event that Segami attempts to terminate the license agreement, refuses to extend the term of the license or
seeks to impose unreasonable pricing or terms, we would have to find an

10



alternative software system to use in our gamma camera. Our reliance on these outside suppliers subjects us to a number of risks that could harm our business,
including:

• suppliers may make errors in manufacturing components that could adversely affect the efficacy or safety of our products or cause delays in
shipment of our products; 

• we may not be able to obtain adequate supply in a timely manner or on commercially reasonable terms; 

• we may have difficulty locating and qualifying alternative suppliers for our components; 

• once we identify alternative suppliers, we could experience significant delays in production due to the need to evaluate and test the products
delivered by alternative suppliers and to obtain regulatory qualification for them; 

• we are not a major customer of many of our suppliers, and these suppliers may therefore give other customers' needs higher priority than ours; 

• we use some suppliers that are small, privately-held companies, and these suppliers could encounter financial or other difficulties that could cause
them to modify or discontinue their operations at any time; 

• our suppliers manufacture products for a range of customers, and fluctuations in demand for the products those suppliers manufacture for others
may affect their ability to deliver components to us in a timely manner; and 

• our suppliers may encounter financial hardships unrelated to our demand for components, which could inhibit their ability to fulfill our orders and
meet our requirements.

        Any interruption or delay in the supply of components or materials, or our inability to obtain components or materials from alternate sources at acceptable
prices in a timely manner, could impair our ability to meet the demand of our customers and cause them to cancel orders or switch to competitive procedures.
These events could harm our business and operating results.

        We have limited marketing, sales and distribution capabilities, and our efforts in those areas are dependent in part on third parties.

        We began commercial production and shipped our first imaging products in 2000, and therefore have limited experience in marketing, selling and
distributing our products and services. Additionally, while we have a direct sales team focused on domestic marketing, sales and distribution, we also use four
independent distributors in the United States and two independent, international sales distributors to market, sell and distribute our products and services. As a
result, we are dependent in part upon the marketing, sales and distribution efforts of our third-party distributors. To date, one of our domestic third-party
distributors is permitted to market, sell and distribute competing imaging services and products. Additionally, one of our domestic third-party distributors, as well
as one of our international distributors, is generally permitted to market, sell and distribute competing imaging products that are used or refurbished and meet
specified age requirements. Our other international distributor is prohibited from promoting or distributing any other gamma camera product, but is not prohibited
from offering competing services.

        Our future revenue growth will depend in large part on our success in maintaining and expanding our marketing, sales and distribution channels, which will
likely be an expensive and time-consuming process. We are highly dependent upon the efforts of our sales force and third-party distributors to increase our
revenue. We face intense competition for qualified sales employees and may be unable to hire, train, manage and retain such personnel, which could adversely
affect our ability to maintain and expand our marketing, sales and distribution network, which would negatively affect our ability to compete effectively as a
distributor of nuclear imaging devices. Additionally, even if we are able to expand our sales force and enter into agreements with additional third-party
distributors on commercially reasonable terms, they may not commit the necessary resources to effectively market, sell and distribute our products and services
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domestically and internationally. If we are unable to maintain and expand our direct and third-party marketing, sales and distribution networks, we may be unable
to sell enough of our products and imaging services for our business to be profitable and our financial condition and results of operations will likely suffer
accordingly.

        If we are unable to successfully operate and manage our manufacturing operations at our new facility, we may experience a decrease in sales.

        We recently completed the transition of our manufacturing operations from several separate facilities to a single facility. As we scale-up operations at our
new facility, we may encounter unforeseen circumstances, including:

• inability to obtain critical equipment on a timely basis; 

• failure to obtain necessary regulatory approvals or operating permits in a timely fashion, if at all; 

• shortages of qualified personnel to operate equipment and manage manufacturing operations; 

• shortages of key raw materials or component inputs to the manufacturing process; and 

• difficulties associated with moving from smaller-scale production to higher volumes.

        In addition, we may also experience difficulties in producing sufficient quantities or quality of products or in achieving sufficient quality and manufacturing
yield levels. If we are unable to successfully operate and manage our manufacturing operations at our new facility or otherwise fail to meet our manufacturing
needs, we may not be able to provide our customers with the quantity or quality of products they require, and we could lose customers and suffer reduced
revenues.

        We are subject to the financial risks associated with providing services through our DIS business.

        There are numerous risks associated with any leasing arrangement, including the possibility that physicians may fail to make the required payments under
the terms and provisions of their lease commitments. Our DIS business is also affected by the ability of physicians to pay us, which in turn may be affected by
general economic and business conditions and the availability of reimbursement for the physicians. Such circumstances could adversely affect our business and
financial condition.

        If we are unable to expand our DIS business, our business could be materially harmed.

        We plan to grow our DIS business by expanding into several new states, adding new hub locations in states in which we currently operate and increasing hub
utilization by adding physician customers and routes. As we undertake this expansion, we will need to hire, train and retain qualified personnel. We cannot assure
you that physicians or hospitals in these new markets will accept our imaging products or services. Our expansion into additional domestic markets is subject to
inherent risk, including the burden of complying with applicable state regulations, including but not limited to regulations concerning the use, storage, handling
and disposal of radioactive materials, the difficulties in obtaining the necessary radioactive licensures and difficulties in staffing and managing operations.
Furthermore, physician self-referral laws currently in effect in the State of New York do not allow the conduct of our DIS business as it is currently structured or
at all, and we may find the laws of other states in which we do not currently operate to require us to change the structure of our DIS business to operate in such
states.

        A loss of key executives or failure to attract qualified managers, engineers and imaging technologists could limit our growth and adversely affect our
business.

        Our success is dependent on the efforts of our key technical, sales and managerial personnel and our ability to retain them, particularly David M. Sheehan,
Paul J. Early, Herb Bellucci, Todd P. Clyde, Richard Conwell and Vera P. Pardee. The loss of any one or more of these individuals could place a significant strain
on our remaining management team and we may have difficulty replacing any of these individuals. Furthermore, our future growth will depend in part upon our
ability to identify, hire and retain additional key personnel, including nuclear imaging technologists, paramedics, nurses, radiation safety officers,
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engineers, management, sales personnel and other highly skilled personnel. Hiring qualified management and technical personnel will be difficult due to the
limited number of qualified candidates. Competition for these types of employees, particularly nuclear imaging technologists and engineers, is intense in the
medical imaging field. Given the competition for such qualified personnel, we cannot assure you that we will be able to continue to attract, hire and retain the
personnel necessary to maintain and develop our business. Failure to attract, hire and retain key personnel could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. We do not have any employment agreements with, or key person insurance on, any of our employees.

        If we choose to acquire new or complementary businesses, products or technologies instead of developing them ourselves, we may be unable to complete
those acquisitions or to successfully integrate them in a cost-effective and non-disruptive manner.

        Our success depends on our ability to continually enhance and broaden our product and service offerings in response to changing customer demands,
competitive pressures and technologies. While we have no current plans or commitments regarding any acquisitions of new or complementary businesses,
products or technologies, we may in the future choose to pursue such acquisitions instead of developing those businesses, products or technologies ourselves. We
cannot assure you, however, that we would be able to successfully complete any acquisition we choose to pursue, or that we would be able to successfully
integrate any acquired business, product or technology into our company in a cost-effective and non-disruptive manner. Furthermore, there is no certainty that we
would be able to attract, hire or retain key employees associated with any acquired businesses, products or technologies.

        Integrating any acquired businesses, products or technologies could be expensive and time consuming, disrupt our ongoing business and divert the attention
and resources of our management. If we are unable to integrate any acquired businesses, products or technologies effectively, our business will likely suffer.
Additionally, any amortization of assets or charges resulting from the costs of acquisitions could harm our business and operating results.

        We will face additional risks as we expand into international markets.

        We have sales distributors for our imaging systems in Canada and Russia and are beginning to build an international sales organization. As we expand
internationally, we will need to hire, train and retain qualified personnel in countries where language, cultural or regulatory impediments may exist. We cannot
assure you that distributors, physicians or other involved parties in foreign markets will accept our nuclear imaging products, services and business practices. Our
international operations will be subject to inherent risks, including:

• costs of localizing product and service offerings for foreign markets; 

• difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations; 

• reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries; 

• difficulties and delays in enforcing agreements and in collecting receivables through the legal systems of foreign countries; 

• fluctuating currency exchange rates; 

• the possibility that foreign countries may impose additional withholding taxes or otherwise tax our foreign income, impose tariffs or adopt other
restrictions on foreign trade; 

• changes in political, regulatory, or economic conditions in a country or region; 

• our ability to obtain U.S. export licenses and other required export or import licenses or approvals; 

• burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws, regulations specific to the delivery of and payment for healthcare services, regulations
and licensing requirements relating to the use, storage, handling and disposal of radioactive materials, labor practices; and
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• conforming our business model to operate under government-run healthcare systems.

        Our manufacturing operations and executive offices will be located at a single facility that may be at risk from fire, earthquakes or other natural or
man-made disasters or crises.

        Our manufacturing operations and executive offices are located at a single facility in Poway, California, near known fire areas and earthquake fault zones.
This facility is located a short distance from the recent wildfires that destroyed many homes and businesses in San Diego County, California. We have taken
precautions to safeguard our facilities, including insurance and health and safety protocols. However, any future natural disaster, such as a fire or an earthquake,
could cause substantial delays in our operations, damage to or destroy our manufacturing equipment or inventory, and cause us to incur additional expenses. A
disaster could significantly harm our business and results of operations. The insurance we maintain against fires, earthquakes and other natural disasters may not
be adequate to cover our losses in any particular case.

        Additionally, electrical power is vital to our operations and we rely on a continuous power supply to conduct our business. California has experienced
significant electrical power shortages and price volatility in recent years, and such shortages and price volatility may occur in the future. In the event of an acute
power shortage, the California system operator has on some occasions implemented, and may in the future implement, rolling blackouts throughout California. If
our energy costs substantially increase or blackouts interrupt our power supply frequently or for more than a few days, we may have to reduce or temporarily
discontinue our normal operations. In addition, the cost of our research and development efforts may increase because of the disruption to our operations. Any
such reduction or disruption of our operations at our facilities could harm our business.

        We are exposed to risks relating to product liability, product recalls, property damage and personal injury for which insurance coverage is expensive,
limited and potentially inadequate, and our business may be impacted by increased insurance costs.

        Our operations entail a number of risks, including risks relating to product liability claims, product recalls, property damage and personal injury. We
currently maintain insurance that we believe is adequate with respect to the nature of the risks insured against, including product liability insurance, professional
liability insurance, automobile insurance, property insurance, workers compensation insurance and general liability insurance. In many cases such insurance is
expensive and difficult to obtain, and no assurance can be given that we will be able to maintain our current insurance or that we will be able to obtain or maintain
comparable or additional insurance in the future on reasonable terms, if at all. Additionally, we may be negatively affected by increased costs of insurance,
including workers compensation insurance. For example, in October 2003, the Governor of California signed a bill which, if it takes effect, will require California
businesses with 50 or more employees either to pay at least 80% of the premiums for a basic individual health insurance package for each of its employees and
their families, or to pay a fee into a state pool for the purchase of health insurance for uninsured, low income workers.

Risks Related to Our Financial Results and Need for Financing

        We have incurred significant and recurring operating losses since our inception in 1985 and we expect to incur increased operating expenses in the near
term.

        We have incurred significant net losses since our inception in November 1985, including losses of approximately $19.9 million in 2001, $12.8 million in
2002, $1.7 million in 2003, and $927,000 and $266,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively. As of March 31, 2004 we had an
accumulated deficit of $80.5 million. We expect to incur increased operating expenses in the near term as we, among other things:

• expand our manufacturing operations and DIS business; 

• increase marketing, sales and distribution of our current products; and
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• conduct research and development to develop next-generation products and to enhance our existing products.

        As a result of these activities, we may not be able to achieve profitability. If our revenue grows more slowly than anticipated, or if our operating expenses
exceed our expectations, our ability to achieve our development and expansion goals would be adversely affected.

        Our quarterly financial results are difficult to predict and are likely to fluctuate significantly from period to period because our business prospects are
uncertain and due to the seasonality of our DIS leasing services business.

        Our revenue and results of operations at any given time will be primarily based on the following factors, many of which we cannot control:

• physician, healthcare provider and patient acceptance of our products and services; 

• demand and pricing of our products and services; 

• success and timing of new product offerings, acquisitions, licenses or other significant events by us or our competitors; 

• our ability to establish and maintain a productive manufacturing, marketing, sales and distribution force; 

• the ability of our suppliers to timely provide us with an adequate supply of necessary components; 

• timing and magnitude of our expenditures; 

• our ability to reduce our expenses, including our debt service obligations, quickly enough to respond to any declines in revenue; 

• regulatory approvals and legislative changes affecting the products we may offer or those of our competitors; 

• the effect of competing technological and market developments; 

• our addition or termination of research programs or funding support; 

• levels of third-party reimbursement for our products and services; 

• interruption in the manufacturing or distribution of our products and services; and 

• changes in our ability to obtain FDA approval or clearance for our products.

        Furthermore, we have experienced seasonality in the leasing services offered by DIS. While our physicians are obligated to pay us for all lease days to which
they have committed, our contracts permit some flexibility in scheduling when services are to be performed. This accounts for some of the seasonality of our DIS
revenues. For example, our daily services have typically declined from our second fiscal quarter to our third fiscal quarter due to summer holidays and vacation
schedules. We have also experienced declining daily services in December due to holidays and in our first quarter due to weather conditions in certain parts of the
United States. We cannot predict with certainty the degree to which seasonal circumstances such as the summer slowdown, winter holiday variations and weather
conditions may make our revenue unpredictable or lead to fluctuations in our quarterly operating results in the future.

        In addition, due to the way that customers in our target markets allocate and spend their budgeted funds for acquisition of our products, a large percentage of
our sales of gamma cameras is booked at the end of each quarterly accounting period. As such, a sales delay of only a few days may significantly impact our
quarter-to-quarter comparisons.

        For these reasons, we believe that quarterly sales and operating results may vary significantly in the future and that period-to-period comparisons of our
results of operations are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as indicators of future performance. We cannot assure you that our sales will
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increase or be sustained in future periods. Accordingly, we may experience significant, unanticipated quarterly losses. Because of these and other factors, our
operating results in one or more future quarters may fail to meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors, which could cause our stock price to decline
significantly.

        Our reliance on a limited number of customers may cause our sales to be volatile.

        We currently have a small number of customers, whom we typically bill after the delivery of our products and imaging services. If orders for our gamma
cameras were to be cancelled, or our leasing service customers stopped using us or do not renew their lease agreements with us, our business would be adversely
affected. Furthermore, in view of our small customer base, our failure to gain additional customers, the loss of any current customers or a significant reduction in
the level of leasing services provided to any one customer could disrupt our business, harm our reputation and adversely affect our sales.

        The sales cycle for our gamma cameras is typically lengthy, which may result in significant fluctuations in our revenue.

        Our sales efforts for our gamma cameras are dependent on the capital expenditures budgets of the physicians and hospitals to which we market. Often
physicians and hospitals require a significant amount of lead time to plan for a major acquisition such as the purchase of our imaging systems. We may spend
substantial time, effort and expense long before we actually consummate a sale of our cameras and with no assurance that we will ultimately be successful in
achieving any such sales. As a result, we may experience significant fluctuations in our revenues. Furthermore, evaluating and predicting our future sales and
operating performance is difficult and may not be as accurate as it could be if we had shorter sales cycles.

        Our future capital needs are uncertain and we may need to raise additional funds in the future, and such funds may not be available on acceptable
terms, if at all.

        We believe that the net proceeds from this offering, together with our current cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, will be sufficient to meet
our projected operating requirements for at least the next 12 months. Our capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:

• the revenue generated by sales of our products and services; 

• the costs associated with expanding our manufacturing, marketing, sales and distribution efforts; 

• the rate of progress and cost of our research and development activities; 

• the costs of obtaining and maintaining FDA and other regulatory clearance of our products and products in development; 

• the costs of obtaining and maintaining radioactive materials licenses and radiation safety procedures; 

• the effects of competing technological and market developments; 

• the number and timing of acquisitions and other strategic transactions; and 

• the costs associated with our expansion, if any.

        As a result of these factors, we may need to raise additional funds, and we cannot be certain that such funds will be available to us on acceptable terms, if at
all. Furthermore, if we issue equity or debt securities to raise additional funds, our existing stockholders may experience dilution and the new equity or debt
securities may have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of our existing stockholders. In addition, if we raise additional funds through collaboration,
licensing or other similar arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish potentially valuable rights to our future products or proprietary technologies, or grant
licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. If we cannot raise funds on acceptable terms, we may not be able to expand our operations, develop new products,
take advantage of future opportunities or respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated customer requirements.
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Risks Related to Government Regulation

        We must be licensed to handle and use hazardous materials and may be liable for contamination or other harm caused by hazardous materials that we
use.

        We use hazardous and radioactive materials in our research and development and manufacturing processes, as well as in the provision of our imaging
services. We are subject to federal, state and local regulations governing use, storage, handling and disposal of these materials and waste products. We are
currently licensed to handle such materials in all states in which we operate, but there can be no assurances that we will be able to retain those licenses in the
future. In addition, we must become licensed in all states in which we plan to expand. Obtaining those additional licenses is an expensive and time consuming
process, and in some cases we may not be able to obtain those licenses at all.

        Although we believe that our procedures for use, handling, storing and disposing of these materials comply with legally prescribed standards, we cannot
completely eliminate the risk of contamination or injury resulting from hazardous materials and we may incur liability as a result of any such contamination or
injury. In the event of an accident, we could be held liable for damages or penalized with fines, and the liability could exceed our resources and any applicable
insurance.

        We have also incurred and may continue to incur expenses related to compliance with environmental laws. Such future expenses or liability could have a
significant negative impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, we cannot assure you that the cost of complying with these laws
and regulations will not materially increase in the future.

        Compliance with extensive product regulations could be expensive and time consuming, and any failure to comply with those regulations could harm
our ability to sell and market our products and imaging services.

        U.S. and foreign regulatory agencies, including the FDA, govern the testing, marketing and registration of new medical devices or modifications to medical
devices, in addition to regulating manufacturing practices, reporting, labeling and recordkeeping procedures. The regulatory process makes it longer, harder and
more costly to bring our products to market, and we cannot assure you that any of our future products will be approved. All of our planned services, products and
manufacturing activities, as well as the manufacturing activities of third-party medical device manufacturers who supply components to us, are subject to these
regulations. Generally, we and our third-party manufacturers are or will be required to:

• undergo rigorous inspections by domestic and international agencies; 

• obtain the prior approval of those agencies before we can market and sell our medical device products; and 

• satisfy content and format requirements for all of our sales and promotional materials.

        Compliance with the regulations of those agencies may delay or prevent us from introducing new or improved products, which could in turn affect our
ability to achieve or maintain profitability. We may be subject to sanctions, including monetary fines and criminal penalties, the temporary or permanent
suspension of operations, product recalls and marketing restrictions, if we fail to comply with the laws and regulations applicable to our business. Our third-party
component manufacturers may also be subject to the same sanctions and, as a result, may be unable to supply components for our products. Any failure to retain
governmental approvals that we currently hold or obtain additional similar approvals could prevent us from successfully marketing our products and technology
and could harm our operating results. Furthermore, changes in the applicable governmental regulations could prevent further commercialization of our products
and technologies and could harm our business.

        Even if regulatory approval or clearance of a product is granted, regulatory agencies could impose limitations on uses for which the product may be labeled
and promoted. Further, for a marketed product,
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its manufacturer and manufacturing facilities are subject to periodic review and inspection. Later discovery of problems with a product, manufacturer or facility
may result in restrictions on the product, manufacturer or facility, including withdrawal of the product from the market or other enforcement actions.

        Our products are subject to reporting requirements and recalls even after receiving FDA clearance or approval, which could harm our reputation,
business and financial results.

        We are subject to medical device reporting regulations that require us to report to FDA or similar governmental bodies in other countries if our products
cause or contribute to a death or serious injury or malfunction in a way that would be reasonably likely to contribute to death or serious injury if the malfunction
were to recur. In addition, the FDA and similar governmental bodies in other countries have the authority to require the recall of our products in the event of
material deficiencies or defects in design or manufacture. A government mandated or voluntary recall by us could occur as a result of component failures,
manufacturing errors or design defects, including defects in labeling. Any recall would divert management attention and financial resources and harm our
reputation with customers. A recall involving our product could harm the reputation of the product and our company and would be particularly harmful to our
business and financial results.

        If we fail to obtain, or are significantly delayed in obtaining, FDA clearances or approvals for future products or product enhancements, or if we fail to
comply with FDA's Quality System Regulation, our ability to commercially market and distribute our products will suffer.

        Our products are subject to rigorous regulation by the FDA, and numerous other federal, state and foreign governmental authorities. In the U.S., the FDA
regulates virtually all aspects of a medical device's testing, manufacture, safety, labeling, storage, recordkeeping, reporting, promotion and distribution. Our
failure to comply with those regulations could lead to the imposition of administrative or judicial sanctions, including injunctions, suspensions or the loss of
regulatory approvals, product recalls, termination of distribution, or product seizures. In the most egregious cases, criminal sanctions or closure of our
manufacturing facilities are possible. The process of obtaining regulatory approvals to market a medical device, particularly from the FDA, can be costly and time
consuming, and there can be no assurance that such approvals will be granted on a timely basis, if at all. In particular unless exempt, the FDA permits commercial
distribution of a new medical device only after the device has received 510(k) clearance or is the subject of an approved Premarket Approval Application, or
PMA. The FDA will clear marketing of a medical device through the 510(k) process if it is demonstrated that the new product is substantially equivalent to other
510(k)-cleared products. The PMA approval process is more costly, lengthy and uncertain than the 510(k) clearance process, and must be supported by extensive
data, including data from preclinical studies and human clinical trials. Because we cannot assure you that any new products we develop, or any product
enhancements, will be subject to the shorter 510(k) clearance process, significant delays in the introduction of any new products or product enhancements may
occur. There is no assurance that the FDA will not require a new product or product enhancement go through the lengthy and expensive PMA approval process.
Further, pursuant to FDA regulations, we can only market our products for approved uses. If our products are used for purposes other than those approved by the
FDA, the FDA could object to such off-label uses.

        Our manufacturing processes and those of our third-party manufacturers are required to comply with the FDA's Quality System Regulation, which covers the
design, testing, production processes, controls, quality assurance, labeling, packaging, storage and shipping of our devices. In addition, we must engage in
extensive recordkeeping and reporting and must make available our manufacturing facility and records for periodic unscheduled inspections by federal, state and
foreign agencies, including the FDA. Our or our third-party manufacturers' failure to pass a Quality System Regulation inspection or to comply with these and
other applicable regulatory requirements could result in disruption of our operations and manufacturing delays, and a failure to take adequate corrective action
could result in, among other things,
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withdrawal of our medical device clearances, seizure or recall of our devices, or other civil or criminal enforcement actions.

        Foreign governmental authorities that regulate the manufacture and sale of medical devices have become increasingly stringent and, to the extent we now or
in the future market and sell our products in foreign countries, we may be subject to rigorous regulation by those foreign governmental authorities. In such
circumstances, we would rely significantly on our foreign independent distributors to comply with the varying regulations, and any failures on their part could
result in restrictions on the sale of our products in foreign countries.

        Modifications to our products may require new 510(k) clearances or premarket approvals, or may require us to cease marketing or recall the modified
products until clearances are obtained.

        Any modification to a 510(k)-cleared device that could significantly affect its safety or effectiveness, or that would constitute a major change in its intended
use, design, or manufacture, requires a new 510(k) clearance or, possibly, approval of a PMA. The FDA requires every manufacturer to make this determination
in the first instance, but the FDA may review any manufacturer's decision. The FDA may not agree with our decisions regarding whether new clearances or
approvals are necessary. If the FDA requires us to seek 510(k) clearance or PMA for modification of a previously cleared product for which we have concluded
that new clearances or approvals are unnecessary, we may be required to cease marketing or to recall the modified product until we obtain clearance or approval,
and we may be subject to significant regulatory fines or penalties. Further, our products could be subject to recall if the FDA determines, for any reason, that our
products are not safe or effective. Any recall or FDA requirement that we seek additional approvals or clearances could result in delays, fines, costs associated
with modification of a product, loss of revenue and potential operating restrictions imposed by the FDA.

        We will spend considerable time and money complying with federal, state and foreign regulations and, if we are unable to fully comply with such
regulations, we could face substantial penalties.

        We are directly or indirectly through our clients, subject to extensive regulation by both the federal government and the states and foreign countries in which
we conduct our business. The laws that directly or indirectly affect our ability to operate our business include, but are not limited to, the following:

• the federal Medicare and Medicaid Anti-Kickback Law, which prohibits persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or
providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce either the referral of an individual, or furnishing or arranging for a good
or service, for which payment may be made under federal healthcare programs such as the Medicare and Medicaid Programs; 

• other Medicare laws and regulations that prescribe the requirements for coverage and payment for services performed by us and our DIS
customers, including the amount of such payment; 

• the federal False Claims Act, which imposes civil and criminal liability on individuals and entities who submit, or cause to be submitted, false or
fraudulent claims for payment to the government; 

• the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which prohibits executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare
benefit program, including private payors and, further, requires us to comply with standards regarding the privacy and security of individually
identifiable health information and conduct certain electronic transactions using standardized code sets. In addition, regulations have been issued
under HIPAA that will require us to comply with additional security regulations by April 2005 and to adopt unique health identifiers for use in
filing and processing healthcare claims and other transactions by May 2007; 

• the federal False Statements Statute, which prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any
materially false statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services;
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• the federal physician self-referral prohibition, commonly known as the Stark Law, which, in the absence of a statutory or regulatory exception,
prohibits the referral of Medicare or Medicaid patients by a physician to an entity for the provision of certain designated healthcare services, if the
physician or a member of the physician's immediate family has a direct or indirect financial relationship, including an ownership interest in, or a
compensation arrangement with, the entity and also prohibits that entity from submitting a bill to a federal payor for services rendered pursuant to
a prohibited referral; 

• the federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, which regulates the manufacture, labeling, marketing, distribution and sale of prescription drugs and
medical devices; 

• state and foreign law equivalents of the foregoing; 

• federal and state radioactive materials laws, which govern the procurement, use, transfer and storage of radioactive materials; 

• state food and drug laws, pharmacy acts and state pharmacy board regulations, which govern the sale, distribution, use, administration and
prescribing of prescription drugs; 

• state laws that prohibit the practice of medicine by non-physicians and fee-splitting arrangements between physicians and non-physicians, as well
as state law equivalents to the federal Medicare and Medicaid Anti-Kickback Law and the Stark Law, which may not be limited to government
reimbursed items or services; and 

• federal laws and regulations that permit physicians to bill and receive payment for certain diagnostic tests under the Medicare Physician Fee
Schedule only if certain conditions are satisfied, including the requirement that the physician personally perform, or adequately supervise the
performance of, the test.

        If our past or present operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or the other governmental regulations to which we or our
customers are subject, we may be subject to the applicable penalty associated with the violation, including civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, exclusion
from the Medicare and Medicaid programs and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. Similarly, if our customers are found non-compliant with
applicable laws, they may be subject to sanctions, which could also have a negative impact on us. In addition, if we are required to obtain permits or licensure
under these laws that we do not already possess, we may become subject to substantial additional regulation or incur significant expense. Any penalties, damages,
fines, curtailment or restructuring of our operations would adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our financial results. The risk of our being
found in violation of these laws is increased by the fact that many of them have not been fully interpreted by the regulatory authorities or the courts, and their
provisions are open to a variety of interpretations, and additional legal or regulatory change. Any action against us for violation of these laws, even if we
successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses, divert our management's attention from the operation of our business and
damage our reputation. For a more detailed discussion of the various state and federal regulations to which we are subject, and how they apply to our operations
and activities, see "Business—Government Regulations."

        Legislative or regulatory reform of the healthcare system may affect our ability to sell our products profitably.

        In both the United States and certain other foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory proposals to change the healthcare
system in ways that could impact our ability to sell our products and services profitably. In the United States, federal and state lawmakers regularly propose and,
at times, enact new legislation establishing significant changes in the healthcare system. Recently, President Bush signed into law the Medicare Modernization
Act, which contains a wide variety of reforms that impact Medicare reimbursements to hospitals and physicians including changes to Medicare payment
methodologies for radiopharmaceuticals and other drugs dispensed by hospital
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outpatient departments and for drugs dispensed by physician offices and independent diagnostic testing facilities. These changes reduced payment amounts for
some of the drugs used in conjunction with our imaging procedures, although the physician fee schedule payment rates applicable to nuclear cardiology increased
slightly. Downward changes to Medicare reimbursement rates may adversely impact reimbursement to customers or potential customers that use or could use our
cameras and services. We cannot predict the full impact that this new legislation will have nor whether new federal legislation will be enacted in the future. The
potential for adoption of healthcare reform proposals on a state-by-state basis could require us to develop state-specific marketing and sales approaches. In
addition, we may experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of our products and services due to additional legislative proposals or healthcare reform
initiatives. Our results of operations and our business could therefore be adversely affected by future healthcare reforms.

        The impact of regulatory changes could have a negative impact on camera sales to and leases with hospitals desiring to use our cameras and services in
their outpatient facilities.

        In order for hospitals to receive certain payments for their outpatient facilities as hospital outpatient services, including services that utilize our products,
these services must be furnished in a "provider-based" organization or facility or be covered services furnished "under arrangement" with the hospital. Failure to
meet these requirements may result in reduced payments to the hospitals for their services. The Medicare program has published and revised rules establishing
criteria for classifying a facility as "provider-based" or a service as furnished "under arrangement." These rates require an analysis of the facts and circumstances
surrounding the delivery by a hospital of a particular service, and hospitals that use our products or DIS services in their outpatient facilities will need to
determine if they meet the applicable "provider-based" or "under arrangement" requirements. Hospitals that cannot obtain sufficient payments for these services
may not purchase a camera from us or enter into arrangements with us for provision of services.

        The application of state certificate of need regulations could harm our business and financial results.

        Some states currently require, or may require in the future, a certificate of need or similar regulatory approval prior to the acquisition of high-cost capital
items, including diagnostic imaging systems, or provision of diagnostic imaging services by us or our clients. In many cases, a limited number of these certificates
are available in a given state. If we or our clients are unable to obtain the applicable certificate or approval or additional certificates or approvals necessary to
expand our operations, these regulations may limit or preclude our operations in the relevant jurisdictions.

        If we fail to comply with various licensure, or certification standards, we may be subject to loss of licensure or certification, which would adversely affect
our operations.

        All of the states in which we operate require that the imaging technicians that operate our cameras be licensed or certified. Obtaining such licenses may take
significant time as we expand into additional states. Further, we are currently enrolled by Medicare contractors, or "carriers," as an independent diagnostic testing
facility in nine states and are seeking such enrollment by Medicare contractors in one additional state. Enrollment is essential for us to receive payment for
healthcare services directly from Medicare. There can be no assurances we will be able to maintain such enrollment or that we will be able to gain such
enrollment in other states. Any lapse in our licenses or enrollment, or the licensure or certification of our technicians, could increase our costs and adversely affect
our operations and financial results.

        In the healthcare industry, various types of organizations are accredited to facilitate meeting certain Medicare certification requirements, expedite third-party
payment and fulfill state licensure requirements. Some managed care providers prefer to contract with accredited organizations. Thus far, we have not found it
necessary to seek or obtain accreditation from any established accreditation agency. If it becomes necessary for us to do so in the future in order to satisfy the
requirements of third-party payors or
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regulatory agencies, there can be no assurances that we will be able to obtain or continuously maintain this accreditation.

        Audits or denials of our claims, or claims submitted by our DIS customers, by government agencies or contractors could reduce our revenues or profits
and expose us to claims.

        Under our "mixed bill" model, we submit claims directly to and receive payments directly from the Medicare program. Therefore, we are subject to
extensive government regulation, including requirements for maintaining certain documentation to support our claims. Government agencies and Medicare
contractors also may conduct inspections or surveys of our facilities, payment reviews and other audits of our claims and operations. For example, as part of a
national audit conducted pursuant to the 2003 work plan, the Office of the Inspector General of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, or the OIG,
conducted a review of one of our independent diagnostic testing facilities in early 2003 to review the appropriateness of Medicare payments received. This audit
was concluded without any action being taken by the OIG. While we believe this audit will have no impact on us, we cannot assure you that the OIG may not take
some follow-up action. We may be subject to investigations, payment reviews and audits and cannot assure you that such scrutiny will not result in material
delays in payment, as well as material recoupments or denials, which could reduce our revenue or profits. Our DIS customers also submit claims to Medicare and
other third-party payors, are subject to the same types of regulation and scrutiny, and may experience the same types of problems. This could adversely affect our
ability to market our leases and services and to maintain existing contracts.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property and Potential Litigation

        Our ability to protect our intellectual property and proprietary technology through patents and other means is uncertain.

        Our success depends significantly on our ability to protect our proprietary rights to the technologies used in our products. We rely on patent protection, as
well as a combination of copyright, trade secret and trademark laws, and nondisclosure, confidentiality and other contractual restrictions to protect our proprietary
technology. However, these legal means afford only limited protection and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep any competitive
advantage. Our pending U.S. and foreign patent applications, which include claims to material aspects of our products and procedures that are not currently
protected by issued patents, may not issue as patents in a form that will be advantageous to us. Any patents we have obtained or do obtain may be challenged by
re-examination or otherwise invalidated. Both the patent application process and the process of managing patent disputes can be time consuming and expensive.
Competitors may attempt to challenge or invalidate our patents, or may be able to design alternative techniques or devices that avoid infringement of our patents,
or develop products with functionalities that are comparable to ours. Although we have taken steps to protect our intellectual property and proprietary technology,
including entering into confidentiality agreements and intellectual property assignment agreements with our employees, consultants, advisors and corporate
partners, such agreements may not be enforceable or may not provide meaningful protection for our trade secrets or other proprietary information in the event of
unauthorized use or disclosure or other breaches of the agreements. Furthermore, the laws of some foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property
rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States.

        In the event a competitor infringes upon our patent or other intellectual property rights, litigation to enforce our intellectual property rights or to defend our
patents against challenge, even if successful, could be expensive and time consuming and could require significant time and attention from our management. We
may not have sufficient resources to enforce our intellectual property rights or to defend our patents against challenges from others.

        We have entered into a royalty-bearing license for one U.S. patent with a third-party for use in nuclear imaging, which license is co-exclusive with the U.S.
government. We do not believe that our current
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products implement the licensed patent; however, the licensor does not agree. We are currently negotiating to amend the license to resolve our dispute with the
licensor. If we were to terminate the license, the licensor or subsequent licensee may allege that our current product infringes the patent, or such third-party
licensee may develop and commercialize a competitive photodiode for use in gamma cameras.

        The medical device industry is characterized by patent litigation and we could become subject to litigation that could be costly, result in the diversion of
our management's time and efforts, and require us to pay damages.

        The medical device industry is characterized by extensive litigation and administrative proceedings over patent and other intellectual property rights.
Whether a product infringes a patent involves complex legal and factual issues, the determination of which is often uncertain. Our competitors may assert that our
products, their components or the methods we employ in the use of our products are covered by U.S. or foreign patents held by them. In addition, they may claim
that their patents have priority over ours because their patents were filed or invented earlier. Because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may
be applications now pending of which we are unaware, which may later result in issued patents that our products may infringe. There could also be existing
patents that one or more components of our products may be infringing of which we are unaware. As the number of participants in our industry increases, the
possibility of patent infringement claims against us also increases.

        Any litigation or claims against us may cause us to incur substantial costs, could place a significant strain on our financial resources, divert the attention of
our management from our core business and harm our reputation. If the relevant patents were upheld as valid and enforceable and we were found to be
inadvertently infringing, we could be required to pay substantial damages and/or royalties and could be prevented from selling our products unless we could
obtain a license or were able to redesign our system to avoid infringement. Any such license may not be available on reasonable terms, if at all. If we fail to
obtain any required licenses or make any necessary changes to our products or technologies, we may be unable to commercialize one or more of our products.

        We rely significantly on a license agreement with Segami Corporation for the imaging acquisition and processing software for our digital gamma
camera, and the loss of the license could result in delivery delays, loss of customers and loss of revenue.

        Segami Corporation, or Segami, has developed image acquisition and processing software for our camera under a non-exclusive license agreement. In the
event that Segami attempts to terminate the license agreement, refuses to extend the term of the license or seeks to impose unreasonable pricing or terms, we
would have to find an alternative software system to use in our gamma camera. To our knowledge, there are a limited number of companies that would be able to
develop and implement a software system similar to what we use in our gamma camera. As a result, in the event that we were unable to continue to use the
software under the license from Segami, we could have delays in the production of our gamma camera as we attempted to find a substitute software provider.
Furthermore, we cannot guarantee that alternative software providers would be able to meet our requirements or that their software would be available to us at
favorable prices, if at all. To the extent we were unable to find an alternative source for the software, we may have to develop our own software system. We
cannot guarantee that we could internally develop such a software system or that such efforts would not divert resources away from the development of other
features of our camera. As a result, locating an alternative software system or developing our own software system could interrupt the manufacture and delivery
of our products for an extended period of time and may cause the loss of customers and revenue.

        We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that we, or our employees, have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their former
employers.

        Many of our employees were previously employed at other medical device companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. Although no
claims against us are currently pending, we may be subject to claims that we or our employees have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets
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or other proprietary information of their former employers. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. Even if we are successful in defending
against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management. If we fail in defending such claims, in addition to paying
money damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. A loss of key research personnel or their work product could hinder or preclude
our ability to commercialize our products, which could severely harm our business.

        If we become subject to product liability or warranty claims, we may experience reduced demand for our products or be required to pay damages that
exceed our insurance coverage.

        The sale and support of our products entails the risk of product liability or warranty claims, such as those based on claims that the failure of one of our
products resulted in a misdiagnosis, among other issues. The medical device industry has been subject to significant products liability litigation. We may incur
significant liability in the event of any such litigation, regardless of the merit of the action. Although we maintain product liability insurance, we cannot be sure
that this coverage is adequate or that it will continue to be available on acceptable terms, if at all. We also may face warranty exposure, which could adversely
affect our operating results. Any unforeseen warranty exposure or insufficient insurance could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Finally, even a meritless or unsuccessful product liability claim could harm our reputation in the industry, lead to significant legal fees and could result in the
diversion of management's attention from managing our business.

        We may be subject to lawsuits and actions brought by our employees.

        We may from time to time be subject to employment claims or disputes. Recently one former and three present employees have retained counsel and have
claimed that they are due overtime pay because of an alleged misclassification of their positions as non-exempt rather than exempt employees. These employees
have claimed damages equal to back pay of up to thirty days, liquidated damages of twice the amount of overtime pay found due and attorneys' fees. We deny any
wrongdoing and intend to defend against these claims vigorously. However, we cannot assure you that we will be successful, or that additional former or present
employees may not join in any such action. Any employment claims could significantly divert our management's time and attention and could materially affect
our business.

Risks Related to the Securities Markets and Ownership of Our Common Stock

        There has been no prior public market for our common stock and an active trading market may not develop.

        Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our common stock. An active public trading market for our common stock may not develop or be
sustained after the offering. We will negotiate and determine the initial public offering price with representatives of the underwriters and this price may not be
indicative of prices that will prevail in the trading market. As a result, you may not be able to sell your shares of common stock at or above the offering price. An
inactive market may also impair our ability to raise capital by selling shares and may impair our ability to acquire other businesses, products or technologies by
using our shares as consideration.

        Future sales of our common stock may cause our stock price to decline.

        Our current stockholders hold a substantial number of shares of our common stock that they will be able to sell in the public market in the near future.
Significant portions of these shares are held by a small number of stockholders. Sales by our current stockholders of a substantial number of shares after this
offering, or the expectation that such sale may occur, could significantly reduce the market price of our common stock. Moreover, after this offering, the holders
of approximately 43,579,771 shares of common stock, including shares issued upon conversion of our preferred stock and shares issued upon the exercise of
certain of our warrants, will have rights, subject to some conditions, to require us to file registration statements to permit the resale of their shares in the public
market or to include their shares in registration statements that we may file for ourselves or other stockholders. Although the holders of most of our

24



outstanding capital stock have agreed with the underwriters of this offering to be bound by a 180-day lock-up agreement that prohibits these holders from selling
or transferring their stock, other than in specific circumstances, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., at their
discretion, can waive the restrictions of the lock-up agreement at an earlier time without prior notice or announcement and allow our stockholders to sell their
shares of our common stock in the public market. If the restrictions of the lock-up agreement are waived, shares of our common stock will be available for sale
into the market, subject only to applicable securities rules and regulations, which may cause our stock price to decline.

        We also intend to register all common stock that we may issue under our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan and 2004 Non-Employee Director Stock Option
Program. Once we register these shares, they can be freely sold in the public market upon issuance, subject to restrictions under the securities laws and the lock-
up agreements described above. If any of these stockholders cause a large number of securities to be sold in the public market, the sales could reduce the trading
price of our common stock. These sales also could impede our ability to raise future capital.

        Our stock price may be volatile, and you may lose all or a substantial part of your investment.

        Following this offering, the market price for our common stock is likely to be volatile, in part because our shares have not been traded publicly. In addition,
the market price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to a number of factors, most of which we cannot control, including:

• volume and timing of orders for our products and services; 

• the introduction of new products, product enhancements, services or technologies by us or our competitors; 

• quarterly variations in our or our competitors' results of operations; 

• conditions or trends in the medical device industry and the imaging service industry; 

• disputes or other developments with respect to intellectual property rights; 

• our ability to develop, obtain regulatory clearance for, and market, new and enhanced products on a timely basis; 

• product liability claims or other litigation; 

• additions or departures of key personnel; 

• sales of large blocks of our common stock, including sales by our executive officers and directors; 

• changes in governmental regulations or in the status of our regulatory approvals or applications; 

• changes in the availability of third-party reimbursement in the United States or other countries; 

• changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by securities analysts; and 

• general market conditions and other factors, including factors unrelated to our operating performance or the operating performance of our
competitors.

        Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law may discourage or prevent a change in control, even if an acquisition
would be beneficial to our stockholders, which could affect our stock price adversely and prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our
current management.

        Our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws contain provisions that may delay or prevent a change in control, discourage bids at a premium
over the market price of our common stock and
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adversely affect the market price of our common stock and the voting and other rights of the holders of our common stock. These provisions include:

• prohibiting our stockholders from calling a special meeting of stockholders unless they hold not less than 20% of the total number of votes to be
cast at such a meeting; 

• permitting the issuance of additional shares of our common stock or preferred stock without stockholder approval; 

• prohibiting our stockholders from making certain changes to our restated certificate of incorporation or restated bylaws except with 662/3%
stockholder approval; and 

• requiring advance notice for raising matters of business or making nominations at stockholders' meetings.

        We are also subject to provisions of the Delaware corporation law that, in general, prohibit any business combination with a beneficial owner of 15% or
more of our common stock for five years unless the holder's acquisition of our stock was approved in advance by our board of directors. Although we believe
these provisions collectively provide for an opportunity to receive higher bids by requiring potential acquirors to negotiate with our board of directors, they would
apply even if the offer may be considered beneficial by some stockholders. In addition, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders
to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for
appointing the members of our management.

        We may become involved in securities class action litigation that could divert management's attention and harm our business.

        The stock market in general, and the Nasdaq National Market and the market for medical device companies in particular, has experienced extreme price and
volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of the companies in those markets. In addition to our
performance, these broad market and industry factors may materially harm the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating performance. In the
past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a particular company's securities, securities class action litigation has often been brought against that
company. We may become involved in this type of litigation in the future. Litigation often is expensive and diverts management's attention and resources, which
could materially harm our financial condition and results of operations.

        As a new investor, you will experience immediate and substantial dilution as a result of this offering and future equity issuances and, as a result of such
dilution, our stock price could decline.

        The initial public offering price will be substantially higher than the pro forma net tangible book value per share of our outstanding common stock. As a
result, investors purchasing common stock in this offering will incur immediate dilution of $            per share. This dilution is due in large part to earlier investors
in our company having paid substantially less than the initial public offering price when they purchased their shares. Investors who purchase shares of common
stock in this offering will contribute approximately            % of the total amount we have raised to fund our operations but will own only approximately            %
of our common stock. We believe that the net proceeds from this offering, together with our current cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, will be
sufficient to meet our projected operating requirements for at least the next 12 months. Because we may require additional funds to develop new products and
continue to expand our business, however, we may conduct substantial future offerings of equity securities. The exercise of outstanding options and warrants and
future equity issuances, including future public offerings or future private placements of equity securities and any additional shares issued in connection with
acquisitions, will result in further dilution to investors.

26



        If our officers, directors and principal stockholders choose to act together, they may be able to control our management and operations, acting in their
best interests and not in the best interests of other stockholders.

        After this offering, our officers, directors and holders of 5% or more of our outstanding common stock will beneficially own approximately    % of our
common stock, after giving effect to the conversion of all outstanding shares of our preferred stock, but assuming no exercise of the underwriters' over-allotment
option and no exercise of outstanding options or warrants. As a result, these stockholders, acting together, will be able to significantly influence all matters
requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election of directors and the approval of mergers or other business combination transactions. The interests
of this group of stockholders may not always coincide with our interests or the interests of other stockholders, and they may act in a manner that advances their
best interests and not necessarily those of other stockholders. As a result of their actions or inactions our stock price may decline.

        Our management team may invest or spend the proceeds of this offering in ways with which you may not agree or in ways which may not yield a return.

        Our management will have considerable discretion in the application of the net proceeds of this offering. We expect to use a majority of the net proceeds
from this offering to manufacture and market our gamma cameras, build our sales and marketing capabilities, expand our DIS business and repay outstanding
lines of credit of approximately $9.2 million. To a lesser extent, we anticipate using the remaining net proceeds of this offering for further research and
development relating to our existing products and new product opportunities, to finance regulatory approval activities and for general corporate purposes. We may
also use a portion of the net proceeds of this offering to acquire or invest in complementary businesses, products, or technologies, or to obtain the right to use such
complementary technologies, although we are not currently involved in any negotiations and have no commitments with respect to any such transactions. We
cannot specify with certainty how we will use the net proceeds of this offering or our existing cash balance. The net proceeds may be used for corporate purposes
that do not increase our operating results or market value. Until the net proceeds are used, we plan to invest such proceeds of this offering in short- and medium-
term, interest-bearing obligations, investment-grade instruments, certificates of deposit or direct or guaranteed obligations of the U.S. government. These
investments may not produce income or maintain their value.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

        This prospectus contains forward-looking statements that are based on our management's beliefs and assumptions and on information currently available to
our management. The forward-looking statements are contained principally in the sections entitled "Prospectus Summary," "Risk Factors," "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," "Use of Proceeds" and "Business." In some cases, you can identify forward-looking
statements by terms such as "anticipates," "believes," "could," "estimates," "expects," "intends," "may," "plans," "potential," "predicts," "projects," "should,"
"will," "would" and similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements.

        Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or
achievements to be materially different from any future results, performances or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. We
discuss many of these risks in this prospectus in greater detail under the heading "Risk Factors." Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on
these forward-looking statements. Also, forward-looking statements represent our management's beliefs and assumptions only as of the date of this prospectus.
You should read this prospectus and the documents that we reference in this prospectus and have filed as exhibits to the registration statement, of which this
prospectus is a part, completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect.

        Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update these forward-looking statements publicly, or to update the reasons actual results could differ
materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements, even if new information becomes available in the future.
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USE OF PROCEEDS 

        We estimate that the net proceeds from this offering will be approximately $            million, based upon an assumed initial public offering price of
$            per share and after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses. If the underwriters exercise their over-allotment
option in full, we estimate that our net proceeds will be approximately $            million.

        We expect to use a majority of the net proceeds of this offering to manufacture and market our gamma cameras, build our sales and marketing capabilities,
expand our DIS business and repay outstanding lines of credit of approximately $9.2 million.

        To a lesser extent, we anticipate using the remaining net proceeds of this offering:

• for further research and development relating to our existing products and new product opportunities and to finance regulatory approval activities;
and 

• for general corporate purposes.

        In addition, we may use a portion of the net proceeds from this offering to acquire products, technologies or businesses that are complementary to our own,
but we currently have no commitments or agreements relating to any of these types of transactions.

        Of the approximately $9.2 million of net proceeds that we intend to use to repay outstanding lines of credit, we will use approximately $4.7 million to repay
in full our outstanding balance as of March 31, 2004 under our secured credit facility with Silicon Valley Bank. The secured credit facility may be used to borrow
against accounts receivable and fixed assets and our outstanding balance matures in October 2004. The secured credit facility bears an interest rate equal to the
lender's prime rate, plus 1.75% per annum, but in no event less than 5.75%.

        Additionally, of the approximately $9.2 million of net proceeds that we intend to use to repay outstanding lines of credit, we will use approximately
$4.5 million to repay in full our outstanding balance as of March 31, 2004 under our credit facility with GE Healthcare Financial Services. The total amount
outstanding under the line of credit matures in December 2004 and the interest rate under such agreement is the greater of the lender's prime rate plus 1.25% per
annum, or 6%.

        As of the date of this prospectus, we cannot specify with certainty all of the particular uses for the net proceeds to be received upon the completion of this
offering. The amount and timing of our expenditures will depend on several factors, including the amount of revenue generated from our operations, the progress
of our commercialization efforts, and the amount of cash used in our operations. Accordingly, our management will have broad discretion in the application of the
net proceeds and investors will be relying on the judgment of our management regarding the application of the proceeds of this offering. We reserve the right to
change the use of these proceeds as a result of certain contingencies such as the results of our commercialization efforts, competitive developments, opportunities
to acquire products, technologies or businesses and other factors.

        Pending the uses described above, we plan to invest the net proceeds of this offering in short- and medium-term, interest-bearing obligations, investment-
grade instruments, certificates of deposit or direct or guaranteed obligations of the U.S. government.

DIVIDEND POLICY 

        We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to support
operations and finance the growth and development of our business and do not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. Any
future determination related to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board of directors.
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CAPITALIZATION 

        The following table sets forth our capitalization as of March 31, 2004:

• on an actual basis; 

• on an as adjusted basis to give effect to (1) the automatic conversion of all shares of preferred stock outstanding as of March 31, 2004 into
43,555,367 shares of common stock upon completion of this offering, (2) the filing of our restated certificate of incorporation, which provides for
authorized capital stock of 150,000,000 shares of common stock and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, (3) the sale by us
of                        shares of our common stock in this offering at an assumed initial public offering price of $            per share and the receipt of the
estimated net proceeds therefrom, after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by
us and (4) the repayment of $9.2 million of outstanding short-term lines of credit.

        You should read this table together with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and the consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes included elsewhere in this prospectus.

  

As of March 31, 2004

  

Actual

 

As Adjusted

  

(In thousands, except share and per
share amount)

(unaudited)

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 8,902 $  
   
Total debt:       
 Lines of credit  $ 9,182 $  
 Long-term debt   5,924   
 Notes payable to stockholders   735   
   
   15,841   
   
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.000001 par value:       

 
46,023,000 shares authorized, 43,555,313 shares issued and outstanding, actual; no shares
issued and outstanding, as adjusted   84,367   

Stockholders' equity (deficit):       

 
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value: 10,000,000 shares authorized and no shares issued and
outstanding, as adjusted   —   

 

Common stock, $0.001 par value: 53,000,000 shares authorized, 190,326 shares issued and
outstanding, actual; $0.0001 par value: 150,000,000 shares authorized,             shares issued
and outstanding, as adjusted   —   

 Additional paid in capital   6,315   
 Deferred compensation   (1,489)   
 Accumulated deficit   (80,535)   
   
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)   (75,709)   
   
Total capitalization  $ 24,499 $  
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        The number of shares in the table above excludes, as of March 31, 2004:

• 5,535,384 shares of our common stock subject to outstanding options under our 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, our 1997 Stock
Option/Stock Issuance Plan and our 1998 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, having a weighted average exercise price of $0.69 per share; 

• 206,061 shares of our common stock available for future issuance under our 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, our 1997 Stock Option/Stock
Issuance Plan and our 1998 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan; and 

• 223,896 shares of our common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding warrants (including warrants to purchase preferred stock that are
convertible into common stock), having a weighted average exercise price of $9.55 per share.

        We expect to complete a 1-for-      reverse stock split prior to completion of this offering. All share amounts in this prospectus have been adjusted to give
effect to this stock split.
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DILUTION 

        As of March 31, 2004, we had a negative net tangible book value of $(76.2) million, or $(400.51) per share of common stock, not taking into account the
conversion of our outstanding preferred stock. Net tangible book value per share is equal to our total tangible assets (total assets less intangible assets) less total
liabilities (including redeemable convertible preferred stock), divided by the number of shares of our outstanding common stock. Our pro forma net tangible book
value as of March 31, 2004 was approximately $8.1 million, or $0.19 per share of common stock. Pro forma net tangible book value per share represents the
amount of our total tangible assets less our total liabilities, divided by the pro forma number of shares of common stock outstanding as of March 31, 2004. Our
pro forma net tangible book value and pro forma net tangible book value per share amounts give effect to the conversion of all outstanding shares of our
convertible preferred stock into shares of common stock.

        Dilution in pro forma net tangible book value per share represents the difference between the amount per share paid by purchasers of shares of common
stock in this offering and the pro forma net tangible book value per share of common stock immediately after the completion of this offering. After giving effect
to our sale of                        shares of common stock in this offering at an assumed initial public offering price of $            per share and after deducting estimated
underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses payable by us, our adjusted pro forma net tangible book value as of March 31, 2004 would have
been $            million, or $            per share. This amount represents an immediate increase in pro forma net tangible book value of $                        per share to
our existing stockholders and an immediate dilution in pro forma net tangible book value of $                        per share to new investors. The following table
illustrates this per share dilution:

Assumed initial public offering price per share     $  
Net tangible book value per share at March 31, 2004  $ (400.51)   
Pro forma increase in tangible book value attributable to conversion of convertible
preferred stock   400.32   
Pro forma net tangible book value per share as of March 31, 2004  $ 0.19   
     
Increase in pro forma net tangible book value per share attributable to new investors     $  
     
Pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share after this offering       
Dilution per share to new investors     $  
     

        If the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option to purchase additional shares in this offering, our adjusted pro forma net tangible book value at
March 31, 2004 will be $            million, or $            per share, representing an immediate increase in pro forma net tangible book value of $            per share to
our existing stockholders and an immediate dilution in pro forma net tangible book value of $            per share to new investors purchasing shares in this offering.

        The following table summarizes, on a pro forma basis as of March 31, 2004, after giving effect to the conversion of all outstanding shares of our convertible
preferred stock into common stock, the total number of shares of common stock purchased from us, the total consideration paid to us and the average price per
share paid by existing stockholders and by new investors, based on an assumed initial public
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offering price of $                              per share before deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses payable by us:

 
 

Shares Purchased

 

Total Consideration   
 

 

Average
Price Per

Share

  

Number

 

Percent

 

Amount

 

Percent

Existing stockholders  43,745,693  % $    % $  
New investors             
      
 Total    100.0% $   100.0% $  
        

        If the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full, our existing stockholders would own            % and our new investors would own            % of
the total number of shares of our common stock outstanding after this offering.

        The above discussion and tables assume no exercise of any stock options or warrants outstanding as of March 31, 2004. As of March 31, 2004, there were:

• 5,535,384 shares of our common stock subject to outstanding options under our 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, our 1997 Stock
Option/Stock Issuance Plan and our 1998 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, having a weighted average exercise price of $0.69 per share; 

• 206,061 shares of our common stock available for future issuance under our 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, our 1997 Stock Option/Stock
Issuance Plan and our 1998 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan; and 

• 223,896 shares of our common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding warrants (including warrants to purchase preferred stock that are
convertible into common stock), having a weighted average exercise price of $9.55 per share.

        After this offering and assuming the exercise of all stock options and warrants outstanding as of March 31, 2004, our pro forma net tangible book value as of
March 31, 2004 would be $            per share, representing an immediate increase in pro forma net tangible book value of $            per share to existing
stockholders and an immediate dilution in pro forma net tangible book value of $            per share to new investors.

        In                        2004, our board of directors approved, effective upon the completion of this offering, our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, under
which                        shares have been reserved for future issuance and our our 2004 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Program, under which            shares
have been reserved for future issuance. To the extent that any outstanding options or warrants are exercised or shares acquired, there will be further dilution to
new investors.

        In addition, we may choose to raise additional capital due to market conditions or strategic considerations even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our
current or future operating plans. To the extent that additional capital is raised through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the issuance of these
securities could result in further dilution to our stockholders.
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA 

        The selected consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 and the selected balance sheet data as of
December 31, 2002 and 2003, are derived from the audited financial statements for such years and as of such dates, which are included elsewhere in this
prospectus. The selected consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 2000, and the selected balance sheet data as of
December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001, are derived from audited financial statements, which have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, our independent auditors, for
such years and as of such dates, which are not included in this prospectus. The selected consolidated statements of operations data for the three months ended
March 31, 2003 and 2004 and the selected balance sheet data as of March 31, 2004 are derived from our unaudited financial statements included elsewhere in this
prospectus. The unaudited consolidated financial statements include, in the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting only of normal, recurring
adjustments, that management considers necessary for a fair statement of the results of those periods. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of future
results. The following selected financial data should be read together with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations" and our financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus. The selected financial data in this section is not intended to
replace the financial statements.

  

Years ended December 31,

 

Three months ended
March 31,

 
Statement of Operations Data:

 

1999

 

2000

 

2001

 

2002

 

2003

 

2003

 

2004

 

  

(In thousands, except per share data amounts)

 

            

(unaudited)

 
Revenues:                       
 DIS  $ — $ 1,260 $ 10,239 $ 23,005 $ 34,848 $ 7,503 $ 10,407 
 Product   284  5,815  18,065  18,527  21,388  5,476  5,461 
         

  Total revenues   284  7,075  28,304  41,532  56,236  12,979  15,868 

Cost of revenues:                       
 DIS   —  839  8,344  16,599  24,463  5,642  7,265 
 Product   265  9,834  13,192  13,633  15,091  3,841  3,639 
 Stock-based compensation   —  65  298  124  114  1  116 
         

Total cost of revenues   265  10,738  21,834  30,356  39,668  9,484  11,019 
         

Gross profit (loss)   19  (3,663)  6,470  11,176  16,568  3,495  4,848 

Operating expenses:                       
 Research and development   10,063  2,372  3,009  2,967  2,191  579  640 
 Sales and marketing   1,455  3,586  9,974  8,065  6,008  1,547  1,780 
 General and administrative   1,967  2,878  8,161  9,497  8,097  1,851  2,145 
 Amortization and impairment of intangible assets   —  194  991  1,011  444  119  16 
 Stock-based compensation   —  246  1,281  483  112  1  188 
         

Total operating expenses   13,485  9,276  23,416  22,023  16,852  4,097  4,769 
         

Income (loss) from operations   (13,466)  (12,939)  (16,946)  (10,847)  (284)  (602)  79 
Other income (expense), net   274  (537)  (2,965)  (1,925)  (1,396)  (325)  (345)
         

Net loss  $ (13,192) $ (13,476) $ (19,911) $ (12,772) $ (1,680) $ (927) $ (266)
         

Net loss applicable to common stockholders  $ (13,192) $ (13,524) $ (20,041) $ (13,037) $ (2,006) $ (1,012) $ (354)
         

Basic and diluted net loss per share(1):                       
 Historical  $ (780.49) $ (722.22) $ (898.86) $ (409.23) $ (36.46) $ (21.32) $ (3.11)
         

 Pro forma (unaudited)              $ (0.04)    $ (0.01)
                   

Shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per share(1):                       
 Historical   17  19  22  32  55  47  114 
         

 Pro forma (unaudited)               43,610     43,669 
                   

The composition of stock-based compensation is as follows:                       
 Cost of product revenue     $ 54 $ 200 $ 72 $ 83 $ — $ 55 
 Cost of DIS revenue      10  98  52  31  1  61 
 Research and development      6  96  61  8  —  28 
 Sales and marketing      51  541  228  18  1  45 
 General and administrative      190  644  194  86  —  115 
           

     $ 311 $ 1,579 $ 607 $ 226 $ 2 $ 304 
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As of December 31,    
 

 

As of March 31,
2004

 

  

1999

 

2000

 

2001

 

2002

 

2003

 

  

(In thousands)

 

(unaudited)

 
Balance Sheet Data:                    
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 2,626 $ 6,555 $ 1,967 $ 6,988 $ 7,681 $ 8,902 
Working capital   801  5,481  (1,668)  3,781  2,578  829 
Total assets   5,699  23,050  29,922  33,119  35,159  38,012 
Total debt   2,570  8,614  14,469  13,932  16,441  15,841 
Redeemable convertible preferred stock   32,259  52,255  66,531  83,952  84,278  84,367 
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)   (31,050)  (43,479)  (61,835)  (73,928)  (75,703)  (75,709)

(1) Please see Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements for an explanation of the method used to calculate the historical and pro forma net loss per share the number of shares used in the computation
of per share amounts.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

        You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated financial
statements and the related notes appearing at the end of this prospectus. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere
in this prospectus, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business and related financing, includes forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties. You should review the "Risk Factors" section of this prospectus for a discussion of important factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.

Overview

        We are a leader in the development, manufacture and distribution of solid-state medical imaging products and services. We were the first company to
develop and commercialize a solid-state medical gamma camera for the detection of cardiovascular disease and other medical conditions. Our high performance
imaging systems are mobile and provide enhanced operability and reliability and improved patient comfort and utilization when compared to traditional vacuum
tube cameras. The cameras and accompanying equipment fit easily into spaces as small as seven feet by eight feet and facilitate the delivery of nuclear medicine
procedures directly in a physician's office, an outpatient hospital setting or within multiple departments of a hospital. As of March 31, 2004, we had an installed
base of 326 gamma cameras, over 95% of which were in the United States, including 59 cameras operated by our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Digirad Imaging
Solutions, Inc. and Digirad Imaging Systems, Inc., which we refer to collectively as DIS.

        According to industry reports, the growth rates in 2002 for procedures performed in physician offices was approximately 44% and in hospitals was
approximately 6%. We believe this trend is driven by the desire of cardiologists to control their patients' diagnosis and treatment and to generate revenue that
would otherwise be lost if the patient were referred to a hospital or imaging center. The mobile feature of our technology also provides us with a significant
advantage in the delivery of nuclear cardiology imaging services. Through DIS, we offer FlexImaging, our mobile and comprehensive leasing service for
physicians who wish to perform nuclear cardiology and nuclear medicine procedures in their offices, but do not have the patient volume, capital or personnel to
justify purchasing an imaging system. DIS is currently offered in 17 states. Physicians enter into annual contracts for imaging services delivered on a per-day
basis. Our annual lease contracts typically provide for one day of service per week. We sell our imaging systems to physician practices, outpatient clinics and
hospitals primarily in the United States and have sold a limited number of imaging systems internationally. Our product revenue consists of sales of our solid-
state gamma cameras, custom designed chairs and accessories, such as printers, viewing workstations, connectivity and collimators and revenue from our
maintenance contracts.

        In 2000, we sold our first solid-state gamma camera and launched our DIS business. From 2000 to 2003, our consolidated revenues grew from $7.1 million
to $56.2 million, and were $15.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004. DIS and product revenues accounted for 62.0% and 38.0%, respectively, of
our consolidated revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003 and 65.6% and 34.4%, respectively, of our conolidated revenues for the three months ended
March 31, 2004. Given the recurring contractual revenue stream from our DIS business and our strategy to continue to expand the number of areas where we
offer DIS services, we expect DIS revenue to continue to grow at a higher rate than product revenue and to continue to represent a large percentage of
consolidated revenues. We attribute the overall growth of our business to geographical expansion, increased market penetration, awareness and acceptance, and
the shift in the delivery of nuclear cardiology imaging procedures from hospitals to physician offices.
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        We reduced our net loss by $11.1 million from $12.8 million in 2002 to $1.7 million in 2003 and from $927,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2003
to $266,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2004. Furthermore, we have incurred substantial operating losses since our inception. As of March 31, 2004,
our accumulated deficit was $80.5 million. We believe that we will achieve our first full year of profitability in 2004, and intend to continue to enhance
profitability through increased volume and improved margins, although we may incur losses in any given quarter.

        We experience some seasonality in our DIS business as a result of winter holidays, inclement weather and summer slowdowns principally relating to
vacations. Historically, these variables have had the least impact on our second quarter operating results.

        In April 2004, we completed the transition of our manufacturing operations from several separate facilities to a single facility in Poway, California. We
believe this will consolidate our operations and improve efficiencies. We currently purchase some components from sole source providers and are qualifying or
seeking second source providers in an effort to diversify our providers.

Results Of Operations

        The following table sets forth our results from operations, expressed as percentages of revenues for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, and
for the three months ended March 31, 2003 and 2004:

        

Three months ended
March 31,

 

  

2001

 

2002

 

2003

 

2003

 

2004

 
Revenues:            
 DIS  36.2% 55.4% 62.0% 57.8% 65.6%
 Product  63.8 44.6 38.0 42.2 34.4 
       
  Total revenues  100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 
Cost of revenues:            
 DIS  29.5 40.0 43.5 43.5 45.8 
 Product  46.5 32.8 26.8 29.6 22.9 
 Stock-based compensation  1.1 0.3 0.2 0.0 0.7 
       
Total cost of revenues  77.1 73.1 70.5 73.1 69.4 
       
Gross profit  22.9 26.9 29.5 26.9 30.6 
Operating expenses:            
Research and development  10.6 7.1 3.9 4.5 4.1 
Sales and marketing  35.3 19.4 10.7 11.9 11.2 
General and administrative  28.9 22.9 14.4 14.2 13.5 
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets  3.5 2.4 0.8 0.9 0.1 
Stock-based compensation  4.5 1.2 0.2 0.0 1.2 
       
 Total operating expenses  82.8 53.0 30.0 31.5 30.1 
       
Income (loss) from operations  (59.9) (26.1) (0.5) (4.6) 0.5 
Other income (expense)  (10.4) (4.7) (2.5) (2.5) (2.1)
Accretion of deferred issuance costs on preferred stock  (0.5) (0.6) (0.6) (0.7) (0.6)
       
Net loss applicable to common stockholders  (70.8)% (31.4)% (3.6)% (7.8)% (2.2)%
       

Comparison of Three Months Ended March 31, 2004 and 2003

Revenues

        Consolidated.    Our revenues are divided between two primary operating segments: product sales and our DIS business. Our product revenue consists
primarily of selling our solid-state gamma cameras and accessories to physicians, outpatient clinics and hospitals. DIS revenue is comprised of performing our
DIS services for physicians on a per day basis in accordance with a 12-month lease with annual commitment
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levels. Our standard lease terms provide for automatic renewals for an additional 12-month period if the lease is not terminated in writing by the customer
generally 90 days or more prior to the end of the term.

        Consolidated revenues increased to $15.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004 from $13.0 million for the three months ended March 31,
2003, which represents an increase of $2.9 million, or 22.3%, primarily as a result of increased demand for our DIS services. We believe that this increased
demand was a result of increased customer awareness and acceptance of our products and services. DIS and product revenue accounted for 65.6% and 34.4%,
respectively, of total revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2004, compared to 57.8% and 42.2%, respectively, for the three months ended March 31,
2003. We expect DIS revenue to continue to grow at a higher rate than product revenue and to continue to represent a large percentage of consolidated revenue.

        DIS.    Our DIS revenue increased to $10.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004 from $7.5 million for the three months ended March 31,
2003, which represents an increase of $2.9 million, or 38.7%. The increase in DIS revenue was primarily attributable to an increase in the number of physicians
purchasing our DIS services and increases in the amount of services purchased by existing physician customers. We deployed five additional mobile systems in
the first quarter of 2004. Collectively, our DIS business operated 59 mobile and fixed site systems as of March 31, 2004 as compared to 46 as of March 31, 2003.
We anticipate that our DIS revenue will increase if we expand into new markets and continue to penetrate existing markets.

        Product.    Our product revenue remained flat at $5.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004 compared to the same period of the prior year.
While the number of gamma cameras sold increased, our net product revenue decreased by approximately $15,000 primarily because of premiums received on
international gamma camera sales for the three months ended March 31, 2003 and in part because of lower average selling prices on our dual-head gamma
cameras for the three months ended March 31, 2004. Our Cardius product line represented 73.2% of our product revenues for the three months ended March 31,
2004, compared to 22.2% for the three months ended March 31, 2003. While we expect pricing pressures on our gamma cameras to continue, we also anticipate
demand, particularly for our Cardius product line, will continue to increase, potentially more than offsetting the effects of these pricing pressures.

Gross Profit

        Consolidated.    Consolidated gross profit increased to $4.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004 from $3.5 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2003, which represents an increase of $1.4 million, or 38.7%. Consolidated gross profit as a percentage of revenue increased to 30.6% for the three
months ended March 31, 2004 from 26.9% for the three months ended March 31, 2003, primarily as a result of an increase in revenue, lower per unit DIS
imaging service costs and product cost reductions.

        DIS.    Cost of DIS revenue consists primarily of labor, radiopharmaceuticals, equipment depreciation and other costs associated with the provision of
services. Our direct headcount relating to our DIS business increased to 150 employees at March 31, 2004 from 121 employees at March 31, 2003. Cost of DIS
revenue increased to $7.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004 from $5.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2003, which represents an
increase of $1.6 million, or 28.8%, primarily as a result of our increased direct headcount. DIS gross profit increased to $3.1 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2004 from $1.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2003, which represents an increase of $1.3 million, or 68.9%, as a result of increased
volumes and reductions in the per unit cost of various items consumed in providing the imaging services. DIS gross profit as a percentage of revenue increased to
30.2% for the three months ended March 31, 2004 from 24.8% for the three months ended March 31, 2003.

        Product.    Cost of goods sold primarily consists of materials, labor and overhead costs associated with the manufacturing and warranty of our products. Cost
of goods sold decreased to $3.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004 from $3.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2003, which

38



represents a decrease of $202,000, or 5.2%. Product gross profit increased to $1.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004 from $1.6 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2003, which represents an increase of $186,000, or 11.4%, primarily as a result of the decrease in cost of goods sold and reduced
costs per unit resulting from increased manufacturing volumes, fewer and lower-cost materials and more efficient manufacturing processes used to build our
third-generation camera heads introduced in July 2003. Product gross profit as a percentage of revenue increased to 33.4% for the three months ended March 31,
2004 from 29.9% for the three months ended March 31, 2003.

Operating Expenses

        Research and Development.    Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs associated with the design, development, testing, deployment
and enhancement of our products and manufacturing capabilities. The primary costs are salaries and fringe benefits, consulting fees, facilities and overhead
charges and nonrecurring engineering costs, such as tooling and other one-time costs associated with manufacturing. Research and development expenses
increased to $640,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2004 from $579,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2003, which represents an increase of
$61,000, or 10.5%. This increase was primarily attributable to increased employee headcount to develop new products. Research and development headcount
increased to 17 employees at the end of March 31, 2004 from 15 employees at the end of March 31, 2003. In the future, we expect to continue to invest between
approximately 10% and 12% of product revenue on research and development as we continue to improve our existing technology and innovate.

        Sales and Marketing.    Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries, commissions, bonuses, recruiting costs, travel, marketing and collateral
materials and tradeshow costs. Sales and marketing expenses increased to $1.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004, from $1.5 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2003, which represents an increase of $234,000, or 15.1%. This increase was primarily attributable to an increase in the number of sales
and marketing personnel and expansion of our marketing efforts. For the three months ended March 31, 2004, sales and marketing expenses were 11.2% of total
revenue, compared to 11.9% for the three months ended March 31, 2003. We expect to increase our sales and marketing efforts, as we focus on increasing market
awareness of our products and offerings.

        General and Administrative.    General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and other related costs for finance and accounting, human
resources and other personnel, as well as legal and other professional fees and insurance. General and administrative expenses increased to $2.1 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2004 from $1.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2003, which represents an increase of $294,000, or 15.9%. Increases
in headcount, insurance costs, recruiting costs and DIS billing and collection fees, all contributed to increased general and administrative expenses. General and
administrative headcount was increased by seven employees by the end of March 31, 2004 to 40 employees from 33 employees at the end of March 31, 2003. At
the end of March 31, 2004, general and administrative expenses amounted to 13.5% of total revenue compared to 14.3% at the end of March 31, 2003. If the
offering contemplated by this prospectus is completed, we will be required to incur additional general and administrative costs to meet various public reporting
and compliance requirements.

        Amortization and Impairment of Intangible Assets.    Intangible assets primarily represent customer contracts relating to our DIS business that we acquired
from a third party in 2000 and capitalized patent and trademark portfolio costs, both of which are amortized over their respective useful life. Amortization and
impairment of intangibles decreased to $16,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2004 from $119,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2003. This
decline was principally a result of impairment charges recorded during fiscal 2003, causing reduced amortization expense in future periods, beginning in the first
quarter ended March 31, 2004.

        Stock-Based Compensation Charges.    Deferred compensation for stock options granted has been determined as the difference between the exercise price
and the fair value of our common stock on the
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date of grant. Options or awards issued to non-employees are recorded at their fair value in accordance with SFAS No. 123 and periodically remeasured in
accordance with EITF 96-18 and recognized over the respective service or vesting period. In connection with the grant of stock options to employees, we
recorded deferred stock-based compensation of $1.2 million and zero for the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. We recorded these
amounts as a component of stockholders' equity and are amortizing the amount, on an accelerated basis, as a non-cash charge to cost of revenues and operations
over the vesting period of the options. In connection with the grant of stock options to employees, we recorded as amortization of stock-based compensation of
$304,000 and $2,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. We expect that charges to be recognized in future periods from
amortization of deferred compensation related to employee stock options grants will be $293,000, $226,000 and $185,000 for the three months ended June 30,
September 30 and December 31 of 2004, respectively, and $996,000, $485,000, $231,000 and $70,000 for the years ending December 31, 2004, 2005, 2006 and
2007, respectively. During April of 2004, we granted options to purchase 217,000 shares of common stock to employees. We anticipate recording deferred stock
compensation of approximately $410,000 for the difference between the original exercise price per share determined by our board of directors and the revised
estimate of fair value per share.

Other Income (Expense)

        Interest expense decreased to $323,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2004 from $336,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2003, which
represents a decrease of $13,000, or 3.9%. The reduction is a result of a decrease in the variable interest rates on two accounts receivable credit lines and a
reduction on capital leases.

        Other expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2004 represented a loss on disposals of assets.

Net Loss

        Net loss decreased to $266,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2004 from $927,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2003, which represents a
decrease of $661,000, or 71.3%, as a result of the factors described above.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

Revenues

        Consolidated.    Consolidated revenues in 2003 increased to $56.2 million from $41.5 million in 2002, which represents an increase of $14.7 million, or
35.4%, primarily as a result of increased demand for our DIS services and our Cardius products.

        DIS.    Our DIS revenue increased to $34.8 million in 2003 from $23.0 million in 2002, which represents an increase of $11.8 million, or 51.5%. The
increase in DIS revenue was primarily attributable to an increase in the number of physicians purchasing our DIS services and increases in the amount of services
purchased by existing physician customers. To respond to this demand, we deployed eight additional mobile systems in the year ended December 31, 2003. DIS
revenue accounted for 62.0% of total revenues in 2003 versus 55.4% in 2002. Collectively, our DIS business operated 54 mobile and fixed site systems as of
December 31, 2003.

        Product.    Our product revenue increased to $21.4 million in 2003 from $18.5 million in 2002, which represents an increase of $2.9 million, or 15.4%. This
increase was due to increased sales of our gamma cameras and maintenance contract revenue. We sold 79 cameras in 2003 compared to 75 cameras in 2002.
Product revenue accounted for 38.0% of total revenues for 2003 versus 44.6% in 2002. Maintenance contract revenues were $2.1 million in 2003 and $521,000 in
2002.
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Gross Profit

        Consolidated.    Consolidated gross profit increased to $16.6 million in 2003 from $11.2 million in 2002, which represents an increase of $5.4 million, or
48.2%. Consolidated gross profit as a percentage of revenue increased to 29.5% in 2003 from 26.9% in 2002 primarily as a result of an increase in revenue, lower
per unit DIS imaging service cost and product cost reductions.

        DIS.    Our direct headcount relating to our DIS business increased to 137 employees at the end of 2003 from 112 employees at the end of 2002. Cost of DIS
revenue increased to $24.5 million in 2003 from $16.6 million in 2002, which represents an increase of $7.9 million, or 47.4%. DIS gross profit increased to
$10.4 million in 2003 from $6.4 million in 2002, which represents an increase of $4.0 million, or 62.1%, as a result of increased volumes and reductions in the
per unit cost of various items consumed in providing the imaging services. DIS gross profit as a percentage of revenue increased to 29.8% in 2003 from 27.8% in
2002.

        Product.    Cost of goods sold increased to $15.1 million in 2003 from $13.6 million in 2002, which represents an increase of $1.5 million, or 10.7%. Product
gross profit increased to $6.3 million in 2003 from $4.9 million in 2002, which represents an increase of $1.4 million, or 28.6%, as a result of the increase in the
volume of cameras produced, fewer and lower-cost materials and more efficient manufacturing processes due to the introduction of our third-generation camera
heads. Our third-generation camera heads consist of fewer and lower-cost materials than our earlier generation camera heads and are produced using more
efficient processes that have reduced overhead and labor costs compared to historical rates. Product gross profit as a percentage of revenue increased to 29.4% in
2003 from 26.4% in 2002.

Operating Expenses

        Research and Development.    Research and development expenses decreased to $2.2 million in 2003 from $3.0 million in 2002, which represents a decrease
of $776,000, or 26.2%, primarily as a result of our efforts to develop and launch our Cardius camera product line in 2002. Research and development headcount
increased to 16 employees in 2003 from 14 employees in 2002.

        Sales and Marketing.    Sales and marketing expenses decreased to $6.0 million in 2003 from $8.1 million in 2002, which represents a decrease of
$2.1 million, or 25.5%. In late 2002, we restructured the management of the sales organization and modified the compensation structure, resulting in a significant
reduction in sales expense both in dollars and as a percent of revenue. In 2003, sales and marketing expenses were 10.7% of total revenue versus 19.4% in 2002.

        General and Administrative.    General and administrative expenses decreased to $8.1 million in 2003 from $9.5 million in 2002, which represents a decrease
of $1.4 million, or 14.7%. Reduced outside legal expenses, which were partially offset by the addition of in-house general counsel, and a reduction in
headquarters headcount, all contributed to lower general and administrative expenses. General and administrative headcount was reduced by one employee by the
end of 2003 to 33 employees versus 34 employees at the end of 2002. In 2003, general and administrative expenses amounted to 14.4% of total revenue versus
22.9% in 2002.

        Amortization and Impairment of Intangible Assets.    Amortization and impairment of intangibles decreased to $444,000 in 2003 from $1.0 million in 2002.
The significant decline from 2002 to 2003 was principally a result of impairment charges recorded in 2002 associated with these purchased contracts.

        Stock-Based Compensation Charges.    In connection with the grant of stock options to employees, we recorded as amortization of stock-based compensation
of $226,000 and $606,000 for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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Other Income (Expense)

        Interest expense decreased to $1.4 million in 2003 from $2.0 million in 2002, which represents a decrease of $558,000, or 28.1%. The reduction is a result of
a decrease in the variable interest rates on two accounts receivable credit lines and a reduction on capital leases, and $243,000 of debt discount associated with
our $1.9 million bridge financing in 2002.

        Interest income decreased to $35,000 in 2003 from $65,000 in 2002, which represents a decrease of $30,000, or 45.6%, primarily due to lower interest rates
in 2003 on cash and cash equivalent accounts.

Net Loss

        Net loss decreased to $1.7 million in 2003 from $12.8 million in 2002, which represents a decrease of $11.1 million, or 86.8%, as a result of the factors
described above.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2002 and 2001

Revenues

        Consolidated.    Our consolidated revenues increased to $41.5 million in 2002 from $28.3 million in 2001, which represents an increase of $13.2 million, or
46.7%. This increase was due primarily to a significant increase in DIS imaging services volume as DIS began to achieve more market acceptance.

        DIS.    Our DIS revenue increased to $23.0 million in 2002 compared to $10.2 million in 2001, which represents an increase of $12.8 million, or 124.7%,
resulting primarily from geographical expansion and market acceptance. Our DIS revenue accounted for 55.4% of total revenues in 2002 versus 36.2% in 2001.

        Product.    Our product sales revenue increased to $18.5 million in 2002 from $18.1 million in 2001, which represents an increase of $462,000, or 2.6%, in
2002. The minor increase was a result of our decision to flatten the sales and marketing organization, resulting in a low product sales growth rate over the prior
year. Product revenue accounted for 44.6% of total revenues in 2002 versus 63.8% in 2001.

Gross Profit

        Consolidated.    Consolidated gross profit increased to $11.2 million in 2002 from $6.5 million in 2001, which represents an increase of $4.7 million, or
72.8%. Consolidated gross profit as a percentage of revenue increased to 26.9% in 2002 from 22.9% in 2001, primarily as a result of a year-to-year increase in
revenue and lower cost per day to perform our DIS services.

        DIS.    Cost of DIS revenue increased to $16.6 million in 2002 from $8.3 million in 2001, which represents an increase of $8.3 million, or 98.9%. DIS gross
profit increased to $6.4 million in 2002 from $1.9 million in 2001, which represents an increase of $4.5 million, or 238.1%, as a result of increased volume and
other servicing efficiencies as DIS expanded geographically within the United States. DIS gross profit as a percentage of revenue increased to 27.8% in 2002
from 18.5% in 2001.

        Product.    Cost of goods sold increased to $13.6 million in 2002 from $13.2 million in 2001, which represents an increase of $440,000, or 3.3%. Product
gross profit remained flat at $4.9 million from 2001 to 2002. Product gross profit as a percentage of revenue decreased to 26.4% in 2002 from 27.0% in 2001.

Operating Expenses

        Research and Development.    Research and development expenses were $3.0 million in both 2001 and 2002. Although we reduced the number of employees
in 2002, the launch of the Cardius camera line and associated expenses offset any reductions in research and development expenses. We reduced our research and
development headcount in 2002 to 14 employees from 25 employees at the end of 2001. Research and development expenses amounted to 7.1% of consolidated
revenues in 2002 versus 10.6% in 2001.
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        Sales and Marketing.    Sales and marketing expenses decreased to $8.1 million in 2002 from $10.0 million in 2001, which represents a decrease of
$1.9 million, or 19.1%. The decrease in sales and marketing expense was related primarily to reductions in our sales and marketing personnel in early 2002 as we
repositioned ourselves to focus on profitable growth. Sales and marketing headcount was reduced to 29 employees at the end of 2002 versus 50 employees at the
end of 2001. Sales and marketing expenses amounted to 19.4% of consolidated revenues in 2002 compared to 35.2% in 2001.

        General and Administrative.    General and administrative expenses increased to $9.5 million in 2002 from $8.2 million in 2001, which represents an
increase of $1.3 million, or 16.4%. The increase resulted primarily from increases in accounting, human resource and other administrative headcount expenses
and settlement fees in 2002. General and administrative expenses amounted to 22.9% of consolidated revenues in 2002, compared to 28.8% in 2001.

        Amortization and Impairment of Intangible Assets.    Amortization of intangible assets is primarily amortization of capitalized costs associated with
purchased contracts and capitalized patent and trademark costs; both are amortized over their respective useful life. Amortization and impairment of intangible
assets was constant year-to-year, $1.0 million in 2002 and 2001.

        Stock-Based Compensation Charges.    Total stock-based compensation decreased to $606,000, or 62.7%, in 2002 from $1.6 million in 2001, which
represents a decrease of $972,000, or 61.6%, as the remaining deferred compensation was recorded in 2002.

Other Income (Expense)

        Interest expense increased to $2.0 million in 2002 from $1.4 million in 2001, which represents an increase of $551,000, or 38.3%. The increase was
primarily attributable to increases in the accounts receivable credit line borrowings and an increase in capital equipment lease lines for DIS equipment. We also
incurred $243,000 of expense in conjunction with our bridge financing in 2002.

        Interest income decreased to $65,000 in 2002 from $118,000 in 2001, which represents a decrease of $53,000, or 44.9%, due to the termination of a camera
lease to a customer in 2002.

        Other expenses were $1.6 million in 2001, which were related to the costs incurred in connection for a proposed initial public offering which was not
completed.

Net Loss

        Net loss decreased to $12.8 million in 2002 from $19.9 million in 2001, which represents a decrease of $7.1 million, or 35.9%. Net loss in 2001 decreased as
a result of the factors described above.

Liquidity And Capital Resources

General

        We require capital principally for operating our DIS business, interest payments, working capital, debt service and capital expenditures. Our capital
expenditures consist primarily of manufactured DIS cameras, computer hardware and software. Working capital is required principally to finance accounts
receivable and inventory. Our working capital requirements vary from period to period depending on manufacturing volumes, the timing of deliveries and the
payment cycles of our customers and payors.

        We have historically funded our operations principally through private equity financings supplemented with credit lines, equipment financing arrangements
and cash from operations. We completed seven private placements of preferred stock between March 1995 and June 2002, yielding aggregate net proceeds of
approximately $83.5 million. At March 31, 2004, our outstanding borrowings totaled $15.8 million. Based upon our current level of expenditures, we believe
proceeds from this offering, together with cash flows from operating activities, availability under our current or future revolving credit
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lines will be adequate to meet our anticipated cash requirements for interest payments, working capital, debt service and capital expenditures for the next
12 months.

        Our preferred stock is redeemable on or after July 31, 2004 upon the request of certain preferred stock investors. We must redeem all outstanding shares of
our preferred stock by paying in cash its redemption value plus declared but unpaid dividends which, as of March 31, 2004, equaled a total of $119.4 million. No
dividends have been declared through March 31, 2004. If the funds of our company that are legally available for redemption are insufficient to redeem the total
number of preferred shares to be redeemed, those funds which are legally available must be used to redeem the maximum possible number of shares pro rata
among the various series of preferred stock. Upon completion of this offering all of our outstanding shares of preferred stock automatically will convert into
43,555,367 shares of our common stock. If the offering contemplated by this prospectus is not completed, and the redeemable preferred shares remain
outstanding, we do not anticipate having legally available funds to redeem any portion of the preferred shares in 2004.

        As of March 31, 2004, cash and cash equivalents totaled $8.9 million compared to $7.7 million at December 31, 2003. We currently invest our cash reserves
in money market funds.

        Net cash provided by operations was approximately $3.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004. Net cash used in operating activities amounted
to approximately $52,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2003. Net cash provided in operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2004 was
primarily a result of increases in accounts payable and accrued liabilities that were expensed and accrued in March 2004 but paid in April 2004, augmented by
non-cash items such as depreciation and amortization of stock-based compensation. Cash used in operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2003
resulted primarily from operating losses and net increases in accounts receivable resulting from the growth in our business.

        Net cash provided by operations was $158,000 in 2003. Net cash used in operating activities amounted to approximately $9.8 million and $16.8 million for
the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. For these periods, net cash used in operating activities resulted primarily from operating losses and
net increases in accounts receivable resulting from the growth in our business.

        Accounts receivable were $12.6 million, $12.2 million, $7.9 million and $4.8 million at March 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. The $452,000 or 3.7% increase at the end of March 31, 2004 compared to the end of December 31, 2003, was as a result of increased DIS revenue.
The $4.3 million or 55.0% increase at the end of 2003 compared to the end of 2002, was a result of revenue growth in DIS and increased product deliveries. The
$3.1 million or 63.8% increase at the end of 2002 compared to the end of 2001 was attributable primarily to the increase in product deliveries, and the significant
increase in DIS revenue. Inventories were $3.7 million, $3.7 million, $5.8 million and $8.6 million at March 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. The $2.0 million or 35.5% decrease at the end of 2003 compared to the end of 2002, was a result of the our efforts to reduce inventory levels during
2003 and the introduction of lower-cost key components that resulted in lower inventory carrying amounts. The $2.9 million, or 33.3%, decrease at the end of
2002 compared to the end of 2001 was due primarily to our carrying more inventories at the end of 2001 as we were ramping up for anticipated growth.

        Net cash used in investing activities amounted to approximately $1.3 million and $333,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. Investing activities consist primarily of DIS servicing units and other capital expenditures.

        Net cash used in investing activities amounted to approximately $2.0 million, $1.8 million and $7.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001 respectively. Investing activities consist primarily of DIS servicing units and other capital expenditures.
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        Net cash used by financing activities amounted to approximately $584,000 and $593,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Repayment of credit line borrowings and capital lease obligations were primarily responsible for the net cash used by financing activities.

        Net cash provided by financing activities amounted to approximately $2.5 million, $16.6 million and $20.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively. Private placements of our preferred stock and proceeds from bank borrowings, lease financings and credit line borrowings were
primarily responsible for the net cash provided by financing activities.

Working Capital

        We believe that DIS and product revenues will continue to increase. We believe that a majority of this increase will occur in the cardiology office market
from the use of DIS service, which could increase the average collection period of our consolidated accounts receivable. The average collection period has
historically been longer for DIS revenue than for product revenue. For the twelve-months ended March 31, 2004, our average days-sales-outstanding was
approximately 75 days for our DIS revenue and approximately 50 days for our product revenue. During the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2004, we were
able to reduce the DIS days-sales-outstanding by approximately 15 days. We improved our DIS collection efforts through the adoption of a number of policies
and procedures focused on reducing the time following the performance of our services and invoicing the doctors or other payors. We anticipate continued
reductions in collection times of DIS receivables. If consolidated accounts receivable increase, we will use available cash on hand to fund the increase. We
expect, without taking into account our receipt of the estimated net proceeds of this offering, that cash on hand, cash flow from operations and borrowings under
our existing lines of credit will be sufficient to meet our working capital needs over the next twelve months.

Debt Service

        In January 2001, we entered into a loan and security agreement for a revolving line of credit to provide working capital for our DIS business. We are
authorized to draw up to $5.0 million and the borrowings under the line of credit, as amended in March 2004, accrue interest at the higher of 6.0% or prime plus
1.25%. This revolving line of credit expires in December 2004. As of March 31, 2004, our outstanding balance under this loan and security agreement totaled
$4.5 million. We intend to repay this loan in full with proceeds from this offering.

        In October 2003, we renewed an agreement for a $5.0 million revolving line of credit to provide working capital for our product sales. Borrowings under this
line of credit accrue interest at the bank's floating prime rate plus 1.75% and are limited based on a formula that takes into account eligible amounts of accounts
receivables, inventory and other factors. We are required to make monthly interest payments on this line of credit, which expires in October 2004, with any
unpaid balance due upon expiration. As of March 31, 2004, our outstanding balance under this facility was $4.7 million. We intend to repay this loan in full with
proceeds from this offering.

        In the event we are unable to complete the offering, we believe we can renew our credit lines or access alternate sources of financing based on the
improvement in our operating results and our cash flow.

        We have notes payable to our stockholders totaling $735,000, which bear interest at 6.35% per year. Beginning March 31, 2004, we are obligated to repay
these notes equally over 12 quarters, with the first payment payable on May 15th, 2004 and subsequent payments due on the 45th day after the end of each
following quarter.

        As of March 31, 2004, we had capital lease obligations totaling $5.9 million. These obligations are secured by the specific equipment financed under each
lease and will be repaid monthly over the lease terms, which range from 48 to 63 months. Our DIS subsidiary entered into the majority of these capital lease
obligations.
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        We are committed to making future cash payments on notes payable to our stockholders, capital leases (including interest), operating leases and lines of
credit. We have not guaranteed the debt of any other party. The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2003 (dollars in
thousands):

  

Payments due by period

Contractual obligations

 

Total

 

Current

 

1-3 years

 

3-5 years

 

More than
5 years

Notes payable to stockholders  $ 735 $ 245 $ 245 $ 245 $ —
Capital lease obligations   7,505  2,741  4,197  567  —
Operating lease obligations   3,861  696  1,376  1,170  619
Lines of credit   9,357  9,357  —  —  —
      
Total  $ 21,458 $ 13,039 $ 5,818 $ 1,982 $ 619
      

Quantitative And Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

        Our exposure to market risk due to changes in interest rates relates primarily to the increase or decrease in the amount of interest income we can earn on our
investment portfolio and on the increase or decrease in the amount of interest expense we must pay on our various outstanding debt instruments. Our risk
associated with fluctuating interest rates is limited, however, to certain of our long-term debt and capital lease obligations, all of which have interest rates that are
closely tied to market rates, and our investments in interest rate sensitive financial instruments. Under our current policies, we do not use interest rate derivative
instruments to manage exposure to interest rate changes. We attempt to increase the safety and preservation of our invested principal funds by limiting default
risk, market risk and reinvestment risk. We mitigate default risk by investing in investment grade securities. A hypothetical 100 basis point adverse move in
interest rates along the entire interest rate yield curve would not materially affect the fair value of our interest sensitive financial instruments. Declines in interest
rates over time will, however, reduce our interest income while increases in interest rates over time will increase our interest expense.

Inflation

        We do not believe that inflation has had a material impact on our business or operating results during the periods presented.

Related Party Transactions

        For a description of our related party transactions, see the section of this prospectus entitled "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions."

Critical Accounting Policies

        The Securities and Exchange Commission defines critical accounting policies as those that are, in management's opinion, very important to the portrayal of
our financial condition and results of operations and require our management's most difficult, subjective or complex judgments. In preparing our financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, we must often make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and related disclosures at the date of the financial statements and during the reporting period. Some of
those judgments can be subjective and complex. Consequently, actual results could differ from our estimates. The accounting policies that are most subject to
important estimates or assumptions include those described below.
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Revenue Recognition

        We recognize revenue in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 when each of the following four criteria are met:

1. A contract or sales arrangement exists;
2. Products have been shipped and title has transferred or services have been rendered;
3. The price of the products or services is fixed or determinable; and
4. Collectibility is reasonably assured.

        For our product revenue, these criteria are usually met upon delivery. Our DIS revenue is recorded once the services and disposables are provided and
consumed, which is normally on the day of the service. Reductions to product revenue are recorded to provide for payment adjustments and credit memos and
historically have not been significant. Reductions to our DIS revenue are recorded to provide for payment adjustments and credit memos. In addition, we establish
reserves against our DIS revenue to allow for uncollectible items relating to patient co-payments and contractual allowances and other adjustments, based on
historical collection experience.

Reserves for Doubtful Accounts, Billing Adjustments and Contractual Allowances

        Historically, the need to estimate reserves for accounts receivable has been limited to our DIS business. We provide reserves for billing adjustments,
contractual allowances and doubtful accounts. DIS payment adjustments and credit memos are adjustments for billing errors that are normally adjusted within the
first 90 days subsequent to the performance of service, with the majority occurring within the first 30 days. Reserves are provided as a percentage of DIS revenue
based on historical experience rate. We primarily bill the physicians under contract directly, and in a minority of cases, we are reimbursed under government
programs, Medicare or by private insurance companies. We provide reserves for contractual allowances for billings to Medicare and insurance companies based
on our collection experience rates. We use a combination of factors in evaluating the collectibility of accounts receivable. Each account is reviewed on at least a
quarterly basis and a percentage varying from zero to 100% for each account is established. We do not establish reserves for accounts with a history of payment
without disputes. We generally reserve between 20% and 50% of the outstanding balance for accounts that are more than 180 days late and under dispute. We
reserve 100% of the outstanding balance for accounts that we believe constitute a high risk of default based on factors such as level of dispute, payment history
and our knowledge of a customer's inability to meet its obligations. We also consider bad debt write-off history. Our estimates of collectibility could be reduced
by material amounts by changed circumstances, such as a higher number of defaults or material adverse changes in a payor's ability to meet its obligations.

        In 2003, we provided approximately 2% of our DIS revenues to establish our reserves. The provisions for billing adjustments and contractual allowances are
charged against DIS revenues and the provision for doubtful accounts is charged to general and administrative expenses.

Long-Lived Assets

        We state property and equipment and purchased contracts at cost. We capitalize betterments, which extend the useful life of the equipment. We calculate
depreciation on property and equipment and purchased contracts on the straight-line method over the estimated useful live (three to seven years for property and
equipment and five years for purchased contracts) of the assets. We follow Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards ("SFAS") No. 144, Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, which requires impairment losses to be recorded on long-lived assets
used in operations when indicators of impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the assets'
carrying amount. If such assets are considered to be impaired, we measure the impairment be recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the
assets exceeds the estimated fair value of the assets. We have taken impairment charges on certain customer contracts purchased during 2000 from Nuclear
Imaging
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Systems, Inc. and Florida Cardiology, Inc. Assets are examined for impairment annually or more frequently if events occur that may indicate a potential asset
impairment.

Inventory

        We state inventories at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market (net realizable value). Costs include material, labor and manufacturing overhead costs.
Inventory expected to be converted into equipment to be used as mobile imaging units in DIS is classified as property and equipment. We review our inventory
balances monthly for excess sale products or obsolete inventory levels. Except where firm orders are on-hand, we consider inventory quantities of sale products in
excess of the last 12 months' demand as excess and reserve for them at levels between 20% and 50% of cost, depending on our knowledge and forecast for the
product. We establish obsolescence reserves on an increasing basis from 0% for active, high-demand products, to 100% for obsolete products. We review the
reserve periodically and, if necessary, make adjustments. We rely on historical information to support our reserve and utilize management's business judgment.
Once the inventory is written down, we do not adjust the reserve balance until the inventory is sold.

Warranty

        We provide a warranty on certain of our products and accrue the estimated cost at the time revenue is recorded. Historically, the warranty periods have
ranged from up to 24 months. Since July 2002, substantially all of the warranty periods have been 12 months before customer-sponsored maintenance begins.
Warranty reserves are established based on historical experience with failure rates and repair costs and the number of units at customers covered by warranty. We
review warranty reserves monthly and, if necessary, make adjustments.

New Accounting Pronouncements

        In November 2002, the FASB issued FIN 45, Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of
Indebtedness of Others. This interpretation elaborates on the disclosures required in financial statements concerning obligations under certain guarantees. We
adopted the disclosure requirements of this interpretation that were effective on December 31, 2002. The recognition provisions of the interpretation are effective
in 2003 and are applicable only to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. We have not issued or modified any such guarantees and accordingly
the interpretation did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003.

        In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51. FIN No. 46 requires certain
variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of a
controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from
other parties. In December 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 46R, a revision to FIN No. 46. FIN No. 46R provides a broad deferral of the latest date by which all
public entities must apply FIN No. 46 to certain variable interest entities to the first reporting period ending after March 15, 2004. We do not expect the adoption
of FIN No. 46 or FIN No. 46R to have a material impact upon our financial position, cash flows or results of operations.

        In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity. SFAS
No. 150 establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS
No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period
beginning after June 15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
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BUSINESS 

Overview

        We are a leader in the development, manufacture and distribution of solid-state medical imaging products and services for the detection of cardiovascular
disease and other medical conditions. We designed and commercialized the first solid-state gamma camera. Our initial focus is nuclear cardiology imaging
procedures performed with gamma cameras, which we believe generate revenue of approximately $10.0 billion annually. Our target markets are primarily
physician practices and outpatient clinics, which we believe constitute approximately 25% of this total market, or $2.5 billion.

        By utilizing solid-state technology rather than bulky vacuum tubes, we believe that our imaging systems maintain image quality while offering significant
advantages over vacuum tube-based systems, including mobility through reduced size and weight, enhanced operability and reliability, and improved patient
comfort and utilization. Due to size and other limitations of vacuum tube cameras, nuclear imaging has traditionally been confined to dedicated and customized
space within a hospital or imaging center. The mobility of our imaging systems enables us to deliver nuclear imaging procedures in a wide range of clinical
settings—physician offices, outpatient clinics or within multiple departments in a hospital.

        We sell our imaging systems to physicians, outpatient clinics and hospitals. In addition, through our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Digirad Imaging
Solutions, Inc. and Digirad Imaging Systems, Inc., which we refer to collectively as DIS, we also offer a comprehensive and mobile imaging leasing and services
program, called FlexImaging, for physicians who wish to perform nuclear cardiology imaging procedures in their offices but do not have the patient volume,
capital or resources to justify purchasing a gamma camera. DIS provides physician customers with an imaging system, certified personnel, required licensure and
other support for the performance of nuclear imaging procedures under the supervision of our physician customers. Physicians enter into annual contracts for
imaging services delivered on a per-day basis. DIS currently operates 21 regional hubs and eight fixed sites in 15 states.

        The mobility of our imaging systems and the flexibility of our leasing service allow cardiologists to provide nuclear imaging procedures in their offices to
patients that they historically had to refer to hospitals or imaging centers. As a result, we provide physicians with more control over the diagnosis and treatment of
their patients and enable physicians to capture revenue from procedures that would otherwise be referred to these hospitals and imaging centers.

        Nuclear imaging is a clinical diagnostic tool that has been in use for over 40 years with reimbursement codes established since 1971. According to industry
sources, approximately 18.4 million nuclear imaging procedures were performed in the United States in 2002, of which 9.9 million procedures were cardiac
applications, a volume that is expected to grow by approximately 25% annually over the next three years. We estimate that the growth rate in 2002 for nuclear
imaging procedures performed in physician offices was approximately 44% and in hospitals was approximately 6%. We expect the mobility of our imaging
systems will continue to allow us to capitalize on this shift in the delivery of nuclear cardiology imaging services from hospitals to physician offices.

        The target market for our products is the approximately 30,000 cardiologists in the United States that perform or could perform nuclear cardiology
procedures. To date, we have sold or provided imaging services through DIS to approximately 500 physicians. In 2003, DIS performed over 66,000 patient
procedures.

        We sold our first gamma camera in March 2000 and we established DIS in September 2000. We had consolidated revenues and net losses of $41.5 million
and $12.8 million, respectively, in fiscal 2002, $56.2 million and $1.7 million, respectively, in fiscal 2003 and $15.9 million and $266,000, respectively, in the
three months ended March 31, 2004. Revenue from DIS and from our camera sales constituted 62% and 38%, respectively, of our 2003 consolidated revenues.
We believe DIS will continue to provide us with recurring annual contractual revenue and comprise the largest component of our consolidated revenue.
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Market Opportunity

Nuclear Imaging

        Nuclear imaging is a form of diagnostic imaging in which depictions of the internal anatomy or physiology are generated primarily through non-invasive
means. Diagnostic imaging facilitates the early diagnosis of diseases and disorders, often minimizing the scope, cost and amount of care required and reducing the
need for more invasive procedures. Currently, five major types of non-invasive diagnostic imaging technologies are available: x-ray; magnetic resonance imaging;
computerized tomography; ultrasound; and nuclear imaging.

        Nuclear imaging measures varying degrees of physiological activity. Physicians use the images and related clinical information to determine whether to refer
patients to more invasive diagnostic or therapeutic treatments. Nuclear imaging is provided through two primary technologies, gamma cameras and dedicated
positron emission tomography, or PET, machines. According to industry sources, despite the improved image quality from PET machines, gamma cameras are
used for a substantial majority of nuclear imaging procedures. We believe this preference is due to the lower purchase and maintenance costs, smaller physical
footprint and easier service logistics of gamma cameras. The most widely used imaging acquisition technology utilized in gamma cameras is single photon
emission computed tomography, or SPECT. All of our current cardiac gamma cameras utilize SPECT.

Clinical Applications for Nuclear Imaging

        Nuclear imaging is used primarily in cardiovascular, oncological and neurological applications. Nuclear imaging involves the introduction of very low-level
radioactive chemicals, called radiopharmaceuticals, into the patient's body. The radiopharmaceuticals are specially formulated to concentrate temporarily in the
specific part of the body to be studied. A system comprised of a gamma camera detector and computer is then used to detect the radiation signal emitted by the
chemicals and to convert that signal into an image of the body part or organ. Nuclear imaging, in contrast to other diagnostic imaging modalities, shows not only
the anatomy or structure of an organ or body part, but also its function—including blood flow, organ function, metabolic activity and biochemical activity.
According to industry sources, the following nuclear imaging procedures were performed with gamma cameras in the United States in 2002:

• Cardiac Applications.  Approximately 9.9 million procedures were performed in cardiology to provide diagnostic information concerning the flow
of blood to, through and from the heart as well as the condition of the heart muscle. 

• Non-Cardiac Applications.  Approximately 8.5 million procedures were performed in oncology and organ imaging to provide diagnostic
information on tumor location and size or on the condition and function of various organs.

Nuclear Cardiology

        We believe that the 9.9 million nuclear cardiology procedures performed annually in the United States with gamma cameras generate revenue of
approximately $10.0 billion. Our target market for DIS services is primarily physician practices and outpatient clinics, which we believe constitute approximately
25% of this total market, or $2.5 billion. In addition, the market for gamma camera sales across all care settings in the United States is estimated to be
approximately $440 million annually.

        According to industry sources, nuclear cardiology procedures are expected to grow by approximately 25% annually over the next three years. We believe the
growth of these procedures will be driven by the expected increase in coronary heart disease. According to the American Heart Association, this increase in heart
disease will result from the aging of baby boomers and the record rate of obesity and diabetes in all age groups.
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        Increasingly, a nuclear cardiology procedure is the first non-invasive, diagnostic imaging procedure performed on patients with suspected heart disease.
Following the imaging study, the physician will determine the need for more invasive and expensive diagnostic procedures or therapeutic treatments. These
treatments may include angiography, which is an x-ray procedure by which catheters are inserted into an artery or vein to take pictures of blood vessels;
angioplasty, which is a procedure by which catheters with balloon tips are used to widen narrowed arteries; or open heart surgery. Given the clinical advantages of
nuclear cardiac images, many payors require patients to complete a nuclear cardiology procedure before undergoing more invasive diagnostic procedures and
therapeutic treatments.

        The target market for our gamma camera sales and the FlexImaging services offered by DIS are the approximately 30,000 cardiologists in the United States
that perform nuclear cardiology procedures. We have sold cameras or leased our services through DIS to approximately 500 physicians. In 2003, DIS performed
over 66,000 patient procedures. We sell our imaging systems and provide our FlexImaging services to hospitals that provide nuclear cardiology procedures on
either an outpatient or inpatient basis, and to physicians that provide these procedures in their offices. According to industry reports, the growth rate in 2002 for
procedures performed in physician offices was approximately 44%, and in hospitals was approximately 6%. We believe this trend is driven by the desire of
cardiologists to control their patients' diagnosis and treatment and to capture revenues from procedures that would otherwise be referred to hospitals or imaging
centers. The unique mobility of our imaging systems allows us to capitalize on this shift from hospital-based imaging to physician office-based imaging.

Competitive Strengths

        We believe that our position as a market leader in the nuclear cardiac imaging market is a product of the following competitive strengths:

• Leading Solid-State Technology.  We were the first company to develop and commercialize solid-state technology for nuclear imaging
applications. We have continued to introduce new products and to develop our manufacturing capability and intellectual property. We believe the
mobility of our imaging systems has accelerated the shift of nuclear cardiology procedures from hospitals and imaging centers to physician
offices. 

• Mobile Applications Through Reduced Size and Weight.  Our solid-state technology has allowed us to reduce the size and weight of gamma
cameras, resulting in the only in-office mobile cardiac gamma camera on the market. Our cameras weigh less than 450 pounds and our imaging
chairs weigh less than 350 pounds. Together they require a working space of only seven feet by eight feet, and generally can be employed without
facility renovations. As a result, our imaging systems are capable of being easily moved within a hospital or imaging facility, or by van between
physician offices. In contrast, vacuum tube cameras typically weigh 2,400 to 5,000 pounds, are very difficult to move and often require a
dedicated room and facility renovations such as reinforced floors. 

• Image Quality.  We believe our imaging systems maintain a high-quality image despite the rigors of a mobile environment. In addition, our
imaging chair places the patient in an upright position, which reduces the potential for certain types of false indications of an organ defect. Most
vacuum tube cameras require patients to be imaged while lying on their backs. In this position, the diaphragm does not descend and may push
other organs up against the apex of the heart, which may result in false indications. We believe that we mitigate this problem through our upright
patient positioning. 

• Enhanced Operability and Reliability.  We believe our imaging systems provide more convenient operation, better power efficiency and increased
reliability as compared to vacuum tube cameras. These cameras must be powered continuously to stabilize the temperature of multiple vacuum
tubes. Our gamma cameras do not require continuous power and are ready to image minutes after being turned on. In addition, our solid-state
technology is more mechanically durable than vacuum tubes, which are more likely to change their performance characteristics if they sustain
physical
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shocks during transportation. The small size and light weight of our detector heads and the modular design of our cameras also facilitate repairs
and upgrades in the field, which are often accomplished by delivering replacement components overnight.

• Improved Patient Comfort and Utilization.  We believe the upright and open architecture of our patient chair can reduce patient claustrophobia and
increase patient comfort when compared to traditional vacuum tube-based imaging systems. The majority of other imaging systems require the
patient to lie flat and have detector heads rotate around the patient, creating a more confining environment and potentially increasing the time it
takes the patient to enter and exit the system. Depending on the patients' physical condition, we believe the time savings available with our upright
imaging may increase productivity by as much as one additional patient per day. 

• Unique Dual Distribution.  We have implemented a unique dual distribution model by offering our physician and hospital customers alternatives
for using our imaging systems. We sell imaging systems to physicians and hospitals that wish to perform nuclear imaging in their facilities and
manage the related service logistics. Through DIS, we also offer our FlexImaging services to physicians and hospitals on an annual basis in
flexible increments ranging from one day per month to several days per week. DIS allows physicians and hospitals to offer nuclear imaging
procedures to their patients without the capital investment, certified personnel, required licensure and other logistics associated with operating a
nuclear imaging site. 

• Intellectual Property Portfolio.  We have developed an intellectual property portfolio that includes product, component and process patents
covering various aspects of our imaging systems. Currently, we own 21 patents issued in the United States and two patents issued internationally.
We also have 10 additional patent applications pending in the United States and 21 pending applications internationally. In addition to our patent
portfolio, we have developed proprietary manufacturing and business know-how and trade secrets that we believe provide us with a competitive
advantage.

Our Technology

Conventional Vacuum Tube Technology

        Most gamma cameras use a scintillation crystal, or scintillator, to convert the energy of a gamma ray photon into light. This light is then converted by means
of a photodetector into an electrical signal which is reconstructed into a diagnostic image. Most traditional gamma cameras use a single crystal sheet as the
scintillator and use vacuum tubes as their photodetectors, which are referred to as vacuum tube photomultipliers. This basic approach has not undergone any
fundamental change in over 40 years.

        Each vacuum tube is approximately the size of a soft drink can. Since a detector can consist of up to 60 vacuum tubes, the result is a camera with both a large
detector enclosure and significant weight due to the lead shield that is required around the detector enclosure. In addition, vacuum tubes cannot be easily moved
or used in a mobile environment because vibration may change the electrical properties of the tubes or break them. Further, vacuum tubes may lose their vacuum
over time resulting in reduced reliability.

Our Solid-State Technology

        We introduced the first solid-state gamma cameras to the nuclear imaging market in March 2000. Our imaging systems utilize a proprietary photodetector
which incorporates a silicon semiconductor, or photodiode, that detects light and converts it into an electronic signal for reconstruction into a diagnostic image.
Our photodiode replaces the vacuum tubes used in traditional gamma cameras. The size and thickness of our photodiodes is approximately that of a dime, which
enables us to build detector heads that are significantly smaller and lighter than the detector heads in traditional gamma cameras. Our solid-state photodiodes are
durable and do not change their electrical properties as a result of vibration associated
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with transportation and are more reliable over time as compared with vacuum tubes. These properties allow our imaging systems to be mobile.

        Although photodiodes have been used for many years in varying applications, their use in gamma cameras was previously unsuccessful because performance
and functionality limitations prevented the development of a commercially viable product. When a gamma ray emitted from a patient strikes a scintillator, only a
very small amount of light is generated, and an even smaller electrical signal is produced in the photodiode. Traditional photodiodes were able to detect these
small electrical signals only at very low temperatures, typically less than -20° celsius, due to the electrical noise inherent in the photodiodes. The equipment and
cost required to maintain this low temperature prohibited commercialization of a photodiode-based gamma camera. Our proprietary photodiode is capable of
measuring these small electrical signals at near room temperature, which reduces cost and improves reliability.

        Our photodiode is packaged with our segmented scintillation crystal and readout electronics into a patented detector module. The segmented scintillation
crystal allows our module to achieve higher gamma ray detection rates than the single crystal sheet used in traditional gamma cameras. We believe the improved
detection rates will be useful with new molecular imaging agents that we anticipate being introduced into the market. The entire module is designed so that it can
be physically joined to other modules in varying sizes and shapes, allowing for the design of large field of view and application-specific imaging systems.

Our Products

        We sell a line of solid-state gamma cameras and accessories offering both general medical imaging and specific clinical-application imaging. In a typical
nuclear cardiology procedure, the physician acquires two images from the patient, one while the patient's heart rate is at rest and the other after the heart has been
stressed. The procedure begins with the injection of a small amount of radiopharmaceutical. A patient imaged by our gamma camera sits in an imaging chair and
places both arms on a shoulder-level armrest. The chair is adjusted to align the patient's heart on the axis of the chair's rotation.

        Following positioning of the patient, image acquisition begins with the patient slowly rotating through a 180 degree arc in front of the camera's detector
head, which also has been positioned at heart level. The duration of the acquisition is a function of the patient's body mass, whether the test is performed with the
heart at rest or under stress, the amount of radiopharmaceutical and the number of camera detectors on the system.

        Stress images are acquired by stressing the heart, either through exercise or the use of other pharmaceuticals, and then injecting the radiopharmaceutical at
the peak stress level. The difference between a resting and stress image allows the physician to determine the level of cardiac function. At the conclusion of each
image acquisition, the chair is rotated to the exit position and the patient steps out. After collecting the images, the technologist performs the image
reconstruction, checks the quality of the images and further processes the images. The physician then reviews the images and determines whether more invasive
diagnostic procedures or therapeutic treatments are necessary.

        We currently offer the following products:

        CardiusSM-2 is a stationary, dual-head gamma camera and patient chair designed for dedicated cardiology applications and high-procedure volumes.
Expensive room modifications or electrical changes are generally not required to use this imaging system in an office setting. Further, the system offers the
smallest footprint available today, fitting into a seven foot by eight foot room. The Cardius-2 features two proprietary third-generation detectors that accelerate the
image acquisition process, resulting in higher patient throughput. The system is suited for larger cardiology practices, dedicated hospital-based cardiology
systems, or imaging centers.
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        CardiusSM-1 is a stationary, single-head gamma camera and patient chair designed for dedicated cardiology applications and lower procedure volumes. A
single detector head results in image acquisition times suited for physicians and hospitals with the lower patient volumes usually associated with smaller
cardiology practices. The Cardius-1 also features our proprietary third-generation detector and can be upgraded in the physician's office to a dual-head Cardius-2
by using our upgrade kit. This upgrade feature allows physicians to expand imaging volume as their practices grow and imaging needs increase.

        2020tc Imager® is a mobile, single-head gamma camera that is compact and lightweight. The camera is used for general purpose imaging procedures taken
from a single point of view, referred to as planar, ranging from bone scans to thyroid imaging. The small pixel size in our 2020tc Imager provides improved
imaging resolution over traditional planar cameras. We sell this camera as a secondary camera to hospitals to increase their capacity and flexibility to image
within multiple departments using a single asset.

        SPECTpak PLUS combines our 2020tc Imager and SPECTour patient chair and provides both general purpose nuclear imaging and cardiology imaging, with
the added flexibility of mobility. DIS uses the SPECTpak PLUS to provide mobile imaging services to its physician customers.

        Workstations, Connectivity and Accessories.    We offer a line of high-performance workstations equipped with multiple software options for nuclear image
interpretation. We also sell connectivity between imagers from the same or different manufacturers to physicians who wish to integrate studies from multiple
imagers into one single workstation or archival. In addition, we offer a line of accessories including hot lab equipment required for the use of
radiopharmaceuticals, and various other supplies.

Digirad Imaging Solutions (DIS)

        DIS offers a comprehensive and mobile imaging leasing service, called FlexImaging, which includes an imaging system, certified personnel, required
licensure and other logistics for the performance of nuclear imaging procedures under the supervision of physicians. DIS allows cardiologists to provide nuclear
imaging procedures in their offices to patients they historically had to refer to hospitals or imaging centers. As a result, DIS provides physicians with more control
over their patients' diagnosis and treatment as well as incremental revenue opportunities. Physicians can tailor their nuclear imaging expenses to their practice
needs and patient volumes.

        Under our FlexImaging program, we provide a mobile camera, a state-certified nuclear imaging technologist, a paramedic or nurse, radioactive materials and
related licensure and supervision for radiation safety services, medical supplies, a quality control process, patient preparation, administrative forms and
information brochures. All imaging procedures are administered under the physician's supervision. We also customize our program to allow physicians to lease
only our personnel or only our imaging systems, depending on their own practice needs.

        DIS currently operates in 15 states and has approximately 300 contracts with physicians, most of whom are office-based cardiologists. DIS also provides
leasing services to internists, hospitals and clinics. Our DIS operations use a "hub and spoke" model in which centrally located regional hubs anchor multiple van
routes in the surrounding metropolitan areas. As of March 31, 2004, we had 180 employees in our DIS business operating 21 hubs, eight fixed sites, and 59
cameras. We have invested substantial resources developing our service infrastructure, which includes radioactive materials licensing, a staff of radiation safety
officers and licensed clinicians, coordinated billing services and standardized lease agreements. We believe that our service infrastructure and know-how will
support additional routes and imaging modalities in the future.

        DIS has policies and procedures for the handling of radioactive materials, purchasing relationships, clinical training and quality assurance that we believe
maximize operational efficiency and improve customer satisfaction. We have implemented a compliance plan that requires strict adherence to applicable state and
federal regulations, including Medicare regulations. We also have an active quality assurance and
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control program designed to optimize service and follow strict radiation safety and training programs. Our management team has developed experience in hiring
and training clinical staff as well as providing quality services to our customers. We utilize proprietary software management tools that monitor key performance
metrics in each of our routes, hubs and regions.

        At our DIS hubs, technicians load the equipment, radiopharmaceuticals and other supplies onto specially equipped vans for transport to the physician's
office, where the technicians set up the equipment for the day. After quality assurance testing, and under the physician's supervision, a technician will gather
patient information, inject the patient with a radiopharmaceutical and then acquire the images for review by the physician. The technicians furnish the physician
with applicable paperwork and billing information for all patients and clean the utilized areas before departing.

        As of March 31, 2004, we provided FlexImaging leasing services to more than approximately 95% of our DIS customers under annual contracts for services
delivered on a per-day basis. These contracts decrease our immediate and direct dependence on physician reimbursement. Under these agreements, physicians pay
us a fixed amount for each day that they lease our equipment and personnel, and they commit to the scheduling of a minimum number of lease days during the
one-year lease term. The same fixed payment amount is due for each day regardless of the number of patients seen or the reimbursement obtained by the
physician. As of March 31, 2004, the remaining 5% of our DIS business was provided under our "mixed bill" option. Under this type of agreement, we provide
the technical component of our services and bill either the physician or the patient's third-party payor, and so remain at direct risk for reimbursement. We also bill
the patient for any co-payment.

        We believe DIS allows us to avoid the often lengthy and sometimes unpredictable sales cycle associated with capital equipment sales in a hospital or
physician practice setting, and provides us with recurring contractual revenue. Occasionally, DIS customers purchase our imaging systems. In addition, because
we own the product that we lease, we are often able to translate technical camera improvements into increased margins in our DIS business.

Business Strategy

        We intend to continue to expand our business, improve our market position and increase our revenues and profits by pursuing the following business
strategies:

• Continued Innovation in Solid-State Imaging Technology.  We intend to maintain our leadership position in solid-state imaging technology by
continuing to invest resources in research and development. We believe we can continue to improve upon our existing technology to enhance
image quality, maximize patient throughput, lower system cost and facilitate the ease of maintenance and repairs. 

• Expand Our DIS Business.  We plan to expand our DIS business into several new states, add new hub locations in states in which we currently
operate and increase hub utilization with additional physician customers and routes. We also intend to pursue cardiology opportunities for DIS in
hospitals and new clinical applications for DIS in neurology, oncology and surgery. 

• Increase Market Share in Camera Sales.  We believe that we can grow our market share by capitalizing on the recent trend of nuclear cardiology
procedures shifting from the hospital to the physician office. We are also expanding our hospital sales and marketing efforts to capitalize on the
increased demand for secondary mobile cameras. 

• Expand International Sales and Marketing Presence.  We intend to increase our presence internationally by entering into relationships with
distributors that have the experience, expertise and service network to sell and support our products internationally. To date, our international sales
have represented less than 1% of our revenue.
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• Drive Margin Improvements and Growth.  We plan to enhance our product margins by achieving operating efficiencies, reducing manufacturing
costs and increasing product reliability. We also intend to leverage our technological advancements into improved performance and customer
satisfaction in our DIS business.

Sales and Marketing

        Our direct domestic sales organization consists of 26 sales representatives including 12 territory managers responsible for capital equipment sales and 14
imaging professionals responsible for DIS geographic regions. We select our sales representatives based on their expertise in nuclear imaging product sales and
services. Each sales representative is subject to periodic performance reviews and is required to attend periodic sales and product training. We employ sales
specialists to assist territory managers with in-office or on-site camera demonstrations. We intend to increase the number of sales representatives as we launch
new products and services and to increase our marketing efforts with respect to existing products.

        In addition to our direct sales force, we also sell our imaging systems in five states and Puerto Rico through three distributors and one independent sales
agent. We select our distributors based on their expertise in imaging systems and sales coverage. These relationships provide the distributor the right to sell our
products within the sales territory, and their sales representatives typically attend the same sales and product training as our own sales representatives.

        We also have distributors in Canada and in Russia and are beginning to build an international sales organization focused on camera sales. These international
distribution arrangements are exclusive within the designated countries. We have hired a dedicated international sales executive to establish relationships with
additional distributors.

        We often service our domestic customers remotely through high-speed Internet access and dial-up connections that facilitate system diagnosis without the
need for field service or repair. When repair is required, our modular part replacement capability allows our field service engineers to perform field repairs that
minimize customer downtime. We also employ applications specialists and a connectivity engineer to train our customers or provide technical support on the use
of our products. We plan to engage outside service firms to support our international customers.

Manufacturing

        We have been manufacturing our cameras since March 2000. The key components of our camera's mechanical and electrical systems are designed or
configured by us, and include a personal computer (for both the camera and the stand alone workstations), cooling systems, liquid crystal display, controller
boards and a data acquisition and communication system. Our manufacturing strategy combines our internal design expertise and proprietary process technology
with strategic outsourcing. The key components of our camera's mechanical and electrical systems are designed or configured by us, and include a personal
computer, power supplies, cooling system, liquid crystal display, controller boards and a data acquisition and communication system. These components are
either outsourced to qualified manufacturers or built internally. We perform sub-assembly tests and final system performance tests packaging and labeling at our
facility. We provide connectivity solutions which include consulting, configured computers and outsourced electronic image management systems. We also sell
accessories which are outsourced and include printers, equipment for handling and measuring radioactive materials and software for the camera.

        Suppliers of critical materials, components and subassemblies undergo ongoing quality certification by us. Most components used in the product are
available from multiple sources; however, we do not currently maintain alternative manufacturing sources for certain components of the detector or for the
acquisition and control software. For those components for which we have only a single source supplier, we
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are currently qualifying or seeking secondary sources. We utilize enterprise resource planning and collaborative software to increase efficiency and security in
handling of material and inventory, centralizing our purchasing procedures, monitoring our inventory supplies and streamlining our billing methods. Our
outsourcing strategy is targeted at companies that meet the standards of the FDA and the International Organization for Standardization, or ISO.

        We and our third-party manufacturers are subject to the FDA's Quality System Regulation, state regulations such as the regulations promulgated by the
California Department of Health Services, and regulations promulgated by the European Union. We recently completed the process of relocating and
consolidating our manufacturing to a new facility in nearby Poway, California that has been licensed by the California Food and Drug Branch. Our facilities and
the facilities of our third-party manufacturers are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by regulatory authorities, and may undergo compliance inspections
conducted by the FDA and corresponding state agencies.

        In late 2004, we plan to initiate our ISO-13485 quality certification program with the expectation of receiving certification in 2005. ISO-13485 is a
compilation of quality standards tailored for medical device manufacturers and promulgated by the ISO. A medical device manufacturer whose quality program
has been certified to ISO requirements does not have to independently test each product that it sells in the European Union. ISO certification is required to sell our
products in certain countries, however, we may not ever obtain such certification.

Research and Development

        Our research and development staff currently consists of 17 employees. We have a long and extensive commitment to research and development, including
an established history in developing innovative solid-state gamma cameras. In March 2000, we launched the first solid-state gamma camera for medical use and,
in September 2002, we released the first dual-head, solid-state camera. In July 2003, we launched our third-generation detector that improved the reliability and
sensitivity of our gamma cameras, and reduced their cost. We have an established core competency in the development of silicon photodiodes and related
scintillator assemblies and signaling processing electronics, which are the core of our gamma cameras.

        Our research and development efforts are primarily focused in the near term on developing further enhancements to our existing products as well as
developing our next-generation products. Our objective is to increase the sensitivity and reliability of our imaging systems and their clinical and economic benefit
to our physician customers and their patients.

Competition

        The medical device industry, including the market for nuclear imaging systems and services, is highly competitive, subject to rapid change and significantly
affected by new product and service introductions and market activities of other industry participants. In selling and leasing our imaging systems, we compete
against several large medical device manufacturers, including Philips Medical Systems, General Electric Healthcare, Siemens Medical Systems and Toshiba
Medical Systems. All of these competitors offer a full line of imaging cameras for each diagnostic imaging technology, including x-ray, MRI, CT, ultrasound and
nuclear medicine. The existing nuclear imaging systems sold by our competitors have been in use for a longer period of time than our products and are more
widely recognized and used by physicians and hospitals for nuclear imaging. Many of our competitors and potential competitors enjoy significant competitive
advantages over us, including:

• significantly greater name recognition and financial, technical and marketing resources; 

• established relationships with healthcare professionals, customers and third-party payors; 

• established distribution networks;
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• additional lines of products and the ability to offer rebates or bundle products to offer discounts or incentives; and 

• greater resources for product development, sales and marketing.

        We are aware of certain major medical device companies that are attempting to develop solid-state gamma cameras, and we believe these efforts will
continue. However, we are currently not aware of any other solid-state cardiac gamma camera. We are also aware of a privately-held company, Gamma Medica,
which is currently marketing a solid-state gamma camera for breast imaging. We do not believe that this camera can be used in a cardiac application. However,
we cannot assure you that Gamma Medica will not attempt to modify its existing camera for use in the cardiac segment in the future or develop another gamma
camera for cardiac applications.

        In providing our mobile leasing services, we also compete against businesses employing traditional vacuum tube cameras that must be transported in large
trucks and cannot be moved in and out of physician offices. Competitive fixed-site services may require extensive or dedicated space and room renovations that
result in increased start-up and ongoing costs.

        Because of the size of the potential market, we anticipate that companies will dedicate significant resources to developing competing products and services,
including a mobile leasing service. Current or future competitors may develop technologies and products that demonstrate better image quality, ease of use or
mobility than our nuclear imaging systems. Our nuclear imaging systems or leasing services may be rendered obsolete or non-competitive by technological
advances developed by one or more of our competitors. Our ability to compete successfully will depend on our ability to develop proprietary products that reach
the market in a timely manner, receive adequate reimbursement and are safer, less invasive and less expensive than alternatives available for the same purpose.

        We believe that the principal competitive factors in our market include:

• improved outcomes for nuclear imaging procedures; 

• acceptance by physicians; 

• ease of use, reliability and mobility; 

• product price; 

• qualification for reimbursement; 

• technical leadership and superiority; 

• effective marketing and distribution; and 

• speed to market.

Intellectual Property

        We rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright, trade secret and other intellectual property laws, nondisclosure agreements and other measures to
protect our intellectual property. We believe that in order to have a competitive advantage, we must develop and maintain the proprietary aspects of our
technologies. We require our employees, consultants and advisors to execute confidentiality agreements in connection with their employment, consulting or
advisory relationships with us. We also require our employees, consultants and advisors who we expect to work on our products to agree to disclose and assign to
us all inventions conceived during the work day, using our property, or which relate to our business. Despite any measures taken to protect our intellectual
property, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our products or to obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary.
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Patents

        We have developed a patent portfolio that covers our overall products, components and processes. As of March 31, 2004, we had 21 issued U.S. patents and
31 pending patent applications, including ten U.S. applications, three international Patent Cooperation Treaty, or PCT, applications and 18 foreign applications
seeking protection for selected patents in Japan, Canada and Russia. The issued and pending patents cover, among other things, aspects of solid-state radiation
detectors including our photodiodes, signal processing, and system configuration. Our issued patents expire between December 23, 2014 and April 20, 2021. We
have multiple patents covering unique aspects and improvements for many of our products. We have entered into a royalty-bearing license for one U.S. patent
with a third party for exclusive use (subject to certain reservation of rights by the U.S. Government) in nuclear imaging. We do not believe that our current
products implement the licensed patent and we are currently negotiating with the third-party licensor to amend the patent license.

        In addition to our solid-state detector and photodiode technology patents, we hold specific patents for an alternative solid-state method using Cadmium Zinc
Telluride, that we previously pursued for use in gamma cameras. While each of our patents applies to nuclear medicine, many also apply to the construction of
area detectors for other types of medical imagers and imaging methods.

        The medical device industry is characterized by the existence of a large number of patents and frequent litigation based on allegations of patent infringement.
Patent litigation can involve complex factual and legal questions and its outcome is uncertain. Any claim relating to infringement of patents that is successfully
asserted against us may require us to pay substantial damages. Even if we were to prevail, any litigation could be costly and time consuming and would divert the
attention of our management and key personnel from our business operations. Our success will also depend in part on our not infringing patents issued to others,
including our competitors and potential competitors. If our products are found to infringe the patents of others, our development, manufacture and sale of such
potential products could be severely restricted or prohibited. In addition, our competitors may independently develop similar technologies. Because of the
importance of our patent portfolio to our business, we may lose market share to our competitors if we fail to protect our intellectual property rights.

        As the number of entrants into our market increases, the possibility of a patent infringement claim against us grows. While we make an effort to ensure that
our products do not infringe other parties' patents and proprietary rights, our products and methods may be covered by U.S. patents held by our competitors. In
addition, our competitors may assert that future products we may market infringe their patents.

        Further, a patent infringement suit brought against us may force us to stop or delay developing, manufacturing or selling potential products that are claimed
to infringe a third party's intellectual property, unless that party grants us rights to use its intellectual property. In such cases, we may be required to obtain
licenses to patents or proprietary rights of others in order to continue to commercialize our products. However, we may not be able to obtain any licenses required
under any patents or proprietary rights of third parties on acceptable terms, or at all. Even if we were able to obtain rights to the third party's intellectual property,
these rights may be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same intellectual property. Ultimately, we may be unable to commercialize some
of our potential products or may have to cease some of our business operations as a result of patent infringement claims, which could severely harm our business.

Trademarks

        We have trademark registrations in the United States for the following marks: 2020tc Imager®, CardiusSST®, Digirad®, Digirad Logo®, Digirad Imaging
Solutions®, FlexImaging®, and SPECTour®. We have trademark applications pending in the United States for the following marks: CardiusSM, DigiServSM,
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DigiSpectSM, DigiTechSM, and SolidiumSM. We have obtained and sought trademark protection for some of these listed marks in the European Community and
Japan.

Government Regulations

        The healthcare industry, and thus our business, is subject to extensive federal, state, local and foreign regulation. Some of the pertinent laws have not been
definitively interpreted by the regulatory authorities or the courts, and their provisions are open to a variety of interpretations. In addition, these laws and their
interpretations are subject to change.

        Both federal and state governmental agencies are continuing heightened civil and criminal enforcement efforts in the healthcare industry. As indicated by
work plans and reports issued by these agencies, the federal government will continue to scrutinize, among other things, the billing practices of healthcare
providers. The federal government also has increased funding in recent years to fight healthcare fraud, and various agencies, such as the United States Department
of Justice, the Office of Inspector General of the Department of Health and Human Services, or OIG, and state Medicaid fraud control units, are coordinating their
enforcement efforts.

Compliance Program

        The healthcare laws applicable to our business are complex and, as noted above, subject to variable interpretations. We implemented a compliance program
in 2002 to help assure that we remain in compliance with these laws. As part of that program, we have established a compliance committee consisting of senior
management and legal counsel that meets regularly, established a compliance hotline that permits our personnel to report anonymously any compliance issues that
may arise and instituted other safeguards intended to help prevent any violations of the Fraud and Abuse Laws discussed below and other applicable healthcare
laws, and to remediate any situations that could give rise to violations. We also review our transactions and agreements, both past and present, to help assure they
are compliant.

        Like most companies with active and effective compliance programs, we occasionally discover compliance concerns. For example, we have discovered
certain isolated arrangements that we entered into in good faith but that, upon review by our compliance personnel, raised some compliance concerns under these
laws. In accordance with our compliance program, we took immediate remedial steps. We cannot assure you that these remedial steps will insulate us from
liability associated with these isolated arrangements.

        Through our compliance efforts, we constantly strive to structure our business operations and relationships with our customers to comply with all applicable
legal requirements. However, it is possible that governmental entities or other third parties could interpret these laws differently and assert non-compliance with
respect to these business operations and relationships including these isolated arrangements. While there have been no claims asserted against us, if a claim were
asserted and we were not to prevail, possible sanctions could have a material effect on our financial statements or our ability to conduct our operations. We
discuss below the statutes and regulations that are most relevant to our business and most frequently cited in enforcement actions.

Fraud and Abuse Laws

Anti-Kickback Statute

        The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or providing remuneration, directly or
indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either the referral of an individual, or furnishing, arranging for or recommending a good or service, for which payment
may be made in whole or part under a federal healthcare program such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs. The definition of "remuneration" has been
broadly interpreted to include anything of value,
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including for example gifts, discounts, the furnishing of supplies or equipment, credit arrangements, payments of cash and waivers of payments. Several courts
have interpreted the statute's intent requirement to mean that if any one purpose of an arrangement involving remuneration is to induce referrals or otherwise
generate business involving goods or services reimbursed in whole or in part under federal healthcare programs, the statute has been violated. Penalties for
violations include criminal penalties and civil sanctions such as fines, imprisonment and possible exclusion from Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare
programs. In addition, some kickback allegations have been claimed to violate the Federal False Claims Act, discussed in more detail below.

        The Anti-Kickback Statute is broad and prohibits many arrangements and practices that are lawful in businesses outside of the healthcare industry.
Recognizing that the Anti-Kickback Statute is broad and may technically prohibit many innocuous or beneficial arrangements, the OIG has issued a series of
regulations, known as the "safe harbors," beginning in July of 1991. These safe harbors set forth provisions that, if all their applicable requirements are met, will
assure healthcare providers and other parties that they will not be prosecuted under the Anti-Kickback Statute. The failure of a transaction or arrangement to fit
precisely within one or more safe harbors does not necessarily mean that it is illegal or that prosecution will be pursued. However, conduct and business
arrangements that do not fully satisfy each applicable safe harbor may result in increased scrutiny by government enforcement authorities such as the OIG.

        Many states have adopted laws similar to the Anti-Kickback Statute. Some of these state prohibitions apply to referral of patients for healthcare items or
services reimbursed by any source, not only the Medicare and Medicaid programs.

        Government officials have focused their enforcement efforts on marketing of healthcare services, among other activities, and recently have brought cases
against sales personnel who allegedly offered unlawful inducements to potential or existing customers in an attempt to procure their business. As part of our
compliance program, we review our marketing materials and train our sales personnel to help assure compliance with the Anti-Kickback Statute.

        In DIS, we offer lease agreements under which physicians lease our equipment and personnel, typically for one or two days a week, for a term of a year.
Under this option, which comprises 93% of our DIS customers, our customers pay us the same fixed amount for each lease day regardless of the number of
patients they see or the reimbursement they obtain. They also pay us for radiopharmaceuticals and pharmacological stress agents (collectively, "supplies") used in
performing the tests.

        Under a second contracting option, the "mixed bill" model, used by approximately 7% of our customers, we provide and are paid for services and supplies
provided to physicians for their use in treating their privately insured patients. These physicians also refer Medicare patients to us, for whom we perform the
technical component of nuclear imaging procedures and on whose behalf we bill the Medicare program directly. This type of arrangement, if not properly
structured, could be construed to violate the Anti-Kickback Statute and also to raise issues under another Medicare statute, 42 U.S.C. Section 1320a-7(b)(6). That
statute prohibits providers from charging Medicare substantially in excess of the provider's usual and customary charges unless the Secretary of Health and
Human Services finds good cause.

        We believe that we have structured our lease and "mixed bill" models, as well as our marketing program, to comply with the Anti-Kickback Statute and
similar state laws, as well as with 42 U.S.C. Section 1320a-7(b)(6). However, we cannot rule out the possibility that the government or other third parties could
interpret these laws differently and assert otherwise.

Stark Law

        The Ethics in Patient Referral Act of 1989, commonly referred to as the federal physician self-referral law or Stark Law, prohibits physician referrals of
Medicare patients to an entity for certain "designated
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health services" if the physician or an immediate family member has an indirect or direct financial relationship with the entity and no statutory or regulatory
exception applies. Financial relationships include an ownership interest in, or compensation arrangement with, the entity. It also prohibits an entity receiving a
prohibited referral from billing and collecting for services rendered pursuant to such referral. "Designated health services" under Stark include inpatient and
outpatient hospital services, radiology services, magnetic resonance imaging, computerized axial tomography scans, ultrasound services and outpatient
prescription drugs. The Health Care Financing Administration, now known as the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, indicated in a final rule
issued in 2001 that nuclear medicine is not covered as a designated healthcare service under the Stark Law. CMS has also indicated that radiopharmaceuticals and
pharmacological stress agents used in nuclear imaging procedures do not constitute designated healthcare services. However, it is possible that CMS may change
its interpretation in the future to include nuclear imaging and/or one or both of these supplies as designated healthcare services under the Stark Law. Should that
occur, we believe the financial relationships we have with our physician customers fall within one or more exceptions to the prohibition on referrals. Therefore,
we do not believe the physicians would be prohibited from referring Medicare patients to us. However, we cannot rule out the possibility that the government or
other third parties could interpret these laws differently and assert otherwise.

        A person who engages in a scheme to circumvent the Stark Law's prohibitions may be fined up to $100,000 for each such arrangement or scheme. In
addition, anyone who presents or causes to be presented a claim to the Medicare program in violation of the Stark Law is subject to monetary penalties of up to
$15,000 per claim submitted, an assessment of several times the amount claimed, and possible exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs. In
addition, claims submitted in violation of the Stark Law may be alleged to be subject to liability under the federal False Claims Act and its whistleblower
provisions (as discussed below).

        Several states in which we operate have enacted legislation that prohibits physician self-referral arrangements and/or requires physicians to disclose any
financial interest they may have with a healthcare provider to their patients when referring patients to that provider. Some of these statutes cover all patients and
are not limited to Medicare beneficiaries. Possible sanctions for violating state physician self-referral laws vary, but may include loss of license and civil and
criminal sanctions. State laws vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and, in a few states, are more restrictive than the federal Stark Law. Some states have indicated
they will interpret their own self-referral statutes the same way that CMS interprets the Stark Law, but it is possible the states will interpret their own laws
differently in the future. We believe that we have structured our operations to comply with these state physician self-referral prohibition laws in the jurisdictions
in which we operate. However, we cannot rule out the possibility that the government or other third parties could interpret these statutes differently and assert
otherwise. In certain states in which we do not yet operate, these laws may add considerable expense to or limit altogether the types of business models we may
successfully utilize.

HIPAA

        The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, created two new federal crimes: healthcare fraud and false statements relating
to healthcare matters. The healthcare fraud statute prohibits knowingly and willfully executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, including
private payors. A violation of this statute is a felony and may result in fines, imprisonment or exclusion from government sponsored programs. The false
statements statute prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent
statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services. A violation of this statute is a felony and may result in fines or
imprisonment.

        In addition to creating the two new federal healthcare crimes, HIPAA also establishes uniform standards governing the conduct of certain electronic
healthcare transactions and protecting the security
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and privacy of individually identifiable health information maintained or transmitted by healthcare providers, health plans and healthcare clearinghouses. Two
standards have been promulgated under HIPAA with which we currently are required to comply. We must comply with the Standards for Privacy of Individually
Identifiable Health Information, which restrict our use and disclosure of certain individually identifiable health information. We have been required to comply
with the Privacy Standards since April 14, 2003. We must also comply with the Standards for Electronic Transactions, which establish standards for common
healthcare transactions, such as claims information, plan eligibility, payment information and the use of electronic signatures. We have been required to comply
with these Standards since October 16, 2003. We believe that we are in compliance with these standards. Two other standards relevant to our use of medical
information have been promulgated under HIPAA, although our compliance with these standards is not yet required. The Security Standards will require us to
implement certain security measures to safeguard certain electronic health information by April 21, 2005. In addition, CMS recently published a final rule, which
will require us to adopt Unique Health Identifiers for use in filing and processing healthcare claims and other transactions by May 23, 2007. While the
government intended this legislation to reduce administrative expenses and burdens for the healthcare industry, our compliance with this law may entail
significant and costly changes for us. If we fail to comply with these standards, we could be subject to criminal penalties and civil sanctions.

        In addition to federal regulations issued under HIPAA, some states have enacted privacy and security statutes or regulations that, in some cases, are more
stringent than those issued under HIPAA. In those cases, it may be necessary to modify our operations and procedures to comply with the more stringent state
laws, which may entail significant and costly changes for us. We believe that we are in compliance with such state laws and regulations. However, if we fail to
comply with applicable state laws and regulations, we could be subject to additional sanctions.

Federal False Claims Act

        Another trend affecting the healthcare industry is the increased use of the federal False Claims Act and, in particular, actions under the False Claims Act's
"whistleblower" or "qui tam" provisions. Those provisions allow a private individual to bring actions on behalf of the government alleging that the defendant has
defrauded the federal government. The government must decide whether to intervene in the lawsuit and to become the primary prosecutor. If it declines to do so,
the individual may choose to pursue the case alone, although the government must be kept apprised of the progress of the lawsuit. Whether or not the federal
government intervenes in the case, it will receive the majority of any recovery. If the individual's litigation is successful, the individual is entitled to no less than
15%, but no more than 30%, of whatever amount the government recovers. In recent years, the number of suits brought against healthcare providers by private
individuals has increased dramatically. In addition, various states have enacted laws modeled after the federal False Claims Act.

        When an entity is determined to have violated the federal False Claims Act, it may be required to pay up to three times the actual damages sustained by the
government, plus civil penalties of between $5,500 to $11,000 for each separate false claim. There are many potential bases for liability under the federal False
Claims Act. Liability arises, primarily, when an entity knowingly submits, or causes another to submit, a false claim for reimbursement to the federal government.
Although simple negligence should not give rise to liability, submitting a claim with reckless disregard or deliberate ignorance of its truth or falsity could result in
substantial civil liability. The False Claims Act has been used to assert liability on the basis of inadequate care, improper referrals, and improper use of Medicare
numbers when detailing the provider of services, in addition to the more predictable allegations as to misrepresentations with respect to the services rendered. We
are unable to predict whether we could be subject to actions under the False Claims Act, or the impact of such actions. However, the costs of defending claims
under the False Claims Act, as well as sanctions imposed under the Act, could significantly affect our financial performance.

63



Billing and Reimbursement

DIS

        Reimbursement to physicians for nuclear imaging tests consists of both a "technical component" (i.e., the actual performance of the test) and a "professional
component" (i.e., the interpretation of the test, sometimes referred to as a "read" of the test). Physicians may bill for the professional component if they perform
and document a bona fide interpretation. Medicare and certain other payors permit providers who perform both the technical and professional components to
either bill "globally" for both components of the tests, if applicable requirements are met, or to bill for the technical component and professional component
separately. In our lease model, our physician customers bill globally for both the technical and professional components of the tests. Assuming they meet certain
requirements, including but not limited to adequate supervision of the non-physician personnel performing the tests, they may bill and be paid by Medicare
according to the Medicare Physician Fee Schedule.

        Under our "mixed bill" model, we provide the technical component of nuclear imaging services and bill either the physician (who, in turn, bills the patient or
third-party payor) or, if the patient is a Medicare patient, the Medicare program. For those services we bill directly, our Medicare payment is based on the
Medicare Physician Fee Schedule and we bill the patient for any co-payment. The physician performs and bills the payor for the professional component for all
patients, including the interpretation of the test. In our lease agreement model, we derive our revenues directly and only from customer physicians. In our "mixed
bill" model, we derive revenues from Medicare, as well as direct billings to physicians.

        Medicare has delegated the functions of enrollment and payment to contractors known as the Medicare carriers, each of whose jurisdiction varies, as some
carriers govern several states, some just one state and some just a portion of a state. Although federal regulations set forth uniform rules governing independent
testing diagnostic facility, billing and enrollment, each carrier is free to interpret these rules to a certain extent. For example, an independent testing diagnostic
facility is required to have one or more supervising physicians, each of whom meets certain proficiency requirements; these precise proficiency requirements vary
from carrier to carrier. The nature of a particular carrier's proficiency and other requirements may add expense to or limit the types of business models we may be
able to utilize successfully in the carrier's jurisdiction. At present, we are licensed as independent testing facilities in nine states and perform independent testing
diagnostic facility services in five states.

        Services for which we and our customer physicians bill Medicare typically are reimbursed according to the Medicare Physician Fee Schedule that assigns a
specified value to each procedure or supply, which are identified according to numeric codes. Medicare revises this Physician Fee Schedule on an annual basis.
Under the Medicare Modernization Act, the Physician Fee Schedule payment rates for 2004 were increased, instead of reduced as expected prior to the
legislation. The payment methodology to physician practices for drugs and radiopharmaceuticals were changed, and some payment rates decreased. If the
amounts payable under the Physician Fee Schedule or payments for supplies decreases under prescribed payment methodologies, we may receive less revenue
from Medicare under our mixed bill model. Similarly, our physician customers may receive less revenue for the tests they perform under our lease model, which
may adversely affect the amount we can charge physicians who enter into new lease agreements or renew existing agreements.

        We also lease our cameras to hospitals. The payment policies implemented by state and federal reimbursement programs for hospitals affect demand for our
leasing services business by hospitals. Medicare, the single largest third-party payor in the United States, which pays certain hospitals for imaging services using
our products, generally pays for inpatient services under a prospective payment system, or PPS. Under PPS, hospitals receive a fixed amount for each Medicare
patient discharge for inpatient services. Each discharge is classified into one of many diagnosis related groups corresponding to the patient's condition. The
payment amount assigned to each diagnosis related group reimburses the hospital for inpatient operating costs, regardless of the services actually provided or the
length of the patient's stay.
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Hospital capital-related costs, including investments in depreciable equipment also is paid under a PPS methodology. Although there may be opportunities to
obtain additional amounts for certain high-cost new technologies in the inpatient setting, under this PPS payment methodology, Medicare does not separately
reimburse hospitals for services performed using our cameras, since payment for this service is included in the diagnosis related group payment amount. Many
state Medicaid programs and private payors have adopted comparable payment policies.

        Medicare pays for hospital outpatient services under the outpatient prospective payment system. Under this system, services and items furnished in hospital
outpatient departments are reimbursed using a pre-determined amount for each ambulatory payment classification. Each ambulatory payment classification
groups together similar services comparable both clinically and with respect to the use of resources. Certain items and services are paid based on a fee schedule,
and hospitals are reimbursed additional amounts for certain drugs, biologics and new technologies. Under the Medicare Modernization Act, revisions were made
to the payment methodology for radiopharmaceuticals and drugs used with our cameras, which resulted in the increase of some and decrease of other payment
rates to hospitals for these supplies. We cannot predict the extent to which the payment methodology changes will have an impact on our revenue or business, if
any.

        We believe we have structured our DIS contracts so that physicians and hospitals are able to bill in this manner if they comply with the terms of the contracts
and the requirements of applicable radioactive materials laws are met. However, if any of our customer physicians are deemed not to meet these conditions,
payment to the affected physicians could be reduced, denied or recouped. If the failure to comply is deemed to be "knowing" and/or "willful," as defined in
federal statutes, the government could seek to impose fines or penalties under the False Claims Act and other statutes. This may require us to restructure our
agreements with these physicians and/or respond to any resultant claims by physicians or the government.

Camera Sales

        We currently sell cameras to physicians, physician groups or medical groups. Physicians who perform or supervise nuclear imaging procedures in their
offices are reimbursed by Medicare under the Physician Fee Schedule, assuming applicable requirements are met. Physicians are also reimbursed for the supplies
they use in performing these procedures. The payment policies implemented by state and federal reimbursement programs for physicians affect demand for our
cameras. We also sell cameras to hospitals. The payment policies implemented by state and federal reimbursement programs for hospitals affect demand for our
cameras. The same rules and regulations concerning reimbursement for inpatient and outpatient services that apply to our hospital leases also apply to our sales of
cameras to hospitals.

Non-governmental third-party payor limitations

        Non-governmental managed-care payors, such as health maintenance organizations, preferred provider organizations, and certain other insurers, often
impose varying requirements and limitations on the ability of diagnostic test providers such as our lease services division to receive payment directly for the
services they provide. For example, some payors will not reimburse a provider of nuclear imaging services for the tests it performs unless the provider has a
contract with the payor, and in many instances such payors will not enter into such contracts. On the other hand, most of these payors currently will provide
reimbursement on a "global" basis to a physician who has a contract with the payor and who supervises or performs the test and provides the professional
interpretation. Such payor requirements and limitations restrict the types of business models we can successfully utilize for patients covered by these payors, but
currently do not preclude us from successfully implementing our lease and mixed bill models. However, we cannot rule out the possibility that some of these
payors will impose new requirements or limitations in the future that could adversely affect these models and require us to develop new models.
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Pharmaceutical laws

        Our lease services business involve administering and furnishing radiopharmaceuticals and pharmacological stress agents, which are regulated as drugs by
state and federal agencies, including the FDA and state pharmacy boards. These agencies administer laws governing the manufacturing, sale, distribution, use,
administration and prescribing of drugs, including the federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, state food and drug laws and state pharmacy acts. Some of our
activities may be deemed by relevant agencies to require permits or licensure under these laws that we currently do not possess. If any of these agencies deemed
our activities to require such permits or licensure, we would be required to either obtain such permits or licensure, if possible, or modify the types of business
models we can utilize in the affected jurisdiction(s). In either case, we would incur substantial expense and could encounter substantial operational burdens.

Radioactive Materials Laws

        The procurement, use, transfer and storage of radioactive materials is subject to comprehensive regulation under state and federal laws. In some states, the
federal Nuclear Regulatory Commission, or NRC, directly regulates such use (NRC States). In other states, a state regulatory agency performs such regulation
under an agreement with the federal government (Agreement States). In both Agreement and NRC States, the use of radioactive materials requires licensure and
compliance with comprehensive rules governing such licensure.

        Because our DIS business entails the use of radiopharmaceuticals in performing nuclear medicine tests, we are required to obtain and maintain licensure
under radioactive materials laws, or RAM laws, and to comply with such laws. The RAM laws require, among other things, that such materials be used by, or that
their use be supervised by, individuals with specified training, expertise and credentials in the type of use in question. Such individuals are known as "authorized
users."

        The RAM laws include specific provisions applicable to the medical use of radioactive materials. For a business such as ours, the authorized user must be a
physician with training and expertise in the use of radioactive materials for diagnostic purposes. We have entered into contracts with qualified physicians in each
of our regions to serve as authorized users.

        In some states, the authorized user is required to participate in or oversee the selection of patients and the ordering of procedures and/or supplies. Some
states also required that an authorized user perform an interpretation of the nuclear medicine tests. The authorized user need not be present at the customer
physician's site to perform such functions.

        Under the RAM laws, physicians who are not licensed authorized users, but who are supervised by an authorized user on behalf of a licensed entity, are
permitted to use radioactive materials under the authority of such licensure, if certain conditions are met. Because our physician customers in our lease services
business are not licensees and in most cases are not qualified to serve as authorized users, they perform nuclear medicine procedures as "supervised persons." To
the extent required by applicable RAM laws, the authorized users perform some of the functions described above. For example, in states where an authorized user
must perform an interpretation to satisfy RAM licensing laws, an authorized user does so. The physician customer reimburses the authorized user for doing so and
also performs his or her own interpretation.

        We believe that we have structured our operations so that they comply with applicable RAM laws in the jurisdictions in which we operate, and that the
manner in which we comply with these laws is also consistent with applicable Medicare requirements. However, we cannot rule out the possibility that the
government or other third parties could interpret these laws differently and assert otherwise.
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Medical Device Regulation

        Our products are medical devices subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory bodies. FDA regulations govern, among other things, the
following activities that we or our partners perform and will continue to perform:

• product design and development; 

• product testing; 

• product manufacturing; 

• product labeling; 

• product storage; 

• recordkeeping; 

• premarket clearance or approval; 

• advertising and promotion; and 

• product sales and distribution.

        Unless an exemption applies, each medical device we wish to commercially distribute in the United States will require either prior 510(k) clearance or prior
premarket approval, or PMA, from the FDA. The FDA classifies medical devices into one of three classes, depending on the degree of risk associated with each
medical device and the extent of control needed to ensure safety and effectiveness. Devices deemed to pose lower risk are placed in either class I or II, which
requires the manufacturer to submit to the FDA a premarket notification requesting permission for commercial distribution. This process is known as 510(k)
clearance. Some low-risk devices are exempted from this requirement. Devices deemed by the FDA to pose the greatest risk, such as life-sustaining, life-
supporting or implantable devices, or a device deemed not substantially equivalent to a previously cleared 510(k) device, are placed in class III. In general, a
class III device cannot be marketed in the United States unless the approves the device after submission of a PMA.

510(k) Clearance Pathway

        When we are required to obtain a 510(k) clearance for a device which we wish to market, we must submit a premarket notification to FDA demonstrating
that the device is substantially equivalent to a previously cleared 510(k) device or a device that was in commercial distribution before May 28, 1976 for which the
FDA has not yet called for the submission of PMA applications. By regulation, the FDA is required to respond to a 510(k) premarket notification within 90 days
of submission of the notification. As a practical matter, clearance can take significantly longer. If FDA determines that the device, or its intended use, is not
substantially equivalent to a previously-cleared device or use, the FDA will place the device, or the particular use of the device, into class III.

        After a device receives 510(k) clearance, any modification that could significantly affect its safety or effectiveness, or that would constitute a major change
in its intended use, design or manufacture, will require a new 510(k) clearance or could require a PMA. The FDA requires each manufacturer to make this
determination initially, but the FDA can review any such decision and can disagree with a manufacturer's determination. If the FDA disagrees with a
manufacturer's determination that a new clearance or approval is not required for a particular modification, the FDA can require the manufacturer to cease
marketing and/or recall the modified device until 510(k) clearance or PMA is obtained. If the FDA requires us to seek 510(k) clearance or PMA for any
modifications to a previously cleared product, we may be required to cease marketing or recall the modified device until we obtain this clearance or approval.
Also, in these circumstances, we may be subject to significant regulatory fines or penalties. We
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have made and plan to continue to make additional product enhancements to our gamma cameras that we believe do not require new 510(k) clearances.

Premarket Approval Pathway

        A PMA application must be submitted if the device cannot be cleared through the 510(k) process. The PMA process is much more demanding than the
510(k) premarket notification process. A PMA application must be supported by extensive data including, but not limited to, technical, preclinical, clinical trials,
manufacturing and labeling to demonstrate to the FDA's satisfaction the safety and effectiveness of the device.

        After a PMA application is complete, the FDA begins an in-depth review of the submitted information. The FDA, by statute and regulation, has 180 days to
review an accepted PMA application, although the review generally occurs over a significantly longer period of time, and can take up to several years. During this
review period, the FDA may request additional information or clarification of information already provided. Also during the review period, an advisory panel of
experts from outside the FDA may be convened to review and evaluate the application and provide recommendations to the FDA as to the approvability of the
device. In addition, the FDA will conduct a preapproval inspection of the manufacturing facility to ensure compliance with the Quality System Regulation. New
PMA applications or PMA application supplements are required for significant modifications to the manufacturing process, labeling and design of a device that is
approved through the PMA process. PMA supplements often require submission of the same type of information as a PMA application, except that the
supplement is limited to information needed to support any changes from the device covered by the original PMA application, and may not require as extensive
clinical data or the convening of an advisory panel.

Clinical Trials

        A clinical trial is almost always required to support a PMA application and is sometimes required for a 510(k) premarket notification. These trials generally
require submission of an application for an investigational device exemption to the FDA. The investigational device exemption application must be supported by
appropriate data, such as animal and laboratory testing results, showing that it is safe to test the device in humans and that the testing protocol is scientifically
sound. The investigational device exemption application must be approved in advance by the FDA for a specified number of patients, unless the product is
deemed a non-significant risk device and eligible for more abbreviated investigational device exemption requirements. Clinical trials for a significant risk device
may begin once the investigational device exemption application is approved by the FDA and the appropriate institutional review boards at the clinical trial sites.
Our clinical trials must be conducted in accordance with FDA regulations. The results of clinical testing may not be sufficient to obtain approval of the product.

Pervasive and Continuing FDA Regulation

        After a device is placed on the market, numerous regulatory requirements apply. These include:

• Quality System Regulation, which requires manufacturers to follow design, testing, control, documentation and other quality assurance procedures
during the manufacturing process; 

• labeling regulations, which prohibit the promotion of products for unapproved or "off-label" uses and impose other restrictions on labeling; and 

• medical device reporting, regulations, which require that manufacturers report to the FDA if their device may have caused or contributed to a
death or serious injury or malfunctioned in a way that would likely cause or contribute to a death or serious injury if it were to recur.
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        Failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements can result in enforcement action by the FDA, which may include any of the following sanctions:

• fines, injunctions, and civil penalties; 

• recall or seizure of our products; 

• operating restrictions, partial suspension or total shutdown of production; 

• refusing our request for 510(k) clearance or PMA of new products; 

• withdrawing 510(k) clearance or PMAs that are already granted; and 

• criminal prosecution.

        We are subject to unannounced inspections by the FDA and the Food and Drug Branch of the California Department of Health Services, and these
inspections may include the manufacturing facilities of our subcontractors.

International

        International sales of medical devices are subject to foreign government regulations, which vary substantially from country to country. The time required to
obtain approval by a foreign country may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA approval, and the requirements may differ.

        The primary regulatory environment in Europe is that of the European Union, which consists of 15 countries encompassing most of the major countries in
Europe. Other countries, such as Switzerland, have voluntarily adopted laws and regulations that mirror those of the European Union with respect to medical
devices. The European Union has adopted numerous directives and standards regulating the design, manufacture, clinical trials, labeling, and adverse event
reporting for medical devices. Devices that comply with the requirements of a relevant directive will be entitled to bear CE conformity marking, indicating that
the device conforms with the essential requirements of the applicable directives and, accordingly, can be commercially distributed throughout Europe. CE is an
abbreviation for European Compliance. The method of assessing conformity varies depending on the class of the product, but normally involves a combination of
self-assessment by the manufacturer and a third-party assessment by a "Notified Body." This third-party assessment may consist of an audit of the manufacturer's
quality system and specific testing of the manufacturer's product. An assessment by a Notified Body in one country within the European Union is required in
order for a manufacturer to commercially distribute the product throughout the European Union. In 2001, we were certified by TUV Product Service, a Notified
Body, under the European Union Medical Device Directive allowing the CE conformity marking to be applied.

        Our current products are approved for market release by the FDA. We also received regulatory approval from the Japanese Ministry of Health in
October 2000, which is similar to our FDA Establishment Registration. The Canadian Standards Association has approved our 2020tc/SPECTour chair for the
CSA labeling in February 2002. In March 2003, we received GOST certification, the quality and safety certification system administered by the Russian
committee, Gosstandart, to distribute the 2020tc/SPECTour chair in Russia.

Employees

        As of March 31, 2004, we had 316 employees, of which 150 were employed in clinical and regulatory, 75 in operations, 40 in general and administrative, 34
in sales and marketing and 17 in research and development. We had 180 employees in our DIS subsidiary. None of our employees is represented by a labor union.
We have not experienced any work stoppages and consider our employee relations to be good. We are, however, aware of a claim by one former employee and
three current employees that they are due unpaid overtime because of an alleged misclassification of their positions as exempt rather than non-
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exempt employees. For a further discussion, see "Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property and Potential Litigation—We may be subject to
lawsuits and actions brought by our employees."

Facilities

        Our operations are headquartered in an approximately 70,000 square foot facility in Poway, California that is leased to us until February 2010. We believe
that our existing facility is adequate for our current needs.

Legal Proceedings

        We are currently not a party to any material legal proceedings.
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MANAGEMENT 

Executive Officers, Key Employees and Directors

        The following table sets forth certain information regarding our executive officers, key employees and directors:

Name

 

Age

 

Position(s)

David M. Sheehan  41 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Todd P. Clyde  35 Chief Financial Officer
Vera P. Pardee  47 Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Diana M. Bowden  42 Vice President of Marketing
Herbert J. Bellucci  54 Senior Vice President of Operations
Paul J. Early  68 Vice President and Corporate Radiation Safety Officer
Richard L. Conwell  53 Vice President, Advanced Research and Development and Business Development
Martin B. Shirley  41 Regional Vice President of Sales, East
Stephen L. Bollinger  44 Regional Vice President of Sales, West
Timothy J. Wollaeger(1)(3)  60 Chairman of the Board of Directors
Raymond V. Dittamore(2)(3)  61 Director
Robert M. Jaffe  52 Director
R. King Nelson(1)(2)  47 Director
Kenneth E. Olson(2)(3)  67 Director
Douglas Reed, M.D.  50 Director

(1) Member of the compensation committee 

(2) Member of audit committee 

(3) Member of the nominating and corporate governance committee

        David M. Sheehan has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer since March 2002 and as a member of our board of directors since July 2002.
Mr. Sheehan joined us in September 2000 as President of Digirad Imaging Solutions, Inc., our wholly owned subsidiary. From May 1999 to September 2000,
Mr. Sheehan served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Rapidcare.com, an e-health company. From May 1997 to May 1999, he served as Vice
President of Sales, Marketing, and Business Development of a division at Baxter International, Inc. that provided cardiopulmonary products and services to
hospitals. Prior to this, he held operations, sales and marketing positions at Haemonetics Corporation, a supplier of blood processing equipment and services.
Mr. Sheehan received his B.S. in mechanical engineering from Worcester Polytechnic Institute and his M.B.A. from the Tuck School of Business at Dartmouth
College.

        Todd P. Clyde has served as our Chief Financial Officer since November 2002. From January 2002 to November 2002, Mr. Clyde was Chief Financial
Officer at Del Mar Database, Inc., a software company developing products for the mortgage lending industry. From March 2000 to October 2001, Mr. Clyde was
Vice President and Controller at Verance Corporation, a digital information tracking and security company. From October 1997 to March 2000, Mr. Clyde was
Vice President and Division Controller at I-Bus/Phoenix, a division of Maxwell Technologies, Inc. which is a manufacturer of customized industrial computing.
Prior to this, he was a senior auditor at Ernst & Young, LLP, an international public accounting firm. Mr. Clyde received his B.S. in accounting and his Masters of
Accountancy from Brigham Young University. Mr. Clyde is a Certified Public Accountant.

        Vera P. Pardee has served as our Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary since April 2003. From July 2000 to February 2002, Ms. Pardee served as
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of Nanogen, Inc., a biotechnology company developing molecular diagnostic tests for the clinical research and
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diagnostics markets. From January 1988 to June 2001, Ms. Pardee was in private practice as a partner and associate at Seltzer Caplan Vitek McMahon and from
1983 to 1987 as an associate at O'Melveny & Myers, LLP. Ms. Pardee received her J.D. from Southwestern University School of Law.

        Diana M. Bowden has served as our Vice President of Marketing since September 2002. From June 2001 to August 2002, Ms. Bowden served as Director of
Marketing with our wholly-owned subsidiary, Digirad Imaging Solutions. From August 2000 to June 2001, Ms. Bowden served as Director of Marketing at
Keylime Software, Inc., a web analytics company. From May 1998 to May 2000, she served as Director of Sales and Marketing at Ultra Acquisition Corporation,
an e-commerce and manufacturing company. From June 1994 to May 1998, Ms. Bowden served as Vice President, Sales and Marketing at RadNet, a radiology
service provider. Prior to this she served in various product management and sales management positions at Quest Diagnostics Incorporated, a large medical
reference laboratory, and in sales and marketing positions at Iolab, a former Johnson & Johnson pharmaceutical company. She received her B.A. in biological
sciences from U.C. Santa Barbara and her M.B.A. in marketing from the Peter Drucker Graduate School of Management of the Claremont Graduate University.

        Herbert J. Bellucci has served as our Senior Vice President, Operations since May 2003. From April 1994 to April 2003, Mr. Bellucci was Vice President of
Manufacturing at Omnicell, a company that manufactures electromechanical dispensing systems for drugs and hospital supplies. Prior to this, he was Senior Vice
President of Operations at Laserscope, a manufacturer of minimally invasive surgical devices, Vice President of Operations at Vidamed, a medical device
company, and Manufacturing Manager at Spectra-Physics, a division of Thermo Electric Corporation which is a supplier of laser technology. Mr. Bellucci
received his B.S. in engineering from Brown University and his M.B.A. from Stanford University.

        Paul J. Early has served as our Vice President and Corporate Radiation Safety Officer since March 2001. Prior to joining us, Mr. Early was the President of
Associates at Medical Physics, the scientific journal of the American Association of Physicists in Medicine. Mr. Early is the author of multiple books, including
the nuclear medicine textbook "Textbook of Nuclear Medicine Technology." Mr. Early is a Diplomate of the American Board of Medical Physics, the American
Board of Science in Nuclear Medicine and the American Board of Radiology. Mr. Early received his B.S. from St. Ambrose University and completed two years
of post-graduate studies at Creighton University.

        Richard L. Conwell has served as our Vice President of Advanced Research and Development and Business Development since August 2001. Prior to that,
he served as our Vice President of Marketing from January 2001 to August 2001, as Vice President of Research and Development and Marketing from
March 2000 to January 2001, and as Vice President of Research and Development from June 1996 to March 2000. Prior to joining us, Mr. Conwell was Vice
President of Thermo Gamma Metrics, a company which develops and markets on-line, high-speed process optimization systems for raw-materials analysis, where
he was responsible for the company's bulk material analyzer business. Mr. Conwell received his B.S. in physics and computer science from Ball State University.

        Martin B. Shirley has served as our Regional Vice President of Sales, East since July 2002.    Prior to that, Mr. Shirley served as a Regional Sales Director
for us from January 2001 to January 2002, and as a Territory Manager for us from January 2000 to January 2001. From March 1999 to December 1999, he was a
principal of IsoPoint, Inc., a software company, where he was responsible for sales and contracting. Prior to this, Mr. Shirley was Regional Sales Manager at
SMV America, Inc., a manufacturer of gamma cameras that was purchased by General Electric, and a Territory Manager for Dupont in their radiopharmaceutical
business. Prior to this, Mr. Shirley spent five years as a Certified Nuclear Technologist. Mr. Shirley received his A.S. in nuclear medicine technology from
Hillsborough Community College and his A.A. in liberal arts from Santa Fe Community College.

        Stephen L. Bollinger has served as our Regional Vice President of Sales, West since July 2002. From February 2002 to July 2002, Mr. Bollinger served as
our Western Regional Sales Director. From
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October 2000 to February 2002 Mr. Bollinger worked at Data Return Corporation, a company that provides managed website hosting services, as Western
Regional Sales Manager. From June 1986 to September 2000, Mr. Bollinger was a West Coast Regional Sales Manager for Kodak's medical imaging products
division. Mr. Bollinger received his B.S. from University of Phoenix and his M.B.A. from University of Colorado.

        Timothy J. Wollaeger has served as a member of our board of directors since April 1994 and as our Chairman since January 1996. Mr. Wollaeger has been
the Managing Director for the San Diego office of Sanderling Biomedical Venture Capital since April 2002. He is also a general partner of Kingsbury Associates,
L.P., a venture capital firm he founded in January 1994, which focuses on investments in the healthcare industry. From May 1990 to December 1993,
Mr. Wollaeger served as Senior Vice President and a director of Columbia Hospital Corporation, a hospital management company now known as HCA Healthcare
Corporation. From October 1986 until July 1993, Mr. Wollaeger was a general partner of Biovest Partners, a seed venture capital firm. He is Chairman of the
board of directors of Biosite Incorporated and a founder and director of several privately held medical products companies. Mr. Wollaeger received his B.A. in
economics from Yale University and his M.B.A. from the Stanford University Graduate School of Business.

        Raymond V. Dittamore has served as a member of our board of directors since March 2004. Mr. Dittamore is a retired audit partner of Ernst & Young, LLP,
an international public accounting firm. Mr. Dittamore retired after 35 years of service, including 14 years as the managing partner of the firm's San Diego office.
Mr. Dittamore is a director of Qualcomm Incorporated, Invitrogen Corporation and Gen-Probe Incorporated. Mr. Dittamore received his B.S. from San Diego
State University.

        Robert M. Jaffe has served as a member of our board of directors since June 2002. He is a founder and investment officer of Sorrento Associates. Prior to
founding Sorrento Associates in 1985, he was an investment banker at Merrill Lynch Capital Markets. Prior to this, he was an investment banker at Salomon
Brothers, Inc. and Goldman, Sachs & Co. He was also a member of the technical staff at Hughes Aircraft Company and a consultant at McKinsey & Co. Mr. Jaffe
received his M.B.A. from the Harvard Business School where he was a Baker Scholar and the recipient of The Loeb Rhoades Fellowship. He received his M.S. in
electrical engineering from the California Institute of Technology, and his B.S. in electrical engineering and computer science from the University of California at
Berkeley.

        R. King Nelson has served as a member of our board of directors since March 2004 and previously served as a director from May 2000 to April 2002. From
May 1999 to December 2003, Mr. Nelson served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of VenPro Corporation, a medical device company that develops
bioprosthetic implants for venous vascular and cardiovascular medicine. From January 1980 to December 1998, Mr. Nelson held various executive positions at
Baxter Healthcare Corporation, most recently as President of the perfusion service business. Mr. Nelson received his B.S. from Texas Tech University and his
M.B.A. in international business from the University of Miami.

        Kenneth E. Olson has served as a member of our board of directors since March 1996. From June 1984 to June 1998, he served as Chairman, and from
December 1990 to February 1996 and from March 1997 to June 1998, he served as Chief Executive Officer, at Proxima Corporation, a supplier of digital imaging
systems. From 1971 to 1987, he was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Topaz, Inc., a designer and manufacturer of computer peripherals. Mr. Olson also
serves on the board of directors for Avanir Pharmaceuticals and WD-40 Company. He studied electrical engineering at UCLA and received his M.B.A. from
Pepperdine University.

        Douglas Reed, M.D. has served as a member of our board of directors since August 2000. He has been a Managing Director of Vector Fund Management, a
venture capital firm which focuses on investments in the life sciences and healthcare industry since June 2000. From October 1998 to January 2000, Dr. Reed
served as Vice President of Business Development for GelTex Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a company that develops and markets non-absorbed polymer drugs. From
April 1996 to September 1998, Dr. Reed served

73



as Vice President of Business Development at NPS Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a company which develops small molecule drugs and recombinant peptides. Prior to
this, Dr. Reed served as Vice President at S.R. One, Limited, a venture capital fund focused on investments in biopharmaceuticals and the life sciences. Dr. Reed
is board certified as a neuroradiologist and has held faculty positions at the University of Washington and Yale University in the department of radiology.
Dr. Reed received his B.A. in biology and M.D. from the University of Missouri—Kansas City, and his M.B.A. from the Wharton School at the University of
Pennsylvania.

Board Composition

        Our board of directors currently consists of seven directors, each of whom has been elected to serve a one year term. Our directors hold office until their
successors have been elected and qualified or until their earlier death, resignation, disqualification or removal for cause by the affirmative vote of the holders of a
majority of the outstanding stock entitled to vote on election of directors.

Board Committees

        Our board of directors has an audit committee, a compensation committee and a corporate governance and nominating committee.

Audit Committee

        Our audit committee oversees our corporate accounting and financial reporting process. The audit committee consists of Mr. Dittamore, Mr. Nelson and
Mr. Olson, each of whom is an independent member of our board of directors as defined by applicable Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, rules and
the Nasdaq National Market listing standards. The functions of this committee include, among other things:

• meeting with our management periodically to consider the adequacy of our internal controls and the objectivity of our financial reporting; 

• meeting with our independent auditors and with internal financial personnel regarding these matters; 

• recommending to our board of directors the engagement of our independent auditors; 

• reviewing our audited financial statements and reports and discussing the statements and reports with our management, including any significant
adjustments, management judgments and estimates, new accounting policies and disagreements with management; and 

• reviewing our financial plans and reporting recommendations to our full board for approval and to authorize action.

Both our independent auditors and internal financial personnel regularly meet privately with our audit committee and have unrestricted access to this committee.

Compensation Committee

        Our compensation committee consists of Mr. Nelson and Mr. Wollaeger, each of whom is a non-management member of our board of directors. The
functions of this committee include, among other things:

• reviewing and, as it deems appropriate, recommending to our board of directors, policies, practices and procedures relating to the compensation of
our directors, officers and other managerial employees and the establishment and administration of our employee benefit plans; 

• exercising authority under our employee benefit plans; and
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• advising and consulting with our officers regarding managerial personnel and development.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

        Our nominating and corporate governance committee currently consists of Mr. Dittamore, Mr. Olson and Mr. Wollaeger, each of whom is a non-management
member of our board of directors. The functions of this committee include, among other things:

• reviewing and recommending nominees for election as directors; 

• assessing the performance of the board of directors; 

• developing guidelines for board composition; and 

• reviewing and administering our corporate governance guidelines and considering other issues relating to corporate governance.

        We currently pay our directors $4,000 for attending in-person board meetings and $500 for attending board meetings telephonically. In addition, we also
currently pay our directors $1,000 for attending in-person committee meetings and $500 for attending telephonic committee meetings. In addition, directors are
reimbursed for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in connection with attending meetings of our board of directors and committees of the board of directors. In
2003, none of our non-employee directors were granted options to purchase our common stock.

        Effective upon the completion of this offering, we will adopt our 2004 Non-Employee Directors' Stock Option Program to provide for the automatic grant of
options to purchase                         shares of common stock to non-employee directors who join the board of directors after the completion of this offering, and
annual grants of                        shares of our common stock to each of our non-employee directors. In addition, all of our directors are eligible to participate in our
2004 Equity Incentive Award Plan. For a more detailed description of these plans, see "Benefit Plans."

Compensation Committee Interlocks And Insider Participation

        Except for Mr. Wollaeger's unpaid service to us as Chief Executive Officer during part of May 1999, no member of our compensation committee has ever
been an officer or employee of ours. None of our executive officers currently serve, or has served during the last completed fiscal year, on the compensation
committee or board of directors of any other entity that has one or more executive officers serving as a member of our board of directors or compensation
committee.
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Executive Compensation

        The following table provides information regarding the compensation earned during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 by our Chief Executive Officer
and our other four most highly compensated executive officers. We refer to our Chief Executive Officer and these other executive officers as our "named
executive officers" in this prospectus.

Summary Compensation Table

     
 

Long-Term
Compensation   

 

 

Annual Compensation   

Name and Principal Position

 

Securities
Underlying
Options(#)

 

Other
Compensation(2)

 

Salary

 

Bonus(1)

David M. Sheehan
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

 $ 216,538 $ 37,500 — —

Todd P. Clyde
Chief Financial Officer

  170,000  22,000 — —

Diana M. Bowden
Vice President of Marketing

  134,251  12,000 — —

Martin B. Shirley
Regional Vice President of Sales, East

  203,867  — — —

Stephen L. Bollinger
Regional Vice President of Sales, West

  184,287  — — —

(1) These amounts represent bonuses earned during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003. Annual bonuses earned during a fiscal year are paid in the first
quarter of the subsequent fiscal year. 

(2) In accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the other annual compensation described in this table does not include various
perquisites and other personal benefits received by a named executive officer that do not exceed the lesser of $50,000 or 10% of such officer's salary and
bonus disclosed in this table.

Stock Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year

        During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, we granted stock options to purchase 999,631 shares of our common stock under our 1998 Stock
Option/Stock Issuance Plan, including grants to executive officers. No grants of stock options were made to any of the named executive officers during 2003. All
options were granted at the fair market value of our common stock as determined by our board of directors or compensation committee, as applicable, on the date
of grant. Generally, 25% of the shares subject to options vest one year from the date of hire and the remainder of the shares vest in equal daily installments over
the three years thereafter. Options expire ten years from the date of grant.

Aggregated Option Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and Fiscal Year End Option Values

        The following table sets forth the number of shares of common stock subject to exercisable and unexercisable stock options held as of December 31, 2003 by
each of the named executive officers. The value of unexercised in-the-money options at December 31, 2003 is calculated based on an assumed initial public
offering price of $            per share of our common stock, which is the midpoint of the range listed on the cover of this prospectus, less the per share exercise
price, multiplied by the number of shares issued upon exercise of the options, without taking into account any taxes that may be payable in connection with the
option exercise. Options shown as exercisable in the table below are immediately exercisable, but we
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have the right to purchase the shares of unvested common stock underlying some of these options upon termination of the holder's employment with us.

     

 

Number of Securities
Underlying

Unexercised Options at
December 31, 2003

    
     

 

Value of Unexercised
In-the-Money Options at

December 31, 2003

Name

 

Shares
Acquired on

Exercise

 

Value
Realized

 

Exercisable

 

Unexercisable

 

Exercisable

 

Unexercisable

David M. Sheehan  — — 1,456,665 —    
Todd M. Clyde  — — 325,000 —    
Diana M. Bowden  — — 72,544 —    
Martin B. Shirley  — — 121,420 —    
Stephen L. Bollinger  — — 82,943 —    

Benefit Plans

1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan

        Our 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, or the 1995 Plan, was approved by our board of directors and stockholders in December 1995. As of March 31,
2004, there were a total of 9,525 shares of common stock reserved for issuance under our 1995 Plan, subject to adjustment for any future stock split, or any future
stock dividend or other similar change in our common stock or our capital structure. As of March 31, 2004, options to purchase 1,984 shares of our common
stock had been exercised, options to purchase 2,294 shares of our common stock were outstanding and 5,247 shares of our common stock remained available for
grant. As of March 31, 2004, the outstanding options were exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of approximately $112.62 per share. The foregoing
share numbers reflect a 1-for-200 reverse split of our capital stock effected in October 2002. After the consummation of this offering, no additional options will be
granted under our 1995 Plan.

        Awards under our 1995 Plan may consist of incentive stock options, which are stock options that qualify under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code,
nonstatutory stock options and direct issuances of common stock.

        Under our 1995 Plan, our board of directors may grant incentive stock options to employees, including officers and employee directors. Nonstatutory stock
options and stock issuances may be granted to employees, directors, and consultants. Our board of directors or a committee designated by our board, referred to
as the plan administrator, administers our 1995 Plan, including selecting the award recipients, determining the number of shares to be subject to each award,
determining the exercise or purchase price of each award and determining the vesting and exercise periods of each award. The exercise price of all incentive stock
options granted under our 1995 Plan must be at least equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. The exercise price of all
nonstatutory stock options granted under our 1995 Plan shall be determined by the plan administrator, but in no event may be less than 90% of the fair market
value on the date of grant. With respect to any participant who owns stock possessing more than 10% of the voting power of all our classes of stock or the stock
of any parent or subsidiary of us, the exercise price of any incentive stock option must equal at least 110% of the fair market value on the grant date. The
maximum term of an incentive stock option or nonstatutory stock option must not exceed ten years. The purchase price per share for direct stock issuances must
be not less than 90% of the fair market value on the date of issuance.

        Under our 1995 Plan, options may not be assigned or transferred in any manner other than by will or by the laws of descent or distribution and may be
exercised during the lifetime of the participant only by the participant.
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        If an optionee's status as an employee, director or consultant terminates for any reason other than death or disability, the optionee may exercise their vested
options within the three month period following the termination. In the event the optionee dies while the optionee is an employee, director or consultant of our
company, the options vested as of the date of death may be exercised prior to the earlier of their expiration date or 12 months from the date of the optionee's
death. In the event the optionee becomes disabled while the optionee is an employee, director or consultant of our company, the options vested as of the date of
disability may be exercised prior to the earlier of their expiration date or 12 months from the date of the optionee's disability.

        The plan administrator has discretion to provide for acceleration of vesting in connection with a corporate transaction.

        Our 1995 Plan will terminate automatically in 2005 unless terminated earlier by our board of directors. Our board of directors also has the authority to
amend our 1995 Plan. However, no action may be taken which will adversely affect any option previously granted under our 1995 Plan, without the optionee's
consent. To the extent necessary to comply with applicable provisions of federal securities laws, state corporate and securities laws, the Internal Revenue Code,
the rules of any applicable stock exchange or national market system, and the rules of any non-U.S. jurisdiction applicable to awards granted to residents therein,
we shall obtain stockholder approval of any such amendment to our 1995 Plan in such a manner and to such a degree as required.

1997 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan

        Our 1997 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, or the 1997 Plan, was approved by our board of directors in September 1997 and by our stockholders in
October 1997. As of March 31, 2004, there were a total of 4,146 shares of common stock reserved for issuance under our 1997 Plan, subject to adjustment for a
stock split, or any future stock dividend or other similar change in our common stock or our capital structure. As of March 31, 2004, options to purchase 678
shares of common stock had been exercised, options to purchase 415 shares of common stock were outstanding and 3,055 shares of common stock remained
available for grant. As of March 31, 2004, the outstanding options were exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of approximately $50.19 per share. All
capital stock and option share numbers reflect a 1-for-200 reverse split of our capital stock effected in October 2002 and a 1-for-    reverse split of our capital
stock to be effected prior to completion of the offering. After the consummation of this offering, no additional options will be granted under our 1997 Plan.

        Awards under our 1997 Plan may consist of incentive stock options, which are stock options that qualify under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code,
nonstatutory stock options and direct issuances of common stock.

        Under our 1997 Plan, our board may grant incentive stock options to employees, including officers and employee directors. Nonstatutory stock options and
stock issuances may be granted to employees, directors, and consultants. The board of directors or a committee designated by the board, referred to as the plan
administrator, administers our 1997 Plan, including selecting the award recipients, determining the number of shares to be subject to each award, determining the
exercise or purchase price of each award and determining the vesting and exercise periods of each award. The exercise price of all incentive stock options granted
under our 1997 Plan must be at least equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. The exercise price of all nonstatutory stock options
granted under our 1997 Plan must be determined by the plan administrator, but in no event may be less than 85% of the fair market value on the date of grant.
With respect to any participant who owns stock possessing more than 10% of the voting power of all our classes of stock or the stock of any parent or subsidiary
of us, the exercise price of any incentive stock option must equal at least 110% of the fair market value on the grant date. The maximum term of an incentive
stock option or nonstatutory stock option must not exceed ten years, provided, however, that the maximum term of any incentive stock option granted to
participant who owns
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stock possessing more than 10% of the voting power of all our classes of stock or the stock of any parent or subsidiary of us must not exceed five years. The
purchase price per share for direct stock issuances must be not less than 85% of the fair market value on the date of issuance.

        Under our 1997 Plan, options may not be assigned or transferred in any manner other than by will or by the laws of descent or distribution and may be
exercised during the lifetime of the participant only by the participant.

        If an optionee's status as an employee, director or consultant terminates for any reason other than death or disability, the optionee may exercise their vested
options within the three-month period following the termination. In the event the optionee dies while the optionee is an employee, director or consultant of our
company, the options vested as of the date of death may be exercised prior to the earlier of their expiration date or 12 months from the date of the optionee's
death. In the event the optionee becomes disabled while the optionee is an employee, director or consultant of our company, the options vested as of the date of
disability may be exercised prior to the earlier of their expiration date or 12 months from the date of the optionee's disability.

        In the event of a corporate transaction where the acquiror does not assume or replace options granted under our 1997 Plan, such outstanding options will
become fully vested and exercisable immediately prior to the consummation of the corporate transaction. In the event of a corporate transaction in which the
acquiror assumes or replaces options granted under our 1997 Plan, options issued under our 1997 Plan will not be subject to accelerated vesting. However,
assumed or replaced options will automatically become fully vested and exercisable if the optionee's service is terminated by reason of an involuntary termination
within 24 months of the occurrence of a corporate transaction.

        Under our 1997 Plan, a corporate transaction is generally defined as:

• a merger or consolidation in which securities possessing more than 50% of the total combined voting power of the company's outstanding
securities are transferred to a person or persons different from the persons holding those securities immediately prior to such transaction; or 

• the sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the company.

        Our 1997 Plan will terminate automatically in 2007 unless terminated earlier by our board of directors. The board of directors also has the authority to
amend our 1997 Plan. However, no action may be taken which will adversely affect any option previously granted under our 1997 Plan, without the optionee's
consent. To the extent necessary to comply with applicable provisions of federal securities laws, state corporate and securities laws, the Internal Revenue Code,
the rules of any applicable stock exchange or national market system, and the rules of any non-U.S. jurisdiction applicable to awards granted to residents therein,
we shall obtain stockholder approval of any such amendment to our 1997 Plan in such a manner and to such a degree as required.

1998 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan

        Our 1998 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, or the 1998 Plan, was approved by our board of directors in December 1998 and by our stockholders in
November 1999. As of March 31, 2004, there were a total of 5,876,153 shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the 1998 Plan, subject to adjustment
for any future stock split, or any future stock dividend or other similar change in our common stock or our capital structure. As of March 31, 2004, options to
purchase 146,138 shares of common stock had been exercised, options to purchase 5,532,675 shares of common stock were outstanding and 197,759 shares of
common stock remained available for grant. As of March 31, 2004, the outstanding options were exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of
approximately $0.64 per share. All capital stock and option share numbers reflect a 1-for-200 reverse split of our capital stock effected in October 2002 and a 1-
for-    reverse split of our capital stock to be effected prior to completion of the offering.

79



        After the completion of this offering, no additional options will be granted under our 1998 Plan and all options granted under our 1998 Plan that expire
without having been exercised or are cancelled will become available for grant under our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan.

        Awards under our 1998 Plan may consist of incentive stock options, which are stock options that qualify under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code,
nonstatutory stock options and direct issuances of common stock.

        Under the 1998 Plan, our board may grant incentive stock options to employees, including officers and employee directors. Nonstatutory stock options and
stock issuances may be granted to employees, directors, and consultants. Our board of directors or a committee designated by the board, referred to as the plan
administrator, administers our 1998 Plan, including selecting the award recipients, determining the number of shares to be subject to each award, determining the
exercise or purchase price of each award and determining the vesting and exercise periods of each award. The exercise price of all incentive stock options granted
under our 1998 Plan must be at least equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. The exercise price of all nonstatutory stock options
granted under our 1998 Plan must be determined by the plan administrator, but in no event may be less than 85% of the fair market value on the date of grant.
With respect to any participant who owns stock possessing more than 10% of the voting power of all our classes of stock or the stock of any parent or subsidiary
of us, the exercise price of any incentive stock option must equal at least 110% of the fair market value on the grant date. The maximum term of an incentive
stock option or nonstatutory stock option must not exceed ten years, provided, however, that the maximum term of any incentive stock option granted to
participant who owns stock possessing more than 10% of the voting power of all our classes of stock or the stock of any parent or subsidiary of us must not
exceed five years. The purchase price per share for direct stock issuances must be not less than 85% of the fair market value on the date of issuance.

        Under our 1998 Plan, options may not be assigned or transferred in any manner other than by will or by the laws of descent or distribution and may be
exercised during the lifetime of the participant only by the participant.

        If an optionee's status as an employee, director or consultant terminates for any reason other than death or disability, the optionee may exercise their vested
options within the three-month period following the termination. In the event the optionee dies while the optionee is an employee, director or consultant of our
company, the options vested as of the date of death may be exercised prior to the earlier of their expiration date or 12 months from the date of the optionee's
death. In the event the optionee becomes disabled while the optionee is an employee, director or consultant of our company, the options vested as of the date of
disability may be exercised prior to the earlier of their expiration date or 12 months from the date of the optionee's disability.

        In the event of a corporate transaction where the acquiror does not assume or replace options granted under our 1998 Plan, such outstanding options will
become fully vested and exercisable immediately prior to the consummation of the corporate transaction. In the event of a corporate transaction in which the
acquiror assumes or replaces options granted under our 1998 Plan, options issued under our 1998 Plan will not be subject to accelerated vesting. However,
assumed or replaced options will automatically become fully vested and exercisable if the optionee's service is terminated by reason of an involuntary termination
within 24 months of the occurence of a corporate transaction.

        Under our 1998 Plan, a corporate transaction is generally defined as:

• a merger or consolidation in which securities possessing more than 50% of the total combined voting power of the company's outstanding
securities are transferred to a person or persons different from the persons holding those securities immediately prior to such transaction; or 

• the sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the company.
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        Our 1998 Plan will terminate automatically in 2008 unless terminated earlier by our board of directors. Our board of directors also has the authority to
amend our 1998 Plan. However, no action may be taken which will adversely affect any option previously granted under our 1998 Plan, without the optionee's
consent. To the extent necessary to comply with applicable provisions of federal securities laws, state corporate and securities laws, the Internal Revenue Code,
the rules of any applicable stock exchange or national market system, and the rules of any non-U.S. jurisdiction applicable to awards granted to residents therein,
we will obtain stockholder approval of any such amendment to our 1998 Plan in such a manner and to such a degree as required.

2004 Stock Incentive Plan

        Our board of directors and our stockholders approved our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan in            2004. We have reserved            shares of our common stock
for issuance under our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, subject to adjustment for a stock split, or any future stock dividend or other similar change in our common
stock or our capital structure. The number of shares initially reserved under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan will be increased by any shares, up to a maximum
of                         shares, represented by awards under the 1998 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan that are forfeited, expire or are cancelled on or after the
effective date of the registration statement relating to this offering. No awards have yet been granted under our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan and
therefore            shares of common stock remain available for grant.

        Our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan provides for the grant of stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights and dividend
equivalent rights, collectively referred to as "awards." Stock options granted under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan may be either incentive stock options under the
provisions of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code, or non-qualified stock options. Incentive stock options may be granted only to employees. Awards other
than incentive stock options may be granted to employees, directors and consultants.

        Our board of directors or a committee designated by our board of directors, referred to as the "plan administrator," will administer our 2004 Stock Incentive
Plan, including selecting the optionees, determining the number of shares to be subject to each award, determining the exercise or purchase price of each award
and determining the vesting and exercise periods of each award.

        The exercise price of all incentive stock options granted under our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan must be at least equal to 100% of the fair market value of the
common stock on the date of grant. If, however, incentive stock options are granted to an employee who owns stock possessing more than 10% of the voting
power of all classes of our stock or the stock of any parent or subsidiary of us, the exercise price of any incentive stock option granted must equal at least 110% of
the fair market value on the grant date and the maximum term of these incentive stock options must not exceed five years from the date of grant. The maximum
term of an incentive stock option granted to any other participant must not exceed ten years from the date of grant. The plan administrator will determine the term
and exercise or purchase price of all other awards granted under our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan.

        Under our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, incentive stock options may not be sold, pledged, assigned, hypothecated, transferred or disposed of in any manner
other than by will or by the laws of descent or distribution and may be exercised during the lifetime of the participant only by the participant. Other awards will
be transferable by will or by the laws of descent or distribution and to the extent provided in the award agreement. Our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan permits the
designation of beneficiaries by holders of awards, including incentive stock options.

        In the event a participant in our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan terminates service or is terminated by us without cause, any options which have become
exercisable prior to the time of termination will remain exercisable for three months from the date of termination, unless a shorter or longer period of time is
determined by the plan administrator. In the event a participant in our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan is terminated by us for cause, the plan administrator has the
discretion to determine whether any options
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which have become exercisable prior to the time of termination will immediately terminate. If termination was caused by death or disability, any options which
have become exercisable prior to the time of termination will remain exercisable for 12 months from the date of termination, unless a shorter or longer period of
time is determined by the plan administrator. In no event may a participant exercise the option after the expiration date of the option.

        In the event of a corporate transaction where the acquiror assumes or replaces awards granted under our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, none of these awards
will be subject to accelerated vesting. However, assumed or replaced awards will automatically become fully vested if the grantee is terminated by the acquiror
without cause within 12 months after the occurrence of a corporate transaction. In the event of a corporate transaction where the acquiror does not assume or
replace awards granted under our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, all of these awards become fully vested immediately prior to the consummation of the corporate
transaction. Under our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, a corporate transaction is generally defined as:

• an acquisition of 40% or more of our stock by any individual or entity including by tender offer or a reverse merger; 

• a sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of our company; 

• a merger or consolidation in which our company is not the surviving entity; or 

• a complete liquidation or dissolution.

        Unless terminated sooner, our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan will automatically terminate in 2014. Our board of directors has the authority to amend or terminate
our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan. No amendment or termination of our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan will adversely affect any rights under awards already granted to a
participant unless agreed to by the affected participant. To the extent necessary to comply with applicable provisions of federal securities laws, state corporate and
securities laws, the Internal Revenue Code, the rules of any applicable stock exchange or national market system, and the rules of any non-U.S. jurisdiction
applicable to awards granted to residents therein, we will obtain stockholder approval of any such amendment to our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan in such a manner
and to such a degree as required.

2004 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Program

        Our 2004 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Program will be adopted as part of our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan and will be subject to the terms and
conditions of our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan. Our 2004 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Program was approved by our board of directors in            2004.
Our 2004 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Program will become effective as of the effective date of this prospectus, and no awards will be made under this
program until that time.

        The purpose of our 2004 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Program is to promote the success of our business by enhancing our ability to attract and
retain the best available non-employee directors and to provide them additional incentives.

        Our 2004 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Program will establish an automatic option grant program for the grant of awards to non-employee
directors. Under this program, each non-employee director first elected to our board of directors following the closing of this offering will automatically be
granted an option to acquire            shares of our common stock at an exercise price per share equal to the fair market value of our common stock at the date of
grant. These options will be fully vested and exercisable on the grant date. Upon the date of each annual stockholders' meeting, each non-employee director who
has been a member of our board of directors for at least six months prior to the date of the stockholders' meeting will receive an automatic grant of options to
acquire            shares of our common stock at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our common stock at the date of grant. These
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options will be fully vested and exercisable on the grant date. The term of each automatic option grant and the extent to which it will be transferable will be
provided in the agreement evidencing the option.

        Our 2004 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Program will be administered by the board or a committee designated by our board made up of two or more
non-employee directors so that such awards would be exempt from Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act, referred to as the "program administrator." The program
administrator will determine the terms and conditions of awards, and construe and interpret the terms of the program and awards granted under the program. Non-
employee directors may also be granted additional awards under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, subject to the discretion of the board or the committee.

        Unless terminated sooner, our 2004 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Program will terminate automatically in 2014 when our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan
terminates. Our board of directors has the authority to amend, suspend or terminate our 2004 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Program. No amendment or
termination of our 2004 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Program will adversely affect any rights under options already granted to a non-employee director
unless agreed to by the affected non-employee director. Our 2004 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Program was adopted by the board pursuant to its
discretionary authority under our 2004 Stock Incentive Plan to make option grants to non-employee directors. Accordingly, stockholder approval is not required
for the adoption or any amendment of our 2004 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Program.

Employment Arrangements and Change of Control Arrangements

        We have not entered into employment agreements with any of our executive officers.

        In June 2002, we entered into a letter agreement with David M. Sheehan, our President, Chief Executive Officer and director, whereby we agreed to pay him
cash bonuses in the amount of $25,000 on each of June 2002, October 2002 and January 2003 in connection with his service to us as an employee. We also agreed
to pay Mr. Sheehan a further cash bonus dependent upon our receipt of certain revenues and cashflow for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2002. In addition,
we agreed that in the event that at any time on or before June 2004 we were acquired or substantially all of our assets were sold, Mr. Sheehan and other members
of senior management would be entitled to receive an aggregate bonus in an amount not less than $400,000 and not greater than 10% of any proceeds received by
us in connection with such acquisition or sale in excess of $30,000,000. We also agreed to make a further grant of options to Mr. Sheehan to purchase shares of
our common stock pursuant to our 1998 Plan.

        We routinely grant our executive officers stock options under our stock incentive plans. For a description of the change of control provisions applicable to
such stock options, see "Management—Benefit Plans."

Limitation of Liability and Indemnification of Officers and Directors

        As permitted by Section 102 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, we have adopted provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and restated
bylaws that limit or eliminate the personal liability of our directors for a breach of their fiduciary duty of care as a director. The duty of care generally requires
that, when acting on behalf of the corporation, directors exercise an informed business judgment based on all material information reasonably available to them.
Consequently, a director will not be personally liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages or breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except for liability
for:

• any breach of the director's duty of loyalty to us or our stockholders; 

• any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;
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• any act related to unlawful stock repurchases, redemptions or other distributions or payment of dividends; or 

• any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

        These limitations of liability do not affect the availability of equitable remedies such as injunctive relief or rescission. Our restated certificate of
incorporation also authorizes us to indemnify our officers, directors and other agents to the fullest extent permitted under Delaware law.

        As permitted by Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our restated bylaws provide that:

• we may indemnify our directors, officers, and employees to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, subject to
limited exceptions; 

• we may advance expenses to our directors, officers and employees in connection with a legal proceeding to the fullest extent permitted by the
Delaware General Corporation Law, subject to limited exceptions; and 

• the rights provided in our restated bylaws are not exclusive.

        We have entered, and intend to continue to enter, into separate indemnification agreements with each of our directors and officers which may be broader than
the specific indemnification provisions contained in the Delaware General Corporation Law. These indemnification agreements require us, among other things, to
indemnify our officers and directors against liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors or officers, other than liabilities arising from
willful misconduct. These indemnification agreements also require us to advance any expenses incurred by the directors or officers as a result of any proceeding
against them as to which they could be indemnified.

        At present, we are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation or proceeding involving a director, officer, employee or agent in which indemnification
would be required or permitted. We are not aware of any threatened litigation or proceeding that might result in a claim for such indemnification.

        We have purchased a policy of directors' and officers' liability insurance that insures our directors and officers against the cost of defense, settlement or
payment of a judgment in some circumstances.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS 

        All share and per share amounts have been adjusted to give effect to a 1-for-200 reverse split of our capital stock effected in October 2002 and a 1-
for-      reverse split of our capital stock to be effected before the completion of this offering.

Issuances of Options

        From January 2001 to March 31, 2004, we granted options to purchase an aggregate of 3,272,617 shares of our common stock to our current directors and
executive officers, including each of our executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table, at an average weighted exercise price of $0.40.

Issuance of Common Stock

        In January 2002, David M, Sheehan, our President, Chief Executive Officer and a director, exercised an option to purchase 100 shares at an aggregate
exercise price of $10,000.

Issuances of Preferred Stock

        In January, March and April 2001, we issued and sold to investors 9,694 shares of our Series E preferred stock, at a purchase price of $607.20 per share, for
an aggregate purchase price of approximately $5.9 million. In April, May and June 2002, we issued and sold shares of our Series H preferred stock. As part of
that offering, we permitted any existing preferred stockholders that purchased their pro rata share of the Series H preferred stock to exchange their shares of
Series A, Series B, Series C, Series D, Series E or Series F preferred stock for shares of our Series G preferred stock. The exchange ratio was equal to the
liquidation value of such series divided by the Series G purchase price. In connection with the Series H offering, an aggregate of 9,611 shares of our Series E
preferred stock with an aggregate liquidation value of approximately $5.8 million were exchanged for shares of our Series G preferred stock at a price of $2.00
per share. As a result, each share of Series E preferred stock was exchanged for approximately 304 shares of Series G preferred stock. Upon completion of this
offering, the 5,447 shares of our Series E preferred stock outstanding as of March 31, 2004, including shares of Series E preferred stock issued prior to January
2001, will convert into 5,447 shares of our common stock.

        In August 2001, we issued and sold 13,092 shares of our Series F preferred stock, at a purchase price of $650.00 per share, for an aggregate purchase price
of approximately $8.5 million. In connection with the Series H offering, in April, May and June 2002, an aggregate of 12,322 of these shares of our Series F
preferred stock with an aggregate liquidation value of approximately $8.0 million were exchanged for shares of our Series G preferred stock at a price of
$2.00 per share. As a result, each share of Series F preferred stock was exchanged for 325 shares of Series G preferred stock. Upon completion of this offering,
the 770 shares of our Series F preferred stock outstanding as of March 31, 2004 will convert into 824 shares of our common stock.

        In April, May and June 2002, we issued and sold 31,008,401 shares of our Series G preferred stock, at a purchase price of $2.00 per share, in exchange for
the conversion of outstanding shares of our Series A, Series B, Series C, Series D, Series E and Series F preferred stock having an aggregate liquidation value of
approximately $62.0 million. Concurrently with such exchange, we issued and sold 12,561,706 shares of our Series H preferred stock, at a purchase price of
$1.39 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $17.5 million. Following the issuance of our Series G preferred stock, holders of 24,191 shares
of our Series G preferred stock elected to convert such shares into shares of our common stock. Upon completion of this offering, the 30,984,210 shares of our
Series G preferred stock outstanding as of March 31, 2004 will convert into 30,984,210 shares of our common stock, and the 12,561,706 shares of our Series H
preferred stock outstanding as of March 31, 2004 will convert into 12,561,706 shares of our common stock.
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        The purchasers of our Series E preferred stock, Series F preferred stock, Series G preferred stock and Series H preferred stock include, among others, the
following directors and holders of more than 5% of our outstanding stock:

  

Shares of Preferred Stock

Name

 

Series E(1)

 

Series F(2)

 

Series G(3)

 

Series H(4)

Entities affiliated with Kingsbury Associates(5)  625 923 4,788,417 980,348
Entities affiliated with Sorrento Associates(6)  — 385 3,870,246 1,220,217
Entities affiliated with Vector Fund Management(7)  — 769 6,117,483 1,284,533
Palivacinni Partners, LLC(8)  124 100 70,000 35,221
Entities affiliated with Merrill Lynch Ventures(9)  4,044 538 3,398,635 2,443,201
Kenneth E. Olson Trust dated March 16, 1989(10)  — 154 65,127 84,268
Linda K. Olson (11)  — — 30,001 4,498
GE Capital Equity Investments, Inc.(12)  — 4,615 1,498,159 1,435,545
Health Care Indemnity, Inc.  1,647 — 2,000,000 299,791
Entities affiliated with Sanderling Ventures(13)  — — — 2,158,702

(1) Each share of Series E preferred stock is convertible into one share of our common stock. 

(2) Each share of Series F preferred stock is convertible into approximately 1.07 shares of our common stock. 

(3) Each share of Series G preferred stock is convertible into one share of our common stock. 

(4) Each share of Series H preferred stock is convertible into one share of our common stock. 

(5) Includes (a) 320 shares of Series E preferred stock, 1,749,552 shares of Series G preferred stock (2,151 shares of which have been converted to common
stock) and 18,628 shares of Series H preferred stock held by Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P.; (b) 305 shares of Series E preferred stock and 1,740,460
shares of Series G preferred stock (2,140 shares of which have been converted to common stock) held by Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., II; (c) 277
shares of Series F preferred stock, 739,092 shares of Series G preferred stock (909 shares of which have been converted to common stock) and 332,533
shares of Series H preferred stock held by Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., III; and (d) 646 shares of Series F preferred stock, 559,313 shares of Series G
preferred stock (688 shares of which have been converted to common stock) and 629,187 shares of Series H preferred stock held by Kingsbury Capital
Partners, L.P., IV. Timothy J. Wollaeger, a member of our board of directors, is the general partner of Kingsbury Associates, L.P., which is the general
partner of each of Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., II, Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., III and Kingsbury Capital
Partners, L.P., IV. Mr. Wollaeger disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P.,
II, Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., III and Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., IV, except to the extent of his pecuniary interests in the named fund. As
general partner, Mr. Wollaeger has voting and investment power with respect to the shares held by Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., Kingsbury Capital
Partners, L.P., II, Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., III and Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., IV. 

(6) Includes (a) 1,298,864 shares of Series G preferred stock (1,597 shares of which have been converted to common stock) held by Sorrento Growth Partners
I, L.P.; (b) 533,416 shares of Series G preferred stock (656 shares of which have been converted to common stock) and 162,581 shares of Series H
preferred stock held by Sorrento Ventures II, L.P.; (c) 320 shares of Series F preferred stock, 1,692,933 shares of Series G preferred stock (2,082 shares of
which have been converted to common stock) and 862,067 shares of Series H preferred stock held by Sorrento Ventures III, L.P.; and (d) 65 shares of
Series F preferred stock, 345,033 shares of Series G preferred stock (425 shares of which have been converted to common stock) and 195,569 shares of
Series H preferred stock held by
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Sorrento Ventures CE, L.P. Robert M. Jaffe, a member of our board of directors, is president of (a) Sorrento Growth, Inc., which is the general partner of
Sorrento Equity Growth Partners I, L.P., which is the general partner of Sorrento Growth Partners I, L.P.; and (b) Sorrento Associates, Inc., which is the
general partner of (i) Sorrento Equity Partners, L.P., the general partner of Sorrento Ventures II, L.P., and (ii) Sorrento Equity Partners III, L.P., the general
partner of Sorrento Ventures III, L.P. and Sorrento Ventures CE, L.P. Mr. Jaffe disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by Sorrento Growth
Partners I, L.P., Sorrento Ventures II, L.P., Sorrento Ventures III, L.P. and Sorrento Ventures CE, L.P., except to the extent of his pecuniary interests in the
named fund. As president of Sorrento Growth, Inc. and Sorrento Associates, Inc., Mr. Jaffe may be deemed to have voting and investment power with
respect to the shares held by Sorrento Growth Partners I, L.P., Sorrento Ventures II, L.P., Sorrento Ventures III, L.P. and Sorrento Growth Partners CE,
L.P.

(7) Includes (a) 2,740,530 shares of Series G preferred stock (3,370 shares of which have been converted to common stock) and 508,697 shares of Series H
preferred stock held by Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund, L.P.; (b) 192 shares of Series F preferred stock, 844,239 shares of Series G preferred stock (1,038
shares of which have been converted to common stock) and 193,960 shares of Series H preferred stock held by Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II, L.P.;
and (c) 577 shares of Series F preferred stock, 2,532,714 shares of Series G preferred stock (3,114 shares of which have been converted to common stock)
and 581,876 shares of Series H preferred stock held by Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II (Q.P.), L.P. Douglas Reed, a member of our board of directors,
is a managing director of Vector Fund Management, L.P., which is the general partner of Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund, L.P., and Vector Fund
Management II, LLC, which is the general partner of each of Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II, L.P. and Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II (Q.P.), L.P.
Dr. Reed disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund, L.P., Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II, L.P. and Vector
Later-Stage Equity Fund II (Q.P.), L.P., except to the extent of his pecuniary interests in the named fund. Dr. Reed may be deemed to share voting and
investment power with respect to the shares held by Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund, L.P., Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II, L.P. and Vector Later-Stage
Equity Fund II (Q.P.), L.P. with the other managing directors and advisors of Vector Fund Management, L.P. and Vector Fund Management II, LLC. 

(8) Douglas Reed, a member of our board of directors, is a managing member of Palivacinni Partners, LLC. Dr. Reed disclaims beneficial ownership of the
shares held by Palivacinni Partners, LLC, except to the extent of his pecuniary interest and may be deemed to share investment and voting power over the
shares with the other managing members. 

(9) Includes (a) 4,044 shares of Series F preferred stock held by Merrill Lynch Ventures, LLC (and subsequently transferred to Merrill Lynch Ventures L.P.,
2001) and (b) 538 shares of Series F preferred stock, 3,398,635 shares of Series G preferred stock and 2,443,201 shares of Series H preferred stock held
by Merrill Lynch Ventures, L.P. 2001. 

(10) Kenneth E. Olson, a member of our board of directors, is the trustee of the Kenneth E. Olson Trust dated March 16, 1989. 

(11) Linda K. Olson is the spouse of Kenneth E. Olson, a member of our board of directors. 

(12) 1,842 shares of Series G preferred stock held by GE Capital Equity Investments, Inc. have been converted to common stock. 

(13) Includes (a) 1,492,158 shares of Series H preferred stock held by Sanderling Venture Partners V, L.P.; (b) 365,501 shares of Series H preferred stock held
by Sanderling V Biomedical, L.P.; (c) 147,876 shares of Series H preferred stock held by Sanderling V Limited Partnership; (d) 131,580 shares of
Series H preferred stock held by Sanderling V Beteiligungs GMBH & Co. KG; and (e) 21,587 shares of Series H preferred stock held by Sanderling V
Ventures Management. Timothy J. Wollaeger, a
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member of our board of directors, is a managing director of Middleton, McNeil & Mills Associates V, LLC, the general partner of Sanderling Venture
Partners V, L.P., Sanderling V Biomedical, L.P., Sanderling V Limited Partnership and Sanderling V Beteiligungs GMBH & Co. KG. Mr. Wollaeger is an
owner of Sanderling V Ventures Management. Mr. Wollaeger disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by Sanderling Venture Partners V, L.P.,
Sanderling V Biomedical, L.P., Sanderling V Limited Partnership, Sanderling V Beteiligungs GMBH & Co. KG and Sanderling V Ventures Management,
except to the extent of his pecuniary interests in the named fund. Mr. Wollaeger may be deemed to share voting and investment power with respect to the
shares held by Sanderling Venture Partners V, L.P., Sanderling V Biomedical, L.P., Sanderling V Limited Partnership and Sanderling V Beteiligungs
GMBH & Co. KG with the other managing directors of Middleton, McNeil & Mills Associates V, LLC. Mr. Wollaeger may be deemed to share voting
and investment power with respect to the shares held by Sanderling V Ventures Management with the other owners.

Sales of Promissory Notes and Warrants

        In January 2002, we borrowed an aggregate of approximately $1.9 million from existing stockholders and a new investor. We issued each lending party a
convertible promissory note in January 2002 bearing interest at 12% per annum. In addition, we issued and sold to these parties warrants to purchase 790 shares
of our common stock at an initial purchase price of $0.20 per underlying share of common stock, which amount was paid to us through a retention of the interest
that accrued on each investor's note. Aside and apart from this $0.20 per share purchase price, each warrant has an exercise price of $300.00 per share.

        In April 2002, each of the convertible promissory notes issued in January 2002 was satisfied in full by converting each note into shares of our Series H
preferred stock at a purchase price of $1.39.

        The purchasers of our convertible promissory notes and warrants to purchase our common stock include, among others, the following directors and holders
of more than 5% of our outstanding stock:

Name

 

Principal Amount
of Promissory Note

 

Shares of Series H
Preferred Stock

Issued Upon
Conversion of

Notes(1)

 

Shares of
Common Stock

Underlying
Warrants

Entities affiliated with Kingsbury Associates(2)  $ 1,025,000 737,410 420
Entities affiliated with Vector Fund Management(3)  $ 200,000 143,884 83
Merrill Lynch Ventures L.P., 2001  $ 100,000 71,942 41
Kenneth E. Olson Trust dated March 16, 1989(4)  $ 100,000 71,942 41

(1) Each share of Series H preferred stock is convertible into one share of our common stock. 

(2) Includes (a) $25,000 in principal amount of loan and 11 shares of common stock underlying warrants issued to Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P.;
(b) $300,000 in principal amount of loan and 123 shares of common stock underlying warrants issued to Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., III; and
(c) $700,000 in principal amount of loan and 286 shares of common stock underlying warrants issued to Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., IV. Timothy J.
Wollaeger, a member of our board of directors, is the general partner of Kingsbury Associates, L.P., which is a general partner of each of Kingsbury
Capital Partners, L.P., Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., III and Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., IV. Mr. Wollaeger disclaims beneficial ownership of the
shares held by Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., III and Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., IV, except to the extent of his
pecuniary interests in the named fund. Mr. Wollaeger has voting and investment power with respect to the shares held by Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P.,
Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., III and Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., IV. 

(3) Includes (a) $50,000 in principal amount of loan and 21 shares of common stock underlying warrants issued to Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II, L.P.;
and (b) $150,000 in principal amount of loan and 62
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shares of common stock underlying warrants issued to Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II (Q.P.), L.P. Douglas Reed, a member of our board of directors, is
managing director of Vector Fund Management II, LLC, which is a general partner of Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II, L.P. and Vector Later-Stage
Equity Fund II (Q.P.), L.P. Dr. Reed disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II, L.P. and Vector Later-Stage
Equity Fund II (Q.P.), L.P., except to the extent of his pecuniary interests in the named fund. Dr. Reed may be deemed to share voting and investment
power with respect to the shares held by Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II, L.P. and Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II (Q.P.), L.P. with the other
managing directors and advisors of Vector Fund Management II, LLC.

(4) Kenneth E. Olson, a member of our board of directors, is the trustee of the Kenneth E. Olson Trust dated March 16, 1989.

Bonus Arrangements

        In June 2002, we entered into a letter agreement with David M. Sheehan, our President, Chief Executive Officer and a director, whereby we agreed to pay
him cash bonuses in connection with his service to us as an employee and in the event that our business was acquired or our assets sold. For a description of this
letter agreement, see "Management—Employment Arrangements and Change of Control Arrangements."

Other Transactions

        We have entered into agreements with all holders of our preferred stock, including entities affiliated with some of our directors and holders of 5% or more of
our common stock, whereby we granted them registration rights with respect to their shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of their preferred stock.
For more information regarding registration rights, please see "Description of Capital Stock."

        We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our executive officers and directors. The indemnification agreements require us to indemnify
these individuals to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law and may be broader than the specific indemnification provisions contained in the Delaware
General Corporation Law. In addition, we have purchased a policy of directors' and officers' liability insurance that insures our directors and officers against the
cost of defense, settlement or payment of a judgment in some circumstances.
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PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS 

        The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of April 28, 2004, for:

• each executive officer named in the Summary Compensation Table; 

• each of our directors; 

• each person known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of our common stock; and 

• all of our executive officers and directors as a group.

        Information with respect to beneficial ownership has been furnished by each director, officer or beneficial owner of more than 5% of our common stock.
Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and includes voting and investment power with
respect to the securities. Except as indicated by footnote, and subject to applicable community property laws, the persons named in the table have sole voting and
investment power with respect to all shares of common stock shown as beneficially owned by them. The number of shares of common stock used to calculate the
percentage ownership of each listed person includes the shares of common stock underlying options or warrants held by such persons that are exercisable within
60 days of April 28, 2004, if any.

        Percentage of beneficial ownership before the offering is based on 43,746,125 shares, consisting of 190,758 shares of common stock outstanding as of
April 28, 2004, and 43,555,367 shares issuable upon the conversion of the preferred stock. Percentage of beneficial ownership after the offering is based
on                         shares, including                        shares offered by this prospectus. Unless otherwise indicated, the address for the following stockholders is c/o
Digirad Corporation, 13950 Stowe Drive, Poway, California 92064.

   

 

Percentage of Shares
Beneficially Owned  

 

 

Number of
Shares

Beneficially
Owned

 

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner

 

Before Offering

 

After Offering

 
Executive Officers and Directors:        
David M. Sheehan(1)  1,456,765 3.2%   
Todd P. Clyde(2)  395,000 *   
Diana M. Bowden(3)  122,544 *   
Martin B. Shirley(4)  141,420 *   
Stephen L. Bollinger(5)  102,943 *   
Timothy J. Wollaeger(6)  7,939,975 18.1   
Raymond V. Dittamore(7)  40,000 *   
Robert M. Jaffe(8)  5,095,223 11.6   
R. King Nelson(9)  40,275 *   
Kenneth E. Olson(10)  362,062 *   
Douglas Reed, M.D.(11)  7,514,925 17.2   
5% Stockholders:        
Entities affiliated with Vector Fund Management(12)
1751 Lake Cook Road, Suite 350
Deerfield, IL 60015  

7,409,704 16.9 

  
Merrill Lynch Ventures, LLC(13)
4 World Financial Center, 23rd Floor
New York, NY 10080  

5,846,056 13.4 

  
Entities affiliated with Kingsbury Associates(14)
3655 Nobel Drive, Suite 490
San Diego, CA 92122  

5,775,739 13.2 
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Entities affiliated with Sorrento Associates(8)
4370 La Jolla Village Drive, Suite 1040
San Diego, CA 92122  

5,095,223 11.6 

  
GE Capital Equity Investments, Inc.
120 Long Ridge Road
Stamford, CT 06927  

2,935,546 6.7 

  
Health Care Indemnity, Inc.
One Park Plaza
Nashville, TN 37069  

2,299,791 5.3 

  
All directors and executive officers as a group (15 persons)  24,233,265 51.3   

* Indicates beneficial ownership of less than 1% of the total outstanding common stock. 

(1) Includes 1,456,665 shares subject to options exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004. 

(2) Includes 395,000 shares subject to options exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004. 

(3) Includes 122,544 shares subject to options exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004. 

(4) Includes 141,420 shares subject to options exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004. 

(5) Includes 102,943 shares subject to options exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004. 

(6) Includes (a) 261 shares subject to options and warrants exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004 and 1,770,331 shares held by Kingsbury Capital
Partners, L.P.; (b) 250 shares subject to options exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004 and 1,742,600 shares held by Kingsbury Capital Partners,
L.P., II; (c) 173 shares subject to warrants exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004 and 1,072,534 shares held by Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., III;
(d) 402 shares subject to warrants exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004 and 1,189,188 shares held by Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., IV;
(e) 1,492,158 shares of Series H preferred stock held by Sanderling Venture Partners V, L.P.; (f) 365,501 shares of Series H preferred stock held by
Sanderling V Biomedical, L.P.; (g) 147,876 shares of Series H preferred stock held by Sanderling V Limited Partnership; (h) 131,580 shares of Series H
preferred stock held by Sanderling V Beteiligungs GMBH & Co. KG; and (i) 21,587 shares of Series H preferred stock held by Sanderling V Ventures
Management. Timothy J. Wollaeger, a member of our board of directors, is the general partner of Kingsbury Associates, L.P., which is a general partner of
each of Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., II, Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., III and Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P.,
IV. Mr. Wollaeger is also a managing director of Middleton, McNeil & Mills Associates V, LLC, the general partner of Sanderling Venture Partners V,
L.P., Sanderling V Biomedical, L.P., Sanderling V Limited Partnership and Sanderling V Beteiligungs GMBH & Co. KG, and is an owner of Sanderling
V Ventures Management. Mr. Wollaeger disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., Kingsbury Capital
Partners, L.P., II, Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., III, Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., IV, Sanderling Venture Partners V, L.P., Sanderling V Biomedical,
L.P., Sanderling V Limited Partnership, Sanderling V Beteiligungs GMBH & Co. KG and Sanderling V Ventures Management, except to the extent of his
pecuniary interests in the named fund. As general partner, Mr. Wollaeger has voting and investment power with respect to the shares held by Kingsbury
Capital Partners, L.P., Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., II, Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., III and Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., IV. Mr. Wollaeger
shares voting and investment power with respect to the shares held by Sanderling Venture Partners V, L.P., Sanderling V Biomedical, L.P., Sanderling V
Limited Partnership and Sanderling V Beteiligungs GMBH & Co. KG with the other managing directors of Middleton, McNeil & Mills Associates V,
LLC. Mr. Wollaeger may be deemed to share
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voting and investment power with respect to the shares held by Sanderling V Ventures Management with the other owners.

(7) Includes 40,000 shares subject to options exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004. 

(8) Includes (a) 1,300,461 shares held by Sorrento Growth Partners I, L.P.; (b) 696,653 shares held by Sorrento Ventures II, L.P.; (c) 2,557,082 shares held by
Sorrento Ventures III, L.P.; and (d) 541,027 shares held by Sorrento Ventures CE, L.P. Robert M. Jaffe, a member of our board of directors, is president of
(a) Sorrento Growth, Inc., which is the general partner of Sorrento Equity Growth Partners I, L.P., which is the general partner of Sorrento Growth
Partners I, L.P.; and (b) Sorrento Associates, Inc., which is the general partner of (i) Sorrento Equity Partners, L.P., the general partner of Sorrento
Ventures II, L.P., and (ii) Sorrento Equity Partners III, L.P., the general partner of Sorrento Ventures III, L.P. and Sorrento Ventures CE, L.P. Mr. Jaffe
disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by Sorrento Growth Partners I, L.P., Sorrento Ventures II, L.P., Sorrento Ventures III, L.P. and Sorrento
Ventures CE, L.P., except to the extent of his pecuniary interests in the named fund. As president of Sorrento Growth, Inc. and Sorrento Associates, Inc.,
Mr. Jaffe may be deemed to have voting and investment power with respect to the shares held by Sorrento Growth Partners I, L.P., Sorrento Ventures II,
L.P., Sorrento Ventures III, L.P. and Sorrento Growth Partners CE, L.P. 

(9) Includes 40,275 shares subject to options exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004. 

(10) Includes (a) 212,626 shares subject to options exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004; (b) 41 shares subject to warrants exercisable within 60 days of
April 28, 2004 held by the Kenneth E. Olson Trust dated March 16, 1989; and (c) 149,395 shares held by the Kenneth E. Olson Trust dated March 16,
1989. Kenneth E. Olson, a member of our board of directors, is the trustee of the Kenneth E. Olson Trust dated March 16, 1989. 

(11) Includes (a) 3,252,597 shares held by Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund, L.P.; (b) 42 shares subject to warrants exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004
and 1,039,237 shares held by Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II, L.P.; (c) 124 shares subject to warrants exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004 and
3,117,704 shares held by Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II (Q.P.), L.P.; and (d) 105,221 shares held by Palivacinni Partners, LLC. Douglas Reed, a
member of our board of directors, is a managing director of Vector Fund Management, L.P., which is the general partner of Vector Later-Stage Equity
Fund, L.P., and Vector Fund Management II, LLC, which is the general partner of each of Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II, L.P. and Vector Later-Stage
Equity Fund II (Q.P.), L.P. and is a managing member of Palivacinni Partners, LLC. Dr. Reed disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by Vector
Later-Stage Equity Fund, L.P., Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II, L.P. and Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II (Q.P.), L.P., except to the extent of his
pecuniary interests in the named fund. Dr. Reed may be deemed to share voting and investment power with respect to the shares held by Vector Later-
Stage Equity Fund, L.P., Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II, L.P. and Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II (Q.P.), L.P. with the other managing director of
Vector Fund Management, L.P. and Vector Fund Management II, LLC. Dr. Reed disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by Palivacinni Partners,
LLC, except to the extent of his pecuniary interests in the entity. Dr. Reed may be deemed to have voting and investment power with respect to the shares
held by Palivacinni Partners, LLC with the other managing members. 

(12) Includes (a) 3,252,597 shares held by Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund, L.P.; (b) 42 shares subject to warrants exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004
and 1,039,237 shares held by Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II, L.P.; and (c) 124 shares subject to warrants exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004
and 3,117,704 shares held by Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II (Q.P.), L.P. Douglas Reed, a member of our board of directors, and Barclay A Phillips are
the managing directors of each of Vector Fund Management, L.P., which is the general partner of Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund, L.P., and Vector Fund
Management II, LLC, which is the general partner of each of Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II, L.P. and Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II (Q.P.), L.P.
Dr. Reed and Mr. Phillips,
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together with D. Theodore Berghorst, Peter Drake and James Foght who also advise Vector Fund Management, L.P. and Vector Fund Management II,
LLC, may be deemed to have voting and investment power with respect to the shares held by Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund, L.P., Vector Later-Stage
Equity Fund II, L.P. and Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II (Q.P.), L.P. Dr. Reed, Mr. Phillips, Mr. Berghorst, Dr. Drake and Dr. Foght each disclaim
beneficial ownership of the shares held by Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund, L.P., Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II, L.P. and Vector Later-Stage Equity
Fund II (Q.P.), L.P., except to the extent of his pecuniary interests in the named fund.

(13) Includes 41 shares subject to warrants exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004 held by Merrill Lynch Ventures, L.P. 2001. Merrill Lynch Ventures,
LLC is the general partner of Merrill Lynch Ventures, L.P. 2001 and is managed by a board of directors which may be deemed to exercise voting and
investment power with respect to such shares. The members of the board of directors are Nathan Thorne, Mandy Puri, George Bitar, Mac Gardner and
Jerry Kennedy, each of whom disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by Merrill Lynch Ventures, L.P. 2001 except to the extent of his or her
pecuniary interest therein. 

(14) Includes (a) 261 shares subject to options and warrants exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004 and 1,770,331 shares held by Kingsbury Capital
Partners, L.P.; (b) 250 shares subject to options exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004 and 1,742,600 shares held by Kingsbury Capital Partners,
L.P., II; (c) 173 shares subject to warrants exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004 and 1,072,534 shares held by Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., III;
and (d) 402 shares subject to warrants exercisable within 60 days of April 28, 2004 and 1,189,188 shares held by Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., IV.
Timothy J. Wollaeger, a member of our board of directors, is the general partner of Kingsbury Associates, L.P., which is a general partner of each of
Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., II, Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., III and Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., IV.
Mr. Wollaeger disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., II, Kingsbury
Capital Partners, L.P., III and Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., IV, except to the extent of his pecuniary interests in the named fund. Mr. Wollaeger has
voting and investment power with respect to the shares held by Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., II, Kingsbury Capital
Partners, L.P., III and Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., IV.

93



DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK 

        The following descriptions of our capital stock give effect to the following events:

• a 1-for-200 reverse split of our capital stock effected in October 2002; 

• a 1-for-        reverse split of our capital stock to be effected prior to completion of this offering; 

• the restatement of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws upon completion of this offering; and 

• the conversion of our preferred stock into 43,555,367 shares of common stock, which will occur upon the completion of this offering.

        Upon completion of this offering, our authorized capital stock will consist of 150,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, and
10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share.

        The following summary of the rights of our capital stock is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to our restated certificate of
incorporation and restated bylaws to be in effect upon the completion of this offering, copies of which are filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which
this prospectus is a part, and by the provisions of applicable Delaware law.

Common Stock

Outstanding Shares

        Based on 190,758 shares of common stock outstanding as of April 28, 2004, the issuance of                        shares of common stock in this offering, the
issuance of 43,555,367 shares of common stock upon conversion of all outstanding shares of our preferred stock, and no exercise of outstanding options or
warrants, there will be                        shares of common stock outstanding upon the closing of this offering. As of the same date, there were 5,741,207 shares
subject to outstanding options under our 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, our 1997 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan and our 1998 Stock Option/Stock
Issuance Plan. In addition, as of the same date, there were warrants outstanding to purchase 161,351 shares of our common stock. As of April 28, 2004, we had
approximately 310 holders of our common stock.

Voting Rights

        Holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted upon by the stockholders. The holders of common stock are not
entitled to cumulate voting rights with respect to the election of directors, which means that the holders of a majority of the shares voted can elect all of the
directors then standing for election.

Dividends

        Subject to limitations under Delaware law and preferences that may apply to any outstanding shares of preferred stock, holders of our common stock are
entitled to receive ratably such dividends or other distribution, if any, as may be declared by our board of directors out of funds legally available therefor.

Liquidation

        In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of our common stock are entitled to share ratably in all assets remaining after payment of
liabilities, subject to the liquidation preference of any of our outstanding preferred stock.
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Rights and Preferences

        Our common stock has no preemptive, conversion or other rights to subscribe for additional securities. There are no redemption or sinking fund provisions
applicable to our common stock. The rights, preferences and privileges of holders of our common stock are subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the
rights of the holders of shares of any series of our preferred stock that we may designate and issue in the future.

Fully Paid and Nonassessable

        All outstanding shares of our common stock are, and all shares our common stock to be outstanding upon completion of this offering will be, validly issued,
fully paid and nonassessable.

Preferred Stock

        As of April 28, 2004, there were 43,555,313 shares of convertible preferred stock outstanding. We have secured consents from the requisite number of
stockholders to the automatic conversion of all outstanding shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock in connection with this offering. As a result, all
outstanding shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock will be converted into 43,555,367 shares of our common stock in connection with this offering and
such shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock will no longer be authorized, issued or outstanding.

        In addition, as of the same date, there were warrants to purchase 1,939 shares of our preferred stock, warrants to purchase 249 of which will expire if not
exercised prior to the completion of the offering.

        Upon the closing of this offering, our board of directors will be authorized, without further stockholder approval, to issue from time to time one or more
series of preferred stock and to fix or alter the designations, powers, preferences, rights and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions of the shares of such
series, including:

• the number of shares constituting the series and the distinctive designation of the series; 

• the dividend rate on the share of the series, whether dividends will be cumulative, and if so, from which date or dates, and the relative rights of
priority, if any, of payment of dividends on shares of the series; 

• whether the series will have conversion privileges and, if so, the terms and conditions of conversion; 

• whether the series will have a sinking fund for the redemption or purchase of shares of that series, and, if so, the terms and amount of the sinking
fund; 

• whether or not the shares of the series will be redeemable or exchangeable, and, if so, the dates, terms and conditions of redemption or exchange,
as the case may be; 

• whether the series will have voting rights in addition to the voting rights provided by law, and if so, the terms of the voting rights; and 

• the rights of the shares of the series in the event of our voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up and the relative rights or
priority, if any, of payment of shares of the series.

        The board of directors may authorize the issuance of preferred stock with terms and conditions which could discourage a takeover or other transaction that
holders of some or a majority of common stock might believe to be in their best interests or in which holders of common stock might receive a premium for their
shares over the then market price.

        We have no present plans to issue any shares of our preferred stock after completion of this offering.
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Warrants

        As of April 28, 2004, there were warrants outstanding to purchase the following shares of our capital stock:

Description

 

Number of Shares
Before This Offering

 

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Before
This Offering

 

Number of Shares
After This Offering

 

Weighted Average
Exercise Price After

This Offering

Series E Preferred Stock  1,939 $ 607.20 1,690 $ 607.20
Common Stock  157,473 $ 3.78 157,473 $ 3.78

        Warrants to purchase 1,477 shares of our Series E preferred stock will terminate five years after the date of this offering. Warrants to purchase 249 shares of
our Series E preferred stock will terminate upon completion of this offering and warrants to purchase 213 shares of our Series E preferred stock will terminate on
July 31, 2006. Warrants to purchase 26,073 shares of our common stock will terminate on certain dates from November 14, 2005 through April 22, 2009.
Additionally, warrants to purchase 131,400 shares of our common stock will terminate on November 13, 2007.

        Each of these warrants has a net exercise provision under which its holder may, in lieu of payment of the exercise price in cash, surrender the warrant and
receive a net amount of shares based on the fair market value of the underlying security at the time of exercise of the warrant after deduction of the aggregate
exercise price. Each of these warrants also contains provisions for the adjustment of the exercise price and the aggregate number of shares issuable upon the
exercise of the warrant in the event of stock dividends, stock splits, reorganizations and reclassifications and consolidations.

        We have granted registration rights pursuant to the terms of our amended and restated investors' rights agreement, as discussed more fully below, to a holder
of warrants to purchase an aggregate of 213 shares of our Series E preferred stock.

Registration Rights

        Under an amended and restated investors' rights agreement, the holders of a majority of the shares of our common stock issued upon the conversion of our
Series A preferred stock, Series B preferred stock, Series C preferred stock, Series D preferred stock, Series E preferred stock, Series F preferred stock, Series G
preferred stock and Series H preferred stock have the right to require us to register their shares with the Securities and Exchange Commission following the
completion of this offering, so that those shares may be publicly resold, or to include their shares in any registration statement we file as follows:

Demand Registration Rights

        At any time beginning one year after the completion of this offering, holders of at least 25% of the shares of our common stock issued upon the conversion
of our Series A preferred stock, Series B preferred stock, Series C preferred stock, Series D preferred stock, Series E preferred stock, Series F preferred stock,
Series G preferred stock and Series H preferred stock have the right to demand that we file up to two registration statements, so long as at least 20% of their
registrable securities will be registered and/or the proposed aggregate offering price of the securities registered, net of underwriting discounts and commissions, is
at least $25,000,000, subject to specified exceptions.

Form S-3 Registration Rights

        If we are eligible to file a "short-form" registration statement on Securities and Exchange Commission Form S-3, stockholders with registration rights have
the right to demand that we file a registration statement on Form S-3 so long as the aggregate offering price of the securities to be sold under the
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registration statement on Form S-3, net of underwriting discounts and commissions, is at least $1,000,000, subject to specified exceptions.

"Piggyback" Registration Rights

        If we register any securities for public sale solely for cash, stockholders with registration rights will have the right to include their shares in the registration
statement. The underwriters of any underwritten offering will have the right to limit the number of such shares to be included in the registration statement. In this
offering the underwriters have excluded any sales by existing investors.

Expenses of Registration

        Other than underwriting discounts and commissions, we will pay all expenses relating to piggyback registrations and all expenses relating to demand
registrations and Form S-3 registrations so long as the aggregate amount of securities to be sold under each such registration statement exceeds the threshold
amounts discussed above. However, we will not pay for the expenses of any demand or Form S-3 registration if the request is subsequently withdrawn by the
stockholders initiating these registration rights, subject to specified exceptions.

Expiration of Registration Rights

        The registration rights described above will expire seven years after this offering is completed. The registration rights will terminate earlier for a particular
stockholder at such time as that holder, following completion of this offering, can resell all of its securities in a 90-day period under Rule 144 of the Securities
Act.

Anti-takeover Effects of Delaware Law and Provisions of Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws

Delaware Takeover Statute

        We are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. This statute regulating corporate takeovers prohibits a Delaware corporation from
engaging in any business combination with any interested stockholder for three years following the date that the stockholder became an interested stockholder,
unless:

• prior to the date of the transaction, the board of directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction which
resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder; 

• the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding
for purposes of determining the number of shares outstanding (a) shares owned by persons who are directors and also officers and (b) shares
owned by employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to
the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or 

• on or subsequent to the date of the transaction, the business combination is approved by the board and authorized at an annual or special meeting
of stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least 662/3% of the outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the
interested stockholder.

        Section 203 defines a business combination to include:

• any merger or consolidation involving the corporation and the interested stockholder;
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• any sale, transfer, pledge or other disposition involving the interested stockholder of 10% or more of the assets of the corporation; 

• subject to exceptions, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by the corporation of any stock of the corporation to the interested
stockholder; or 

• the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial benefits provided by or
through the corporation.

        In general, Section 203 defines an interested stockholder as any entity or person beneficially owning 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the
corporation and any entity or person affiliated with or controlling or controlled by the entity or person.

Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaw Provisions

        Provisions of our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws, which will become effective upon the closing of this offering, may have the effect
of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or discourage a third party from attempting to acquire, control of our company by means of a tender offer, a
proxy contest or otherwise. These provisions may also make the removal of incumbent officers and directors more difficult. These provisions are intended to
discourage certain types of coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids and to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of our company to first
negotiate with us. These provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock. These provisions
may make it more difficult for stockholders to take specific corporate actions and could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in our control. The
amendment of any of these anti-takeover provisions would require approval by holders of at least 662/3% of our outstanding common stock entitled to vote.

        In particular, our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws provide for the following:

No Written Consent of Stockholders

        Any action to be taken by our stockholders must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting and may not be effected by written consent.

Special Meetings of Stockholders

        Special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by the president, chief executive officer, chairman of the board of directors, a majority of the
members of the board of directors or stockholders holding not less than 20% of the total number of votes to be cast at such a meeting.

Advance Notice Requirement

        Stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting of our stockholders must comply with advance notice procedures. These advance notice
procedures require timely notice and apply in several situations, including stockholder proposals relating to the nominations of persons for election to the board of
directors. Generally, to be timely, notice must be received at our principal executive offices not less than 90 days or more than 120 days prior to the first
anniversary date of the annual meeting for the preceding year.

Amendment of Bylaws and Certificate of Incorporation

        The approval of not less that 662/3% of the outstanding shares of our capital stock entitled to vote is required to amend the provisions of our restated bylaws
by stockholder action, or to amend the provisions of our restated certificate of incorporation that are described in this section or that are described under
"Management—Limitation of Liability and Indemnification of Officers and Directors" above. These
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provisions will make it more difficult to circumvent the anti-takeover provisions of our restated certificate of incorporation and our restated bylaws.

Issuance of Undesignated Preferred Stock

        Our board of directors is authorized to issue, without further action by the stockholders, up to 10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock with rights
and preferences, including voting rights, designated from time to time by the board of directors. The existence of authorized but unissued shares of preferred
stock enables our board of directors to render more difficult or to discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest
or otherwise.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

        The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

Nasdaq National Market Listing

        We have applied for approval for trading and quotation of our common stock on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "DRAD."
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE 

        Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our common stock. If our stockholders sell substantial amounts of our common stock in the public
market following this offering, the prevailing market price of our common stock could decline. Furthermore, because we do not expect many shares will be
available for sale for 180 days after this offering as a result of certain contractual and legal restrictions on resale described below, sales of substantial amounts of
our common stock in the public market after these restrictions lapse could adversely affect the prevailing market price and make it difficult or impossible for us to
sell equity or equity-related securities in the future at a time and price we deem appropriate.

        Upon completion of this offering, we will have                        shares of common stock outstanding, assuming no exercise of currently outstanding options or
warrants. Of these shares, the                         shares sold in this offering, plus any additional shares sold upon exercise of the underwriters' over-allotment option,
will be freely transferable without restriction under the Securities Act, unless they are held by our "affiliates" as that term is used under the Securities Act and the
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. The remaining                         shares of common stock held by existing stockholders are restricted shares.
Restricted shares may be sold in the public market only if registered or if they qualify for an exemption from registration under Rules 144 or 701 promulgated
under the Securities Act, which rules are summarized below.

        Taking into account the lock-up agreements described below and the provisions of Rules 144 and 701, based upon our shares outstanding as of March 31,
2004, additional shares will be available for sale in the public market, subject to certain volume and other restrictions, as follows:

•                          restricted shares will be eligible for immediate sale on the effective date of this offering; 

•                          restricted shares will be eligible for sale 90 days after the date of this prospectus; 

•                          restricted shares will be eligible for sale upon expiration of the lock-up agreements, which will occur 180 days after the date of this
prospectus; and 

• the remaining                        restricted shares will be eligible for sale from time to time thereafter upon expiration of their respective one-year
holding periods.

Lock-up Agreements

        All of our directors and officers and substantially all of our stockholders and optionholders have signed lock-up agreements with respect to shares of our
common stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for shares of our common stock for 180 days after the date of this prospectus. See
"Underwriting" for more description of the lock-up agreements.

Rule 144

        In general, under Rule 144 as currently in effect, beginning 90 days after the date of this prospectus, a person who has beneficially owned shares of our
common stock for at least one year, including the holding period of certain prior owners other than affiliates, is entitled to sell within any three-month period a
number of shares that does not exceed the greater of 1% of the number of shares of our common stock then outstanding, which will equal
approximately                        shares immediately after the offering, or the average weekly trading volume of our common stock on the Nasdaq National Market
during the four calendar weeks preceding the filing of a notice on Form 144 with respect to that sale. Sales under Rule 144 are also subject to certain manner-of-
sale provisions, notice requirements and the availability of current public information about us. Additionally, substantially all Rule 144 shares are subject to the
180-day lock-up arrangement described above.
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Rule 144(k)

        Under Rule 144(k), a person who is not deemed to have been one of our affiliates at any time during the three months preceding a sale and who has
beneficially owned shares for at least two years, including the holding period of certain prior owners other than affiliates, is entitled to sell those shares without
complying with the volume limitations, manner-of-sale provisions, notice requirements and public information provisions of Rule 144. Therefore, unless
restricted under the 180-day lock-up arrangement or otherwise, Rule 144(k) shares may be sold immediately upon the closing of this offering.

Rule 701

        In general, under Rule 701 of the Securities Act as currently in effect, each of our directors, officers, employees, consultants or advisors who purchased
shares from us before the date of this prospectus in connection with a compensatory stock plan or other written compensatory agreement is eligible to resell such
shares 90 days after the effective date of this offering in reliance on Rule 144, but without compliance with certain restrictions, including the holding period,
contained in Rule 144. However, substantially all Rule 701 shares are subject to the 180-day lock-up arrangement described above.

Registration Rights

        As described above in "Description of Capital Stock—Registration Rights," upon completion of this offering, the holders of 43,579,771 shares of our
common stock, including shares issued upon conversion of our preferred stock and shares issued upon the exercise of certain of our warrants, will be entitled to
rights with respect to the registration of their shares under the Securities Act, subject to the 180 day lock-up arrangement described above. Registration of these
shares under the Securities Act would result in the shares becoming freely tradable without restriction under the Securities Act, except for shares purchased by
affiliates. Any sales of securities by these stockholders could have a material adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock.

Employee Benefit Plans

        We intend to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission a registration statement on Form S-8 under the Securities Act covering the shares of
common stock reserved for issuance under our 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, 1997 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, 1998 Stock Option/Stock
Issuance Plan, 2004 Equity Incentive Award Plan and 2004 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Program. The registration statement is expected to be filed and
become effective as soon as practicable after the completion of this offering. Accordingly, shares registered under the registration statement will be available for
sale in the open market, subject to Rule 144 volume limitations applicable to affiliates, and subject to any vesting restrictions and lock-up agreements applicable
to these shares.
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UNDERWRITING 

        Under the terms and subject to the conditions contained in a purchase agreement dated the date of this prospectus, the underwriters named below, for whom
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., Banc of America Securities LLC and William Blair & Company, L.L.C. are
acting as representatives, have severally agreed to purchase, and we have agreed to sell to them, severally, the number of shares indicated below:

Underwriters

 

Number
of Shares

Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
                      Incorporated   
J.P. Morgan Securities Inc.   
Banc of America Securities LLC   
William Blair & Company, L.L.C.   
  
 Total   
  

        The underwriters are offering the shares of common stock subject to their acceptance of the shares from us and subject to prior sale. The purchase agreement
provides that the obligations of the several underwriters to pay for and accept delivery of the shares of common stock offered by this prospectus are subject to the
approval of specified legal matters by their counsel and to other conditions. The underwriters are obligated to take and pay for all of the shares of common stock
offered by this prospectus if any such shares are taken. However, the underwriters are not required to take or pay for the shares covered by the underwriters' over-
allotment option described below.

        The underwriters initially propose to offer part of the shares of common stock directly to the public at the public offering price listed on the cover page of
this prospectus and part to certain dealers at a price that represents a concession not in excess of $                        per share under the public offering price. Any
underwriter may allow, and such dealers may reallow, a concession not in excess of $                        per share to other underwriters or to certain dealers. After the
initial offering of the shares of common stock, the offering price and other selling terms may from time to time be varied by the representatives.

        We have granted to the underwriters an option, exercisable for 30 days from the date of this prospectus, to purchase up to an aggregate
of                        additional shares of common stock at the public offering price listed on the cover page of this prospectus, less underwriting discounts and
commissions. The underwriters may exercise this option solely for the purpose of covering over-allotments, if any, made in connection with the offering of the
shares of common stock offered by this prospectus. To the extent the option is exercised, each underwriter will become obligated, subject to certain conditions, to
purchase about the same percentage of the additional shares of common stock as the number listed next to the underwriter's name in the preceding table bears to
the total number of shares of common stock listed next to the names of all underwriters in the preceding table. If the underwriters' option is exercised in full, the
total price to the public would be $                        , the total underwriters' discounts and commissions would be $                        and the total proceeds to us would
be $                        .

        On behalf of the underwriting syndicate, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. will be responsible for
recording a list of potential investors that have expressed an interest in purchasing shares of common stock as part of this offering.

        The underwriters have informed us that they do not intend sales to discretionary accounts to exceed five percent of the total number of shares of common
stock offered by them.

        We, each of our directors and officers and holders of substantially all of our outstanding stock have agreed that, without the prior written consent of Merrill
Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated and
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J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., we and they will not, during the period ending 180 days after the date of this prospectus:

• offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase, purchase any option or contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant
to purchase, lend or otherwise transfer or dispose of directly or indirectly, any shares of common stock or any securities convertible into or
exercisable or exchangeable for common stock; or 

• enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of the
common stock,

whether any transaction described above is to be settled by delivery of common stock or such other securities, in cash or otherwise. These restrictions do not
apply to:

• the sale of shares to the underwriters in connection with this offering; 

• the issuance by us of shares of common stock upon the exercise of an option or a warrant or the conversion of a security outstanding on the date of
this prospectus that is described in this prospectus; 

• transfers by any person other than us of shares or other securities acquired in open market transactions after the completion of the offering,
provided that no filing by the transferor under Rule 144 of the Securities Act or Section 16 of the Securities and Exchange Act is required or will
be voluntarily made in connection with such transfer; 

• the issuance by us of shares or options to purchase shares of common stock pursuant to our existing employee benefits plans described in this
prospectus; 

• transfers to limited partners or stockholders of the transferor, provided that the transfer does not involve a disposition for value; or 

• transfers by any person other than us by gift, will or intestacy, or to immediate family members;

provided further that in the case of each of the last three transactions described above, the recipient of the shares agrees to be subject to the restrictions described
in this paragraph.

        The following table shows the underwriting discounts and commissions that we are to pay to the underwriters in connection with this offering. These
amounts are shown assuming both no exercise and full exercise of the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares of our common stock.

  

Paid by Us

  

No Exercise

 

Full Exercise

Per share  $   $  
Total  $   $  

        In addition, we estimate that the offering expenses payable by us, in addition to the underwriting discounts and commission, will be approximately
$                        .

        In order to facilitate the offering of the common stock, the underwriters may engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of
the common stock. Specifically, the underwriters may sell more shares than they are obligated to purchase under the purchase agreement, creating a short
position. A short sale is covered if the short position is no greater than the number of shares available for purchase by the underwriters under the over-allotment
option. The underwriters can close out a covered short sale by exercising the over-allotment option or purchasing shares in the open market. In determining the
source of shares to close out a covered short sale, the underwriters will consider, among other things, the open market price of shares compared to the price
available under the over-allotment option. The underwriters may also sell shares in excess of the over-allotment option, creating a naked short position.
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The underwriters must close out any naked short position by purchasing shares in the open market. A naked short position is more likely to be created if the
underwriters are concerned that there may be downward pressure on the price of the common stock in the open market after pricing that could adversely affect
investors who purchase in this offering. In addition, to stabilize the price of the common stock, the underwriters may bid for, and purchase, shares of common
stock in the open market. Finally, the underwriting syndicate may reclaim selling concessions allowed to an underwriter or a dealer for distributing the common
stock in this offering, if the syndicate repurchases previously distributed common stock in transactions to cover syndicate short positions or to stabilize the price
of the common stock. Any of these activities may stabilize or maintain the market price of the common stock above independent market levels. The underwriters
are not required to engage in these activities, and may end any of these activities at any time.

        Merrill Lynch Ventures, L.P. 2001, which is an affiliate of Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, one of the underwriters, beneficially owns in
the aggregate 5,846,056 shares, or 13.4%, of our common stock, assuming conversion of all of our outstanding convertible preferred stock.

        Because we may be deemed to have a conflict of interest with Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, the offering will be conducted in
accordance with Conduct Rule 2720 of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. This rule requires that the public offering price of any equity security
be no higher than the price recommended by a qualified independent underwriter which has participated in the preparation of the registration statement and
performed its usual standard of due diligence with respect to that registration statement. J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. has agreed to act as qualified independent
underwriter for this offering. The price of the shares will be no higher than that recommended by J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. will not
receive any additional compensation for acting as qualified independent underwriter for this offering.

        We have applied for quotation of our common stock on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "DRAD."

        We and the underwriters have agreed to indemnify each other against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act.

        At our request, the underwriters have reserved for sale, at the initial public offering price, up to                        shares offered in this prospectus for sale to
some of our directors, officers, employees, business associates and other persons with whom we have a relationship. The number of shares of common stock
available for sale to the general public will be reduced to the extent these persons purchase reserved shares. Any reserved shares which are not orally confirmed
for purchase within one day of pricing of this offering will be offered by the underwriters to the general public on the same basis as the other shares offered by
this prospectus.

        Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our common stock. The initial public offering price will be determined by negotiations between us
and the representatives. Among the factors to be considered in determining the initial public offering price will be our future prospects and those of our industry in
general, our revenues, earnings and other financial operating information in recent periods, and the price-earnings ratios, price-sales ratios, market prices of
securities and financial and operating information of companies engaged in activities similar to ours. The estimated initial public offering price range set forth on
the cover page of this preliminary prospectus is subject to change as a result of market conditions and other factors. Any active trading market for the shares may
not develop. It is also possible that after the offering the shares will not trade in the market above the initial offering price.
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LEGAL MATTERS 

        The validity of the shares of common stock offered in this prospectus will be passed upon for us by Morrison & Foerster LLP, San Diego, California. Certain
legal matters in connection with the offering will be passed upon for the underwriters by Latham & Watkins LLP, San Diego, California.

EXPERTS 

        Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors, have audited our consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2002 and 2003, and for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2003, as set forth in their report. We have included our financial statements in the prospectus and elsewhere in the
registration statement in reliance on Ernst & Young LLP's report, given on their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION 

        We have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act with respect to the shares of
common stock being offered by this prospectus. This prospectus does not contain all of the information in the registration statement and its exhibits. For further
information about us and the common stock offered by this prospectus, we refer you to the registration statement and its exhibits. Statements contained in this
prospectus as to the contents of any contract or any other document referred to are not necessarily complete, and in each instance, we refer you to the copy of the
contract or other document filed as an exhibit to the registration statement. Each of these statements is qualified in all respects by this reference.

        You can read our Securities and Exchange Commission filings, including the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, over the Internet at the
Securities and Exchange Commission's website at www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy any document we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission
at its public reference facilities at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may also obtain copies of the document at prescribed rates by writing to
the Public Reference Section of the Securities and Exchange Commission at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the Securities and
Exchange Commission at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the public reference facilities.

        Upon completion of this offering, we will be subject to the information reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and we will file reports, proxy
statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission. We also intend to furnish our stockholders with annual reports containing our
financial statements audited by an independent public accounting firm and quarterly reports containing our unaudited financial information. We maintain a
website at www.digirad.com. Upon completion of this offering, you may access our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports
on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act with the Securities and Exchange
Commission free of charge at our website as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The reference to our web address does not constitute incorporation by reference of the information contained at this site.
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Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Digirad Corporation

        We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Digirad Corporation as of December 31, 2002 and 2003, and the related statements of
operations, changes in stockholders' equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003. Our audits also included
the financial statement schedule listed in the index at Item 16(b). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

        We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

        In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Digirad Corporation at
December 31, 2002 and 2003, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003,
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule, when considered in
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

  /s/  ERNST & YOUNG LLP      

San Diego, California
March 12, 2004
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Digirad Corporation 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 

       

 

Pro forma
redeemable
convertible

preferred stock and
stockholders' equity at

March 31, 2004

 
 

 

December 31,    

 

 

March 31,
2004

 

  

2002

 

2003

 

      

(unaudited)

 

(unaudited)

 
Assets              
Current assets:              
 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 6,987,666 $ 7,681,407 $ 8,901,690    
 Accounts receivable, net   7,868,234  12,195,031  12,647,441    
 Inventories, net   5,752,123  3,709,321  3,746,618    
 Other current assets   502,805  854,170  677,211    
        
Total current assets   21,110,828  24,439,929  25,972,960    

Property and equipment, net   11,113,884  10,087,030  10,579,988    
Intangibles, net   894,528  511,832  518,345    
Other assets   —  —  820,609    
Restricted cash   —  120,000  120,000    
        
Total assets  $ 33,119,240 $ 35,158,791 $ 38,011,902    
        
Liabilities and stockholders' equity (deficit)              
Current liabilities:              
 Accounts payable  $ 2,150,724 $ 3,036,209 $ 4,550,211    
 Accrued compensation   1,721,107  1,893,336  2,413,444    
 Accrued warranty   857,830  1,051,242  1,176,537    
 Other accrued liabilities   3,102,109  2,647,741  3,762,414    
 Deferred revenue   1,331,462  1,514,488  1,610,563    
 Current portion of notes payable to stockholders   —  245,000  245,000    
 Current portion of debt   8,166,421  11,473,619  11,386,143    
        
Total current liabilities   17,329,653  21,861,635  25,144,312    
Notes payable to stockholders, net of current portion   735,000  490,000  490,000    
Long-term debt, net of current portion   5,030,327  4,232,071  3,720,021    

Commitments and contingencies              
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.000001 par
value: 46,023,000 shares authorized at December 31,
2002, 2003 and March 31, 2004 (unaudited); 43,555,313
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2002, 2003
and March 31, 2004 (unaudited), none pro forma;
liquidation value—$119,512,154 at December 31, 2002,
2003 and March 31, 2004 (unaudited), none pro forma
(unaudited)   83,952,228  84,277,992  84,366,530 $ — 

Stockholders' equity (deficit):              
Common stock, $0.001 par value: 213,692, 53,000,000
and 53,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2002,
2003 and March 31, 2004 (unaudited), respectively;
47,471, 82,486 and 190,326 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2002, 2003 and March 31, 2004
(unaudited), respectively, 43,745,693 outstanding pro
forma (unaudited)   47  82  190  43,745 
Additional paid-in capital   4,246,342  5,031,811  6,315,130  90,638,105 
Deferred compensation   —  (554,375)  (1,489,767)  (1,489,767)
Accumulated deficit   (78,174,357)  (80,180,425)  (80,534,514)  (80,534,514)
      
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)   (73,927,968)  (75,702,907)  (75,708,961) $ 8,657,569 
      
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (deficit)  $ 33,119,240 $ 35,158,791 $ 38,011,902    
        

See accompanying notes.
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Digirad Corporation 

Consolidated Statements of Operations 

  

Years ended December 31,

 

Three months ended
March 31,

 

  

2001

 

2002

 

2003

 

2003

 

2004

 

        

(unaudited)

 
Revenues:                 
 DIS  $ 10,239,256 $ 23,005,004 $ 34,848,641 $ 7,502,926 $ 10,406,978 
 Product   18,065,131  18,526,651  21,387,729  5,476,291  5,460,886 
       
Total revenues   28,304,387  41,531,655  56,236,370  12,979,217  15,867,864 

Cost of revenues:                 
 DIS   8,344,742  16,599,230  24,463,028  5,641,904  7,264,566 
 Product   13,192,140  13,632,437  15,091,721  3,840,943  3,639,340 
 Stock-based compensation   297,933  123,588  113,568  1,317  115,496 
       
Total cost of revenues   21,834,815  30,355,255  39,668,317  9,484,164  11,019,402 
       
Gross profit   6,469,572  11,176,400  16,568,053  3,495,053  4,848,462 

Operating expenses:                 
 Research and development   3,008,651  2,967,055  2,190,570  579,274  640,151 
 Sales and marketing   9,974,027  8,065,497  6,007,858  1,546,531  1,780,405 
 General and administrative   8,160,558  9,496,794  8,097,349  1,851,327  2,145,470 

 
Amortization and impairment of
intangible assets   991,229  1,011,371  443,784  119,249  16,076 

 Stock-based compensation   1,280,733  482,581  112,659  708  187,292 
       
Total operating expenses   23,415,198  22,023,298  16,852,220  4,097,089  4,769,394 
       
Income (loss) from operations   (16,945,626)  (10,846,898)  (284,167)  (602,036)  79,068 

Other income (expense):                 
 Interest income   118,174  65,078  35,412  10,943  7,907 
 Interest expense   (1,438,787)  (1,989,907)  (1,431,549)  (335,731)  (322,584)
 Other expense   (1,644,542)  —  —  —  (29,942)
       
Total other income (expense)   (2,965,155)  (1,924,829)  (1,396,137)  (324,788)  (344,619)
       
Net loss   (19,910,781)  (12,771,727)  (1,680,304)  (926,824)  (265,551)
Accretion of deferred issuance costs on
preferred stock   (130,274)  (265,146)  (325,764)  (85,350)  (88,538)
       
Net loss applicable to common
stockholders  $ (20,041,055) $ (13,036,873) $ (2,006,068) $ (1,012,174) $ (354,089)
       
Basic and diluted net loss per share  $ (898.86) $ (409.23) $ (36.46) $ (21.32) $ (3.11)
       
Shares used in computing basic and
diluted net loss per share   22,296  31,857  55,017  47,471  113,954 
       
Pro forma basic and diluted net loss per
share        $ (0.04)    $ (0.01)
             
Pro forma shares used to compute basic
and diluted net loss per share         43,610,384     43,669,321 
             
The composition of stock-based
compensation is as follows:                 
 Cost of product revenue  $ 200,365 $ 72,000 $ 82,529 $ 35 $ 55,066 
 Cost of DIS revenue   97,568  51,588  31,039  1,282  60,430 
 Research and development   96,335  60,622  8,200  153  27,499 
 Sales and marketing   540,402  228,057  18,211  317  44,699 
 General and administrative   643,996  193,902  86,248  238  115,094 
       
  $ 1,578,666 $ 606,169 $ 226,227 $ 2,025 $ 302,788 



       

See accompanying notes.
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Digirad Corporation 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) 

 

 

Common stock     

 

Notes
receivable

from
stockholders

     

 

 

Additional
paid-in
capital

 

Deferred
compensation

 

Accumulated
deficit

 

Total
stockholders'

equity (deficit)
 

  

Shares

 

Amount

 
Balance at December 31, 2000  21,820 $ 22 $ 2,239,711 $ (536,820) $ (85,919) $ (45,096,429) $ (43,479,435)

 Repayment of note receivable from
stockholder  —  —  —  —  14,312  —  14,312 

 Exercise of common stock options  1,182  1  97,793  —  (5,312)  —  92,482 

 Issuance of options, warrants and other equity
instruments to non-employees  —  —  192,652  —  —  —  192,652 

 Deferred compensation  —  —  1,715,521  (1,715,521)  —  —  — 
 Amortization of deferred compensation  —  —  —  1,386,014  —  —  1,386,014 
 Net loss  —  —  —  —  —  (19,910,781)  (19,910,781)

 Accretion of deferred issuance costs on
preferred stock  —  —  —  —  —  (130,274)  (130,274)

         

Balance at December 31, 2001  23,002  23  4,245,677  (866,327)  (76,919)  (65,137,484)  (61,835,030)

 Conversion of preferred stock to common
stock  24,191  24  48,358  —  —  —  48,382 

 Exercise of common stock options  246  —  46,332  —  —  —  46,332 

 Issuance of common stock for fractional
shares following 1-to- 200 stock split  32  —  —  —  —  —  — 

 Issuance of warrants to non-employees  —  —  16,921  —  —  —  16,921 

 Issuance of warrants in connection with
bridge financing  —  —  243,052  —  —  —  243,052 

 Reversal of deferred compensation resulting
from forfeitures  —  —  (353,998)  353,998  —  —  — 

 Amortization of deferred compensation  —  —  —  512,329  —  —  512,329 

 Forfeiture/reserve of notes receivable from
shareholders  —  —  —  —  76,919  —  76,919 

 Net loss  —  —  —  —  —  (12,771,727)  (12,771,727)

 Accretion of deferred issuance costs on
preferred stock  —  —  —  —  —  (265,146)  (265,146)

         

Balance at December 31, 2002  47,471  47  4,246,342  —  —  (78,174,357)  (73,927,968)
 Exercise of common stock options  35,015  35  4,867  —  —  —  4,902 
 Deferred compensation  —  —  780,602  (780,602)  —  —  — 
 Amortization of deferred compensation  —  —  —  226,227  —  —  226,227 
 Net loss  —  —  —  —  —  (1,680,304)  (1,680,304)

 Accretion of deferred issuance costs on
preferred stock  —  —  —  —  —  (325,764)  (325,764)

         

Balance at December 31, 2003  82,486  82  5,031,811  (554,375)  —  (80,180,425)  (75,702,907)

 Exercise of common stock options
(unaudited)  107,840  108  14,989  —  —  —  15,097 

 Deferred compensation (unaudited)  —  —  1,228,130  (1,228,130)  —  —  — 

 Amortization of deferred compensation
(unaudited)  —  —  —  292,738  —  —  292,738 

 Issuance of warrants to consultants
(unaudited)  —  —  40,200  —  —  —  40,200 

 Net loss (unaudited)  —  —  —  —  —  (265,551)  (265,551)

 Accretion of deferred issuance costs on
preferred stock (unaudited)  —  —  —  —  —  (88,538)  (88,538)

         

Balance at March 31, 2004 (unaudited)  190,326 $ 190 $ 6,315,130 $ (1,489,767) $ — $ (80,534,514) $ (75,708,961)
         

See accompanying notes.
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Digirad Corporation 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

  

Years ended December 31,

 

Three months ended
March 31,

 

  

2001

 

2002

 

2003

 

2003

 

2004

 

        

(unaudited)

 
Operating activities                 
Net loss  $ (19,910,781) $ (12,771,727) $ (1,680,304) $ (926,824) $ (265,551)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used by
operating activities:                 
 Depreciation   1,941,637  2,648,410  2,811,204  685,756  719,805 
 Loss on disposal of assets   —  —  8,020  —  29,942 
 Amortization and impairment of intangibles   991,229  966,765  443,784  119,249  16,077 
 Stock-based compensation   1,386,014  589,248  226,227  2,025  292,738 

 
Amortization of debt discount related to warrants
issued in conjunction with debt   110,954  335,477  —  —  — 

 
Options, warrants and other equity instruments
issued to non-employees   192,652  16,921  —  —  10,050 

 Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                 
  Accounts receivable   (1,748,827)  (3,065,386)  (4,326,797)  (661,154)  (452,410)
  Inventories   (4,749,603)  2,873,441  2,042,802  844,819  (37,297)
  Other assets   (79,243)  167,082  (346,384)  88,501  (613,500)
  Accounts payable   1,840,790  (2,312,844)  885,485  214,151  1,514,002 
  Accrued compensation   1,026,763  (384,173)  172,229  59,469  520,108 
  Accrued warranty and other accrued liabilities   1,899,894  100,907  (260,956)  (596,900)  1,239,968 
  Deferred revenue   329,959  1,001,503  183,026  118,430  96,075 
       
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities   (16,768,562)  (9,834,376)  158,336  (52,478)  3,070,007 

Investing activities                 
 Purchases of property and equipment   (7,742,297)  (1,653,667)  (1,797,351)  (323,754)  (1,242,705)
 Patents and other assets   (73,878)  (112,776)  (181,088)  (9,064)  (22,590)
       
Net cash used in investing activities   (7,816,175)  (1,766,443)  (1,978,439)  (332,818)  (1,265,295)

Financing activities                 
 Net issuances of common stock   92,482  46,332  4,902  —  15,097 
 Net borrowings under lines of credit   2,731,490  2,697,739  3,139,151  (101,873)  (174,290)
 Proceeds from issuance of notes payable   —  2,154,656  —  —  — 
 Repayment of obligation under notes payable   (1,536,024)  (2,105,936)  —  —  — 
 Net proceeds from sale of preferred stock   14,145,810  15,549,982  —  —  — 
 Proceeds from capital lease financing   5,363,920  —  1,531,028  —  104,737 
 Repayment of obligations under capital leases   (815,567)  (1,721,255)  (2,161,237)  (491,481)  (529,973)
 Repayment of notes receivable from stockholders   14,312  —  —  —  — 
       
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   19,996,423  16,621,518  2,513,844  (593,354)  (584,429)
       
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (4,588,314)  5,020,699  693,741  (978,650)  1,220,283 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   6,555,281  1,966,967  6,987,666  6,987,666  7,681,407 
       
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 1,966,967 $ 6,987,666 $ 7,681,407 $ 6,009,016 $ 8,901,690 
       
Supplemental information:                 
Cash paid during the period for interest  $ 1,485,467 $ 1,503,546 $ 1,326,173 $ 364,663 $ 318,925 
       
Conversion of bridge notes into preferred stock  $ — $ 1,575,000 $ — $ — $ — 
       
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock  $ — $ 48,382 $ — $ — $ — 
       

See accompanying notes.
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Digirad Corporation 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

(Information as of March 31, 2004 and for the
three months ended March 31, 2003 and 2004 is unaudited)

1. The Company and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Company

        Digirad Corporation (the "Company"), a Delaware corporation, designs, develops, manufactures, markets, and services solid-state digital gamma cameras for
use in nuclear medicine and provides, through two subsidiaries, Digirad Imaging Solutions, Inc. and Digirad Imaging Systems, Inc., collectively "DIS," in-office
services for physicians, offering experienced licensed personnel and equipment that travel to the physician's office on a per day, contractual basis.

Basis of Presentation

        The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the operations of DIS. Intercompany accounts have been eliminated in consolidation.

Interim Financial Information

        The financial statements as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2003 and 2004 are unaudited. The unaudited financial statements have been
prepared on the same basis as the audited financial statements and, in the opinion of management, include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring
adjustments, necessary to state fairly the financial information therein. The results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2004 are not necessarily
indicative of the results that may be reported for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Use of Estimates

        The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and disclosures made in the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements. The Company's significant estimates include the reserve for doubtful accounts, contractual allowances and revenue
adjustments, the reserves for excess and obsolete inventories, the reserve for warranty costs and the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

        The Company considers all investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents primarily
represent funds invested in money market funds whose cost equals fair market value.

Concentration of Credit Risk

        The Company has primarily sold its products to customers in the United States and its possessions. Limited sales have also been made to customers in
Canada, Japan and Russia. For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, no product or DIS customer accounted for 10% or more of consolidated
revenues.

        The percentage of the Company's net DIS revenue derived from governmental agencies, such as Medicare, has continued to decline each year since services
were initiated in 2000 to less than 5% of
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consolidated revenue in the year ended December 31, 2003 and the three months ended March 31, 2004. Management believes that there are minimal credit risks
associated with transactions and balances with these governmental agencies. However, there is a potential risk that reimbursement rates can be reduced in the
future.

        The Company maintains reserves for potential credit losses, billing adjustments and contractual allowances, which historically have been within
management's estimates.

Inventories

        Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, cost being determined on a first-in, first-out basis.

Property and Equipment

        Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment, including assets recorded under capital leases, are provided using the straight-line method over the
shorter of the estimated useful lives of the related assets, which is three to seven years, or the lease term, if applicable.

Intangibles

        Intangibles include patents, trademarks and acquired customer contracts and are recorded at cost. Patents are amortized over the lesser of their estimated
useful or legal lives (up to 20 years). Trademarks are amortized over 10 years. Acquired customer contracts are amortized over their estimated useful lives, which
is generally five years.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

        The Company follows Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 144, Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. The scope of SFAS No. 144 includes long-lived assets, or groups of assets, to be held and used as well as those
which are to be disposed of by sale or by other method, but excludes a number of long-lived assets such as goodwill and intangible assets not being amortized
under the application of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 144 requires impairment losses to be recorded on long-lived assets used
in operations when indicators of impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the assets'
carrying amount. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the
assets exceeds the estimated fair value of the assets.

        During 2002 and 2003, the Company recorded $566,057 and $228,117, respectively, for impairment on customer contracts acquired for DIS. The Company
regularly reviews the performance of these contracts, assessing each contract's profitability and ability to generate cash flow. If profitability is marginal based on
volumes and/or pricing, the Company attempts to negotiate a new contract or mutually agrees with the physician to terminate the contract. If the contract is
terminated, the remaining unamortized balance of the contract is written-off and recognized as an impairment loss in the period the Company determines the
contract will be terminated.
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Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs

        The Company records all shipping and handling billings to a customer in a sales transaction as revenue earned for the goods provided in accordance with the
Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") Issue 00-10, Accounting for Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs. The Company's revenues related to shipping and
handling for all periods presented are immaterial. Shipping and handling costs are included in cost of revenues and were $300,133, $229,462, $251,536, $42,061
and $94,174 for 2001, 2002, 2003 and the three months ended March 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

        The Company recognizes revenue when all four of the following criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists; (ii) delivery of the
products and/or services has occurred; (iii) the selling price is fixed or determinable; and (iv) collectibility is reasonably assured. In addition, the Company
complies with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements ("SAB 101"). SAB 101 sets forth guidelines on the timing
of revenue recognition based upon factors such as passage of title, installation, payment terms and customer acceptance.

        The Company has two primary sources of revenue: 1) product sales, which includes the associated sale of maintenance services and 2) mobile in-office
nuclear imaging services. Product revenues consist of revenues from the sales of gamma cameras and accessories and the Company recognizes revenue upon
delivery to customers. The Company also provides installation and training for camera sales in the United States. Installation and training for sales outside of the
United States is the responsibility of the distributors. Neither service is essential to the functionality of the product. Both services are performed shortly after
delivery and represent an insignificant cost, which the Company accrues at the time revenue is recognized. The Company also sells or provides maintenance
services beyond the first year following the purchase by the customer. Revenue from these contracts is deferred and recognized ratably over the period of the
obligation and is included in product sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

        DIS revenue is derived from the Company's mobile in-office nuclear imaging services. Revenue related to mobile imaging services is recognized at the time
services are performed and disposables are provided and collection is reasonably assured. DIS services are generally billed on a per-day basis under annual
contracts which specify the number of days of service to be provided. If a physician fails to complete a minimum number of lease days in a given annual period,
the Company has the right to bill the physician for the shortfall and only recognizes the revenue upon collection. No material amounts have been billed or
recognized as revenue since inception for customers who do not schedule the minimal number of lease days. The Company is compensated for mobile imaging
services provided to patients directly from the physicians under contract or, on a smaller scale, from certain programs administered by governmental agencies and
private insurance companies.

Unaudited Pro Forma Stockholders' Equity Presentation

        The unaudited pro forma stockholders' equity information in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet assumes the conversion of the outstanding shares
of redeemable convertible preferred stock into 43,555,367 shares of common stock as though the completion of the initial public offering had occurred on
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March 31, 2004. Common shares issued in such initial public offering and any related estimated net proceeds are excluded from such pro forma information.

Stock-Based Compensation

        The Company has elected to follow Accounting Principles Board ("APB") Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related
Interpretations in accounting for its employee stock options as permitted by SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. Under APB 25, if the
exercise price of the Company's employee stock options is not less than the fair value of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation expense is
recognized. In determining the fair value of the common stock, the Board of Directors considered, among other factors, (i) the advancement of the Company's
technology, (ii) the Company's financial position and (iii) the fair value of the Company's common stock or preferred stock as determined in arm's-length
transactions. During 2001 the Company filed a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission in an attempt to complete an initial public
offering for the sale of its common stock. Based on discussions with its investment bankers regarding potential market value, the Company reviewed its historical
exercise prices and arrived at a revised fair value for certain stock options granted in 2001 and recorded deferred stock compensation of $1,715,521, for the
difference between the original exercise price per share determined by the Board of Directors and the revised estimate of fair value per share at the respective
grant date. Based on market conditions and the Company's financial performance, the initial public offering was effectively terminated during the third quarter of
2001 and the Company had to complete a private round of financing to fund its ongoing operations (see Note 3). In conjunction with the Company's initial public
offering contemplated by this prospectus, the Company reviewed its exercise prices and arrived at a revised fair value for certain stock options granted during the
year ended December 31, 2003 and the three months ended March 31, 2004. The Company recorded deferred stock compensation of $780,602 and $1,228,130,
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2003 and three months ended March 31, 2004, for the difference between the original exercise price per share
determined by the Board of Directors and the revised estimate of fair value per share at the respective grant date.

        The approximate weighted average exercise price and approximate weighted average revised fair value per share for the 8,290 options granted during the
year ended December 31, 2001 was $254.00 and $300.00, respectively. The approximate weighted average exercise price and approximate weighted average
revised fair value per share for the 999,631 options granted during the year ended December 31, 2003 was $0.14 and $0.93, respectively. Deferred stock
compensation is recognized and amortized on an accelerated basis in accordance with FASB Interpretation ("FIN") No. 28, Accounting for Stock Appreciation
Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans, over the vesting period of the related options, generally four years. Deferred compensation for stock
options and warrants granted to non-employees is recorded at fair value as determined in accordance with SFAS No. 123, and EITF No. 96-18, Accounting for
Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring or in Conjunction with Selling Goods or Services. The fair value of the unvested
options, warrants, and other equity instruments is periodically remeasured and the related amortization is adjusted as necessary. Compensation expense related to
stock options, warrants, and other equity instruments to acquire common stock issued to non-employees was $192,652 and $138,447 for the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively. No material amounts of non-employee stock-based compensation were recorded in 2003.

        The expected future amortization expense for deferred compensation as of March 31, 2004 is $703,784 in 2004, $485,355 in 2005, $230,910 in 2006, and
$69,718 in 2007 for a total of $1,489,767.
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        Pro forma information regarding net loss is required by SFAS No.123, and has been determined as if the Company had accounted for all of its employee
stock options under the fair value method of that statement. The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grant using the Minimum Value pricing
model with the following weighted average assumptions for 2001, 2002, and 2003: risk-free interest rates of 4%, 3.8% and 3% respectively; a dividend yield of
0%; and a life of the options of six, five and five years, respectively.

        For purposes of disclosures required by SFAS No. 123, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized on an accelerated basis in accordance with FIN
No. 28 over the vesting period. The Company's adjusted net loss information is as follows:

  

Years ended December 31,

 

Three months ended
March 31,

 

  

2001

 

2002

 

2003

 

2003

 

2004

 
Net loss applicable to common stockholders, as reported  $ (20,041,055) $ (13,036,873) $ (2,006,068) $ (1,012,174) $ (354,089)
Add: total stock-based employee compensation included in
reported net loss   1,386,014  512,329  226,227  2,025  292,738 
Less: total stock-based employee compensation determined
under the fair value method for all awards   (1,671,812)  (1,288,485)  (270,581)  (15,442)  (330,100)
       

Adjusted net loss  $ (20,326,853) $ (13,813,029) $ (2,050,422) $ (1,025,591) $ (391,451)
       

Basic and diluted net loss per share, as reported  $ (898.86) $ (409.23) $ (36.46) $ (21.32) $ (3.11)
       

Adjusted basic and diluted net loss per share  $ (911.68) $ (433.59) $ (37.27) $ (21.60) $ (3.44)
       

        The above results are not likely to be representative of the effects of applying SFAS No.123 on reported net income or loss for future years.

Warranty

        We provide a warranty on certain of our products and accrue the estimated cost at the time revenue is recorded. Initially, the warranty periods were generally
12 months but ranged up to 24 months. Since July 2002, substantially all of the warranty periods have been 12 months before customer-sponsored maintenance
begins. Warranty reserves are established based on historical experience with failure rates and repair costs and the number of units at customers covered by
warranty. We review warranty reserves
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monthly and, if necessary, make adjustments. The activities in our warranty reserve during 2001, 2002 and 2003 are as follows:

Balance at December 31, 2000  $ 1,034,000 
 Provision charged to cost of revenues   1,753,488 
 Reductions for actual charges incurred, net   (1,598,129)
   
Balance at December 31, 2001   1,189,359 
 Provision charged to cost of revenues   1,635,577 
 Reductions for actual charges incurred, net   (1,967,106)
   
Balance at December 31, 2002   857,830 
 Provision charged to cost of revenues   1,960,974 
 Reductions for actual charges incurred, net   (1,767,562)
   
Balance at December 31, 2003   1,051,242 
 Provision charged to cost of revenues   524,000 
 Reductions for actual charges incurred, net   (398,705)
   
Balance at March 31, 2004  $ 1,176,537 
   

Research and Development

        Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

Advertising Costs

        Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Total advertising costs for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 and the three months ended
March 31, 2003 and 2004, were $411,940, $240,646, $231,617, $68,119 and $116,411, respectively.

Other Expense

        In 2001, the Company recorded expense of $1,644,542 related to costs incurred in connection with a proposed public offering of common stock which was
not completed.

Comprehensive Income

        SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income, requires that all components of comprehensive income, including net income, be reported in the financial
statements in the period in which they are recognized. Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity during a period from transactions and other
events and circumstances from non-owner sources, including unrealized gains and losses on investments and foreign currency translation adjustments. The
Company's comprehensive loss is the same as the reported net loss for all periods.

Net Loss Per Share

        The Company calculated net loss per share in accordance with SFAS No. 128, Earnings Per Share, and SAB No. 98. Basic earnings per share ("EPS") is
calculated by dividing the net income or loss available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period,
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without consideration for common stock equivalents. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing the net income available to common stockholders by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding for the period and the weighted average number of dilutive common stock equivalents outstanding for the period
determined using the treasury-stock method. For purposes of this calculation, common stock subject to repurchase by the Company, convertible preferred stock,
options, and warrants are considered to be common stock equivalents and are only included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share when their effect is
dilutive. Under the provisions of SAB No. 98, common shares issued for nominal consideration (as defined), if any, would be included in the per share
calculations as if they were outstanding for all periods presented. No common shares have been issued for nominal consideration.

        Potentially dilutive securities totaling 181,766, 48,534,380, 48,591,847 and 49,314,584 as of December 31, 2001, 2002, 2003 and March 31, 2004
respectively, were excluded from historical basic and diluted earnings per share because of their anti-dilutive effect.

        The unaudited pro forma basic and diluted net loss per common share and pro forma basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding give
effect to the conversion of all outstanding shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock upon the completion of the Company's proposed initial public offering
(using the as if-converted method).

  

Years ended December 31,

 

Three months ended
March 31,

 

  

2001

 

2002

 

2003

 

2003

 

2004

 

        

(unaudited)

 
Historical:                 
Numerator:                 
 Net loss  $ (19,910,781) $ (12,771,727) $ (1,680,304) $ (926,824) $ (265,551)
 Accretion of deferred issuance costs on preferred stock   (130,274)  (265,146)  (325,764)  (85,350)  (88,538)
       

 Net loss applicable to common stockholders  $ (20,041,055) $ (13,036,873) $ (2,006,068) $ (1,012,174) $ (354,089)
       

Denominator:                 
 Weighted average common shares   22,726  31,857  55,017  47,471  113,954 

 Weighted average unvested common shares subject to
repurchase   (430)  —  —  —  — 

       

 Denominator for basic and diluted earnings per share   22,296  31,857  55,017  47,471  113,954 
       

Basic and diluted net loss per share  $ (898.86) $ (409.23) $ (36.46) $ (21.32) $ (3.11)
       

Pro forma:                 
 Net loss        $ (1,680,304)    $ (265,551)
             

 Pro forma basic and diluted net loss per share (unaudited)        $ (0.04)    $ (0.01)
             

 Shares used above         55,017     113,954 

 Pro forma adjustments to reflect weighted average effect of
assumed conversion of preferred stock (unaudited)         43,555,367     43,555,367 

             

 Pro forma shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per
share (unaudited)         43,610,384     43,669,321 
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards

        In November 2002, the FASB issued FIN No. 45, Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of
Indebtedness of Others. This interpretation elaborates on the disclosures required in financial statements concerning obligations under certain guarantees. The
recognition provisions of the interpretation are effective in 2003 and are applicable only to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The Company
has not issued or modified any such guarantees and accordingly the interpretation did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or
cash flows for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003.

        In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51. FIN No. 46 requires certain
variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of a
controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from
other parties. In December 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 46R, a revision to FIN No. 46. FIN No. 46R provides a broad deferral of the latest date by which all
public entities must apply FIN No. 46 to certain variable interest entities to the first reporting period ending after March 15, 2004. We do not expect the adoption
of FIN No. 46 or FIN No. 46R to have a material impact upon our financial position, cash flows or results of operations.

        In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity. SFAS
No. 150 establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS
No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period
beginning after June 15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

2. Financial Statement Details

        The composition of certain balance sheet accounts is as follows:

Accounts Receivable

 
 

December 31,    
 

 

March 31,
2004

 

  

2002

 

2003

 
Accounts receivable  $ 8,538,972 $ 12,828,618 $ 13,397,375 
Less reserves and allowance for doubtful accounts   (670,738)  (633,587)  (749,934)
     
  $ 7,868,234 $ 12,195,031 $ 12,647,441 
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Inventories

 
 

December 31,    
 

 

March 31,
2004

 

  

2002

 

2003

 
Raw materials  $ 1,655,874 $ 1,402,187 $ 1,358,383 
Work-in-progress   3,691,639  2,203,700  2,425,510 
Finished goods   643,729  439,739  321,523 
     
   5,991,242  4,045,626  4,105,416 
Less reserves for excess and obsolete inventories   (239,119)  (336,305)  (358,798)
     
  $ 5,752,123 $ 3,709,321 $ 3,746,618 
     

Property and Equipment

  

December 31,

   

  

2002

 

2003

 

March 31, 2004

 
Machinery and equipment  $ 14,885,708 $ 16,063,473 $ 16,870,169 
Furniture and fixtures   261,875  241,989  241,989 
Computers and software   2,006,555  2,326,609  2,372,499 
Leasehold improvements   939,585  940,085  18,438 
Construction in process   52,482  135,680  525,801 
     
   18,146,205  19,707,836  20,028,896 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   (7,032,321)  (9,620,806)  (9,448,908)
     
  $ 11,113,884 $ 10,087,030 $ 10,579,988 
     

        During 2000, 2001, 2003 and the three months ended March 31, 2004, the Company entered into a series of financing transactions structured as capital
leases. The equipment, consisting of vans equipped with the Company's mobile gamma cameras, is used by DIS to provide mobile nuclear imaging services. The
initial terms of these leases range from 36 to 63 months. The cost of the equipment financed was $6,082,148 ($1,816,149 of accumulated depreciation) at
December 31, 2002 and $6,484,719 ($2,582,288 of accumulated depreciation) at December 31, 2003 and $6,629,310 ($2,840,794 of accumulated depreciation) at
March 31, 2004.
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Intangibles

 
 

December 31,    
 

 

March 31, 2004
 

  

2002

 

2003

 
Acquired customer contracts  $ 842,447 $ 244,921 $ 244,921 
Patents and trademarks   503,027  482,900  505,490 
     
   1,345,474  727,821  750,411 
Less accumulated amortization   (450,946)  (215,989)  (232,066)
     
  $ 894,528 $ 511,832 $ 518,345 
     

Other Accrued Liabilities

 
 

December 31,   
 

 

March 31, 2004

  

2002

 

2003

Sales tax payable  $ 657,353 $ 511,794 $ 456,515
Radiopharmaceuticals and consumable medical supplies   —  606,176  666,231
License fees   115,066  263,603  292,712
Customer deposits   832,676  294,550  346,327
Interest   122,122  109,272  92,481
Legal costs   797,954  121,000  599,245
Other accrued liabilities   576,938  741,346  1,308,903
    
  $ 3,102,109 $ 2,647,741 $ 3,762,414
    

3. Debt

        The composition of the Company's debt balance is as follows:

  

December 31,

   

  

2002

 

2003

 

March 31, 2004

 
Lines of credit  $ 6,217,576 $ 9,356,727 $ 9,182,436 
Capital lease obligations (Note 4)   6,979,172  6,348,963  5,923,728 
     
   13,196,748  15,705,690  15,106,164 
Current portion of debt   (8,166,421)  (11,473,619)  (11,386,143)
     
Long-term debt, less current portion  $ 5,030,327 $ 4,232,071 $ 3,720,021 
     

Lines of Credit

        Since December 2001, the Company has had a $5,000,000 line of credit which accrues interest at the bank's floating prime rate plus 1.75% (5.75% at
December 31, 2003). The Company is required to make monthly interest payments. The revolving line of credit expires October 15, 2004 with any unpaid
balance due upon expiration. $4,825,000 and $4,729,274 was outstanding as of December 31, 2003 and March 31, 2004, respectively.
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        In 2001, in conjunction with the amended line of credit, the Company issued the lender a warrant to purchase 213 shares of Series E preferred stock at a
price of $607.20. The warrant is exercisable immediately and expires five years from the date of issuance. The fair value of the warrant was determined to be
insignificant as calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: dividend yield of 0%; expected volatility of 75%; risk-
free interest rate of 3%; and a life of three years.

        In January 2001, the Company entered into a three year loan and security agreement related to DIS for a revolving line of credit. The Company can draw up
to $5,000,000. The borrowings under the line of credit are limited to 85% of Qualified Accounts (as defined) and accrue interest at the higher of prime plus 1.25%
or 8.25%. The revolving credit line expires December 31, 2004. $4,531,727 and $4,453,162 was outstanding as of December 31, 2003 and March 31, 2004,
respectively. In March 2004, the borrowings under the line of credit were revised to accrue interest at the higher of prime plus 1.25% or 6%.

Notes Payable to Stockholders

        The Company has notes payable to stockholders totaling $735,000 that bear interest at 6.35% per year. The notes are due in twelve equal quarterly
installments starting on March 31, 2004. Accordingly, $245,000 is included as current portion of notes payable to stockholders at December 31, 2003 in the
accompanying balance sheet.

        In January 2002, the Company issued and sold convertible promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of $1,925,000 bearing an annual interest rate
of 12%. On May 7, 2002, holders of $1,425,000 of the convertible promissory notes elected to convert the principal balance and outstanding interest on the notes
into Series H preferred stock. The remaining convertible promissory note balance of $500,000, plus accrued interest was repaid in June 2002. In consideration for
the bridge loans, the Company issued to the noteholders warrants to purchase 790 shares of the Company's common stock at an exercise price of $300.00 per
share (See Note 5).

        In March 2002, the Company borrowed $150,000 from one of its stockholders under the terms of a secured loan bearing interest at 8% per annum. The loan
plus accrued interest was converted into Series H preferred stock in June 2002.

        The Company's borrowings are generally subject to financial and other restrictive covenants. The Company is in compliance with all covenants at
December 31, 2003. Substantially all of the Company's assets have been pledged as collateral.

4.    Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

        The Company leases its facilities under non-cancelable operating leases that expire through 2010. Rent expense was $726,237, $887,340 and $1,028,895
(including common area charges) for the years ended
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December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. Annual future minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2003 are as follows:

  

Operating
Leases

 

Capital
Leases

 
2004  $ 695,584 $ 2,741,210 
2005   708,433  2,662,690 
2006   668,063  1,533,943 
2007   614,907  421,305 
2008   554,412  145,523 
Thereafter   619,400  — 
    
Total minimum lease payments  $ 3,860,799  7,504,671 
      
Less amount representing interest      (1,155,708)
      
Present value of future minimum capital lease obligations      6,348,963 
Less amounts due in one year      (2,116,892)
      
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations     $ 4,232,071 
      

Litigation

        In 2001, a complaint was filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania. The complaint alleged, among other things, breach
of the terms of certain agreements. The Company settled the claim for $500,000, which was recorded in 2002 as a general and administrative expense in the
statement of operations.

        The Company is currently not involved in any litigation. In the future, however, the Company may from time to time become involved in litigation relating
to claims arising in the normal course of business, such as claims related to employment practices, product liability or patent infringement.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

        The Company is directly or indirectly through its clients, subject to extensive regulation by both the federal government and the states and foreign countries
in which it conducts its business. The healthcare laws applicable to the Company are complex and are subject to variable interpretations. The Company has
established a compliance program to help assure that it will remain in compliance with the applicable healthcare laws and has instituted other safeguards intended
to help prevent any violations of the laws and to remediate any situations that could give rise to violations.

        In 2004, the Company discovered certain isolated arrangements entered into in good faith but that, upon review by its compliance personnel raised some
compliance concerns under these laws. In accordance with its compliance program, the Company took immediate remedial steps. While there have been no
claims asserted against the Company, it can't be assured that those remedial steps will insulate the Company from liability associated with these isolated
arrangements. Although uncertain, if a claim were asserted and the Company were not to prevail, possible sanctions could have a material effect on the
Company's financial statements or the Company's ability to conduct its operations.
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5. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Equity

Reverse Stock Split

        In October 2002, the Board of Directors and stockholders approved a 1:200 reverse split of the Company's common stock and preferred stock. All share and
per share information in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto have been restated to reflect the stock split.

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

        At December 31, 2003, the various series of preferred stock outstanding are as follows:

        

Redemption and liquidation value

 

Date issued

 

Series

 

Price per share

 

Number of
shares

 

December 31,
2003

 

March 31,
2004

 
March 1995  A  $ 200.00 250 $ 50,000 $ 50,000 
December 1995  B  $ 220.00 —  —  — 
August 1997  C  $ 250.00 800  200,000  200,000 
August 1997  D  $ 461.46 2,130  982,910  982,910 
June 1998 through April 2001  E  $ 607.20 5,447  3,307,418  3,307,418 
August 2001  F  $ 650.00 770  500,500  500,500 
April, May, and June 2002  G  $ 2.00 30,984,210  61,968,420  61,968,420 
April, May, and June 2002  H  $ 1.39 12,561,706  52,502,906  52,502,906 
          
       43,555,313  119,512,154  119,512,154 
              
Unamortized deferred issuance
costs          (213,512)  (124,974)
           
         $ 119,298,642 $ 119,387,180 
           

        On April 23, 2002, the stockholders agreed to recapitalize the Company and entered into a Stock Purchase and Exchange Agreement under which the
Company sold Series H preferred stock and exchanged shares of Series A, B, C, D, E and F preferred stock for Series G preferred stock for those Existing
Stockholders (as defined) that purchased their pro-rata amount of Series H preferred stock. The Company received $15,846,149 in cash and $1,654,656 from the
conversion of bridge notes and related accrued interest as consideration. The Company incurred $346,168 of offering costs related to the financing. The Company
issued 12,561,706 Series H preferred shares and on conversion of 139,343 Series A, B, C, D, E, and F preferred shares, the Company issued 30,984,210 Series G
preferred shares.

        Deferred issuance costs through December 31, 2002, 2003 and the three months ended March 31, 2004 for all series of preferred stock totaled $982,043 and
are being accreted up to the redemption value through July 31, 2004 (the earliest redemption date).

        The preferred stock is redeemable on or after July 31, 2004, upon the request of at least half in number of the Major Investors (as defined). The Company
shall redeem all outstanding shares of preferred stock by paying in cash its redemption value plus declared but unpaid dividends. No dividends have been
declared through March 31, 2004.

        If the funds of the Company legally available for redemption are insufficient to redeem the total number of preferred shares to be redeemed, those funds
which are legally available will be used to redeem
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the maximum possible ratably over the various series of preferred stock. If the offering contemplated by this prospectus is not completed, and the redeemable
preferred shares remain outstanding, the Company does not anticipate having legally available funds to redeem any portion of these preferred shares in 2004.

        The preferred stock will automatically be converted into shares of common stock upon the closing of a sale of the Company's common stock in a public
offering registered under the Securities Act of 1933 which results in aggregate gross proceeds equal to or exceeding $25,000,000 at a price equal to or exceeding
$4.1796 per share of common stock, or with the approval of at least half in number of Major Investors (as defined) and holders of a majority in interest of the then
outstanding voting power of the Series H preferred stock. Each share of preferred stock is convertible, at the option of the holder, into one share of common stock,
except for Series F which is convertible into 1.07 shares of common stock, subject to certain antidilution adjustments for certain equity issuances after April 23,
2002.

        Holders of the Series A, B, C, D, E, F, G, and H preferred stock are entitled to receive non-cumulative dividends, if and when declared by the Board of
Directors, at a rate of $20.00, $22.00, $25.00, $46.146, $60.72, $65.00, $0.20, and $0.13932 per share per annum, respectively. The holder of Series G and H
preferred stock are entitled to receive dividends prior and in preference to any declaration or payment of dividends (payable other than in common stock) on
series A, B, C, D, E, or F preferred stock, with series H preferred stock having prior preference to Series G preferred stock. The holder of each share of preferred
stock is entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of shares of common stock into which the preferred stock could be converted. The Company is
subject to certain covenants under the agreements that require the vote or written consent by both (a) half in number of the Major Investors and (b) the holders of
a majority of the then outstanding voting power of the Series H preferred stock. The stockholders also have certain antidilutive rights.

        The Series H preferred stockholders, voting as a separate class, are entitled to elect three members of the board of directors; Series G preferred stock holders,
voting as a separate class, are entitled to elect two members of the board of directors; and any additional member of the board of directors shall be elected by the
holders of Series A, B, C, D, E, and F and common stockholders, voting as a separate class.

        In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the holders of preferred stock are entitled to receive their liquidation value prior
and in preference to any distribution of the assets or surplus funds of the Company to the holders of common stock. If, upon the occurrence of such event, the
assets and funds distributed among the holders of preferred stock are insufficient to permit full payment, the entire assets and funds of the Company would be
distributed among the preferred shareholders in proportion to the product of the liquidation preference of each such share and the number of such shares owned
by each such holder.

Warrants

        During the year ended December 31, 2001, in conjunction with various sales and marketing arrangements, the Company issued warrants to purchase 1,059
shares of the Company's common stock at prices ranging from $200.00 to $608.00 per share. Warrants for 759 shares of common stock are exercisable
immediately and expire five years from the date of issuance. The remaining 300 warrants vest 100 warrants per year beginning July 2002 and expire in July 2006.
The fair value of the warrants was $144,100.

        During the year ended December 31, 2002, in conjunction with sales and marketing arrangements, the Company issued warrants to purchase 200,000 shares
of the Company's common stock at $1.40 per share.
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In conjunction with consulting agreements, the Company issued warrants to purchase 55 shares of the Company's common stock at $600.00 per share.

        The warrants are exercisable immediately, and expire five years from the date of issuance. The fair value of the warrants was $16,921.

        During the year ended December 31, 2003, in conjunction with sales and marketing arrangements, the Company issued warrants to purchase 1,500 shares of
the Company's common stock at $0.14 per share. The warrants are exercisable immediately and expire five years from the date of issuance. The fair value of the
warrants is not material.

        During the three months ended March 31, 2004, in conjunction with various consulting arrangements, the Company issued warrants to purchase 20,000
shares of the Company's common stock at $1.57 per share. The fair value of the warrants was $40,200.

        All of the warrants were valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: dividend yield of 0%; expected volatility of
75%; risk-free interest rates ranging from 3% to 6%; and a term of three years.

Stock Options

        In December 1998, the Company's 1997 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan was replaced with the 1998 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan ("1998 Plan")
under which 1,000,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance upon exercise of options granted by the Company. Under all stock option plans, the
Company is authorized to issue an aggregate of 5,889,824 shares of common stock. Terms of the stock option agreements, including vesting requirements (which
is generally four years), are determined by the Board of Directors. Upon grant, the options are exercisable immediately; however any exercised but unvested
shares are subject to repurchase by the Company at the original exercise price. Options granted have a term of up to ten years.
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        The following table summarizes option activity under the stock option plans:

  

Shares

 

Weighted average
exercise price

Outstanding at December 31, 2000  23,146 $ 84.20
 Granted  10,521 $ 260.01
 Cancelled  (2,793) $ 211.95
 Exercised  (1,438) $ 82.54
     
Outstanding at December 31, 2001  29,436 $ 134.79
 Granted  5,118,060 $ 0.20
 Cancelled  (371,978) $ 4.76
 Exercised  (347) $ 179.83
     
Outstanding at December 31, 2002  4,775,171 $ 0.66
 Granted  999,631 $ 0.14
 Cancelled  (908,649) $ 0.81
 Exercised  (35,015) $ 0.14
     
Outstanding at December 31, 2003  4,831,138 $ 0.52
 Granted  856,000 $ 1.57
 Cancelled  (43,914) $ 0.80
 Exercised  (107,840) $ 0.14
     
Outstanding at March 31, 2004  5,535,384 $ 0.69
     

        As of December 31, 2001, 2002, 2003 and March 31, 2004, 1,226,753, 1,109,130, 1,018,147 and 206,061 shares, respectively, were available for future
grants.
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        Following is a further breakdown of the options outstanding as of:

December 31, 2003

Exercise
price

 

Options
outstanding

 

Weighted
average

contractual
life in years

 

Weighted
average exercise
price of options

outstanding

 

Vested
options

 

Weighted
average exercise
price of vested

options

$0.14  4,820,264 8.6 $ 0.14 2,968,476 $ 0.14
$42 - $70  2,199 3.8 $ 56.15 2,199 $ 56.15
$100 - $150  4,844 5.2 $ 115.48 4,844 $ 115.48
$200  1,085 6.0 $ 200.00 1,085 $ 200.00
$300  2,327 7.1 $ 300.00 2,327 $ 300.00
$400  75 7.5 $ 400.00 75 $ 400.00
$600 - $608  140 7.1 $ 605.71 140 $ 605.71
$700  204 6.4 $ 700.00 204 $ 700.00
           
  4,831,138 8.6 $ 0.52 2,979,350 $ 0.76
           

March 31, 2004

Exercise
Price

 

Options
outstanding

 

Weighted
average

contractual life
in years

 

Weighted average
exercise price of

options outstanding

 

Vested options

 

Weighted
average
exercise
price of
vested
options

$0.14  4,668,615 8.6 $ 0.14 3,102,212 $ 0.14
$1.57  856,000 9.9 $ 1.57 755 $ 1.57
$42 - 70  2,199 3.5 $ 56.15 2,199 $ 56.15
$100 - $150  4,844 4.9 $ 115.48 4,844 $ 115.48
$200  1,060 5.8 $ 200.00 1,060 $ 200.00
$300  2,247 7.0 $ 300.00 2,247 $ 300.00
$400  75 7.3 $ 400.00 75 $ 400.00
$600 - $608  140 6.8 $ 605.71 140 $ 605.71
$700  204 6.1 $ 700.00 204 $ 700.00
           
  5,535,384 8.8 $ 0.69 3,113,736 $ 0.73
           

        The weighted average fair values of options granted in 2001, 2002 and 2003 were $398.47, $0.02 and $0.83, respectively.

Bridge Notes

        On January 25, 2002, the Company executed bridge loans in the form of Convertible Promissory Notes and associated Warrant Purchase Agreements with
various investors for total gross proceeds of $1,925,000. The notes bore interest at 12% per annum and ultimately were converted into Series H Preferred Stock.
The warrants allowed the investors to purchase 790 shares of the Company's common stock over the next five years at $300.00 per share. The proceeds from the
financing were allocated to the carrying values of the notes and the warrants on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of issuance and which also created
a beneficial conversion feature equal to the fair value of the warrants. The separate fair value of the notes was equal to their face values on the basis of their terms.
The separate fair value of
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the warrants and the separate value of the beneficial conversion feature was each determined to be $121,526 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with
the following assumptions: expected dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 75%, risk-free interest rate of 3.8% and expected life of three years. The
resulting discount on the notes of $243,052 was amortized to interest expense over the period the notes were outstanding. With the exception of $500,000 that was
repaid in cash, the notes and accrued interest were converted into Series H preferred stock over the three closing dates of the Series H preferred stock between
April 23, 2002 and June 17, 2002.

Notes Receivable from Stockholders

        At December 31, 2001, the Company had notes receivable from employee stockholders of $76,919. The notes relate to the exercise of common stock
options, are full recourse and bear interest at 6% per year. The notes are due on the earlier of (i) the date on which the employee ceases to be employed by the
Company, (ii) 90 days after an initial public offering of the Company's common stock; or (iii) May 15, 2010. During 2002, in conjunction with a recapitalization,
the Company wrote-off the value of the notes receivable since the underlying shares had little or no value and collection of the notes was unlikely. In the future, if
the Company provides financing for employees to purchase stock options, the Company will account for options under variable plan accounting in accordance
with EITF Issue No. 95-16, Accounting for Stock Compensation Arrangements with Employer Loan Features Under APB Opinion No. 25.

Common Shares Reserved for Issuance

        The following table summarizes common shares reserved for future issuance at December 31, 2003:

Redeemable convertible preferred stock  43,555,367
Redeemable Convertible preferred stock warrants  1,939
Common stock warrants  223,896
Common stock options  5,849,285
  
Total common shares reserved for issuance  49,630,487
  

6. Income Taxes

       As of December 31, 2003, the Company had federal and California income tax net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $71,600,000 and
$38,300,000, respectively. The difference between the federal and California tax loss carryforwards is primarily attributable to the limitation in the utilization of
California net operating loss carryforwards, which ranges from 50% to 60% during the period from 1996 to 2003. The federal tax loss carryforwards will begin
expiring in 2006 unless previously utilized. The California tax loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2004 unless previously utilized. The Company also has
federal and California research and development and other credit carryforwards of approximately $1,900,000 and $1,300,000, respectively. The federal research
and development and other credit carryforwards begin to expire in 2005 unless previously utilized.

        Pursuant to Internal Revenue Code Sections 382 and 383, use of the Company's net operating loss and credit carryforwards may be limited because of a
cumulative change in ownership of more than 50%, which may have occurred.
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        Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets are shown below. A valuation allowance has been recognized to offset the deferred tax assets,
as realization of such assets has not met the "more likely than not" threshold required under SFAS No. 109.

  

December 31,

 

  

2002

 

2003

 
Deferred tax assets:        
 Net operating loss carryforwards  $ 26,832,000 $ 27,254,000 
 Research and development and other credits   3,187,000  3,037,000 
 Reserves   741,000  856,000 
 Capitalized research expense   279,000  181,000 
 Capitalized inventory costs   238,000  117,000 
 Other, net   1,179,000  1,164,000 
    
Total deferred tax assets   32,456,000  32,609,000 
Deferred tax liabilities—depreciation and amortization   (949,000)  (1,567,000)
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets   (31,507,000)  (31,042,000)
    
Net deferred tax assets  $ — $ — 
    

7. Segments

       The Company's reporting segments have been determined based on the nature of the products and/or services offered to customers or the nature of their
function in the organization. The Company evaluates
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performance based on the operating income contributed by each segment. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in
the summary of significant accounting policies.

  

Years ended December 31,

 

Three months ended
March 31,

 

  

2001

 

2002

 

2003

 

2003

 

2004

 
Revenues by segment:                 
DIS  $ 10,239,256 $ 23,005,004 $ 34,848,641 $ 7,502,926 $ 10,406,978 
Product   18,065,131  18,526,651  21,387,729  5,476,291  5,460,886 
       

Consolidated revenues  $ 28,304,387 $ 41,531,655 $ 56,236,370 $ 12,979,217 $ 15,867,864 
       

Gross profit by segment:                 
DIS  $ 1,796,946 $ 6,354,186 $ 10,354,574 $ 1,859,740 $ 3,081,982 
Product   4,672,626  4,822,214  6,213,479  1,635,313  1,766,480 
       

Consolidated gross profit  $ 6,469,572 $ 11,176,400 $ 16,568,053 $ 3,495,053 $ 4,848,462 
       

Net loss by segment:                 
Loss from operations                 
DIS  $ (6,046,596) $ (5,420,551) $ 1,648,768 $ (257,390) $ 510,698 
Product   (10,899,030)  (5,426,347)  (1,932,935)  (344,646)  (431,630)
       

Consolidated income (loss) from operations   (16,945,626)  (10,846,898)  (284,167)  (602,036)  79,068 
Reconciling items                 
Interest income   118,174  65,078  35,412  10,943  7,907 
Interest expense   (1,438,787)  (1,989,907)  (1,431,549)  (335,731)  (322,584)
Other income (expense)   (1,644,542)  —  —  —  (29,942)
       

Consolidated net loss  $ (19,910,781) $ (12,771,727) $ (1,680,304) $ (926,824) $ (265,551)
       

Depreciation, amortization and impairment of intangible assets by
segment:                 
DIS  $ 1,767,170 $ 2,451,557 $ 2,151,731 $ 533,583 $ 500,541 
Product   1,165,696  1,163,618  1,103,257  271,422  235,341 
       

Consolidated depreciation and amortization  $ 2,932,866 $ 3,615,175 $ 3,254,988 $ 805,005 $ 735,882 
       

Identifiable assets by segment:                 
DIS  $ 13,586,502 $ 14,710,088 $ 16,016,201 $ 15,263,960 $ 17,329,671 
Product   16,335,908  18,409,152  19,142,590  16,132,277  20,682,231 
       

Consolidated assets  $ 29,922,410 $ 33,119,240 $ 35,158,791 $ 31,396,237 $ 38,011,902 
       

        Sales to a distributor in Japan represented 2.2% of total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2001, sales to a customer in Puerto Rico represented less
than 1% of total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003 and sales to a customer in Russia represented less than 3% of total revenues for the
year ended December 31, 2003. Sales to a customer in Canada represented less than 2% of total revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2004.

8. Employee Retirement Plan

        The Company has a 401(k) retirement plan (the "Plan"), under which all full-time employees may contribute up to 20% of their annual salary, within limits.
The Company may elect to make discretionary contributions upon the approval of the Board of Directors. Through March 31, 2004, the Company had not
contributed to the Plan.
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9. Subsequent Events

Changes in Capitalization

        On April 27, 2004, the Company's board of directors approved the following:

• Upon the effectiveness of the initial public offering contemplated by this prospectus, to reserve 1,400,000 shares of common stock for issuance
pursuant to the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan; 

• Upon the effectiveness of the initial public offering contemplated by this prospectus, the filing of an amended and restated certificate of
incorporation to provide for 150,000,000 shares of authorized common stock and 10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock; and 

• Subject to stockholder approval, a range for a reverse stock split of the outstanding common stock.

        Following the determination by the board of directors of the exact reverse stock split, the accompanying financial statements will give retroactive effect to
the split for all periods presented.

Settlement Agreement

        On April 29, 2004, the Company and certain outside consultants agreed to terminate the existing consulting agreements between them and as a result, 70,984
outstanding warrants were cancelled. There was no impact on the financial statements for the termination of the agreements or cancellation of the warrants.
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Common Stock
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Merrill Lynch & Co.

JPMorgan

Banc of America Securities LLC

William Blair & Company

                        , 2004

Through and including                          , 2004 (the 25th day after commencement of this offering), federal securities law may require all dealers selling
our common stock, whether or not participating in this offering, to deliver a prospectus. This delivery requirement is in addition to the obligation of
dealers to deliver a prospectus when acting as an underwriter and with respect to unsold allotments or subscriptions.



PART II—INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS 

Item 13. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution 

        The following table sets forth the costs and expenses, other than the underwriting discount, payable by the registrant in connection with the sale of common
stock being registered. All amounts are estimates except the Securities and Exchange Commission registration fee and the National Association of Securities
Dealers Inc. filing fee.

SEC registration fee  $ 10,928
NASD filing fee   9,125
Nasdaq National Market application fee   5,000
Nasdaq National Market entry fee   95,000
Nasdaq National Market annual fee (prorated for 2004)   *
Accounting fees and expenses   *
Legal fees and expenses   *
Printing and engraving expenses   *
Blue sky fees and expenses   *
Transfer agent and registrar fees and expenses   *
Miscellaneous   *

Total  $ 120,053

* To be filed by amendment.

Item 14. Indemnification of Directors and Officers 

        As permitted by Section 102 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, we have adopted provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and restated
bylaws, which will become effective following the completion of this offering, that limit or eliminate the personal liability of our directors for a breach of their
fiduciary duty of care as a director. The duty of care generally requires that, when acting on behalf of the corporation, directors exercise an informed business
judgment based on all material information reasonably available to them. Consequently, a director will not be personally liable to us or our stockholders for
monetary damages or breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except for liability for:

• any breach of the director's duty of loyalty to us or our stockholders; 

• any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law; 

• any act related to unlawful stock repurchases, redemptions or other distributions or payment of dividends; or 

• any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

        These limitations of liability do not affect the availability of equitable remedies such as injunctive relief or rescission. Our restated certificate of
incorporation also authorizes us to indemnify our officers, directors and other agents to the fullest extent permitted under Delaware law.

        As permitted by Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our restated bylaws provide that:

• we may indemnify our directors, officers, and employees to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, subject to
limited exceptions;
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• we may advance expenses to our directors, officers and employees in connection with a legal proceeding to the fullest extent permitted by the
Delaware General Corporation Law, subject to limited exceptions; and 

• the rights provided in our restated bylaws are not exclusive.

        Our restated certificate of incorporation, attached as Exhibit 3.1 hereto, and our restated bylaws, attached as Exhibit 3.2 hereto, provide for the
indemnification provisions described above and elsewhere herein. In addition, we have entered into separate indemnification agreements, a form of which is
attached as Exhibit 10.20 hereto, with our directors and officers which may be broader than the specific indemnification provisions contained in the Delaware
General Corporation Law. These indemnification agreements require us, among other things, to indemnify our officers and directors against liabilities that may
arise by reason of their status or service as directors or officers, other than liabilities arising from willful misconduct. These indemnification agreements also
require us to advance any expenses incurred by the directors or officers as a result of any proceeding against them as to which they could be indemnified. In
addition, we have purchased a policy of directors' and officers' liability insurance that insures our directors and officers against the cost of defense, settlement or
payment of a judgment in some circumstances. These indemnification provisions and the indemnification agreements may be sufficiently broad to permit
indemnification of our officers and directors for liabilities, including reimbursement of expenses incurred, arising under the Securities Act.

        Reference is made to the following documents filed as exhibits to this registration statement regarding relevant indemnification provisions described above
and elsewhere in this prospectus:

Document

 

Exhibit
Number

Form of Underwriting Agreement  1.1
Form of Restated Certificate of Incorporation to be in effect upon the closing of this
offering  3.1
Form of Restated Bylaws to be in effect upon the closing of this offering  3.2
Form of Indemnification Agreement  10.20

Item 15. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities 

        The following list sets forth information regarding all securities we have sold since January 2001. All share amounts and per share prices reflect a 1-for-200
reverse stock split that was effected in October 2002 and a 1-for-        reverse stock split to be effected prior to completion of this offering.

(1) In January, March and April 2001, we issued and sold to investors 9,694 shares of our Series E preferred stock, at a purchase price of $607.20 per share,
for aggregate consideration of approximately $5.9 million. 

(2) In January, March, May, July and December 2001, we issued to certain consultants, in connection with and in partial consideration for services rendered to
us, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1,350 shares of our common stock at exercise prices ranging from $200.00 to $608.00 per share. Upon
completion of this offering, these warrants will remain exercisable for an aggregate of 1,350 shares of our common stock at exercise prices ranging from
$200.00 to $608.00 per share. 

(3) In January and December 2001, we issued to a consulting firm, in connection with and in partial consideration for services rendered to us, warrants to
purchase 100 and 25 shares of our common stock, respectively, at an exercise price of $400.00 and $600.00 per share, respectively. Upon completion of
this offering, these warrants will remain exercisable for 100 and 25 shares of our common stock, respectively, at an exercise price of $400.00 and $600.00
per share, respectively.
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(4) In July 2001, we issued to a commercial lender, in connection with and in partial consideration for a loan we received, a warrant to purchase 213 shares of
our Series E preferred stock at an exercise price of $607.20 per share. Upon completion of this offering, this warrant will be immediately exercisable for
213 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $607.20 per share. 

(5) In August 2001, we issued and sold to investors 13,092 shares of our Series F preferred stock, at a purchase price of $650.00 per share, for aggregate
consideration of approximately $8.5 million. 

(6) In January 2002, we issued to certain existing investors and a new investor convertible promissory notes bearing 12% interest per annum in connection
with a borrowing of an aggregate of approximately $2.0 million from those stockholders and that investor. 

(7) In January 2002, and in connection with the convertible promissory note issuance described in paragraph (3), we issued and sold the parties referred to in
paragraph (3) warrants to purchase an aggregate of 790 shares of our common stock for $0.001 per underlying share. Upon the completion of this
offering, these warrants will remain exercisable for an aggregate of 790 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $300.00 per share. 

(8) In April 2002, each of the convertible promissory notes described in paragraph (6) was converted into shares of our Series H preferred stock. 

(9) In April, May and June 2002, we issued shares of our Series G preferred stock to existing investors upon their exchange of 9,611 shares of our Series E
preferred stock, for no additional consideration to us. Upon the completion of this offering, the 5,447 shares of our Series E preferred stock outstanding as
of December 31, 2003 will convert into 5,447 shares of our common stock. 

(10) In April, May and June 2002, we issued shares of our Series G preferred stock to existing investors upon their exchange of 12,322 shares of our Series F
preferred stock, for no additional consideration to us. Upon the completion of this offering, the 770 shares of our Series F preferred stock outstanding as of
December 31, 2003 will convert into approximately 824 shares of our common stock. 

(11) In April, May and June 2002, we issued and sold 31,008,401 shares of our Series G preferred stock to existing investors, at a purchase price of $2.00 per
share, in exchange for the conversion of outstanding shares of our Series A, Series B, Series C, Series D, Series E and Series F preferred stock having an
aggregate liquidation value of approximately $62.0 million. 

(12) Following the issuances of our Series G preferred stock referred to in paragraphs (9), (10) and (11), we issued shares of our common stock to existing
investors upon their election to convert 24,191 shares of Series G preferred stock. Upon the completion of this offering, the 30,984,210 shares of Series G
preferred stock outstanding as of December 31, 2004 will convert into 30,984,210 shares of our common stock. 

(13) In April, May and June 2002, and concurrently with the conversion of the outstanding shares of our Series A, Series B, Series C, Series D, Series E and
Series F preferred stock described in paragraph (11), we issued and sold to investors 12,561,706 shares of our Series H preferred stock, at a purchase price
of $1.40 per share, for aggregate consideration of approximately $17.6 million. Upon the completion of this offering, the 12,561,706 shares of our
Series H preferred stock outstanding as of December 31, 2003 will convert into 12,561,706 shares of our common stock. 

(14) In March 2002, we issued to two of our consultants, in connection with services rendered to us, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 55 shares of our
common stock at an exercise price of $600.00 per share. Upon the completion of this offering, these warrants will remain exercisable for an aggregate of
55 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $600.00 per share.
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(15) In November 2002, we issued to a third party consulting firm, in connection with services rendered to us, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 100,000
shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $1.40 per share. Upon the completion of this offering, these warrants will remain exercisable for an
aggregate of 100,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $1.40 per share. 

(16) In November 2002, we issued to the two principals of the third party consulting firm described in paragraph (15), in connection with services rendered to
us, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 100,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $1.40 per share. Upon the completion of this
offering, these warrants will remain exercisable for an aggregate of 100,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $1.40 per share. 

(17) In July 2003, we issued to two of our consultants, in connection with services rendered to us, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1,500 shares of our
common stock at an exercise price of $1.40 per share. 

(18) In February 2004, we issued to two of our consultants, in connection with services rendered to us, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 20,000 shares of
our common stock at an exercise price of $1.57 per share. 

(19) From January 2001 through April 28, 2004, we granted options to purchase 7,204,070 shares of our common stock to employees, directors and
consultants under our 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, 1997 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan and 1998 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan at
exercise prices ranging from $0.14 per share to $608.00 per share. Of the options granted, 5,735,723 remain outstanding, 143,667 shares of common stock
have been purchased pursuant to exercises of stock options and 1,324,680 shares have been repurchased or terminated and returned to the stock option
pool available under our 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, 1997 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan and 1998 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan.

        The offers, sales, and issuances of the securities described in paragraphs (1), (3) - (13) and (15) were deemed to be exempt from registration under the
Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act because the issuance of securities to the recipients did not involve a public offering. The recipients
of securities in each such transaction represented their intention to acquire the securities for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with
any distribution thereof and appropriate legends were affixed to the share certificates and warrants issued in such transactions. Each of the recipients of securities
in the transactions described in paragraphs (1), (3) - (13) and (15) were accredited or sophisticated persons and had adequate access, through employment,
business or other relationships, to information about us.

        The offers, sales and issuances of the options and common stock described in paragraphs (2), (14) and (16) - (19) were deemed to be exempt from
registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Rule 701 because the transactions were under compensatory benefit plans and contracts relating to
compensation as provided under Rule 701. The recipients of such options and common stock were our employees, directors or bona fide consultants and received
the securities under our compensatory benefit plans or a contract relating to compensation. Appropriate legends were affixed to the share certificates issued in
such transactions. Each of these recipients had adequate access, through employment or other relationships, to information about us.

        There were no underwriters employed in connection with any of the transactions set forth in this Item 15.
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Item 16. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

(a) The following exhibits are filed herewith:

Exhibit
Numbers

 

Exhibit Description

1.1* Form of Underwriting Agreement.
3.1 Form of Restated Certificate of Incorporation to be in effect upon the closing of this offering.
3.2 Form of Restated Bylaws to be in effect upon the closing of this offering.

4.1* Form of Specimen Stock Certificate.
4.2** Amended and Restated Investors' Rights Agreement by and among Digirad Corporation and the investors listed on the schedule

attached thereto, dated April 23, 2002.
5.1* Opinion of Morrison & Foerster LLP.

10.1**† License Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and the Regents of the University of California, dated May 19, 1999, as
amended.

10.2† Software License Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and Segami Corporation, dated June 16, 1999, as amended.
10.3**† License Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and Cedars-Sinai Health System, dated May 22, 2001.
10.4**† License Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and Cedars-Sinai Health System, dated April 1, 2003.
10.5**† Development and Supply Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and a supplier, dated June 18, 1999
10.6**† Loan and Security Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and Silicon Valley Bank, dated July 31, 2001, as amended.

10.7** Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit executed by Silicon Valley Bank in favor of Digirad Corporation, dated November 5, 2003.
10.8** Loan Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and Gerald G. Loehr Trust, dated September 1, 1993, as amended.
10.9** Loan Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and Clinton L. Lingren, dated September 1, 1993, as amended.

10.10** Loan Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and Jack F. Butler, dated September 1, 1993, as amended.
10.11** Equipment Lease Agreement by and between Orion Imaging Systems, Inc. and MarCap Corporation, dated October 1, 2000.
10.12** Equipment Lease Agreement by and between Digirad Imaging Solutions, Inc. and MarCap Corporation, dated June 13, 2003.
10.13** Master Equipment Lease Agreement by and between Digirad Imaging Solutions, Inc. and DVI Financial Services, Inc., dated May 24,

2001.
10.14** Sublease Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation as sublessee and REMEC, Inc. as sublessor, dated November 3, 2003.
10.15*# 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan.
10.16*# 1997 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan.

10.17**# 1998 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, as amended.
10.18*# 2004 Stock Incentive Plan.
10.19*# 2004 Non-Employee Director Option Program.

10.20# Form of Indemnification Agreement.
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10.21**#† Letter Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and David M. Sheehan, dated June 11, 2002.
10.22** Loan and Security Agreement by and between Orion Imaging Systems, Inc., Digirad Imaging Systems, Inc. and Heller Healthcare

Finance, Inc., dated January 9, 2001, as amended.
10.23 Master Lease Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and GE Healthcare Financial Services, dated September 26, 2000.

10.24**† Consulting Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and McAdams and Whitham Consulting, dated January 6, 2003.
10.25**† Agreement for Services by and between Digirad Imaging Solutions, Inc. and MBR Associates, Inc., dated April 1, 2002.

10.26** Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Series E Preferred Stock by and among Digirad Corporation and the investors listed on the
schedule attached thereto.

10.27** Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Series E Preferred Stock by and among Digirad Corporation and the investors listed on the
schedule attached thereto.

10.28** Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Common Stock by and among Digirad Corporation and the investors listed on the schedule
attached thereto.

10.29** Warrant to purchase shares of Series E Preferred Stock by and between Digirad Corporation and Silicon Valley Bank, dated July 31,
2001.

10.30**† Amended and Restated Warrant Issuance Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and McAdams and Whitham Consulting,
LLC and Dr. Stephen A. McAdams and John C. Whitham, dated November 13, 2002.

10.31 Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Common Stock by and among Digirad Corporation and the investors listed on the schedule
attached thereto.

10.32**† Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Common Stock by and among Digirad Corporation and the investors listed on the schedule
attached thereto.

10.33**† Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Common Stock by and among Digirad Corporation and the investors listed on the schedule
attached thereto.

21.1** Subsidiaries of Digirad Corporation.
23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors.

23.2* Consent of Morrison & Foerster LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1).
24.1** Power of Attorney (included on signature page).

*  To be included by amendment.

**  Previously filed.

#  Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

†  Application has been made to the Securities and Exchange Commission to seek confidential treatment of certain provisions. Omitted material for which
confidential treatment has been requested has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

(b) Financial statement schedule.

II-6



Schedule II 

DIGIRAD CORPORATION
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS 

  

Reserves for bad debt,
billing adjustments and

contractual
allowances*

 

Excess and
Obsolete

Inventory

 
        
Balance at December 31, 2000  $ 519,341 $ 135,000 
 Provision   3,240,987  56,808 
 Write-offs and recoveries, net   (2,924,311)  — 
    
Balance at December 31, 2001   836,017  191,808 
 Provision   1,657,558  234,731 
 Write-offs and recoveries, net   (1,822,837)  (187,420)
    
Balance at December 31, 2002   670,738  239,119 
 Provision   812,192  177,360 
 Write-offs and recoveries, net   (849,343)  (80,174)
    
Balance at December 31, 2003  $ 633,587 $ 336,305 
    

* The provision was charged against other general and administrative expenses or revenue. The Company charged $2.6 million, $0.9 million and
$0.5 million against revenue in 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. The Company charged $0.6 million, $0.7 million and $0.3 million against general and
administrative expenses in 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

        No other financial statement schedules are provided because the information called for is not required or is shown either in the consolidated financial
statements or the notes thereto.

Item 17. Undertakings. 

        The undersigned hereby undertakes to provide to the underwriters at the closing specified in the underwriting agreement certificates in such denominations
and registered in such names as required by the underwriters to permit prompt delivery to each purchaser.

        Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to our directors, officers and controlling persons pursuant to the
DGCL, our restated certificate of incorporation or our restated bylaws, the underwriting agreement or otherwise, we have been advised that in the opinion of the
Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act, and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the
event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by us of expenses incurred or paid by one of our directors, officers, or
controlling persons in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the
securities being registered hereunder, we will, unless in the opinion of our counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of
appropriate jurisdiction the question of whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the
final adjudication of such issue.
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        We hereby undertake that:

        (1)   For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as part of this
registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by us pursuant to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or 497(h) under the
Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of this Registration Statement as of the time it was declared effective; and

        (2)   For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of prospectus shall be
deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and this offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be
the initial bona fide offering thereof.
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SIGNATURES 

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the Registrant has duly caused this Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement (No. 333-
113760) to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized in San Diego, California, on this 29th day of April, 2004.

  DIGIRAD CORPORATION

  By:  /s/  DAVID M. SHEEHAN      

  Name:  David M. Sheehan
  Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement (No. 333-113760) has been signed
by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Name

 

Title

 

Date

     
/s/  DAVID M. SHEEHAN      

David M. Sheehan

 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal
Executive Officer)

 April 29, 2004

/s/  TODD P. CLYDE      

Todd P. Clyde

 Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)

 April 29, 2004

*

Timothy J. Wollaeger

 Chairman of the Board of Directors  April 29, 2004

*

Raymond V. Dittamore  Director  April 29, 2004

*

Robert M. Jaffe  Director  April 29, 2004

*

R. King Nelson  Director  April 29, 2004

*

Kenneth E. Olson  Director  April 29, 2004

*

Douglas Reed, M.D.  Director  April 29, 2004

*By:  /s/  DAVID M. SHEEHAN      

David M. Sheehan
Attorney-in-fact
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Index to Exhibits 

Exhibit
Numbers

 

Exhibit Description

1.1* Form of Underwriting Agreement.
3.1 Form of Restated Certificate of Incorporation to be in effect upon the closing of this offering.
3.2 Form of Restated Bylaws to be in effect upon the closing of this offering.

4.1* Form of Specimen Stock Certificate.
4.2** Amended and Restated Investors' Rights Agreement by and among Digirad Corporation and the investors listed on the schedule

attached thereto, dated April 23, 2002.
5.1* Opinion of Morrison & Foerster LLP.

10.1**† License Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and the Regents of the University of California, dated May 19, 1999, as
amended.

10.2† Software License Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and Segami Corporation, dated June 16, 1999, as amended.
10.3**† License Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and Cedars-Sinai Health System, dated May 22, 2001.
10.4**† License Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and Cedars-Sinai Health System, dated April 1, 2003.
10.5**† Development and Supply Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and a supplier, dated June 18, 1999
10.6**† Loan and Security Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and Silicon Valley Bank, dated July 31, 2001, as amended.

10.7** Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit executed by Silicon Valley Bank in favor of Digirad Corporation, dated November 5, 2003.
10.8** Loan Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and Gerald G. Loehr Trust, dated September 1, 1993, as amended.
10.9** Loan Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and Clinton L. Lingren, dated September 1, 1993, as amended.

10.10** Loan Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and Jack F. Butler, dated September 1, 1993, as amended.
10.11** Equipment Lease Agreement by and between Orion Imaging Systems, Inc. and MarCap Corporation, dated October 1, 2000.
10.12** Equipment Lease Agreement by and between Digirad Imaging Solutions, Inc. and MarCap Corporation, dated June 13, 2003.
10.13** Master Equipment Lease Agreement by and between Digirad Imaging Solutions, Inc. and DVI Financial Services, Inc., dated May 24,

2001.
10.14** Sublease Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation as sublessee and REMEC, Inc. as sublessor, dated November 3, 2003.
10.15*# 1995 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan.
10.16*# 1997 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan.

10.17**# 1998 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, as amended.
10.18*# 2004 Stock Incentive Plan.
10.19*# 2004 Non-Employee Director Option Program.

10.20# Form of Indemnification Agreement.
10.21**#† Letter Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and David M. Sheehan, dated June 11, 2002.

10.22** Loan and Security Agreement by and between Orion Imaging Systems, Inc., Digirad Imaging Systems, Inc. and Heller Healthcare
Finance, Inc., dated January 9, 2001, as amended.

   



10.23 Master Lease Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and GE Healthcare Financial Services, dated September 26, 2000.
10.24**† Consulting Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and McAdams and Whitham Consulting, dated January 6, 2003.
10.25**† Agreement for Services by and between Digirad Imaging Solutions, Inc. and MBR Associates, Inc., dated April 1, 2002.

10.26** Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Series E Preferred Stock by and among Digirad Corporation and the investors listed on the
schedule attached thereto.

10.27** Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Series E Preferred Stock by and among Digirad Corporation and the investors listed on the
schedule attached thereto.

10.28** Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Common Stock by and among Digirad Corporation and the investors listed on the schedule
attached thereto.

10.29** Warrant to purchase shares of Series E Preferred Stock by and between Digirad Corporation and Silicon Valley Bank, dated July 31,
2001.

10.30**† Amended and Restated Warrant Issuance Agreement by and between Digirad Corporation and McAdams and Whitham Consulting,
LLC and Dr. Stephen A. McAdams and John C. Whitham, dated November 13, 2002.

10.31 Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Common Stock by and among Digirad Corporation and the investors listed on the schedule
attached thereto.

10.32**† Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Common Stock by and among Digirad Corporation and the investors listed on the schedule
attached thereto.

10.33**† Form of Warrant to purchase shares of Common Stock by and among Digirad Corporation and the investors listed on the schedule
attached thereto.

21.1** Subsidiaries of Digirad Corporation.
23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors.

23.2* Consent of Morrison & Foerster LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1).
24.1** Power of Attorney (included on signature page).

*  To be included by amendment.

**  Previously filed.

#  Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

†  Application has been made to the Securities and Exchange Commission to seek confidential treatment of certain provisions. Omitted material for which
confidential treatment has been requested has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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EXHIBIT 3.1
 

RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

OF
DIGIRAD CORPORATION

 
Digirad Corporation, a corporation organized and existing under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “Corporation”)

DOES HEREBY CERTIFY:
 
FIRST:  The original Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation was filed with the Secretary of State of Delaware on January 2, 1997.
 
SECOND:  The Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Digirad Corporation in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A has been duly adopted

in accordance with the provisions of Sections 245 and 242 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware by the directors and stockholders of the
Corporation.

 
THIRD:  The Restated Certificate of Incorporation so adopted reads in full as set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto and is hereby

incorporated herein by this reference.
 
The undersigned has caused this Certificate to be signed this       day of             , 2004, and hereby certifies that the facts stated here are true.
 

   
 

By
  

  

David M. Sheehan
  

President and Chief Executive Officer
 

 
EXHIBIT A

 
ARTICLE I

 
The name of this corporation is DIGIRAD CORPORATION (the “Corporation”).
 

ARTICLE II
 
The address of the Corporation’s registered office in the State of Delaware is 30 Old Rudnick Lane, City of Dover, County of Kent, 19901, and the

name of the registered agent of the Corporation in the State of Delaware at such address is CorpAmerica, Inc.
 

ARTICLE III
 
The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which a corporation may now or hereafter be organized under the

Delaware General Corporation Law.
 

ARTICLE IV
 
(A)          Classes of Stock.  The Corporation is authorized to issue two classes of stock, denominated “Common Stock” and “Preferred Stock.”  The

Common Stock shall have a par value of $0.0001 per share and the Preferred Stock shall have a par value of $0.0001 per share.  The total number of shares of
Common Stock which the Corporation is authorized to issue is One Hundred Fifty Million (150,000,000), and the total number of shares of Preferred Stock
which the Corporation is authorized to issue is Ten Million (10,000,000), which shares of Preferred Stock shall be undesignated as to series.

 
(B)           Issuance of Preferred Stock.  The Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series.  The Board of Directors of the

Corporation (the “Board”) is hereby authorized, by filing one or more certificates pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law (each, a “Preferred
Stock Designation”), to fix or alter from time to time the designations, powers, preferences and rights of each such series of Preferred Stock and the
qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, including without limitation the dividend rights, dividend rate, conversion rights, voting rights, rights and
terms of redemption (including sinking fund provisions), redemption price or prices, and the liquidation preferences of any wholly-unissued series of
Preferred Stock, and to establish from time to time the number of shares constituting any such series and the designation thereof, or any of them; and to
increase or decrease the number of shares of any series subsequent to the issuance of shares of that series, but not below the number of shares of such series
then outstanding.  In case the number of shares of any series shall be decreased in accordance with the foregoing sentence, the shares constituting such
decrease shall resume the status that they had prior to the adoption of the resolution originally fixing the number of shares of such series.
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(C)           Rights, Preferences, Privileges and Restrictions of Common Stock.
 

1.                     Dividend Rights.  Subject to the rights, preferences, privileges, restrictions and other matters pertaining to series of Preferred
Stock that may from time to time in the future come into existence, the holders of the Common Stock shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by
the Board, out of any assets of the Corporation legally available therefor, such dividends as may be declared from time to time by the Board.

 
2.                     Redemption.  The Common Stock is not redeemable upon demand of any holder thereof or upon demand of the Corporation

except as expressly provided by contract.
 



3.                     Voting Rights. Subject to the rights, preferences, privileges, restrictions and other matters pertaining to series of Preferred
Stock that may from time to time in the future come into existence, the holder of each share of Common Stock shall have the right to one vote, and shall be
entitled to notice of any stockholders’ meeting in accordance with the Bylaws of the Corporation (the “Bylaws”), and shall be entitled to vote upon such
matters and in such manner as may be provided by law. There shall be no cumulative voting.

 
ARTICLE V

 
(A)          Exculpation.  A director of the Corporation (each, a “Director” and collectively, the “Directors”) shall not be personally liable to the

Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a Director, except for liability (i) for any breach of the Director’s duty of
loyalty to the Corporation or its stockholders, (ii) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of
law, (iii) under Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation Law or (iv) for any transaction from which the Director derived any improper personal
benefit.  If the Delaware General Corporation Law is hereafter amended to further reduce or to authorize, with the approval of the Corporation’s stockholders,
further reductions in the liability of the Directors for breach of fiduciary duty, then a Director shall not be liable for any such breach to the fullest extent
permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law as so amended.

 
(B)           Indemnification.  To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Corporation is also authorized to provide indemnification of (and

advancement of expenses to) such agents (and any other persons to which Delaware law permits the Corporation to provide indemnification) through bylaw
provisions, agreements with such agents or other persons, vote of stockholders or disinterested Directors or otherwise, in excess of the indemnification and
advancement otherwise permitted by Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, subject only to limits created by applicable Delaware law
(statutory or non-statutory), with respect to actions for breach of duty to the Corporation, its stockholders and others.

 
(C)           Effect of Repeal or Modification.  Any repeal or modification of any of the foregoing provisions of this Article V shall be prospective and

shall not adversely affect any right or protection of a Director, officer, agent or other person existing at the time of, or increase the liability of any Director
with respect to any acts or omissions of such Director occurring prior to, such repeal or modification.
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ARTICLE VI

 
Elections of Directors need not be by written ballot except and to the extent provided in the Bylaws.  A change in the Range (as defined in the

Bylaws) may be effected only by affirmative vote of (i) at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66- 2/3%) of the Directors then in office or (ii) the holders of
at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66- 2/3%) of the voting power of all the then-outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to vote.  Subject to any
limitations imposed by law, vacancies, including newly created directorships, only may be filled by affirmative vote of a majority of the Directors then in
office, though less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining Director.  Subject to any limitations imposed by law, the Board, or any individual Director, may be
removed from office at any time only with cause by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66- 2/3%) of the voting
power of all the then-outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to vote generally in the election of Directors.

 
ARTICLE VII

 
No holder of shares of stock of the Corporation shall have any preemptive or other right, except as such rights are expressly provided by contract, to

purchase or subscribe for or receive any shares of any class, or series thereof, of stock of the Corporation, whether now or hereafter authorized, or any
warrants, options, bonds, debentures or other securities convertible into, exchangeable for or carrying any right to purchase any share of any class, or series
thereof, of stock; but such additional shares of stock and such warrants, options, bonds, debentures or other securities convertible into, exchangeable for or
carrying any right to purchase any shares of any class, or series thereof, of stock may be issued or disposed of by the Board to such persons, and on such
terms and for such lawful consideration as in its discretion it shall deem advisable or as the Corporation shall have by contract agreed.

 
ARTICLE VIII

 
The Corporation is to have perpetual existence.
 

ARTICLE IX
 
The Corporation reserves the right to adopt, amend or repeal any provision contained in this Restated Certificate of Incorporation and/or any

provision contained in any amendment to or restatement of this Restated Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner now or hereafter prescribed by statute,
and all rights conferred on stockholders herein are granted subject to this reservation; provided, however, that no amendment, alteration, change or repeal may
be made to Article V, VI, IX, X, or XI without the affirmative vote of the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-23%) of the outstanding
voting stock of the Corporation, voting together as a single class.

 
ARTICLE X

 
The Board may from time to time adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws by the requisite affirmative vote of Directors as set forth in the Bylaws;

provided, however, that the stockholders may adopt, amend or repeal any bylaw adopted by the Board by the requisite affirmative vote of stockholders as set
forth in the Bylaws; and, provided further, that no amendment or supplement to the Bylaws adopted by the Board shall vary or conflict with any amendment
or supplement thus adopted by the stockholders.
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ARTICLE XI

 
No action shall be taken by the stockholders of the Corporation except at an annual or special meeting of stockholders called in accordance with the

Bylaws, and no action shall be taken by the stockholders by written consent.  Special meetings of the stockholders shall be called only as provided in the
Bylaws.



 
ARTICLE XII

 
Advance notice of stockholder nominations for the election of Directors and of business to be brought by stockholders before any meeting of the

stockholders of the Corporation shall be given in the manner provided in the Bylaws.
 

ARTICLE XIII
 
Whenever a compromise or arrangement is proposed between the Corporation and its creditors or any class of them and/or between the Corporation

and its stockholders or any class of them, any court of equitable jurisdiction within the State of Delaware may, on the application in a summary way of the
Corporation or of any creditor or stockholder thereof, or on the application of any receiver or receivers appointed for the Corporation under the provisions of
Section 291 of Title 8 of the Delaware Code or on the application of trustees in dissolution or of any receiver or receivers appointed for the Corporation under
the provisions of Section 279 of Title 8 of the Delaware Code order a meeting of the creditors or class of creditors, and/or of the stockholders or class of
stockholders of the Corporation, as the case may be, to be summoned in such manner as the said court directs.  If a majority in number representing three-
fourths in value of the creditors or class of creditors, and/or of the stockholders or class of stockholders of the Corporation, as the case may be, agree to any
compromise or arrangement and to any reorganization of the Corporation as a consequence of such compromise or arrangement, the said compromise or
arrangement and the said reorganization shall, if sanctioned by the court to which the said application has been made, be binding on all the creditors or class
of creditors, and/or on all the stockholders or class of stockholders, of the Corporation, as the case may be, and also on the Corporation.
 

[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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EXHIBIT 3.2
 

RESTATED BYLAWS
OF

DIGIRAD CORPORATION
 

ARTICLE I
OFFICES

 
Section 1.               Registered Office.  The registered office shall be in the City of Dover, County of Kent, State of Delaware.

 
Section 2.               Other Offices.  The corporation may also have offices at such other places both within and without the State of Delaware as the

Board of Directors may from time to time determine or the business of the corporation may require.
 

ARTICLE II
 

MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS
 

Section 1.               Place of Meetings; Rules of Conduct.  All meetings of the stockholders for the election of Directors shall be held in the City of
San Diego, State of California, at such place as may be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors, or at such other place either within or without the
State of Delaware as shall be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors and stated in the notice of the meeting.  Meetings of stockholders for any
other purpose may be held at such time and place, within or without the State of Delaware, as shall be stated in the notice of the meeting or in a duly executed
waiver of notice thereof.  The Board of Directors or any officer of the corporation designated by the Board of Directors may adopt rules and regulations for
the conduct of meetings of stockholders and may modify, repeal or replace such rules and regulations at any time.

 
Section 2.               Annual Meeting.

 
(a)           The annual meeting of the stockholders of the corporation, for the purpose of election of Directors and for such other

business as may lawfully come before it, shall be held on such date and at such time as may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors.
 

(b)           At an annual meeting of the stockholders, only such business shall be conducted as shall have been properly brought
before the meeting.  To be properly brought before an annual meeting, business must be:  (A) specified in the notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto)
given by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, (B) otherwise properly brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, or
(C) otherwise properly brought before the meeting by a stockholder.  For business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder, the
stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary of the corporation.  To be timely, a stockholder’s notice must be delivered to or
mailed and received at the principal executive offices of the corporation by no later than the due date for stockholder proposals that is specified in the
corporation’s proxy

 

 
statement released to stockholders in connection with the previous year’s annual meeting of stockholders, which date shall be not less than one hundred
twenty (120) calendar days in advance of the date of such proxy statement; provided, however, that in the event that no annual meeting was held in the
previous year or the date of the annual meeting has been changed by more than thirty (30) days from the date of the previous year’s annual meeting, notice by
the stockholder to be timely must be so received a reasonable time before the corporation begins to print and mail its proxy materials.  A stockholder’s notice
to the Secretary shall set forth as to each matter the stockholder proposes to bring before the annual meeting:  (i) a brief description of the business desired to
be brought before the annual meeting and the reasons for conducting such business at the annual meeting, (ii) the name and address, as they appear on the
corporation’s books, of the stockholder proposing such business, (iii) the class and number of shares of the corporation which are beneficially owned by the
stockholder, (iv) any material interest of the stockholder in such business and (v) any other information that is required to be provided by the stockholder
pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “1934 Act”), in such stockholder’s capacity as a proponent to a
stockholder proposal.  In addition to the foregoing, in order to include information with respect to a stockholder proposal in the proxy statement and form of
proxy for a stockholder’s meeting, stockholders must provide notice as required by the regulations promulgated under the 1934 Act to the extent such
regulations require notice that is different from the notice required above.  Notwithstanding anything in these Bylaws to the contrary, no business shall be
conducted at any annual meeting except in accordance with the procedures set forth in this paragraph (b) of this Section 2.  The chairman of the annual
meeting shall, if the facts warrant, determine and declare at the meeting that business was not properly brought before the meeting and in accordance with the
provisions of this paragraph (b), and, if he or she should so determine, the chairman shall so declare at the meeting that any such business not properly
brought before the meeting shall not be transacted.

 
(c)           Only persons who are nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in this paragraph (c) shall be eligible for

election as Directors.  Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors of the corporation may be made at a meeting of stockholders by or at the
direction of the Board of Directors or by any stockholder of the corporation entitled to vote in the election of Directors at the meeting who complies with the
notice procedures set forth in this paragraph (c).  Such nominations, other than those made by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, shall be made
pursuant to timely notice in writing to the Secretary of the corporation in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (b) of this Section 2.  Timely notice
shall also be given of any stockholder’s intention to cumulate votes in the election of Directors at a meeting if cumulative voting is available.  Such
stockholder’s notice shall set forth (i) as to each person, if any, whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for election or re-election as a Director:  (A) the
name, age, business address and residence address of such person, (B) the principal occupation or employment of such person, (C) the class and number of
shares of the corporation that are beneficially owned by such person, (D) a description of all arrangements or understandings between the stockholder and
each nominee and any other person or persons (naming such person or persons) pursuant to which the nominations are to be made by the stockholder, and (E)
any other information relating to such person that is required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for election of Directors, or is otherwise required, in
each case pursuant to Regulation 14A under the 1934 Act (including without limitation such person’s
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written consent to being named in the proxy statement, if any, as a nominee and to serving as a Director if elected); and (ii) as to such stockholder giving
notice, the information required to be provided pursuant to subitems (ii), (iii) and (iv) of paragraph (b) of this Section 2 and, if cumulative voting is available
to such stockholder, whether such stockholder intends to request cumulative voting in the election of Directors at the meeting.  At the request of the Board of
Directors, any person nominated by a stockholder for election as a Director shall furnish to the Secretary of the corporation that information required to be set
forth in the stockholder’s notice of nomination which pertains to the nominee.  No person shall be eligible for election as a Director of the corporation unless
nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in this paragraph (c).  The chairman of the meeting shall, if the facts warrant, determine and declare at
the meeting that a nomination was not made in accordance with the procedures prescribed by these Bylaws, and if the chairman should so determine, he or
she shall so declare at the meeting, and the defective nomination shall be disregarded.

 
Section 3.               Notice of Annual Meeting.  Written notice of the annual meeting stating the place, date and hour of the meeting shall be given to

each stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days before the date of the meeting.
 

Section 4.               Voting List.  The officer who has charge of the stock ledger of the corporation shall prepare and make, or have prepared and
made, at least ten (10) days before every meeting of stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, arranged in alphabetical
order, and showing the address of each stockholder and the number of shares registered in the name of each stockholder.  Such list shall be open to the
examination of any stockholder, for any purpose germane to the meeting, during ordinary business hours, for a period of at least ten (10) days prior to the
meeting, either at a place within the city where the meeting is to be held, which place shall be specified in the notice of the meeting, or, if not so specified, at
the place where the meeting is to be held.  The list shall also be produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof, and
may be inspected by any stockholder who is present.

 
Section 5.               Special Meetings.  Special meetings of the stockholders, for any purpose or purposes, unless otherwise prescribed by statute or by

the Certificate of Incorporation, as amended from time to time (the “Certificate of Incorporation”), may only be called as provided in this Section 5 by the
President, Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board or the holders of shares of the corporation that are entitled to cast not less than twenty percent
(20%) of the total number of votes entitled to be cast by all stockholders at such meeting, and shall be called by the President or Secretary at the request in
writing of a majority of the Board of Directors.  Special meetings may not be called by any other person or persons.  Such request shall state the purpose or
purposes of the proposed meeting.  The place, date and time of any special meeting shall be determined by the Board of Directors.  Such determination shall
include the record date for determining the stockholders having the right of and to vote at such meeting.

 
Section 6.               Notice of Special Meeting.  Written notice of a special meeting stating the place, date and hour of the meeting and the purpose or

purposes for which the meeting is called shall be given not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days before the date of the meeting, to each stockholder
entitled to vote at such meeting.
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Section 7.               Action at Special Meeting.  Business transacted at any special meeting of stockholders shall be limited to the purposes stated in

the notice.
 

Section 8.               Quorum and Adjournments.
 

(a)           The holders of a majority of the stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented
by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at all meetings of the stockholders for the transaction of business except as otherwise provided by statute or by the
Certificate of Incorporation.  If, however, such quorum shall not be present or represented at any meeting of the stockholders, the stockholders entitled to vote
thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, shall have the power to adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at
the meeting, until a quorum shall be present or represented.  At such adjourned meeting at which a quorum shall be present or represented, any business may
be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally notified.  If the adjournment is for more than thirty (30) days, or if after the
adjournment a new record date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each stockholder of record entitled to
vote at the meeting.

 
(b)           When a quorum is present at any meeting, in all matters other than the election of Directors, the vote of the holders of a

majority of the stock having voting power present in person or represented by proxy shall decide any question brought before such meeting, unless the
question is one upon which by express provision of statute or of the Certificate of Incorporation, a different vote is required, in which case such express
provision shall govern and control the decision of such question.  Directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes of the stockholders present in person or
represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the election of Directors.

 
Section 9.               Voting Rights.  Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, each stockholder shall at every meeting of the

stockholders be entitled to one (1) vote in person or by proxy for each share of the capital stock having voting power held by such stockholder, but no proxy
shall be voted on after three (3) years from its date, unless the proxy provides for a longer period.

 
Section 10.             Action Without Meeting.  No action shall be taken by the stockholders of the corporation except at an annual or special meeting

of stockholders called in accordance with these Bylaws, and no action shall be taken by the stockholders by written consent.
 

ARTICLE III
DIRECTORS

 
Section 1.               Number, Term of Office and Qualification.  The number of Directors which shall constitute the whole Board shall not be less than

five (5) nor more than nine (9) Directors (such range hereinafter referred to as the “Range”), and the exact number shall be fixed by resolution of the Board of
Directors, with the number initially fixed at seven (7).  The number of Directors may be increased or decreased only as set forth in the Certificate of
Incorporation, or, in the event the Certificate of Incorporation is silent on such matters, in accordance with
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applicable statutory law.  Each Director elected shall hold office until his or her successor is elected and qualified.  Directors need not be stockholders.



 
Section 2.               Vacancies.  Vacancies, including newly created directorships, may be filled only as set forth in the Certificate of Incorporation, or,

in the event the Certificate of Incorporation is silent on such matters, in accordance with applicable statutory law.  Each Director so chosen shall hold office
until a successor is duly elected and shall qualify or until his or her earlier death, resignation or removal.  If there are no Directors in office, then an election of
Directors may be held in the manner provided by statute.  If, at the time of filling any vacancy, the Directors then in office shall constitute less than a majority
of the whole Board (as constituted immediately prior to any such increase), the Court of Chancery may, upon application of any stockholder or stockholders
holding at least ten percent (10%) of the total number of the shares at the time outstanding having the right to vote for such Directors, summarily order an
election to be held to fill any such vacancies, or to replace the Directors chosen by the Directors then in office.

 
Section 3.               Powers.  The business of the corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of its Board of Directors which may exercise

all such powers of the corporation and do all such lawful acts and things as are not by statute or by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these Bylaws
directed or required to be exercised or done by the stockholders.

 
Section 4.               Regular and Special Meetings.  The Board of Directors of the corporation may hold meetings, both regular and special, either

within or without the State of Delaware.
 

Section 5.               Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held without notice immediately after, and at the same
place as, the annual meeting of stockholders.  In the event the annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall not be held immediately after, and at the same
place as, the annual meeting of stockholders, the meeting may be held at such time and place as shall be specified in a notice given as hereinafter provided for
special meetings of the Board of Directors.

 
Section 6.               Notice of Regular Meetings.  Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held without notice at such time and at such

place as shall from time to time be determined by the Board.
 

Section 7.               Notice of Special Meetings.  Special meetings of the Board may be called by the Chief Executive Officer or President on no less
than forty-eight (48) hours notice to each Director either personally, or by telephone, mail, telegram, facsimile or electronic mail; special meetings shall be
called by the Chief Executive Officer, President or Secretary in like manner and on like notice on the written request of two Directors unless the Board
consists of only one Director, in which case special meetings shall be called by the Chief Executive Officer, President or Secretary in like manner and on like
notice on the written request of the sole Director.  A written waiver of notice, signed by the person entitled thereto, whether before or after the time of the
meeting stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to notice.
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Section 8.               Quorum.  At all meetings of the Board a majority of the Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business and the

act of a majority of the Directors present at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the Board of Directors, except as may be otherwise
specifically provided by these Bylaws, by statute or by the Certificate of Incorporation.  If a quorum shall not be present at any meeting of the Board of
Directors, the Directors present thereat may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum
shall be present.

 
Section 9.               Action Without Meeting.  Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation, or these Bylaws, any action required or

permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting, if all members of the Board or
committee, as the case may be, consent thereto in writing, and the writing or writings are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board or committee.

 
Section 10.             Meetings by Telephone Conference Calls.  Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation, or these Bylaws,

members of the Board of Directors, or any committee designated by the Board of Directors, may participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors, or any
committee, by means of conference telephone, video conference or similar communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the
meeting can hear each other, and such participation in a meeting shall constitute presence in person at the meeting.

 
Section 11.             Committees.  The Board of Directors may, by resolution passed by a majority of the whole Board, designate one or more

committees, each committee to consist of one or more of the Directors of the corporation.  The Board may designate one or more Directors as alternate
members of any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee.

 
In the absence of disqualification of a member of a committee, the member or members thereof present at any meeting and not disqualified

from voting, whether or not he, she or they constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the Board of Directors to act at the meeting in
the place of any such absent or disqualified member.

 
Any such committee, to the extent provided in the resolution of the Board of Directors, shall have and may exercise all the powers and

authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the corporation, and may authorize the seal of the corporation to be
affixed to all papers which may require it; but no such committee shall have the power or authority in reference to amending the Certificate of Incorporation,
adopting an agreement of merger or consolidation, recommending to the stockholders the sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the corporation’s
property and assets, recommending to the stockholders a dissolution of the corporation or a revocation of a dissolution, or amending the Bylaws of the
corporation; and, unless the resolution or the Certificate of Incorporation expressly so provides, no such committee shall have the power or authority to
declare a dividend or to authorize the issuance of stock.  Such committee or committees shall have such name or names as may be determined from time to
time by resolution adopted by the Board of Directors.

 
6

 
Each committee shall keep regular minutes of its meetings and report the same to the Board of Directors when required.
 
Unless the Board of Directors otherwise provides, each committee designated by the Board of Directors may adopt, amend and repeal rules

for the conduct of its business.  In the absence of a provision adopted by the Board of Directors or a provision in the rules of such committee to the contrary, a
majority of the entire authorized number of members of such committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business by such committee, the vote



of a majority of the members present at a meeting at the time of such vote if a quorum is then present shall be the act of such committee, and in other respects
each committee shall conduct its business in the same manner as the Board of Directors conducts its business pursuant to Article III of these Bylaws.

 
Section 12.             Fees and Compensation.  Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, the Board of Directors

shall have the authority to fix the compensation of Directors.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Directors may be paid their expenses, if
any, of attendance at each meeting of the Board of Directors and may be paid a fixed sum for attendance at each meeting of the Board of Directors or a stated
salary as Director.  No such payment shall preclude any Director from serving the corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor. 
Members of special or standing committees may be allowed like compensation for attending committee meetings.

 
Section 13.             Removal.  Subject to any limitations imposed by law or the Certificate of Incorporation, the Board of Directors, or any individual

Director, may be removed from office at any time only with cause by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares
entitled to vote at an election of Directors.

 
ARTICLE IV

NOTICES
 

Section 1.               Notice.  Whenever, under the provisions of statute or of the Certificate of Incorporation or of these Bylaws, notice is required to
be given to any Director or stockholder, it shall not be construed to mean personal notice, but such notice may be given in writing, by mail, addressed to such
Director or stockholder, at his, her or its address as it appears on the records of the corporation, with postage thereon prepaid, and such notice shall be deemed
to be given at the time when the same shall be deposited in the United States mail.  Notice to Directors may also be given personally, by telephone, including
a voice messaging system or other system or technology designed to record and communicate messages, telegram, facsimile, electronic mail or other
electronic means.

 
Section 2.               Waiver of Notice.  Whenever any notice is required to be given under the provisions of statute or of the Certificate of

Incorporation or of these Bylaws, a waiver thereof in writing, signed by the person or persons entitled to said notice, whether before or after the time stated
therein, shall be deemed equivalent thereto.  Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except when the person
attends a meeting for the
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express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

 
ARTICLE V
OFFICERS

 
Section 1.               Enumeration.  The officers of the corporation shall be chosen by the Board of Directors and shall include a Chief Executive

Officer, a Chief Financial Officer and a Secretary.  The Board of Directors may elect from among its members a Chairman of the Board and a Vice Chairman
of the Board.  The Board of Directors may also choose a President, one or more Vice Presidents, one or more Assistant Secretaries and such other officers as
the Board of Directors shall deem necessary.  Any number of offices may be held by the same person, unless the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws
otherwise provide.

 
The compensation of all officers and agents of the corporation shall be fixed by the Board of Directors, and no officer shall be prevented

from receiving such compensation by virtue of such officer also being a Director of the corporation.
 

Section 2.               Election or Appointment.  The Board of Directors at its first meeting after each annual meeting of stockholders shall choose a
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and a Secretary and may choose a President, one or more Vice Presidents and one or more Assistant
Secretaries.  The Board of Directors may appoint such other officers and agents as it shall deem necessary who shall hold their offices for such terms and shall
exercise such powers and perform such duties as shall be determined from time to time by the Board.

 
Section 3.               Tenure, Removal and Vacancies.  Each officer of the corporation shall hold office until his or her successor is chosen and

qualified, or until his or her earlier death, resignation or removal.  Any officer elected or appointed by the Board of Directors may be removed at any time by
the affirmative vote of a majority of the Board of Directors.  Any vacancy occurring in any office of the corporation shall be filled by the Board of Directors.

 
Section 4.               Chairman of the Board.  The Chairman of the Board, if any, shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors at which he or

she shall be present.  The Chairman of the Board shall have and may exercise such powers as are, from time to time, assigned by the Board and as may be
provided by law.

 
Section 5.               Vice Chairman of the Board.  In the absence of the Chairman of the Board, the Vice Chairman of the Board, if any, shall preside

at all meetings of the Board of Directors at which he or she shall be present.  The Vice Chairman of the Board shall have and may exercise such powers as
are, from time to time, assigned by the Board and as may be provided by law.

 
Section 6.               Chief Executive Officer.  The Chief Executive Officer of the corporation shall, subject to the control of the Board of Directors,

have general supervision, direction and control of the business and the officers of the corporation.  The Chief Executive Officer shall preside at all meetings of
the stockholders (unless another officer is designated by the Board of Directors), and, in the absence or nonexistence of a Chairman of the Board or Vice
Chairman of
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the Board, the Chief Executive Officer shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors.  The Chief Executive Officer shall have the general powers and
duties of management usually vested in the Chief Executive Officer of a corporation, including general supervision, direction and control of the business and
supervision of other officers of the corporation, and shall have such other powers and duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or these Bylaws.

 



The Chief Executive Officer shall, without limitation, have the authority to execute bonds, mortgages and other contracts requiring a seal,
under the seal of the corporation, except where required or permitted by law to be otherwise signed and executed and except where the signing and execution
thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Directors to some other officer or agent of the corporation.

 
Section 7.               President.  Subject to such supervisory powers as may be given by these Bylaws or the Board of Directors to the Chairman of the

Board or the Chief Executive Officer, if there be such officers, the President shall have general supervision, direction and control of the business and
supervision of other officers of the corporation, and shall have such other powers and duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or these Bylaws. 
In the event a Chief Executive Officer shall not be appointed, the President shall have the duties of such office.

 
Section 8.               Vice Presidents.  The Vice President, or if there shall be more than one, the Vice Presidents in the order determined by the Board

of Directors, shall, in the absence or disability of the President, act with all of the powers and be subject to all the restrictions of the President.  The Vice
Presidents shall also perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the President or these
Bylaws may, from time to time, prescribe.

 
Section 9.               Secretary.  Unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors, the Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Board of

Directors, all meetings of the committees thereof and all meetings of the stockholders and record all the proceedings of the meetings in a book or books to be
kept for that purpose.  Under the Chief Executive Officer’s or President’s supervision, the Secretary (unless another officer is designated by the Board of
Directors) shall give, or cause to be given, all notices required to be given by these Bylaws or by law; shall have such powers and perform such duties as the
Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the President or these Bylaws may, from time to time, prescribe; and shall have custody of the seal of the
corporation.  The Secretary, or an Assistant Secretary, shall have authority to affix the seal of the corporation to any instrument requiring it and when so
affixed, it may be attested by his or her signature or by the signature of such Assistant Secretary.  The Board of Directors may give general authority to any
other officer to affix the seal of the corporation and to attest the affixing by his or her signature.

 
Section 10.             Assistant Secretary.  The Assistant Secretary, if any, or if there be more than one, the Assistant Secretaries in the order

determined by the Board of Directors, shall, in the absence, disability or refusal to act of the Secretary, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the
Secretary and shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, the Secretary
or these Bylaws may, from time to time, prescribe.
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Section 11.             Chief Financial Officer.  The Chief Financial Officer shall act as Treasurer and shall have the custody of the corporate funds and

securities and shall keep full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the corporation and shall deposit all moneys and other
valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the corporation in such depositories as may be designated by the Board of Directors.  The Chief Financial
Officer may alternatively be designated by the title “Treasurer.”

 
The Chief Financial Officer shall disburse the funds of the corporation as may be ordered by the Board of Directors, taking proper vouchers

for such disbursements, and shall render to the Chief Executive Officer or, if there be no Chief Executive Officer, the President and the Board of Directors, at
its regular meetings, or when the Board of Directors so requires, an account of all his or her transactions as Chief Financial Officer and of the financial
condition of the corporation.
 

Section 12.             Other Officers, Assistant Officers and Agents.  Officers, assistant officers and agents, if any, other than those whose duties are
provided for in these Bylaws, shall have such authority and perform such duties as may from time to time be prescribed by the Board of Directors, the Chief
Executive Officer or the President.

 
Section 13.             Absence or Disability of Officers.  In the case of the absence or disability of any officer of the corporation and of any person

hereby authorized to act in such officer’s place during such officer’s absence or disability, the Board of Directors may delegate the powers and duties of such
officer to any officer or to any Director, or to any other person who it may select.

 
ARTICLE VI

CERTIFICATES OF STOCK
 

Section 1.               Certificates of Stock.  Every holder of stock in the corporation shall be entitled to have a certificate, signed by, or in the name of
the corporation by, the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors, or the Chief Executive Officer or the President or a Vice President and the
Chief Financial Officer or an Assistant Chief Financial Officer, or the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the corporation, certifying the number of shares
owned by him or her in the corporation.

 
Certificates may be issued for partly paid shares and in such case upon the face or back of the certificates issued to represent any such partly

paid shares, the total amount of the consideration to be paid therefor, and the amount paid thereon shall be specified.
 
If the corporation shall be authorized to issue more than one class of stock or more than one series of any class, the powers, designations,

preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights of each class of stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions
of such preferences and/or rights shall be set forth in full or summarized on the face or back of the certificate which the corporation shall issue to represent
such class or series of stock, provided that, except as otherwise provided in Section 202 of the General Corporation Law of Delaware, in lieu of the foregoing
requirements, there may be set
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forth on the face or back of the certificate which the corporation shall issue to represent such class or series of stock, a statement that the corporation will
furnish without charge to each stockholder who so requests the powers, designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights of
each class of stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such preferences and/or rights.

 



Section 2.               Execution of Certificates.  Any or all of the signatures on the certificate may be facsimile.  In case any officer, transfer agent or
registrar who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon a certificate shall have ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before
such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the corporation with the same effect as if he or she were such officer, transfer agent or registrar at the date of
issue.

 
Section 3.               Lost Certificates.  The Board of Directors may direct a new certificate or certificates to be issued in place of any certificate or

certificates theretofore issued by the corporation alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person
claiming the certificate of stock to be lost, stolen or destroyed.  When authorizing such issue of a new certificate or certificates, the Board of Directors may, in
its discretion and as a condition precedent to the issuance thereof, require the owner of such lost, stolen or destroyed certificate or certificates, or the owner’s
legal representative, to advertise the same in such manner as it shall require and/or to give the corporation a bond in such sum as it may direct as indemnity
against any claim that may be made against the corporation with respect to the certificate alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed.

 
Section 4.               Transfer of Stock.  Upon surrender to the corporation or the transfer agent of the corporation of a certificate for shares duly

endorsed or accompanied by proper evidence of succession, assignation or authority to transfer, it shall be the duty of the corporation to issue a new
certificate to the person entitled thereto, cancel the old certificate and record the transaction upon its books.

 
Section 5.               Fixing Record Date.  In order that the corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting

of stockholders or any adjournment thereof, or entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights, or entitled to
exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock or for the purpose of any other lawful action, the Board of Directors may fix, in
advance, a record date, which shall not be more than sixty (60) nor less than ten (10) days before the date of such meeting, nor more than sixty (60) days prior
to any other action.  A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of
the meeting; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting.

 
Section 6.               Registered Stockholders.  The corporation shall be entitled to recognize the exclusive right of a person registered on its books as

the owner of shares to receive dividends, and to vote as such owner, and to hold liable for calls and assessments a person registered on its books as the owner
of shares and shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in such share or shares on the part of any other person, whether or
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not it shall have express or other notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by the laws of Delaware.

 
ARTICLE VII

INDEMNIFICATION
 

Section 1.               Indemnification of Directors and Executive Officers.  The corporation shall indemnify its Directors and executive officers to the
fullest extent not prohibited by the Delaware General Corporation Law; provided, however, that the corporation may limit the extent of such indemnification
by individual contracts with its Directors and executive officers; and, provided, further, that the corporation shall not be required to indemnify any Director or
executive officer in connection with any proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by such person or any proceeding by such person against the corporation or its
Directors, officers, employees or other agents unless (i) such indemnification is expressly required to be made by law, (ii) the proceeding was authorized by
the Board of Directors of the corporation, or (iii) such indemnification is provided by the corporation, in its sole discretion, pursuant to the powers vested in
the corporation under the Delaware General Corporation Law.

 
Section 2.               Indemnification of Other Officers, Employees and Other Agents.  The corporation shall have power to indemnify its other

officers, employees and other agents to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law.
 

Section 3.               Good Faith.
 

(a)           For purposes of any determination under this Article VII, a Director or officer shall be deemed to have acted in good
faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or
proceeding, to have had no reasonable cause to believe that his or her conduct was unlawful, if such Director’s or officer’s action is based on information,
opinions, reports and statements, including financial statements and other financial data, in each case prepared or presented by:

 
(1)           one or more officers or employees of the corporation whom the Director or executive officer believed to be

reliable and competent in the matters presented;
 

(2)           counsel, independent accountants or other persons as to matters which the Director or executive officer believed
to be within such person’s professional competence; or

 
(3)           with respect to a Director, a committee of the Board upon which such Director does not serve, as to matters

within such committee’s designated authority, which committee the Director believes to merit confidence; so long as, in each case,
the Director or executive officer acts without knowledge that would cause such reliance to be unwarranted.
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(b)           The termination of any proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its

equivalent shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which such person reasonably believed to be in or
not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, that such person had reasonable cause to believe that his or
her conduct was unlawful.

 
(c)           The provisions of this Section 3 shall not be deemed to be exclusive or to limit in any way the circumstances in which a

person may be deemed to have met the applicable standard of conduct set forth by the Delaware General Corporation Law.
 



Section 4.               Expenses.  To the extent permitted by law and subject to the terms and conditions of any individual contracts with its Directors
and executive officers, the corporation shall advance, prior to the final disposition of any proceeding, promptly following request therefor, all expenses
incurred by any Director or executive officer in connection with such proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of such person to repay said
amounts if it should be determined ultimately that such person is not entitled to be indemnified under this Article VII or otherwise.

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, and subject to the terms and conditions of any individual contracts with its Directors and executive officers, no

advance shall be made by the corporation if a determination is reasonably and promptly made (i) by the Board of Directors by a majority vote of a quorum
consisting of Directors who were not parties to the proceeding, or (ii) if such quorum is not obtainable, or, even if obtainable, a quorum of disinterested
Directors so directs, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion, that the facts known to the decision-making party at the time such determination is
made demonstrate clearly and convincingly that such person acted in bad faith or in a manner that such person did not believe to be in or not opposed to the
best interests of the corporation.

 
Section 5.               Enforcement.  Without the necessity of entering into an express contract, all rights to indemnification and advances to Directors

and executive officers under this Article VII shall be deemed to be contractual rights and be effective to the same extent and as if provided for in a contract
between the corporation and the Director or executive officer.  Any right to indemnification or advances granted by this Article VII to a Director or executive
officer shall be enforceable by or on behalf of the person holding such right in any court of competent jurisdiction if (i) the claim for indemnification or
advances is denied, in whole or in part, or (ii) no disposition of such claim is made within ninety (90) days of request therefor.  The claimant in such
enforcement action, if successful in whole or in part, shall be entitled to be paid also the expense of prosecuting his or her claim.  The corporation shall be
entitled to raise as a defense to any such action that the claimant has not met the standards of conduct that make it permissible under the Delaware General
Corporation Law for the corporation to indemnify the claimant for the amount claimed.  Neither the failure of the corporation (including its Board of
Directors, independent legal counsel or its stockholders) to have made a determination prior to the commencement of such action that indemnification of the
claimant is proper in the circumstances because he or she has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in the Delaware General Corporation Law, nor
an actual determination by the corporation (including its
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Board of Directors, independent legal counsel or its stockholders) that the claimant has not met such applicable standard of conduct, shall be a defense to the
action or create a presumption that the claimant has not met the applicable standard of conduct.

 
Section 6.               Non-Exclusivity of Rights.  The rights conferred on any person by this Article VII shall not be exclusive of any other right which

such person may have or hereafter acquire under any statute, provision of the Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, agreement, vote of stockholders or
disinterested Directors or otherwise, both as to action in such person’s official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding office.  The
corporation is specifically authorized to enter into individual contracts with any or all of its Directors, officers, employees or agents respecting
indemnification and advances, to the fullest extent not prohibited by the Delaware General Corporation Law.

 
Section 7.               Survival of Rights.  The rights conferred on any person by this Article VII shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a

Director, officer, employee or other agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such a person.
 

Section 8.               Insurance.  To the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, the corporation, upon approval by the
Board of Directors, may purchase insurance on behalf of any person required or permitted to be indemnified pursuant to this Article VII.

 
Section 9.               Amendments.  Any repeal or modification of this Article VII shall only be prospective and shall not affect the rights under this

Article VII in effect at the time of the alleged occurrence of any action or omission to act that is the cause of any proceeding against any agent of the
corporation.

 
Section 10.             Saving Clause.  If this Article VII or any portion hereof shall be invalidated on any ground by any court of competent

jurisdiction, then the corporation shall nevertheless indemnify each Director and officer to the full extent not prohibited by any applicable portion of this
Article VII that shall not have been invalidated, or by any other applicable law.

 
Section 11.             Certain Definitions.  For the purposes of this Article VII, the following definitions shall apply:

 
(a)           The term “proceeding” shall be broadly construed and shall include, without limitation, the investigation, preparation,

prosecution, defense, settlement, arbitration and appeal of, and the giving of the testimony in, any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding,
whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative.

 
(b)           The term “expenses” shall be broadly construed and shall include, without limitation, court costs, attorneys’ fees, witness

fees, fines, amounts paid in settlement or judgment and any other costs and expenses of any nature or kind incurred in connection with any proceeding.
 

14

 
(c)           The term the “corporation” shall include, in addition to the resulting corporation, any constituent corporation (including

any constituent of a constituent) absorbed in a consolidation or merger which, if its separate existence had continued, would have had power and authority to
indemnify its directors, officers, and employees or agents, so that any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of such constituent
corporation, or is or was serving at the request of such constituent corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership,
joint venture, trust or other enterprise, shall stand in the same position under the provisions of this Article VII with respect to the resulting or surviving
corporation as such person would have with respect to such constituent corporation if its separate existence had continued.

 
(d)           References to a “Director,” “officer,” “employee,” or “agent” of the corporation shall include, without limitation,

situations where such person is serving at the request of the corporation as a Director, officer, employee, trustee or agent of another corporation, partnership,
joint venture, trust or other enterprise.

 



(e)           References to “other enterprises” shall include employee benefit plans; references to “fines” shall include any excise
taxes assessed on a person with respect to an employee benefit plan; and references to “serving at the request of the corporation” shall include any service as a
Director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation which imposes duties on, or involves services by, such Director, officer, employee, or agent with
respect to an employee benefit plan, its participants, or beneficiaries; and a person who acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed
to be in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries of an employee benefit plan shall be deemed to have acted in a manner “not opposed to the best
interests of the corporation” as referred to in this Article VII.

 
ARTICLE VIII
[RESERVED]

 
ARTICLE IX

GENERAL PROVISIONS
 

Section 1.               Declaration of Dividends.  Dividends upon the capital stock of the corporation, subject to the provisions of the Certificate of
Incorporation, if any, may be declared by the Board of Directors at any regular or special meeting, pursuant to law.  Dividends may be paid in cash, in
property, or in shares of the capital stock, subject to the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation.

 
Section 2.               Dividend Reserve.  Before payment of any dividend, there may be set aside out of any funds of the corporation available for

dividends such sum or sums as the Directors from time to time, in their absolute discretion, think proper as a reserve or reserves to meet contingencies, or for
equalizing dividends, or for repairing or maintaining any property of the corporation, or for such other purposes as the Directors shall think conducive to the
interest of the corporation, and the Directors may modify or abolish any such reserve in the manner in which it was created.
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Section 3.               Execution of Corporate Instruments.  All checks or demands for money and notes of the corporation shall be signed by such

officer or officers or such other person or persons as the Board of Directors may from time to time designate.
 

Section 4.               Fiscal Year.  The fiscal year of the corporation shall be fixed by resolution of the Board of Directors.
 

Section 5.               Corporate Seal.  The Board of Directors may adopt a corporate seal having inscribed thereon the name of the corporation, the
year of its organization and the words “Corporate Seal, Delaware.”  The seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or affixed or
reproduced or otherwise.

 
ARTICLE X

AMENDMENTS
 

Section 1.               Amendments.
 

(a)           Except as otherwise set forth in Section 9 of Article VII of these Bylaws, the Bylaws may be altered or amended or new
Bylaws adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding shares of capital stock of the corporation entitled to
vote generally in the election of Directors (the “Voting Stock”).  The Board of Directors shall also have the power, if such power is conferred upon the Board
of Directors by the Certificate of Incorporation, to adopt, amend or repeal Bylaws by a vote of the majority of the Board of Directors unless a greater or
different vote is required pursuant to the provisions of the Bylaws, the Certificate of Incorporation or any applicable provision of law.

 
(b)           Notwithstanding any other provisions of these Bylaws or any provision of law which might otherwise permit a lesser

vote or no vote, but in addition to any affirmative vote of the holders of any particular class or series of the Voting Stock required by law, the Certificate of
Incorporation or any Preferred Stock Designation (as the term is defined in the Certificate of Incorporation), the affirmative vote of the holders of at least
sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding shares of the Voting Stock, voting together as a single class, shall
be required to alter, amend or repeal this paragraph (b) or Section 2, Section 5 or Section 10 of Article II or Section 1 (if such alteration, amendment or repeal
relates to the Range), Section 2 or Section 13 of Article III of these Bylaws.

 
(c)           Notwithstanding any other provisions of these Bylaws or any provision of law which might otherwise permit a lesser

vote or no vote, but in addition to any affirmative vote of the holders of any particular class or series of the Voting Stock required by law, the Certificate of
Incorporation or any Preferred Stock Designation (as the term is defined in the Certificate of Incorporation), the affirmative vote of at least sixty-six and two-
thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the Directors, shall be required to alter, amend or repeal this paragraph (c) or Section 2, Section 5 or Section 10 of Article II or
Section 1 (if such alteration, amendment or repeal relates to the Range), Section 2 or Section 13 of Article III of these Bylaws.

 
[The Remainder of This Page Left Intentionally Blank]
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CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY

 
The undersigned, being the Secretary of Digirad Corporation, a Delaware corporation, does hereby certify the foregoing to be the Restated

Bylaws of said Corporation, as adopted by the requisite vote or votes of the stockholders and Directors of the Corporation and which remain in full force and
effect as of the date hereof.

 
Executed at                              effective as of                         , 2004.
 
 

   
 

Vera Pardee, Esq.
 



Secretary
  
 



 
 
 
                                                                    EXHIBIT 10.2 
 
                                       *** CERTAIN CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 
                                       CONTAINED IN THIS DOCUMENT (INDICATED 
                                       BY ASTERISKS) HAS BEEN OMITTED AND 
                                       FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES 
                                       AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION PURSUANT TO A 
                                       REQUEST FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT 
                                       UNDER 17 C.F.R. SECTIONS 200.80(B)(4), 
                                       200.83 AND 230.406. 
 
                           SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT 
 
         This Software License Agreement ("Agreement") is entered into under 
seal this 16th day of June, 1999 (the "Effective Date") by and between Segami 
Corporation, a Maryland corporation having its principal offices at 12624 Golden 
Oak Drive, Ellicott City MD 21042 ("Segami"), and Digirad Corporation 
("Digirad"), a Delaware corporation having its principal offices at 9350 Trade 
Place. San Diego CA 92126. 
 
                             Statement of Intention 
 
         A.       Segami is in the business of the development and sale of 
                  software for gamma camera image acquisition, processing and 
                  display. Segami's current software is called *** 
 
         B.       Digirad desires to purchase software from Segami for the 
                  purpose of gamma camera image acquisition, processing and 
                  display which will interface with Digirad's solid state gamma 
                  camera. 
 
 
         C.       Digirad desires to package the *** software and Digirad's 
                  hardware for resale as a single product, identifiable only as 
                  a Digirad product. 
 
         In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants herein contained, 
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree 
under seal as follows: 
 
         1.       DEFINITIONS. For the purposes of this Agreement, the following 
terms, when used herein, have the following meaning. 
 
"Base Software"-The existing *** software described in EXHIBIT D hereto in 
object and executable code forms, and all updates, enhancements, revisions, 
modifications, modules and or sub-modules thereto and all permitted copies, 
except that Base Software does not include the Interface Development. 
"Interface Development"-The new code written and modifications made to the Base 
Software which will allow use of the Base Software with Digirad's current 
hardware, in object and executable code forms, and all updates, enhancements, 
revisions, modifications, modules and or sub-modules thereto and all permitted 
copies. 
 
"Product" - Digirad's solid state gamma camera bundled together with the Base 
Software and Interface Development. 
 
         2.       LICENSE TO DIGIRAD. Subject to all the terms of this 
Agreement, Segami grants to Digirad a nonexclusive worldwide, fully paid-up 
license: 
 
         (a)      to sublicense the Base Software to end-users only in 
connection with the sale and use of the Products; any such sublicense shall be 
pursuant to a sublicense agreement for Segami's 
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benefit that contains applicable similar restrictions and obligations imposed on 
Digirad hereunder. 
 
         (b)      to use, adopt, reproduce, display, perform, test, demonstrate 
and distribute the Base Software as necessary to market, sale and distribute the 
Products. 



 
         (c)      sublicense to third parties the distribution rights for the 
Products and Base Software; any such sublicense shall be pursuant to a 
sublicense agreement for Segami 's benefit that contains applicable similar 
restrictions and obligations imposed on Digirad hereunder. 
 
The balance of this Section 2 notwithstanding, the license granted to Digirad 
shall not include the right to sublicense, sell or distribute the Base Software 
independently and separate from the Product, with the understanding that Digirad 
may demonstrate the Base Software or distribute demonstration models of the Base 
Software, limited in function, for use on systems independent from the Product. 
 
         3.       USE/LICENSE FEES. 
 
                  3.1      USE. Segami hereby grants Digirad the right to 
package and bundle the Base Software with the Product, the Interface Development 
and Digirad hardware for sale to end-users by Digirad or its subdistributors. 
 
                  3.2      LICENSE FEES. Digirad shall pay a License Fee (the 
"License Fee") to Segami, in accordance with the attached Exhibit A, for each 
copy of the Base Software distributed to any end-user, unless otherwise agreed 
upon in writing by Segami. Payment of the License Fee shall be made by Digirad 
and tendered to Segami at the sooner of *** days after customer payment or *** 
days after customer installation. Digirad will receive a reasonable number of 
demonstration versions of the Base Software including the dongle keys ("Keys") 
for using such versions ("Demo Versions") to be used for customer demonstrations 
and/or Digirad roadshows (not for sale to customers). Segami shall deliver the 
Demo Versions within *** days upon written request from Digirad. 
 
                  3.3      AUDIT. Segami shall have the right to audit the 
books, financial accounts and documents of Digirad *** in each calendar year for 
which this contract is in force, to verify the number of copies of the Base 
Software disseminated by Digirad. Segami shall employ an independent Certified 
Public Accountant at its own cost and expense for such audit. Segami shall give 
Digirad a minimum of *** days prior written notification of the audit. Digirad 
shall not unreasonably withhold its cooperation in the audit. 
 
         4.       INTERFACE DEVELOPMENT. 
 
                  4.1      DEVELOPMENT. Segami agrees to undertake and complete 
the code design, programming and testing of the Interface Development. Interface 
Development shall be in accordance with the specifications on the attached 
Exhibit B (the "Specifications") and the delivery schedule attached hereto as 
Exhibit C (the "Delivery Schedule"). Segami shall be 
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responsible for obtaining and maintaining operational status and approvals of 
the Base Software and Interface Development (and any new versions or 
improvements thereto) under FDA, CE and other regulatory authorities or 
agencies. Segami agrees that its conduct in performing its obligations under 
this Agreement shall conform in all material respects to all applicable laws and 
regulations of the U.S. and foreign governments (and political subdivisions 
thereof). 
 
                  4.2      ACCEPTANCE. Digirad will, by written notice, accept 
or reject any portion of the Interface Development delivered (individually, the 
"Deliverable(s)") within *** days after receipt. Failure to give notice of 
acceptance or rejection within that period will constitute acceptance. Digirad 
may reject any Deliverable only if the Deliverable fails to meet the 
Specifications or, at the fault or failing of that Deliverable alone, the 
Product cannot operate in a commercially reasonable manner. If Digirad properly 
rejects the Deliverable, Segami will correct the failures properly specified in 
the rejection notice within *** days of the rejection notice. When it believes 
that it has made the necessary corrections, Segami will again deliver the 
Deliverable to Digirad and the acceptance/rejection/correction provisions above 
shall be reapplied until the Deliverable is accepted; provided, however, that 
upon the *** or any subsequent rejection or if the corrections are not made 
within *** days of the initial rejection, Digirad may at its option terminate 
this Agreement by immediate written notice unless the Deliverable is accepted 
during the notice period. 
 
         5.       COMPENSATION FOR INTERFACE DEVELOPMENT. Digirad shall make 
payments to Segami in accordance with the Delivery Schedule. Each payment will 
be in U.S. dollars from the United States and will be made no later than *** 



days from the occurrence of the event specified in the Delivery Schedule for 
which payment is due. 
 
         6.       OWNERSHIP RIGHTS. As between the parties Segami shall retain 
all right title and interest, including all patent, copyright, trade secret, 
trademark, mask work or other rights, in the Base Software, or any other idea or 
product conceived or reduced to form by Segami, its agents or assigns as of the 
Effective Date. Digirad shall have all right, title and interest, in the 
Interface Development. The parties hereby make any assignments necessary to 
accomplish the foregoing ownership provisions. 
 
         7.       SUPPORT/MAINTENANCE. 
 
                  7.1      SUPPORT.  During the term of this Agreement: 
 
                           (1)      Segami shall use its best efforts to respond 
within *** days after receipt of written notice of verifiable defects, and 
propose a plan for prompt and effective remedy, and shall provide general 
guidance concerning the Base Software or Interface Development. Defects shall be 
reported in writing via electronic mail or facsimile to Segami at the 
telephone/email numbers provided by Segami to Digirad from time to time. 
 
                           (2)      Segami shall inform Digirad promptly of any 
changes in the Base Software or delivery schedules. 
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                           (3)      Subject to the other terms and conditions of 
this Agreement, Segami shall use its reasonable best efforts to promptly fill 
Digirad's orders for Keys. Promptly following the execution of this Agreement, 
Segami shall place *** Keys in escrow. If Segami materially fails to provide a 
sufficient number of Keys to Digirad for delivery of Products to end-users, 
after *** days written notice to Segami, Digirad shall be entitled to receive 
from escrow any or all of the Keys. If Segami fails to provide a sufficient 
number of Keys to Digirad for delivery of Products to end-users, after *** days 
written notice to Segami, Digirad shall be entitled to a fully executed purchase 
order from Segami to the Key manufacturer ("Escrow Materials") authorizing the 
Key manufacturer to provide directly to Digirad those Keys reasonably necessary, 
in Digirad's sole discretion, for Digirad to sell and install Product. In 
support of the foregoing and promptly after execution of this Agreement, Segami 
will place in escrow (pursuant to the terms of an escrow agreement in form 
mutually acceptable to the parties hereto) the Escrow Materials as they exist at 
the date of the Agreement. Segami will update the escrow with any new or 
modified Escrow Materials and Keys promptly as it becomes necessary and will 
notify Digirad when it does so. *** *** 
 
                           (4)      Segami agrees to provide *** standard 
training *** for Digirad personnel. *** shall be given at Digirad's main office 
on a schedule reasonably acceptable to Segami but commencing no later than *** 
days after Digirad's written request. *** 
                                      *** 
*** 
 
                           (5)      Segami shall provide free technical support 
to Digirad personnel up to *** during the first year, and *** per year after 
that. This does not include time spent on developments set forth in Section 4 or 
Section 7.1(1). Segami shall provide Digirad with all the user's documentation 
in its possession. 
 
                  7.2      MAINTENANCE RELEASES. In the exercise of its sole 
discretion and from time to time, Segami may develop and make available 
maintenance release for the Base Software at no cost to Digirad. Such 
maintenance release shall be patches for the purpose of correcting any 
deficiencies in the Base Software which may become apparent to Digirad and 
Segami after successful delivery of the Interface Development. 
 
                  7.3      ENHANCEMENTS/UPGRADES. In the exercise of its sole 
discretion and from time to time, Segami may develop and make available for sale 
through Digirad to end-users, and at an additional license fee to Segami, to be 
negotiated in good faith by the Parties, substantially upgraded versions of the 
Base Software which incorporate significant functional changes or additions, or 
substantially improved performance. 
 
         8.       CONFIDENTIALITY. Each party agrees that all code, inventions 
algorithms, know-how and ideas and all other business, technical and financial 



information they obtain from the other are confidential information and property 
of the disclosing party ("Confidential Information"). Each party shall use 
Confidential Information of the other party which is disclosed to it only for 
the purposes of this Agreement and shall not disclose such Confidential 
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Information to-any third party, without the other party's prior written consent, 
other than to Segami's subcontractors, subdistributors and employees on a 
need-to-know basis. Each party agrees to take measures to protect the 
confidentiality of the other party's Confidential Information that, in the 
aggregate, are no less protective than those measures it uses to protect the 
confidentiality of its own Confidential Information, but at a minimum, each 
party shall take reasonable steps to advise their employees, subcontractors and 
subdistributors of the confidential nature of the Confidential Information and 
of the prohibitions on copying or revealing such Confidential Information 
contained herein. The parties each agree to require that the other party's 
Confidential Information be kept in a reasonably secure location. 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement neither 
party shall be obligated to treat as confidential, or otherwise be subject to 
the restrictions on use, disclosure or treatment contained in this Agreement for 
any information disclosed by the other party (the "Disclosing party") which: (1) 
is rightfully known to the recipient prior to its disclosure by the Disclosing 
Party; (2) is generally known or easily ascertainable by non-parties of ordinary 
skill in computer process design or programming or in the business of the 
client; (3) is released by the Disclosing Party to any other person, firm or 
entity (including governmental agencies or bureaus) without restrictions; (4) is 
independently developed by the recipient without any reliance on Confidential 
Information; or (5) is or later becomes publicly available without violation of 
this Agreement or may be lawfully obtained by a party from a non-party. Neither 
party will be liable to the other for inadvertent or accidental -disclosure of 
Confidential Information if the disclosure occurs notwithstanding the party's 
exercise of the same level of protection and care that such party customarily 
uses in safeguarding its own confidential information. 
 
         Notwithstanding the foregoing, all Confidential Information developed 
by Segami, including but not limited to the Interface Development, in connection 
with this Agreement shall be deemed Confidential Information of Digirad 
disclosed by Digirad to Segami and exceptions (1) and (4) above will not be 
applicable thereto. 
 
 
         9.       EXPORT CONTROL. Each party hereby agrees to comply with all 
export laws and restrictions and regulations of the Department of Commerce or 
other United States or foreign agency or authority, and not to export, or allow 
the export or re-export of any proprietary information or software or any copy 
or direct product thereof in violation of any such restrictions, laws or 
regulations. 
 
         10.      TERMINATION 
 
                  10.1     TERMINATION BY DIGIRAD. Digirad may terminate this 
Agreement if Segami is in material breach of, or default under, this Agreement 
and such breach or default is not cured within *** days after Digirad delivers 
written notice of such breach or default to Segami. 
 
                  10.2     TERMINATION BY SEGAMI. Segami may terminate this 
Agreement if Digirad is in material breach of or default under, this Agreement 
and such breach or default is not cured within *** days after written notice to 
Digirad. A material breach of and default 
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under, this Agreement by Digirad shall include, without limitation, the 
occurrence of the failure of Digirad to pay any License Fee when due. 
 
                  10.3     SURVIVAL. Sections 5-15 of this Agreement, any 
accrued rights to payment, any licenses granted in this Agreement that are 
expressly perpetual and any remedies for breach of this Agreement shall survive 



termination. 
 
         11.      LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. 
 
                  (a)      Except under Section 8 and the indemnity provisions 
of Section 12, neither party nor its affiliates shall, under any circumstances, 
be liable to the other party or its affiliates for any claim based upon any 
third party claim or for consequential, incidental, indirect, punitive, 
exemplary or special damages of any nature whatsoever, or for any damages 
arising out of or in connection with any malfunctions, delays, loss of data, 
loss of profit, interruption of service or loss of business or anticipatory 
profits, even if a party or its affiliates have been apprised of the likelihood 
of such damages occurring. 
 
                  (b)      *** 
                           *** 
                           *** 
 
         12.      INDEMNIFICATION 
 
                  (a)      The parties each agree to indemnify, defend and hold 
harmless the other from and against any and all amounts, including legal fees 
and other out-of-pocket expenses, payable under any judgment, verdict, court 
order or settlement for death or bodily injury or the damage to or loss or 
destruction of any real or tangible personal property to the extent arising out 
of the indemnitor's negligence, gross negligence, or willful misconduct in the 
performance of this Agreement. 
 
                  (b)      Segami agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless 
Digirad, its distributors and end-users from and against any and all amounts, 
including legal fees and other out-of-pocket expenses, payable under any 
judgment, verdict, court order or settlement to the extent resulting from any 
third party allegation that the Base Software or the work performed by Segami 
under this Agreement infringes such third party's intellectual property rights, 
including, without limitation, patent, copyright or trade secret. Should 
Digirad's use of work performed by Segami be determined to have infringed, or if 
in Segami's and Digirad's reasonable judgment such use is likely to be 
infringing, *** *** *** 
 
                  (c)      Digirad agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless 
Segami from and against any and all amounts payable under any judgment, verdict, 
court order or settlement to the extent resulting from any affiliated third 
party allegation that the work performed by Segami under this Agreement 
infringes such third party's intellectual property rights to the extent 
attributable to software, hardware, data, knowledge or services provided by 
Digirad. 
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                  (d)      The indemnities in this paragraph are contingent 
upon: (1) the indemnified party promptly notifying the indemnifying party in 
writing of any claim which may give rise to a claim for indemnification 
hereunder; (2) the indemnifying party being allowed to control the defense and 
settlement of such claim; and (3) the indemnified party cooperating with all 
reasonable requests of the indemnifying party (at the indemnifying party' 
expense) in defending or settling such claim. The indemnified party shall have 
the right, at its option and expense, to participate in the defense of any 
action, suitor proceeding relating to such a claim through a counsel of its own 
choosing. 
 
         13.      WARRANTIES. Segami warrants that it has and will obtain 
agreements with its employees and contractors sufficient to allow it to provide 
Digirad with the assignments and licenses to intellectual property rights 
contemplated in this Agreement. Segami also warrants that the Base Software and 
Interface Development and any part thereof shall meet the Specifications, and 
perform in a commercially reasonable manner until the later of (i) *** years 
from the final date of delivery on the Delivery Schedule and (ii) with respect 
to each product containing the Base Software and/or Interface Development, *** 
year from the date of installation of such product by Digirad or its distributor 
to an end-user. If Digirad finds that the Products, or part thereof fail to meet 
the above warranty, Segami shall, at its option, immediately repair or replace 
the Base Software and/or Interface Development or part thereof at its costs and 
expenses without prejudice to any other rights and remedies of Digirad under 
this Agreement or applicable law. If a Deliverable is rejected, the warranty 
will extend accordingly from any adjusted final delivery date. Except for 



Section 14, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this 
Agreement, Segami makes no other warranties, express or implied, or whether 
arising by operation of law, course of performance or dealing, custom, usage in 
the trade or profession or otherwise including without limitation implied 
warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose. 
 
         14.      MILLENNIUM WARRANTY. 
 
                  14.1     GENERAL, Other sections of this Agreement 
notwithstanding, Segami represents and warrants that for a period of four (4) 
years after the Effective Date, the Base Software and the Interface Development 
will be able to accurately: (a) process any date-roll event with no adverse 
impact on the functionality of the software including without limitation, the 
producing of error(s) or abnormal interruption; (b) process date-data 
calculations including, without limitation, computation, comparisons, 
sequencing, sorts and extracts and return and display date-data in a consistent 
manner regardless of the dates used in such date-data whether before, on, 
during, or after January 1, 2000; (c) process any date-data computations that 
can be expected from the software if used for its intended purpose, regardless 
of the date in time on which the processes are actually performed and regardless 
of the date-data input, whether before, on, during or after January 1, 2000; (d) 
exchange date-data related information with other hardware, firmware or software 
with which it interacts, provided that the interacting hardware, firmware or 
software is itself capable of exchanging accurate date-data; (e) accept and 
respond to four-digit year-date input in a manner that resolves any ambiguities 
as to the century in a defined predetermined and appropriate manner; and (f) 
store and display date-data in ways that are unambiguous as to the determination 
of the century. No date-data shall cause such software to 
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perform an abnormally ending routine or function within the processes or 
generate incorrect values or invalid results. For purposes of the foregoing, a 
date-rollover event is defined as any transaction between one calendar year and 
the following calendar year including, without limitation, any time, date and 
day-of-the-week progressions and any regularly scheduled leap events. Date-data 
is defined as any data, formula, algorithm, process, input or output, which 
includes, calculates or represents a date, day or time, a reference to a date, 
day or time, or a representation of a date, day or time. 
 
                  14.2     SPECIAL REMEDIES. In the event of any breach of the 
warranties and covenants contained in this section, provided that such breach is 
not cured by Segami within *** days following receipt of written notice of such 
breach, in addition to other rights and remedies that may be available to 
Digirad under this Agreement, Segami shall be responsible for: (a) any costs of 
repairing, replacing and/or correcting the affected software; and (b) cover and 
other similar damages that are incurred by Digirad as a result of Segami's 
breach of this warranty. 
 
         15.      MISCELLANEOUS 
 
                  15.1     BINDING NATURE. This Agreement shall be binding upon 
and shall inure to the benefit of the parties to this Agreement and their 
respective successors and permitted assigns. Segami shall not have any right or 
ability to assign, transfer, or sublicense any obligations or benefit under this 
Agreement without the written consent of Digirad, except that Segami may assign 
and transfer this Agreement and its rights and obligations hereunder to any 
third party who succeeds to substantially all its business or assets. 
 
                  15.2     ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement constitutes the 
entire agreement between the parties and there are no representations, 
warranties, covenants, or obligations except as set forth in this Agreement. 
This Agreement supersedes all prior or contemporaneous agreements 
understandings, negotiations and discussions, written or oral, of the parties to 
this Agreement, relating to any transaction contemplated by this Agreement. 
 
                  15.3     SEVERABILITY. Each provision of this Agreement shall 
be considered separable and if for any reason any provision or provisions in 
this Agreement are determined to be invalid arid contrary to any existing or 
future law, that invalidity shall not impair the operation of this Agreement or 
affect those portions of this Agreement which are valid. 
 
                  15.4     ARBITRATION. If any dispute or controversy arises 
among the parties to this Agreement concerning any provision of this Agreement, 
that dispute or controversy shall be submitted for resolution to a board of 



arbitration in *** *** *** Such arbitration shall be conducted pursuant to the 
rules of the American Arbitration Association (the "AAA") or other governing 
rules and *** *** *** 
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                  15.5     NO AGENCY. This Agreement shall not be deemed to 
constitute the parties hereto as partners, joint venturers, nor shall either 
patty hereto be deemed to be an agent of any nature, kind and description 
whatsoever of the other. 
 
                  15.6     JURISDICTION AND VENUE. This Agreement shall be 
governed, enforced, performed and construed in accordance with the laws of the 
State of *** *** Subject to the provisions of Section 15.4 hereof each of the 
parties hereto hereby submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state and/or 
federal courts located within the State of *** for any suit, hearing or other 
legal proceeding of every nature, kind and description whatsoever in the event 
of any dispute or controversy arising hereunder or relating hereto, or in the 
event any ruling, finding or other legal determination is required or desired 
hereunder. 
 
                  15.7     ATTORNEYS FEES. In the event that legal proceedings 
are commenced in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated 
hereby, the party or parties *** *** *** 
 
                  15.8     AMBIGUITY. The parties acknowledge that each party 
and its respective counsel have reviewed and revised this Agreement and that the 
normal rule of construction to the effect that any ambiguities are to be 
resolved against the drafting party shall not be employed in the interpretation 
of this Agreement or any amendments or exhibits, or schedules hereto. 
 
                  15.9     EXHIBITS. The exhibits attached hereto and each 
certificate, schedule, list summary or other document provided or delivered 
pursuant to this Agreement or in connection with the transactions contemplated 
hereby are incorporated herein by this reference and made a part hereof. 
 
                  15.10    COUNTERPARTS. Provided that all parties hereto 
execute a copy of this Agreement, this Agreement may be executed in 
counterparts, each of which shall he deemed an original and all of which 
together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Executed copies of this 
Agreement may be delivered by facsimile transmission or other comparable 
electronic means. 
 
                  15.11    VOLUNTARY AGREEMENT. The parties hereto represent 
that they have carefully read the foregoing Agreement, understood its terms, 
consulted with an attorney of their choice, and voluntarily signed the same as 
their own free act with the intent to be legally bound thereby. The terms of 
this Agreement are contractual and not a mere recital. 
 
                  15.12    FORCE MAJEURE. Neither party shall be liable to the 
other for its failure to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement 
during any period in which such performance is delayed due to circumstances 
beyond its control, including acts of God or public authorities, was and war 
measures, civil unrest, natural disasters or delays in transportation, delivery 
or supply. 
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                  15.13    NOTICE. All notices under this Agreement shall be in 
writing and shall be deemed given when personally delivered or three days after 
being sent prepaid certified or registered United States mail to the address of 
the party to be noticed as set forth below or such other addresses as such party 
last provided to the other by notice: 
 
 
                           Digirad:         Digirad Corporation 
                                            9350 Trade Place 
                                            San Diego CA 92126 
                                            Attn: President and COO 



 
                           Segami:          Segami Corporation 
                                            12624 Golden Oak Drive 
                                            Ellicott City MD 21042 
                                            Attn: Philippe Briandet Ph.D. 
 
                           Copy to:         Christopher S. Young, Esq. 
                                            3440 Ellicott Center Drive 
                                            Ste. 203 
                                            Ellicott City MD 21043 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed 
under seal as of the date first above written. 
 
ATTEST:                                        Digirad Corporation 
 
 
By:      /s/ ILLEGIBLE                       By:     /s/ Scott Huennekens 
   -------------------------------              -------------------------------- 
Title:        Controller           (SEAL)    Title:    President & COO 
      ----------------------------                 ----------------------------- 
 
 
                                             Segami Corporation 
 
 
By:         /s/ ILLEGIBLE       (Secretary)  By:        /s/ ILLEGIBLE 
   -------------------------------                ------------------------------ 
Title:                             (SEAL)    Title:      President 
      ----------------------------                 ----------------------------- 
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           AMENDMENT TO THE DIGIRAD-SEGAMI SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT 



 
     This Amendment to the Digirad-Segami Software License Agreement 
("Addendum"), is entered into under seal this 15TH day of NOV, 2001, by and 
between ") by and between Segami Corporation, a Maryland corporation having its 
principal offices at Segami Corporation 8335 Guilford Rd., Suite I, Columbia MD 
21046 ("Segami"), and Digirad Corporation ("Digirad"), a Delaware corporation 
having its principal offices at 9350 Trade Place, San Diego, CA 92126. 
 
                                   Background 
 
     A.   Digirad and Segami entered into a written contract on JUNE 16, 1999 
          (the "Agreement"). 
     B.   The Parties wish to amend the terms of the Agreement pursuant to 
          paragraph 15 of the Agreement. 
     C.   Digirad is licensing from Segami a modified version of Segami's 
          Acquisition software, and Segami's current processing and display 
          software, both known under the trade name Mirage. 
     D.   Digirad desires to develop its own applications, related to 
          acquisition or processing tasks, to run on the Mirage platform. 
 
     In consideration of the mutual promises and covenants herein contained, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree 
under seal as follows: 
 
1.   DEFINITION: 
 
     "Digirad Application": an application specified and developed by Digirad's 
     engineers, with or without help from Segami, using the Mirage development 
     platform, without modifying existing Mirage applications. 
 
2.   DELIVERABLES: 
 
     Segami shall deliver its standard version 5 development kit to Digirad, 
     i.e. all .dll and .lib library files, with all associated .hpp headers, 
     some sample source code, plus the current documentation on the platform and 
     its libraries, as is. There will be no support for Mirage version 4. 
 
3.   FEES. 
 
     For the duration of the current Agreement, Segami grants Digirad a 
     non-exclusive license to the Mirage development environment, at no 
     additional charge. 
 
     A one-week training session for 2 or 3 Digirad engineers in Segami's 
     facilities will be offered at no charge (travel, lodging and meal expenses 
     will be the responsibility of Digirad). 
 
     Segami's services to help Digirad develop its own applications are 
     available to Digirad as part of the technical assistance covered under the 
     current Agreement, at the same hourly rate, and without increasing the 
     total guaranteed number of hours. 
 
 
 
4.   RESPONSIBILITY. 
 
     Segami shall assume no responsibility whatsoever for the applications 
     developed by Digirad. Segami makes no guarantee that applications developed 
     by Digirad using the version 5 development platform will work as intended 
     with any other version of Mirage, or any other similar Segami product. 
 
5.   OWNERSHIP RIGHTS. 
 
     Segami shall retain all right title and interest in the libraries, 
     including changes that Segami may make to the libraries at Digirad's 
     request, and in the Mirage product in its entirety. 
 
     Digirad shall have all right, title and interest, in the applications that 
     it develops. 
 
6.   INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE. 
 
     This Addendum shall be governed and interpreted as part of the Agreement 
     and its general terms and conditions. If any conflict exists, or is 
     determined by a court or arbitrator to exist, between the Agreement and 
     this Addendum, the Agreement shall be controlling. 
 
In witness whereof, the Parties have caused this Addendum to be executed under 
seal as of the date first above written. 
 
ATTEST                                     Segami Corporation 



 
 
 /s/ ILLEGIBLE                             By:   /s/ PHILIPPE BRIANDET 
- --------------------------------               ----------------------------- 
Secretary                                  Philippe Briandet, President 
 
 
                                           Digirad Corporation 
- -------------------------------- 
Secretary 
 
                                           By:   /s/ ILLEGIBLE 
                                               ----------------------------- 
 



EXHIBIT 10.20
 

INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT
 

This INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into this          day of                           , 20        (the “Effective
Date”) by and between Digirad Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and                            (the “Indemnitee”).

 
WHEREAS, the Company believes it is essential to retain and attract qualified directors and officers;
 
WHEREAS, the Indemnitee is or intends to become a director and/or officer of the Company;
 
WHEREAS, both the Company and the Indemnitee recognize the increased risk of litigation and other claims being asserted against directors and

officers of public companies;
 
WHEREAS, the Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the “Certificate of Incorporation”) and Restated Bylaws (the “Bylaws”) require

the Company to indemnify and advance expenses to its directors and officers to the extent permitted by the DGCL (as hereinafter defined);
 
WHEREAS, in recognition of the Indemnitee’s need for (i) substantial protection against personal liability based on the Indemnitee’s reliance on the

Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, (ii) an inducement to provide effective services to the Company as a director and/or officer thereof, the Company
wishes to provide for the indemnification of the Indemnitee and to advance expenses to the Indemnitee to the fullest extent permitted by law and as set forth
in this Agreement, and, to the extent insurance is maintained by the Company, to provide for the continued coverage of the Indemnitee under the Company’s
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policies; and

 
WHEREAS, the Indemnitee (i) has been serving and intends to continue serving as a director and/or officer of the Company in part in reliance on the

Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws; or (ii) is relying upon the rights afforded under this Agreement in accepting Indemnitee’s position as a director,
officer or employee of the Company;

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises contained herein and of the Indemnitee continuing to serve the Company directly or, at its

request, with another enterprise, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties hereto agree as follows:
 

1.             Certain Definitions.
 

(a)           A “Change in Control” shall, for purposes of this Agreement, be deemed to have occurred if:
 

(i)            any “person,” as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
the rules and regulations thereunder (the “Exchange Act”), other than (a) a trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the
Company; (b) a corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of
stock of the Company; or (c) any current beneficial stockholder or group, as defined by Rule 13d-5 of the
 

 
Exchange Act, including the heirs, assigns and successors thereof, of beneficial ownership, within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act, of
securities possessing more than 50% of the total combined voting power of the Company’s outstanding securities; hereafter becomes the “beneficial owner,”
as defined in Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing 20% or more of the total combined voting
power represented by the Company’s then outstanding Voting Securities;

 
(ii)           during any period of two consecutive years, individuals who at the beginning of such period constitute the Board and any

new director whose election by the Board or nomination for election by the Company’s stockholders was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the
directors then in office who either were directors at the beginning of the period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved,
cease for any reason to constitute a majority thereof; or

 
(iii)          the stockholders of the Company approve a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other corporation, other

than a merger or consolidation which would result in the Voting Securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent
(either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into Voting Securities of the surviving entity) at least 80% of the total voting power represented by the
Voting Securities of the Company or such surviving entity outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation, or the stockholders of the Company
approve a plan of complete liquidation of the Company or an agreement for the sale or disposition by the Company, in one transaction or a series of
transactions, of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets.
 

(b)           “DGCL” shall mean the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, as the same exists or may hereafter be amended or
interpreted; provided, however, that in the case of any such amendment or interpretation, only to the extent that such amendment or interpretation permits the
Company to provide broader indemnification rights than were permitted prior thereto.

 
(c)           “Expense” shall mean attorneys’ fees and all other costs, expenses and obligations paid or incurred in connection with

investigating, defending, being a witness in or participating in (including on appeal), or preparing for any of the foregoing, any Proceeding relating to any
Indemnifiable Event.

 
(d)           “Indemnifiable Event” shall mean any event or occurrence that takes place either prior to or after the execution of this Agreement,

related to the fact that the Indemnitee is or was a director or officer of the Company, or is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer,
employee, or agent of another corporation or of a partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, including service with respect to employee benefit plans,
or by reason of anything done or not done by the Indemnitee in any such capacity.

 
(e)           “Proceeding” shall mean any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, investigation or proceeding, and any appeal thereof,

whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative and/or any inquiry or investigation, whether conducted by the Company or any other party, that the
Indemnitee in good faith believes might lead to the institution of any such action.
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(f)            “Reviewing Party” shall mean any appropriate person or body consisting of a member or members of the Company’s Board or any

other person or body appointed by the Board (including the special independent counsel referred to in Section 6) who is not a party to the particular
Proceeding with respect to which the Indemnitee is seeking indemnification.

 
(g)           “Voting Securities” shall mean any securities of the Company which vote generally in the election of directors.
 

2.             Indemnification.  In the event the Indemnitee was or is a party to or is involved (as a party, witness, or otherwise) in any Proceeding by
reason of (or arising in part out of) an Indemnifiable Event, whether the basis of the Proceeding is the Indemnitee’s alleged action in an official capacity as a
director or officer or in any other capacity while serving as a director or officer, the Company shall indemnify the Indemnitee to the fullest extent permitted by
the DGCL against any and all Expenses, liability, and loss (including judgments, fines, ERISA excise taxes or penalties, and amounts paid or to be paid in
settlement, and any interest, assessments, or other charges imposed thereon, and any federal, state, local, or foreign taxes imposed on any director or officer as
a result of the actual or deemed receipt of any payments under this Agreement) (collectively, “Liabilities”) reasonably incurred or suffered by such person in
connection with such Proceeding.  The Company shall provide indemnification pursuant to this Section 2 as soon as practicable, but in no event later than 30
days after it receives written demand from the Indemnitee.  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary and except as provided in Section 5
below, the Indemnitee shall not be entitled to indemnification pursuant to this Agreement (i) in connection with any Proceeding initiated by the Indemnitee
against the Company or any director or officer of the Company unless the Company has joined in or consented to the initiation of such Proceeding or (ii) on
account of any suit in which judgment is rendered against the Indemnitee pursuant to Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act for an accounting of profits made
from the purchase or sale by the Indemnitee of securities of the Company.

 
3.             Advancement of Expenses.  The Company shall advance Expenses to the Indemnitee within 30 business days of such request (an “Expense

Advance”); provided, however, that if required by applicable corporate laws such Expenses shall be advanced only upon delivery to the Company of an
undertaking by or on behalf of the Indemnitee to repay such amount if it is ultimately determined that the Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified by the
Company; and provided further, that the Company shall make such advances only to the extent permitted by law.  Expenses incurred by the Indemnitee while
not acting in his/her capacity as a director or officer, including service with respect to employee benefit plans, may be advanced upon such terms and
conditions as the Board, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate.

 
4.             Review Procedure for Indemnification.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) the obligations of the Company under Sections 2 and 3 above

shall be subject to the condition that the Reviewing Party shall not have determined (in a written opinion, in any case in which the special independent
counsel referred to in Section 6 hereof is involved) that the Indemnitee would not be permitted to be indemnified under applicable law, and (ii) the obligation
of the Company to make an Expense Advance pursuant to Section 3 above shall be subject to the condition that, if, when and to the extent that the Reviewing
Party determines that the Indemnitee would not be permitted to be so indemnified under applicable law, the Company shall be entitled to be reimbursed by the
Indemnitee (who hereby agrees to reimburse the Company) for all such
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amounts theretofore paid; provided, however, that if the Indemnitee has commenced legal proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction pursuant to Section
5 below to secure a determination that the Indemnitee should be indemnified under applicable law, any determination made by the Reviewing Party that the
Indemnitee would not be permitted to be indemnified under applicable law shall not be binding and the Indemnitee shall not be required to reimburse the
Company for any Expense Advance until a final judicial determination is made with respect thereto (as to which all rights of appeal therefrom have been
exhausted or have lapsed).   The Indemnitee’s obligation to reimburse the Company for Expense Advances pursuant to this Section 4 shall be unsecured and
no interest shall be charged thereon.  If there has not been a Change in Control, the Reviewing Party shall be selected by the Board, and if there has been such
a Change in Control, other than a Change in Control which has been approved by a majority of the Company’s Board who were directors immediately prior to
such Change in Control, the Reviewing Party shall be the special independent counsel referred to in Section 6 hereof.
 

5.             Enforcement of Indemnification Rights.  If the Reviewing Party determines that the Indemnitee substantively would not be permitted to
be indemnified in whole or in part under applicable law, or if the Indemnitee has not otherwise been paid in full pursuant to Sections 2 and 3 above within 30
days after a written demand has been received by the Company, the Indemnitee shall have the right to commence litigation in any court in the State of
Delaware having subject matter jurisdiction thereof and in which venue is proper to recover the unpaid amount of the demand (an “Enforcement Proceeding”)
and, if successful in whole or in part, the Indemnitee shall be entitled to be paid any and all Expenses in connection with such Enforcement Proceeding.  The
Company hereby consents to service of process for such Enforcement Proceeding and to appear in any such Enforcement Proceeding.  Any determination by
the Reviewing Party otherwise shall be conclusive and binding on the Company and the Indemnitee.
 

6.             Change in Control.  The Company agrees that if there is a Change in Control of the Company, other than a Change in Control which has
been approved by a majority of the Company’s Board who were directors immediately prior to such Change in Control, then with respect to all matters
thereafter arising concerning the rights of the Indemnitee to indemnity payments and Expense Advances under this Agreement or any other agreement or
under applicable law or the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws now or hereafter in effect relating to indemnification for Indemnifiable Events,
the Company shall seek legal advice only from special independent counsel selected by the Indemnitee and approved by the Company, which approval shall
not be unreasonably withheld.  Such special independent counsel shall not have otherwise performed services for the Company or the Indemnitee, other than
in connection with such matters, within the last five years.  Such independent counsel shall not include any person who, under the applicable standards of
professional conduct then prevailing, would have a conflict of interest in representing either the Company or the Indemnitee in an action to determine the
Indemnitee’s rights under this Agreement.  Such counsel, among other things, shall render its written opinion to the Company and the Indemnitee as to
whether and to what extent the Indemnitee would be permitted to be indemnified under applicable law.  The Company agrees to pay the reasonable fees of the
special independent counsel referred to above and to indemnify fully such counsel against any and all expenses (including attorneys’ fees),
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claims, liabilities and damages arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the engagement of special independent counsel pursuant to this Agreement.



 
7.             Partial Indemnity.  If the Indemnitee is entitled under any provision of this Agreement to indemnification by the Company for some or a

portion of the Expenses and Liabilities, but not, however, for all of the total amount thereof, the Company shall nevertheless indemnify the Indemnitee for the
portion thereof to which the Indemnitee is entitled.  Moreover, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, to the extent that the Indemnitee has
been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any or all Proceedings relating in whole or in part to an Indemnifiable Event or in defense of any
issue or matter therein, including dismissal without prejudice, the Indemnitee shall be indemnified against all Expenses incurred in connection therewith.  In
connection with any determination by the Reviewing Party or otherwise as to whether the Indemnitee is entitled to be indemnified hereunder, the burden of
proof shall be on the Company to establish that the Indemnitee is not so entitled.
 

8.             Non-exclusivity.  The rights of the Indemnitee hereunder shall be in addition to any other rights the Indemnitee may have under any statute,
provision of the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in an official
capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office.  To the extent that a change in the DGCL permits greater indemnification by
agreement than would be afforded currently under the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws and this Agreement, it is the intent of the parties
hereto that the Indemnitee shall enjoy by this Agreement the greater benefits so afforded by such change. 
 

9.             Liability Insurance.  To the extent the Company maintains an insurance policy or policies providing directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance, the Indemnitee shall be covered by such policy or policies, in accordance with its or their terms, to the maximum extent of the coverage available
for any director or officer of the Company.
 

10.           Settlement of Claims.  The Company shall not be liable to indemnify the Indemnitee under this Agreement (a) for any amounts paid in
settlement of any action or claim effected without the Company’s written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld; or (b) for any judicial
award if the Company was not given a reasonable and timely opportunity, at its expense, to participate in the defense of such action.
 

11.           No Presumption.  For purposes of this Agreement, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the termination of any Proceeding, action, suit or
claim, by judgment, order, settlement (whether with or without court approval) or conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere, or its equivalent, shall not
create a presumption that the Indemnitee did not meet any particular standard of conduct or have any particular belief or that a court has determined that
indemnification is not permitted by applicable law.
 

12.           Period of Limitations.  No legal action shall be brought and no cause of action shall be asserted by or on behalf of the Company or any
affiliate of the Company against the Indemnitee, the Indemnitee’s spouse, heirs, executors or personal or legal representatives after the expiration of two years
from the date of accrual of such cause of action, or such longer period as may be required by state law under the circumstances, and any claim or cause of
action of the
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Company or its affiliate shall be extinguished and deemed released unless asserted by the timely filing of a legal action within such period; provided,
however, that if any shorter period of limitations is otherwise applicable to any such cause of action, such shorter period shall govern.
 

13.           Amendment of this Agreement.  No supplement, modification or amendment of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in
writing by both of the parties hereto.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other
provisions hereof (whether or not similar), nor shall such waiver constitute a continuing waiver.  Except as specifically provided herein, no failure to exercise
or any delay in exercising any right or remedy hereunder shall constitute a waiver thereof.
 

14.           Consent and Waiver by Third Parties.  If the Indemnitee is or will become an officer of the Company, then the Indemnitee hereby
represents and warrants that he or she has obtained all waivers and/or consents from third parties which are necessary for his or her employment with the
Company on the terms and conditions set forth herein and to execute and perform this Agreement without being in conflict with any other agreement,
obligation or understanding with any such third party.  The Indemnitee represents that he or she is not bound by any agreement or any other existing or
previous business relationship which conflicts with, or may conflict with, the performance of his or her obligations hereunder or prevent the full performance
of his or her duties and obligations hereunder.
 

15.           Subrogation.  In the event of payment under this Agreement, the Company shall be subrogated to the extent of such payment to all of the
rights of recovery of the Indemnitee, who shall execute all papers required and shall do everything that may be necessary to secure such rights, including the
execution of such documents necessary to enable the Company effectively to bring suit to enforce such rights.
 

16.           No Duplication of Payments.  The Company shall not be liable under this Agreement to make any payment in connection with any claim
made against Indemnitee to the extent the Indemnitee has otherwise actually received payment (under any insurance policy, Bylaw, vote, agreement or
otherwise) of the amounts otherwise indemnifiable hereunder.
 

17.           Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties hereto and their
respective successors, assigns, including any direct or indirect successor by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise to all or substantially all of the
business and/or assets of the Company, spouses, heirs, and personal and legal representatives.  The Company shall require and cause any successor (whether
direct or indirect by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all, substantially all, or a substantial part, of the business and/or assets of the Company,
by written agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the Indemnitee, expressly to assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and
to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform if no such succession had taken place.  This Agreement shall continue in effect regardless
of whether the Indemnitee continues to serve as a director or officer of the Company or of any other enterprise at the Company’s request.
 

18.           Severability.  The provisions of this Agreement shall be severable in the event that any of the provisions hereof (including any provision
within a single section, paragraph or
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sentence) is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or otherwise unenforceable, and the remaining provisions shall remain enforceable to
the fullest extent permitted by law.  Furthermore, to the fullest extent possible, the provisions of this Agreement (including, without limitation, each portion of
this Agreement containing any provision held to be invalid, void or otherwise unenforceable, that is not itself invalid, void or unenforceable) shall be
construed so as to give effect to the intent manifested by the provision held invalid, illegal or unenforceable.
 

19.           Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware
applicable to contracts made and to be performed in such State without giving effect to the principles of conflicts of laws.
 

20.           Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which
together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
 

21.           Notices.  All notices, demands, and other communications required or permitted hereunder shall be made in writing and shall be deemed to
have been duly given if delivered by hand, against receipt, or mailed, postage prepaid, certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, and addressed to
the Company at:
 

Digirad Corporation
13950 Stowe Drive
Poway, CA 92064
Attention:  Chief Executive Officer

 
and to the Indemnitee at:

 
                                
                                
                                
                                

 
Notice of change of address shall be effective only when done in accordance with this Section.  All notices complying with this Section shall be

deemed to have been received on the date of delivery or on the third business day after mailing.
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed and delivered this Agreement as of the day first set forth above.

 
 

COMPANY:
 

   
 

DIGIRAD CORPORATION
 

   
   
 

By:
  

   
 

Name:
  

   
 

Title:
  

   
   
 

INDEMNITEE:
 

   
   
   
 

Signature
 

   
   
 

Print Name:
  

 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT]
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QuickLinks -- Click here to rapidly navigate through this document

EXHIBIT 10.23

GE Healthcare Financial Services

MASTER LEASE AGREEMENT 

DATED AS OF             

Customer's Name:  Type of Customer:
Digirad Corporation       
  o Sole Proprietorship  o Partnership
Customer's Address:  ☒ Corporation  o Joint Venture
9350 Trade Place  o For-Profit  o Not-for-Profit
  o Gov't–Federal  o Gov't–Other
San Diego, CA 92126       

Subject to, and in accordance with, the definitions, terms and conditions set forth on the face and subsequent pages of this Master Lease Agreement and in any
applicable Schedule, addendum, exhibit or attachment hereto, and subject to credit approval, General Electric Company ("GE", "we" or "us") agrees to lease GE
Equipment and license any Operating Package for the GE Equipment to the undersigned lessee (hereinafter "Lessee" or "you"), and in the case of Non-GE
Equipment, we agree to lease the Non-GE Equipment to you.

This Master Lease Agreement, together with the terms and conditions of any applicable Schedule, addendum, exhibit or attachment hereto governs your lease of
both GE Equipment and Non-GE Equipment from us.

You and we acknowledge and agree that this Agreement, together with the terms of any applicable Schedule, addendum, exhibit or attachment hereto apply to and
govern each transaction described in any Schedule hereto.

I.    GENERAL DEFINITIONS

"Advance Rental" means the monetary amount identified in a Schedule as the "Advance Rental", which is payable by you to us upon or before your execution and
return of that Schedule to us.

"Agreement" means this document, entitled "Master Lease Agreement" and any and all Schedules, exhibits, addenda and/or attachments hereto.

"Equipment" means the hardware identified in a Schedule and all additions and accessions to and modifications, substitutions and replacements of the hardware.
The term "Equipment" specifically excludes the Operating Package, the InSite Package, and all parts of those packages.

"Federal Rate" means the current week's yield on "Treasury Constant Maturities: 5-Year" as published in the latest Federal Reserve Statistical Release available
on a specified date.

"GE Equipment" means any Equipment which is listed on a Schedule, which Schedule is marked:

TO BE USED WITH GE EQUIPMENT ONLY

"Monthly Rental" means the monetary amount, identified in a Schedule as the "Monthly Rental," which is payable by you to us, as specified in that Schedule, for
your lease of the Equipment in accordance with the terms and conditions of that Schedule.
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"Non-GE Equipment" means any Equipment listed on a Schedule, which Schedule is marked:

TO BE USED WITH NON-GE EQUIPMENT ONLY

"Sales Order" means the final order of Non-GE Equipment (including equipment descriptions, quantities, model numbers, serial numbers, other identification and
cost) accepted by Supplier and you, for Supplier's sale of the Equipment to you.

"Schedule" means each transaction schedule made a part of this Agreement which sets forth additional terms and conditions of each separate transaction between
us. Each transaction schedule in combination with this Agreement will constitute a fully integrated transaction existing in accordance with its own terms and
conditions separate from and independent of all other transactions covered by this Agreement. Each transaction schedule in combination with this Agreement will
be collectively referred to as the "Schedule." If any provision of a transaction schedule conflicts with a provision of this Agreement, the conflicting provision of
that transaction schedule will prevail.

"Site" means the specific geographic location or the specific vehicle and geographic location identified in a Schedule within which the Equipment and any
Operating Package will be used by you and any InSite Package might be used by us.

"Software" means a computer program or compilation of data that is fixed in any tangible medium of expression, or any storage medium from which the program
may be perceived, reproduced or otherwise communicated, either directly or with the aid of a machine or device.

"Supplier" means the person or entity who or which will sell or has sold the Equipment to you in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Sales Order.

"Term" or "Term of a (that) Schedule" means the period of time over which (1) in the case of GE Equipment, we have agreed to lease and license to you and you
have agreed to hire, license and accept from us the Equipment and any Operating Package for the Equipment identified in each (or a particular) Schedule; and
(2) in the case of Non-GE Equipment, we have agreed to lease to you and you have agreed to hire and accept from us the Equipment identified in each (or a
particular) Schedule.

II.    GENERAL PROVISIONS

ACCESS AND REMOVAL

We may have unrestricted access to the Equipment at all reasonable times while a Schedule is in force and unrestricted access at all reasonable times to remove
the Equipment after expiration or earlier termination of the Schedule. Nothing herein shall be construed to obligate us to remove the Equipment after expiration or
early termination of the Schedule, as you are obligated to do so below.

At the expiration or earlier termination of a Schedule, you will arrange for the removal and return of the Equipment at your expense, including all transportation
to a place designated by us within the Continental United States of America. If you make modifications to the Site after the Equipment has been installed which
impede the removal of the Equipment, the cost of removing the impediments and restoring the Site will be at your expense. The Equipment will be returned to us
or our assigns on the expiration or earlier termination of a Schedule in the same condition and appearance as when received by you (reasonable wear and tear
excepted) and in good working order and condition, operable in accordance with our then prevailing performance specifications, or in the case of Non-GE
Equipment, the Supplier's and, if different, the manufacturer's then prevailing performance specifications for it. All waste material and fluid must be removed
from the Equipment and disposed of by you in accordance with then current waste disposal laws. If the Equipment is not so returned, we, at your sole expense,
may have the Equipment restored to such a condition. If we so require, the units of Equipment shall
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be de-installed and crated by an authorized manufacturer's representative or such other service person as is reasonably satisfactory to us.

If we so require, at our sole discretion, you shall obtain a policy of transit insurance for the return of the Equipment to us in an amount equal to the replacement
value of the Equipment. Such transit insurance must name us as the loss payee. You shall pay for all costs of complying with this section.

You shall provide to us a detailed inventory of all components of the Equipment including model and serial numbers. You shall also provide an up to date copy of
all other documentation pertaining to the Equipment.

All service manuals, blueprints, process flow diagrams, operating manuals, inventory and maintenance records shall be given to us at least ninety (90) days, and
not more than one hundred twenty (120) days prior to a lease termination.

You shall make the Equipment available for on-site operational inspections by potential purchasers at least one hundred twenty (120) days prior to and continuing
up to lease termination. We shall provide you with reasonable notice prior to any inspection. You shall provide personnel, power and other requirements necessary
to demonstrate electrical, hydraulic and mechanical systems for each item of Equipment.

Until you have fully complied with the terms of this section and have returned the Equipment to us, your rent payment obligation and all other obligations under
this Agreement and the Schedule shall continue from month to month notwithstanding any expiration or termination of the lease term.

You shall, at all times, keep accurate and complete records of the Equipment and we, our successors, and assigns, and their respective agents, shall have the right
to examine, inspect and make extracts from all of your books and records relating to the Equipment at any time during normal business hours.

ALTERATION AND MOVEMENT OF EQUIPMENT OR OPERATING PACKAGE

You will not, without our prior written consent, alter or change the Equipment or any Operating Package. Any modification, improvement or substitution becomes
our property. We reserve the right, in the case of GE Equipment, to modify the Equipment and any Operating Package as may be required by law or regulation or
to avoid alleged patent or copyright infringement. In the case of Non-GE Equipment, if you fail to do so in a timely manner, we reserve the right to have the
Equipment modified, at your expense, as may be required by law or regulation or to avoid alleged patent or copyright infringement.

You will not move the Equipment or any Operating Package from the Site to any other location, except with our advance written consent. All costs of moving the
Equipment and any Operating Package during the Term of a Schedule will be at your expense.

ADDITIONS OR REPLACEMENTS

If you request, additional or replacement Equipment will be furnished on our terms and rates then in effect.

If, after the signing and delivery of a Schedule, applicable law sets different standards that require a modification or replacement of the Equipment, we will adjust
the Monthly Rental to reflect those necessary modifications or replacements on our terms and rates then in effect.
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CARE, MAINTENANCE AND OPERATION OF EQUIPMENT

Care of the Equipment and any Operating Package is your sole obligation and responsibility. You agree to care for and maintain the Equipment and any Operating
Package in good working order and operating condition at all times during the Term of a Schedule in accordance with our then prevailing specifications, or, in the
case of Non-GE Equipment, the Supplier's and, if different, the manufacturer's then prevailing specifications.

You promptly will make all repairs, and will effect such repairs, replacements, parts, and the like as might be necessary to maintain the Equipment and any
Operating Package in good working order and operating condition at all times during the Term of a Schedule in accordance with our then prevailing
specifications, or, in the case of Non-GE Equipment, the Supplier's and, if different, the manufacturer's then prevailing specifications.

The cost of all such care, maintenance, repairs, replacements, parts and the like will be borne solely by you as a normal operating cost incident to a Schedule. We
have the right to inspect the Equipment and its maintenance records at all reasonable times during the Term of a Schedule.

All repairs, replacements, substitutions, parts, and the like and all other accessions to the Equipment and/or any Operating Package will become our property.

You assume full responsibility for the safety and any consequence of lack of safety of the Equipment and any Operating Package.

YOUR REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES & COVENANTS

You hereby represent and warrant to us, and covenant that as of the date hereof and as of the date of execution of each Schedule hereto that:

(a) You are, and will remain, duly organized, existing and in good standing under the laws of the State set forth on the first page of this Agreement,
have your chief executive offices at the location set forth on such page, and you are, and will remain, duly qualified and licensed in every
jurisdiction wherever necessary to carry on your business and operations, including, but not limited to the jurisdiction(s) where the Equipment is
or is to be located; 

(b) You have adequate power and capacity to enter into, and to perform your obligations under this Agreement, each Schedule and any other
documents evidencing, or given in connection with, any of the transactions contemplated by a Schedule (all of the foregoing being hereinafter
referred to as the "Lease Documents"); 

(c) This Agreement and the other Lease Documents have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by you and constitute legal, valid and binding
agreements enforceable under all applicable laws in accordance with their terms, except to the extent that the enforcement of remedies may be
limited under applicable bankruptcy and insolvency laws; 

(d) No approval, consent or withholding of objections is required from any governmental authority or instrumentality with respect to the entry into, or
performance by you, of any of the Lease Documents, except such as may have already been obtained; 

(e) Your entry into, and performance of the Lease Documents will not (i) violate any of your organizational documents or any judgment, order, law or
regulation applicable to you, or (ii) result in any breach of, constitute a default under, or result in the creation of any lien, claim or encumbrance on
any of your property pursuant to, any indenture mortgage, deed of trust, bank loan, credit agreement, or other agreement or instrument to which
you are a party;
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(f) There are no suits or proceedings pending or threatened in any court or before any commission, board or other administrative agency against or
affecting you which could, in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on you, your business or operations, or your ability to perform your
obligations under the Lease Documents; 

(g) All financial statements delivered to us by you have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and since the date
of the most recent financial statement, there has been no material adverse change: 

(h) The Equipment is not, and will not be, used by you for consumer, personal, family or household purposes; 

(i) The Equipment is, and you will keep it, in good condition and repair and you will not be negligent in the care and use thereof; 

(j) The Equipment is, and you will keep it, free and clear of all liens, claims and encumbrances of every kind, nature and description; 

(k) All Equipment shall remain personal property regardless of how and to what degree it may be affixed or attached to any building or structure or
what may be the consequences of its being removed from such building or structure, or for what purpose the Equipment or the building or
structure may be used. You agree not to remove any of the Equipment from the Site without our prior written consent; 

(l) You will (i) use the Equipment only in your trade or business, and (ii) use and maintain the Equipment only in compliance with all applicable
laws; and 

(m) You will not, without our prior written consent, (i) part with possession of any of the Equipment (except to us or for maintenance and repair),
(ii) remove any of the Equipment from the Continental United States, or (iii) sell, rent, sublease, mortgage, grant a security interest in or otherwise
transfer or encumber any of the Equipment.

CHATTEL PAPER

To the extent that any Schedule would constitute chattel paper, as such term is defined in the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in any applicable jurisdiction,
no security interest therein may be created through the transfer of possession of this Agreement in and of itself without the transfer of possession of the original of
the Schedule executed pursuant to this Agreement and incorporating this Agreement by reference; and no security interest in this Agreement and a Schedule may
be created by the transfer of possession of any counterpart of the Schedule other than the original thereof, which shall be identified as the document marked
"Original" and all other counterparts shall be marked "Duplicate".

INSURANCE

You agree, at your own expense, to keep the Equipment insured with companies acceptable to us for such amounts and against such hazards as we may require,
including, but not limited to, all risk physical damage insurance for the Equipment itself, with losses under the policies payable to us or our assigns, if any, and
liability coverage for personal injuries, death and/or property damages on terms satisfactory to us, and to deliver the policies, or evidence of insurance as may be
satisfactory to us, with current premium receipts. GE and/or its officers, agents, employees and/or successors and/or assigns shall be named as an additional
insured under all such insurance policies with loss payable clauses under said policies payable in our favor, as our interest may appear, irrespective of any breach
of warranty and/or other omission by you. Said Equipment shall be insured for not less than its stated replacement value or such other amount as we shall specify.
Said liability insurance shall be in an
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amount of not less than two million dollars ($2,000,000.00) or such other amount as we shall specify. No insurance shall be subject to any co-insurance clause.
You hereby appoint us as your attorney-in-fact to make proof of loss and claims for insurance and to make adjustments with insurers and to receive payment of
and execute or endorse all documents, checks or drafts in connection with payments made with respect to the insurance policies. You will not make adjustments
with insurers except with our prior written consent. The policies will provide that the insurance may not be altered or canceled by the insurer until after thirty days
written notice to us. In the event of damage to or loss, secretion, destruction or theft of the Equipment, or any portion of the Equipment, whether in whole or in
part, you will pay to us the replacement value of all Equipment, or of the portion of the Equipment affected if the value and use of the remainder of the Equipment
are not affected at the time of such occurrence (except the extent that we receive proceeds of insurance covering such Equipment), plus any indemnification
pursuant to a provision of the Schedule, We may, at our option, apply proceeds of insurance, in whole or in part, (1) to repair or compare replace the Equipment or
any portion of it, (2) to satisfy any of your obligations pursuant to any indemnification provision of this Agreement or a Schedule, (3) to afford you a pro-rata
reduction in rent payments attributable to the Equipment or any unit of it, or (4) to satisfy any other of your obligations to us.

If any Equipment is lost or damaged where the estimated repair costs would exceed the greater of ten percent (10%) of the original Equipment cost or Ten
Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00), or is otherwise involved in an accident causing personal injury or property damage, you will promptly and fully report the event
to us in writing.

TAXES

You will not be obligated to pay any federal, state or local tax imposed upon or measured by our net income, You will report (to the extent that it is legally
permissible) and pay promptly all other taxes, fees and assessments relating to the Equipment or the purchase, ownership, delivery, leasing, possession, use,
operation or service of the Equipment, or any Schedule (all hereinafter called "Taxes"). You will (1) promptly reimburse us upon receipt of our written request for
reimbursement for any Taxes charged to or assessed against us; (2) on our request, submit to us written evidence of your payment of Taxes, (3) on all reports or
returns show the ownership of the Equipment by us and send a copy of the tax report or return to us, or (4) provide us with a tax exemption certificate acceptable
to the taxing authority.

Your failure to comply with the terms of this section will constitute an event of default as more fully set forth in the "Events of Default" section below, and may,
at our option, under the terms of "Remedies Upon Default" section below result in the increase in your Monthly Rental. The inclusion of the foregoing sentence in
this section of the Agreement is for informational purposes and is not intended, and shall not be construed to limit, in anyway, the events which constitute Events
of Default or the resulting remedies.

If any tax or other lien shall attach to any Equipment, you will notify us in writing, within ten days after you become aware of the tax or lien. The notice shall
include the full particulars of the tax or lien and the location of such Equipment on the date of the notice.

FILING

You will sign and return to us, when requested, such instrument(s) as applicable law requires or permits to give public notice of our interest in the Equipment.
You hereby irrevocably appoint us or our designee as your agent and attorney-in-fact to sign such instrument(s) on your behalf and to file them.
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CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION

We, and in the case of GE Equipment our service contractor, will treat patient information as confidential.

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

We are an independent contractor of yours. Our employees are under our exclusive direction and control. In the case of GE Equipment, our service contractor's
employees are under our service contractor's exclusive direction and control. Nothing in a Schedule will be construed to designate us, any of our employees, our
service contractor or any of its employees as your employees, agents, joint venturers or partners.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Upon our request during the Term of a Schedule, you will provide us with copies of your annual financial statements which will include your balance sheet,
statement of revenues and expenses, a statement of sources and uses of funds, and notes to your financial statements prepared by an independent certified public
accountant for each of your fiscal years that partially or completely falls within the Term of a Schedule. Between fiscal years, you will provide us, upon our
request, the most recent copies of your previously mentioned financial statements, which need not be audited but must be certified by your chief financial
employee.

ASSIGNMENTS AND SUBLEASING

We may assign a Schedule or any interest of ours in a Schedule to any person or entity. Our assignees may reassign a Schedule to us. If the entity to which we
assign a Schedule or any interest of ours in a Schedule is not an affiliated entity of ours, we will provide you with prior written notice of such assignment. Such
notice to you will be for informational purposes only and you do not, and will not have any right to approve or object to such assignment. You agree that if we do
assign a Schedule, our assignee will have the same rights and benefits we now have. You agree that the rights of our assignee will not be subject to claims,
defenses or set-offs that you may have against us.

In the case of GE Equipment, we may subcontract to a service contractor of our choice any of our service obligations to you. No such assignment or subcontract
will release us from those obligations, if any, to you.

You may not assign or otherwise transfer a Schedule, or any interest in a Schedule, without our prior written consent. Any assignment or transfer without this type
of consent will be void. Any consent to such assignment or transfer will not be deemed to be a consent to any later assignment or transfer.

You will not sublease the Equipment in whole or in part without our prior written consent. Any sublease without this type of consent will be void.

No Schedule or interest in a Schedule and no Equipment or any related Operating Package or service will be subject to involuntary assignment or transfer. Any
such attempted assignment, sublease, sublicense, transfer or sale will be void, and will, at our option, terminate the Schedule and every lease of sublease of
Equipment.

LIMITATIONS OF REMEDIES AND DAMAGES

THE TOTAL LIABILITY OF US AND OUR REPRESENTATIVES TO YOU AND YOUR EXCLUSIVE REMEDY RELATING TO A SCHEDULE AND
THE WARRANTY SERVICE TO
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BE PROVIDED UNDER IT, IF ANY, IS LIMITED TO THE MONTHLY RENTAL FOR THE SERVICE WHICH IS THE BASIS FOR THE CLAIM.

You agree that we and our representatives have no liability to you for (1) any penal, punitive, incidental, special, or consequential damages such as lost profit or
revenue, (2) any assistance not required under the Schedule, or (3) anything occurring after the end of a Schedule.

You will be barred from any remedy unless you give us prompt written notice of the problem.

This is a commercial lease transaction. Any claim related to this contract will be covered solely by commercial legal principles. WE, OUR REPRESENTATIVES
AND YOU WILL NOT HAVE ANY NEGLIGENCE OR OTHER TORT LIABILITY TO THE OTHER ARISING FROM A SCHEDULE. This limitation does
not, in the case of GE Equipment only, affect claims by third parties for personal injury due to our, our representatives', or your negligence or product liability.

INDEMNIFICATION

You hereby agree to indemnify us and hold us harmless, as well as our officers, agents, employees, successors and assigns, now and in the future, and save us, as
well as our officers, agents, employees, successors and assigns, from and against any and all losses, damages, penalties, injuries, claims, actions, causes of action,
suits and/or liabilities, including attorney fee claims, that we may incur directly or indirectly, of any kind an any nature whatsoever, arising out of, or resulting
from, this Agreement and any Schedules.

Your agreement to indemnify us and hold us harmless, includes, but is not limited to, any matter that concerns the manufacture, purchase, acceptance or rejection
of the Equipment. It also includes, but is not limited to, your ownership, transfer, delivery, installation, lease, possession, use, operation, maintenance or failure to
maintain, disposition or return of the Equipment. It also includes, but is not limited to, latent and other defects, in the Equipment, whether or not discoverable by
us or you. It also includes, but is not limited to, any claim for patent, trademark, copyright, or other intellectual property rights infringement or environmental
claims or litigation, other than claims for which we are obligated to indemnify you under the "Patent and Copyright Limited Warranties" section, if such section
exists in a Schedule hereto.

You agree to indemnify us and hold us harmless, as well as our officers, agents, employees, successors and assigns, for our own negligence and/or negligent acts
and/or errors and/or omissions, as well as any injuries and/or damages resulting therefrom.

We agree that you are not indemnifying us, nor our officers, agents, employees, successors and assigns, for our own willful, wanton, intentional and/or gross acts,
errors and/or omissions, nor for any injuries and/or damages resulting therefrom as claimed by you or third parties to this Agreement or any Schedule.

You shall, upon request, defend any actions based on, or arising out of, any of the foregoing at your own expense.

Your agreement to indemnify us and hold us harmless is expressly made for the benefit of, the inducement of, and will be enforceable by us, our officers, agents,
successors and assigns.

Your agreement to indemnify us and hold us harmless will continue in full force and effect notwithstanding the expiration or early termination of this Agreement
or any Schedule.
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EVENTS OF DEFAULT

An event of default will occur under a Schedule if you (1) fail to pay any installment of Advance Rental, Monthly Rental, or other payment required under the
Schedule or this Agreement when due and such failure continues for a period of ten days, or (2) are determined by us to have made any false or misleading
statement or representation in connection with a Schedule, or this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the representations and warranties contained in the
"Your Representation, Warranties and Covenants" section above, or (3) attempt, without our prior written consent to sell, assign, sublease, mortgage, grant a
security interest in or otherwise transfer or encumber all or any part of your interest in a Schedule or the Equipment, or (4) fail to perform or observe any other
covenant, condition or agreement to be performed by you under a Schedule or this Agreement and such failure continues uncured for a period of ten days after
written notice is sent by us, including, but not limited to, your failure to comply with the terms of the section "Taxes" above, or (5) terminate your existence, enter
into a merger or consolidation, or permit a change in your ownership or management control, or (6) breach any of your insurance obligations, including, but not
limited to those obligations under the section "Insurance" above, or (7) become insolvent or cease to do business as a going concern, or (8) or any Guarantor of
your obligations hereunder become the subject of a petition, either voluntary or involuntary, under any bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization law, and in the
case of an involuntary petition, the petition is not dismissed within thirty (30)-days of its filing date, or (9) or any of the Equipment is subjected to, or threatened
with attachment, execution, levy, seizure or confiscation in any legal proceeding or otherwise, or (10) or any Guarantor of your obligations under a Schedule have
a receiver appointed for any part of your respective properties.

Your default under a Schedule or a default by you or any entity managed or controlled by you or by any principal of yours under any other agreement or contract
with us, regardless of when the agreement or contract was entered into, will, at our sole option, constitute a default of that Schedule and all other agreements and
contracts between you and/or such a principal or entity and us, including, but not limited to this Agreement and any Schedule hereunder.

REMEDIES UPON DEFAULT

Upon the occurrence of any event of default under a Schedule or this Agreement and at any time thereafter, we may, at our sole discretion, do one or more of the
following: (1) collect from you, on all moneys due but unpaid for more than ten days, a late charge of five cents per dollar on, and in addition to, the amount of all
such moneys, but not exceeding the lawful maximum, (2) terminate any or all Schedules, whereupon all of your right to the Equipment described in any
terminated Schedule and every part thereof will absolutely cease and terminate, (3) declare all sums due and the present value of all sums to become due for the
full Term of any or all Schedule(s) immediately due and payable, (4) demand that you return all Equipment described in any Schedule to us in accordance with
the section entitled "Access and Removal," (5) enter upon any premises where the Equipment described in any Schedule is located and take immediate possession
of and remove it, all without liability to us or our agents for such entry or for damage to property, or otherwise, (6) sell any or all of the Equipment described in
any Schedule at public or private sale, or otherwise dispose of, hold, use, operate, lease to others or keep idle the Equipment described in any Schedule, with or
without notice to you or advertisement, all free and clear of any of your rights and without any duty to account to you for such action or inaction or for any
proceeds, other than to apply such proceeds (a) first to any and all costs and expenses, including, but not limited to legal fees, of such disposition, and (b) to any
amounts owing by you to us (7) if the event of default is your failure to pay or reimburse us for the payment of taxes as required in section "Taxes" above, we
may, but need not, unilaterally increase the Monthly Rental to be paid by you by an amount necessary to amortize the amount of such unpaid or unreimbursed
taxes over the balance of the Term at an interest rate determined by us at our sole
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discretion, but not exceeding the lawful maximum or (8) exercise any other right or remedy which might be available to us under applicable law including,
without limitation, the rights to specific performance and to recover damages for breach. In addition, you will be liable for all legal fees and other costs and
expenses resulting from the foregoing defaults and the exercise of our remedies.

You and we hereby waive unconditionally all rights to a jury trial of any claim or cause of action related to, based upon or arising out of this Agreement, any
Schedule, any related documents, any dealings between us and you relating to the subject matter of this transaction or any related transactions and/or the
relationship that is being established between us and you. The scope of this waiver is intended to be all encompassing of any and all disputes that may be filed in
any court. This waiver is irrevocable, and may not be modified either orally or in writing. This waiver shall also apply to any subsequent amendments, renewals,
supplements or modifications to this Agreement and to any other documents or agreements relating to this transaction or any related transaction. In the event of
litigation, this Agreement may be filed as a written consent to trial by the court.

No remedy referred to in this section is intended to be exclusive, but each will be cumulative and in addition to any other remedy referred to above or otherwise
available to us at law or in equity. To the extent permitted by applicable law, you hereby waive any rights now or later conferred by statute or otherwise which
might require us to use, sell, lease or otherwise dispose of any Equipment in mitigation of damages or which might otherwise limit or modify any of our rights or
remedies under a Schedule.

STATUS OF LESSEE AND EQUIPMENT

You shall promptly notify us, in writing, in the event of (i) any change in your name, (ii) any relocation of your chief executive offices, (iii) any relocation of any
Equipment, or (iv) any lien, claim or incumbrance attaching or being made against any of the Equipment.

SURVIVAL, WAIVER, SEVERABILITY, AND CHOICE OF LAW

All of our rights, privileges and remedies with respect to a Schedule and this Agreement will continue in full force and effect after the end of the Schedule.

Our failure to enforce any provision of a Schedule is not a waiver of that provision or of our right to later enforce each and every provision. If any part of a
Schedule is found to be invalid, the remaining part will be effective. The law of the state where the Equipment is located will govern any dispute between us.

Time is of the essence with respect to this Agreement and any Schedule hereunder.

All notices required to be given hereunder shall be deemed adequately given if sent by registered or certified mail to the addressee at its address stated herein, or
at such other place as addressee may have specified in writing.

ENTIRE AGREEMENT

Each Schedule, including each exhibit, is intended to be a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of the contract between us. No prior proposals,
statements, course of dealing or usage of the trade will be a part of a Schedule.

A Schedule may be entered into only by one of our Region Sales Managers, one of our Financial Services Account Managers or our Manager, Financial Services
and you. A Schedule may only be modified or amended (whether concurrently with, or subsequent to, its execution) by a writing signed by our designated
representative and you.
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This Agreement may be entered into by, one of our Region Sales Managers, one of our Financial Services Account Managers, or a designated financial services
manager and you. This Agreement may only be modified or amended (whether concurrently with, or subsequent to, its execution) by a writing signed by our
designated representative and you.

You and we have caused this Agreement to be executed by a duly authorized representative of each of us on the date below his/her signature. This Agreement
may be executed in several originals, which together constitute but one and the same Agreement. You and we agree that a signature affixed to any one of the
originals and delivered by facsimile shall be valid, binding and enforceable.

GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY  Digirad Corporation

/s/  Colleen Kantz      

Authorized Signature

 /s/  Joyce Mehrberg      

Authorized Signature

TC

Title

 CFO

Title

9/27/00

Date

 9/26/00

Date

City                State                                 Telephone
 San Diego, CA                                    858 530 1201

City                State                                 Telephone

  Send Executed Documents To:
  Joyce Mehrberg
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EXHIBIT 10.31

THIS WARRANT AND THE SECURITIES ISSUABLE UPON THE EXERCISE HEREOF HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES
ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR ANY STATE SECURITIES LAWS. THEY MAY NOT BE SOLD, OFFERED FOR SALE, PLEDGED,
HYPOTHECATED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED IN THE ABSENCE OF A REGISTRATION STATEMENT IN EFFECT WITH RESPECT TO THE
SECURITIES UNDER SUCH ACT OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY THAT SUCH REGISTRATION
IS NOT REQUIRED OR UNLESS SOLD PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION UNDER SUCH ACT.

Void after
January 25, 2007

COMMON STOCK WARRANT
OF

DIGIRAD CORPORATION 

        THIS CERTIFIES THAT, for value received,                         , together with his, her or its successors and assigns (the "Holder") is entitled to subscribe for
and purchase, on the terms hereof, shares of Common Stock of Digirad Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), subject to the following terms and
conditions:

        1.    Convertible Promissory Note and Warrant Agreement.    This Warrant ("Warrant") is issued pursuant to that certain Convertible Promissory Note and
Warrant Agreement dated January 25, 2002 (the "Agreement") by and among the Company, the Holder and other Investors (as defined in the Agreement).
Pursuant to the Agreement, the Company also issued the Holder in connection with the Closing (as defined in the Agreement) a certain Convertible Promissory
Note (the "Note"). The Note and the other convertible promissory notes issued pursuant to the Agreement are collectively referred to herein as the "Notes."

        2.    Exercise of Warrant.    The terms and conditions upon which this Warrant may be exercised, and the Common Stock covered hereby may be purchased,
are as follows:

        2.1    Term.    Subject to the terms hereof, this Warrant may be exercised at any time, or from time to time, in whole or in part (the "Exercise Date"),
on or before the earlier of the following (the "Expiration Period"): (a) 5:00 p.m. (Pacific Time) on January 25, 2007, or (b) immediately prior to the
closing of the acquisition of the Company by another entity by means of a transaction or series of related transactions, or the closing of the sale of all or
substantially all of the assets of the Company, unless the Company's shareholders of record prior to such acquisition or sale shall hold at least fifty percent
(50%) of the voting power of the acquiring or surviving entity immediately after such acquisition or sale (each, an "Acquisition Event"). At least ten
(10) business days prior to the occurrence of an Acquisition Event, the Company shall send to the Holder notice of such event and that the Holder's rights
under this Warrant shall terminate upon the occurrence of such event; provided, that if the Company sends such notice less than ten (10) days prior to the
occurrence of such event, the Holder's right to exercise this Warrant shall be extended for a period of ten (10) days after the date the Holder receives such
notice, after which time the Holder's rights under this Warrant shall terminate. The notice required by this section may be waived by the Holder.

        2.2    Number of Shares.    Prior to March 31, 2002, this Warrant may be exercised for an aggregate of up to                     shares of Common Stock
(the "Initial Warrant Shares"). In the event that as of March 31, 2002, the Note remains outstanding and the Conversion Amount (as defined in the Note)
has not yet been paid or otherwise converted into shares of the Company's capital stock prior to a Payment Date (as defined in the Notes), then this
Warrant will become



exercisable for an increasing number of shares of Common Stock, as expressed by the following formula:

A =                +    [(.005) (B) (C)]

  A =  The aggregate number of shares of Common Stock that may be purchased by Holder pursuant to
this Warrant.

  B =  The original principal amount of the Note.

  C =  Prior to March 31, 2002, "C" shall equal zero (0). In the event that the Note remains outstanding
and the Conversion Amount (as defined in the Note) has not yet been paid or converted into
shares of the Company's capital stock prior to a Payment Date (as defined in the Notes), then:
(i) as of March 31, 2002, "C" shall equal one (1); (ii) as of April 30, 2002, "C" shall equal two
(2); as of May 31, 2002, "C" shall equal three (3); as of June 30, 2002, "C" shall equal four (4);
as of July 31, 2002, "C" shall equal five (5); as of August 31, 2002, "C" shall equal six (6); as of
September 30, 2002, "C" shall equal seven (7); as of October 31, 2002, "C" shall equal eight (8);
as of November 30, 2002, "C" shall equal nine (9); and, as of December 31, 2002, "C" shall
equal ten (10).

        2.3    Exercise Price.    This Warrant shall be exercisable to purchase the number of shares of Common Stock specified in Section 2.2 above at a price
of $1.50 per share.

        2.4    Method of Exercise.    The exercise of the purchase rights evidenced by this Warrant shall be effected by (a) the surrender of the Warrant,
together with a duly executed copy of the form of subscription attached hereto as Schedule A, to the Company at its principal offices and (b) the delivery
of the purchase price by check or bank draft payable to the Company's order or by wire transfer of same day funds to the Company's account for the
number of shares for which the purchase rights hereunder are being exercised or any other form of consideration approved by the Company's Board of
Directors. Each exercise of this Warrant shall be deemed to have been effected immediately prior to the close of business on the day on which this Warrant
shall have been surrendered to the Company as provided herein or at such later date as may be specified in the executed form of subscription (the
"Conversion Date"), and at such time, the person or persons in whose name or names any certificate or certificates for shares of Common Stock shall be
issuable upon such exercise, as provided herein, shall be deemed to have become the holder or holders of record thereof.

        2.5    Net Issue Exercise.    In lieu of exercising this Warrant by paying the Exercise Price in cash or by check, Holder may elect to receive shares
equal to the value of this Warrant (or the portion thereof being canceled) by surrender of this Warrant at the principal office of the Company together with
the Notice of Cashless Exercise annexed hereto as Schedule B duly
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completed and executed in which event the Company shall issue to Holder a number of shares of Common Stock computed using the following formula:

      X= (Y)(A-B)
                A

  Where  X =  The number of shares of Common Stock to be issued to Holder.

    Y =  The number of shares of Common Stock purchasable under this Warrant pursuant to
Section 2.2.

    A =  The fair market value of one share of Common Stock on the Conversion Date.

    B =  The Exercise Price (as determined pursuant to Section 2.3) on the Conversion Date.

        2.6    Determination of Fair Market Value.    For purposes of this Section 2, the fair market value of a share of Common Stock on the Conversion
Date shall mean:

        (a)   If exercised in connection with an initial public offering of the Company's stock pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the
fair market value of the Common Stock shall be the price at which shares of Common Stock are sold to the public as determined by the Company
and any underwriters as reflected in the prospectus.

        (b)   If traded on a stock exchange, the fair market value of the Common Stock shall be deemed to be the average of the closing selling prices
of the Common Stock on the stock exchange determined by the Company's Board of Directors to be the primary market for the Common Stock
over the ten (10) trading day period (or such shorter period immediately following the closing of an initial public offering) ending on the date prior
to the Conversion Date, as such prices are officially quoted in the composite tape of transactions on such exchange;

        (c)   If traded over-the-counter, the fair market value of the Common Stock shall be deemed to be the average of the closing bid prices (or, if
such information is available, the closing selling prices) of the Common Stock over the ten (10) trading day period (or such shorter period
immediately following the closing of an initial public offering) ending on the date prior to the Conversion Date, as such prices are reported by the
National Association of Securities Dealers through its NASDAQ system or any successor system; and

        (d)   If there is no public market for the Common Stock, then the fair market value shall be determined in good faith by the Company's Board
of Directors.

        3.    Adjustments to Exercise Price.    The number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of this Warrant and the exercise price hereunder
shall be subject to adjustment from time to time upon the happening of certain events, as follows:

        3.1    Splits and Subdivisions.    If the Company should at any time or from time to time fix a record date for the effectuation of a split or subdivision
of the outstanding shares of Common Stock or the determination of the holders of Common Stock entitled to receive a dividend or other distribution
payable in additional shares of Common Stock or other securities or rights convertible into, or entitling the holder thereof to receive directly or indirectly,
additional shares of Common Stock (hereinafter referred to as the "Common Stock Equivalents") without payment of any consideration by such holder for
the additional shares of Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents, then, as of such record date (or the date of such distribution, split or subdivision if
no record date is fixed), the purchase price shall be appropriately decreased and the number of shares
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of Common Stock which this Warrant is exercisable for, if any, shall be appropriately increased in proportion to such increase of outstanding shares.

        3.2    Combination of Shares.    If the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding at any time after the date hereof is decreased by a combination
of the outstanding shares of Common Stock, the purchase price shall be appropriately increased and the number of shares of Common Stock for which
this Warrant is exercisable, if any, shall be appropriately decreased in proportion to such decrease in outstanding shares.

        3.3    Adjustments for Other Distributions.    In the event the Company shall declare a distribution payable in securities of other persons, evidences of
indebtedness issued by the Company or other persons, assets (excluding cash dividends) or options or rights not referred to in Section 3.1, then, in each
such case for the purpose of this Section 3.3, upon exercise of this Warrant the Holder shall be entitled to a proportionate share of any such distribution as
though such Holder was the holder of the number of shares of Common Stock of the Company into which this Warrant may be exercised as of the record
date fixed for the determination of the holders of Common Stock of the Company entitled to receive such distribution.

        3.4    Reclassification or Reorganization.    If the Common Stock (or any shares of stock or other securities which may be) issuable upon the exercise
of this Warrant shall be changed into the same or different number of shares of any class or classes of stock, whether by capital reorganization,
reclassification or otherwise (other than a subdivision or combination of shares or stock dividend provided for in Sections 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3 above), then
and in each such event the Holder shall be entitled to receive upon the exercise of this Warrant the kind and amount of shares of stock and other securities
and property receivable upon such reorganization, reclassification or other change, to which a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock (or any
shares of stock or other securities which may be) issuable upon the exercise of this Warrant would have received if this Warrant had been exercised
immediately prior to such reorganization, reclassification or other change, all subject to further adjustment as provided herein.

        3.5    Notice of Adjustments and Record Dates.    The Company shall promptly notify the Holder in writing of each adjustment or readjustment of the
exercise price hereunder and the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of this Warrant. Such notice shall state the adjustment or
readjustment and show in reasonable detail the facts on which that adjustment or readjustment is based. In the event of any taking by the Company of a
record of the holders of Common Stock for the purpose of determining the holders thereof who are entitled to receive any dividend or other distribution,
the Company shall notify the Holder in writing of such record date at least twenty (20) days prior to the date specified therein.

        3.6    No Impairment.    The Company shall not avoid or seek to avoid the observance or performance of any of the terms to be observed or
performed hereunder by the Company, but shall at all times in good faith assist in the carrying out of all the provisions of this Warrant. Without limiting
the generality of the foregoing, the Company (a) shall at all times following the beginning of the Expiration Period reserve and keep available a number of
its authorized shares of Common Stock, free from all preemptive rights therein, which shall be sufficient to permit the exercise of this Warrant and
(b) shall take all such action as may be necessary or appropriate in order that all shares of Common Stock as may be issued pursuant to the exercise of this
Warrant shall, upon issuance, be duly and validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and free from all taxes, liens and charges with respect to the issue
thereof.

        4.    Replacement of the Warrant.    On receipt by the Company of evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Company of the loss, theft, destruction or
mutilation of this Warrant and, in the case of any such loss, theft or destruction of this Warrant, on delivery of an indemnity agreement reasonably satisfactory in
form and amount to the Company or, in the case of any such mutilation, on surrender and cancellation of the Warrant, the Company at its expense shall execute
and deliver to the Holder, in lieu thereof, a new Warrant of like tenor.
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        5.    Investment Intent.    Unless a current registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, shall be in effect with respect to the securities
to be issued upon exercise of this Warrant, the Holder, by accepting this Warrant, covenants and agrees that, at the time of exercise hereof, and at the time of any
proposed transfer of any securities acquired upon exercise hereof, the Holder shall deliver to the Company a written statement that the securities acquired by the
Holder upon exercise hereof are for the account of the Holder for investment and are not acquired with a view to, or for sale in connection with, any distribution
thereof (or any portion thereof) and are being acquired with no present intention (at any such time) of offering or distributing such securities (or any portion
thereof).

        6.    No Rights or Liability as a Stockholder.    This Warrant does not entitle the Holder hereof to any voting rights or other rights as a stockholder of the
Company. No provisions hereof, in the absence of affirmative action by the Holder to purchase Common Stock, and no enumeration herein of the rights or
privileges of the Holder, shall give rise to any liability of the Holder as a stockholder of the Company.

        7.    Miscellaneous.    

        7.1    Transfer of Warrant.    This Warrant shall not be transferable or assignable in any manner and no interest shall be pledged or otherwise
encumbered by Holder except in accordance with Section 3.10 of the Agreement. Subject to the foregoing sentence, this Warrant shall inure to the benefit
of, and shall be binding upon, the parties and their successors and assigns.

        7.2    Titles and Subtitles.    The titles and subtitles used in this Warrant are for convenience only and are not to be considered in construing or
interpreting this Warrant.

        7.3    Notices.    Any notice required or permitted under this Warrant shall be given in writing and in accordance with Section 5.3 of the Agreement
(for purposes of which, the term "Investors" shall mean Holder hereunder), except as otherwise expressly provided in this Warrant.

        7.4    Attorneys' Fees.    If any action at law or in equity is necessary to enforce or interpret the terms of this Warrant, the prevailing party shall be
entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees, costs and disbursements in addition to any other relief to which such party may be entitled.

        7.5    Amendments and Waivers.    This Warrant is issued by the Company pursuant to the Agreement. Any term of this Warrant may be amended and
the observance of any term of this Warrant may be waived (either generally or in a particular instance and either retroactively or prospectively), with the
written consent of (a) the Company, (b) the holders of Warrants representing together the right to purchase at least a majority of all of the Common Stock
of the Company subject to purchase pursuant to all of the Warrants and (c) a majority in number of Investors with any Warrants outstanding; provided,
however, that any amendments made to this Warrant must be made to each of the Warrants. Any amendment or waiver effected in accordance with this
Section 7.5 shall be binding upon the Holder of this Warrant (and of any securities into which this Warrant is convertible), each future holder of all such
securities, and the Company.

        7.6    Severability.    If one or more provisions of this Warrant are held to be unenforceable under applicable law, such provision shall be excluded
from this Warrant and the balance of the Warrant shall be interpreted as if such provision were so excluded and shall be enforceable in accordance with its
terms.

        7.7    Governing Law.    This Warrant shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of California, without
giving effect to its conflicts of laws principles.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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        8.    Counterparts.    This Warrant may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall
constitute one and the same instrument.

Date: January     , 2002  DIGIRAD CORPORATION,
a Delaware corporation

  By:
R. Scott Huennekens,
President and Chief Executive Officer

ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED:    

   

By:   

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO WARRANT]



SCHEDULE A

FORM OF SUBSCRIPTION

(TO BE SIGNED ONLY ON EXERCISE OF WARRANT) 

To: DIGIRAD CORPORATION

        The undersigned, the holder of the Warrant attached hereto, hereby irrevocably elects to exercise the purchase rights represented by such Warrant for, and to
purchase thereunder,                    * shares of                     Stock of Digirad Corporation, and herewith makes payment of $                    and requests that the
certificates for such shares be issued in the name of, and delivered to                         , whose address is                                   , and whose social security
number/taxpayer identification number is                         .

Dated:                              

                                                                        
(Signature must conform in all respects to
name of the Holder as specified on the face
of the Warrant)

                                                                        
                              (Print Name)

  Address:                                                                      

                                                                        

                                                                        

* Insert here the number of shares as to which the Warrant is being exercised.

Schedule A



SCHEDULE B

NOTICE OF CASHLESS EXERCISE 

To: DIGIRAD CORPORATION

        (1)   The undersigned hereby elects to acquire in a cashless exercise                     shares of the Common Stock (as defined in the attached Warrant) of Digirad
Corporation pursuant to the terms of Section 2.5 of the attached Warrant.

        (2)   Please issue a certificate or certificates representing said shares of Common Stock in the name of the undersigned or in such other name as is specified
below:

                                                                        

  By:                                                                      

  Name:                                                                      

Schedule B



SCHEDULE OF INVESTORS 

WARRANTHOLDER
 NUMBER OF INITIAL

WARRANT SHARES

Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P.  1,667

Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., III  20,000

Kingsbury Capital Partners, L.P., IV  46,667

Merrill Lynch Ventures, L.P. 2001  6,667

Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II, L.P.  3,333

Vector Later-Stage Equity Fund II (Q.P.), L.P.  10,000

Kenneth E. Olson Trust  6,667

EndPoint Late Stage Fund, L.P.  6,667

Schedule of Investors
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EXHIBIT 23.1 

CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

We consent to the reference to our firm under the captions "Selected Consolidated Financial Data" and "Experts" and to the use of our report dated March 12,
2004 in Amendment No. 2 to the Registration Statement (Form S-1 No. 333-113760) and related Prospectus of Digirad Corporation for the registration of shares
of its common stock.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

San Diego, California
April 26, 2004
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